
SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
MEETING 

 
SUMMONS 
 

10.30 am  
Thursday, 3rd February, 2022 
Council Chamber, Civic Centre 
 

 
Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  

 This recording may be broadcast on Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s 
internet.  All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 

recordings being used as outlined above. 
 

Further information regarding this agenda is available from the  
Democratic Services Department at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  

Tel: (01685) 725284     Email: democratic@merthyr.gov.uk 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1. Briefing Session   

  
A briefing session will be held for Panel Members 
at 10.15am - before the start of the meeting at 
10.30am - and prior to the arrival of any invited 
attendees or witnesses to the meeting. 
 

 

2. Apologies for Absence   

3. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 

 

 



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is the host local authority for the South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel 

that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

4. Precept and Medium Term Financial Strategy   

 To consider the attached report 
 

3 - 182 

5. Refresh of the Police and Crime Plan   

 To consider the attached report 
 

183 - 208 

6. Consultation Process   

 To receive the attached report 
 

209 - 238 

7. To Confirm Permanent Appointment of Lee Jones 
as Chief Executive  

 

 To receive the attached report 
 

239 - 244 

8. Mayhill Independent Review and Statements   

 To receive the attached report 
 

245 - 266 

9. Sub Groups   

 To consider the attached report 
 

267 - 272 

10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   

  
COMPOSITION: Councillor R Young (Bridgend CBC) (Chair) 
  
 Councillors: 

B Bowen-Thomson (Cardiff Council), W Evans (City 
and County of Swansea), B Gray (Vale of Glamorgan), 
S Jago (Merthyr Tydfil CBC), R Lewis (Rhondda Cynon 
Taf CBC), P Rees (Neath Port Talbot CBC), C Richards 
(City and County of Swansea) and G Thomas 
(Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC) 
 
Co-optees: 
M Jehu (Vice-Chair) 
S James 

 together with appropriate officers 
 



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

SOUTH WALES POLICE 

TITLE:  Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales’ Precept & 

Budget Proposals for 2022/2023, plus Medium Term Financial 

Strategy 2022 to 2026 

DATE:  3rd February 2022 

PURPOSE: For Approval and Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel approves the recommendations contained 
within the Commissioner’s and Treasurer’s attached report and notes the 
annexed Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022 to 2026.  
 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is required by law to set the Annual 

(Balanced) Budget requirement including the Police Precept element of the 

Council Tax (Council Tax Precept) and a Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

Attached is the Commissioner’s Report, supported by the Commissioner’s 

Treasurer, on the Precept proposal. Also attached is the supporting Medium 

Term Financial Strategy 2022 to 2026. 

3. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

Precept and Budget Proposal Report – this summarises the context, cost 

pressures and rationale for the proposal for the Precept.  

 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy supports the Report and contains a 

comprehensive analysis of all salient financial information, including cost 

pressures, capital programme and financing and the Treasury Management 

Strategy.  

 

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Panel will consider the report plus associated presentation. This will 

include the implications of Precept income to be recovered from each of the 

seven Local Authorities that make up the South Wales Police footprint.  

 

 

5. 

 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

The financial implications are fully articulated within the Commissioner’s 

report and supporting Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

South Wales Police’s People and Organisational Development Strategy is 

included in the Medium Term Financial Strategy in Appendix 3. It covers all 

personnel considerations. 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The report is in accordance with the Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and 

Chief Constable Appointments) Regulations 2012.  These 2012 Regulations 

set deadlines for the taking of steps set out in Schedule 5 of the 2011 Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act. 

 

The Commissioner must also comply with sections 25-28 of the Local 

Government Act 2003, which require the Commissioner to set a balanced 

budget. 

 

8. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

9. RISK 

Various financial risk scenarios are included and explained in the attached 

documentation.  

 

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This report will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Peter Curran, Chief Finance Officer to the Police and Crime Commissioner for 

South Wales. 

12. ANNEXE 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022 to 2026 

 

Page 4



  

 

  

1 | P a g e  
 

Police and Crime Panel for South Wales : February 3rd 2022 

Report of the Police and Crime Commissioner & Treasurer 

Budget Requirement & Council Tax Precept Proposal 2022/2023 

Executive Summary 

1. Commissioner’s Introduction 

As the Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales, I am required by law to set a five-year Police 

and Crime Plan and to set out the Annual Budget requirement, including the police precept element 

of the Council Tax.  

Following my re-election as Commissioner in May 2021, my Police and Crime Plan for South Wales 

was updated and approved by the Panel in the autumn of 2021, and covers the period to 2025.  

Each year, we refresh the plan in response to engagement with partners, the public and latest 

developments in criminal justice and policing (including financial challenges). I have to take account 

of the Strategic Policing Requirement set by the Home Secretary. 

Essentially, my plan: 

 develops and enhances the activities aimed at delivering the priorities that I set as the 

Commissioner and is reflected in the Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan, which has also been 

recently updated 

 makes specific and updated reference to tackling Violence Against Women and Girls within 
the ‘Engaging Communities’ section  

 clearly defines the distinct yet complementary roles of Commissioner and Chief Constable 

 reaffirms the powerful ethos of co-operation between us and others in making South Wales 

once of the safest places to live and work 

 provides updates on performance indicators 

 reaffirms our shared determination to protect neighbourhood policing, our contribution to 

community safety and other key aspects of policing and partnership working in the face of 

significant financial challenge 

 articulates how, as the Commissioner, I engage with local communities 

 includes a new and enhanced Race Equality section 

 provides updated survey results on the public consultation exercise undertaken during the 

autumn 2021 

 includes reference to the South Wales Police Youth Trust “Just Giving” page 
 

It is widely recognised that policing alone cannot deliver the ambitions that are set out in the Police & 

Crime Plan. Therefore, the updated plan further builds on the role of the Commissioner in working 

with partners (devolved and non-devolved) to improve the Criminal Justice System and recognises the 

opportunities arising from the unique devolved landscape within which we work in Wales. The onset 

of the Covid-19 virus in 2019/2020 presented a new layer of issues, and I am proud that South Wales 

has led the way in ensuring that services were continued or renewed as quickly as possible, despite 

the challenges. An example of this was the restoration of the courts in South Wales, with admirable 

and essential close working between South Wales Police and the senior leaders of the Probation 

Service, the Crown Prosecution Service and the Courts in Wales. The Lord Chancellor himself 

acknowledged that our joint efforts had proved outstanding. This work has been made possible by the 

close working relationships we have built up in Wales, which is the vehicle for the teamwork by Police 

Page 5



  

 
 

  

2 | P a g e  
 
 

& Crime Commissioners and Chief Constables in Wales and our partnership with Local Government 

and with Welsh Government. The Steering Group for Criminal Justice in Wales has produced a 

“Statement of Purpose” setting out our shared aspirations for making the criminal justice system in 

Wales more efficient and effective and through which the criminal justice agencies have pooled 

resources to employ a coordinator whose initial impact has been outstanding.  Without a real 

commitment to mutual support and effective collaboration, this simply would not have been possible.  

We now face an uncertain future with on-going Covid-19 as well as the impact of leaving the European 

Union. The financial challenge faced by the whole of the public sector is significant. It will only be by 

effective collaboration with all our partners, that we will achieve our common goals and sustain the 

safety of the communities in South Wales. 

In terms of the costs of operational policing: 

 Over a third of the money that used to come in the Police Grant from the UK Government has 
been cut – 40% in real terms 

 Capital funding from the Home Office is now non-existent - and the need to fund capital 
projects entirely from revenue is effectively another significant cut.  In 2010 funding was £3 
million, now reduced to zero, a cumulative cut of nearly £30 million in real terms.  

 The introduction of the Emergency Services Network, scheduled to commence 
implementation from 2023, does not include funding for non-core costs (hand-held terminals, 
vehicle sets, additional coverage) and will place significant strain on Forces’ capital resources 
should the Government fail to fully fund this important initiative 

 Demand on police services continues to increase although almost 63% of that demand by 
volume has little to do with combating crime. 

 There is still no recognition of the added demand for the policing of the Capital City – which 
as the Panel knows is far above the level of demand in many larger cities and is both a success 
story and a significant call on resources. This costs South Wales Police £4 million per annum 

 We are disadvantaged in Wales on the application of the Apprenticeship Levy in Wales. The 
Home Office has announced, as part of the provisional settlement, that it will provide an 
additional £1.4 million nationally in 2022/23 (£0.6 million to South Wales Police), in addition 
to the £1 million it has provided in each of the last three years (£0.4 million to South Wales 
Police). However, even with this additional funding, there is still a “gap” estimated to be £2 
million in 2022/2023 for South Wales Police. This is because the increased funding does not 
cover tuition fee costs and the training delivery costs, which are funded separately in England.  

 Performance is high as demonstrated both by HMI Reports and by our own monitoring 
systems.  Of note is the continuing high level of victim satisfaction.  

 The Force is exemplary in responding to vulnerable people, mental health issues, and being 
the “Agency of Last Resort”, especially during night-time and at weekends or holiday periods.  

 Other agencies – including local government and the NHS – also struggle with resources, and 
the police have increasingly become the “Agency of First Resort”.   

And yet despite this, we have prevented £730 million of social and economic harm in the South Wales 

Police compared to our most similar group of forces since 2011. This is supported by our focus on 

innovation, prevention, early intervention and prompt positive action, working with partners to be 

ever more effective together to address issues like mental health and wellbeing. 

We are not prepared to withdraw from local communities or to stop tackling low-level offending, or 

to miss opportunities for prevention. So, Neighbourhood Policing and Community Safety sit at the 

heart of our strategy. We will strengthen the role of our Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) 

to focus clearly on local problem-solving and on communicating (listening to and engaging with the 

Page 6



  

 

  

3 | P a g e  
 

local community) and empowering local communities to be resilient, safe, and confident. It means 

involving everyone, protecting the vulnerable, maintaining high levels of victim satisfaction and 

working with partners. That’s why our leadership teams play a full part in Public Services Boards 

working with Local Government, the NHS, and other partners on local delivery and on our refreshed 

vision of Community Safety in Wales. We aim for “more partnership through fewer, better-focussed 

meetings”.  

Welsh Government’s increased financial contribution to this critical area in 2021/22 was warmly 

welcomed, firstly by making good the impact of successive “flat cash” settlements for the initial 205 

Welsh Government funded PCSOs and secondly by funding an additional 100 PCSOs in Wales, of which 

South Wales Police has gained an extra 41. Once these additional numbers have been recruited to, we 

will have a steady-state total of 451 PCSOs in South Wales. 

Our achievements to date have created a strong foundation on which to build, but we must always 

strive to improve our service and respond effectively to new demands. The refreshed South Wales 

Police & Crime Plan and the financial recommendations put before you are the basis through which 

we can continue to deliver excellence to the communities of South Wales, whilst coping with every 

new challenge that is thrown at us. 

2. Background 

The Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales is required to prepare the following, which he 

does in full consultation with the Chief Constable: 

•  A Police and Crime Plan that reflects the Commissioner’s priorities and is developed 

after public consultation and after consideration of the resources available to him as 

well as having regard to the requirements of the Strategic Policing Requirement, 

which is set by the Home Secretary. 

•  Risk Management Strategy 

•  Medium Term Financial Strategy  

 Reserves Strategy 

•  Treasury Management Strategy 

•  Asset Management Strategy 

•  Capital Programme 

•  Annual Revenue Budget and Value for Money 

The Financial Strategy covers the period 2022 to 2026 and is attached. It is a comprehensive document 

which sets out the assumptions and considerations the Commissioner uses in order to inform both 

budget and precept considerations. 

It is the duty of the Commissioner to determine the Police and Crime Budget for 2022/23 and set the 
Council Tax Precept, prior to 1st March 2022, after taking into account the views of the Police and 
Crime Panel in relation to the level of Council Tax Precept.  
 
In preparing the Annual Budget specific consideration has been given to the resources needed to meet 

the priorities set out in the existing Police and Crime Plan, which in turn are aligned to the Chief 

Constable’s Delivery Plan. They include: 

Page 7



  

 
 

  

4 | P a g e  
 
 

•  Working with partners to reduce crime, disorder and antisocial behaviour while 

coping with a wide variety of demands that go beyond what is normally thought of as 

“policing”. 

 Putting into practice the principle set down by Sir Robert Peel that “the first 

responsibility of the police is to prevent crime through practical joint action to prevent 

the greatest harms”. 

•  Maintaining and enhancing the current level of neighbourhood policing and 

engagement with the communities of South Wales. 

•  Protecting vulnerable people and reducing the likelihood of repeat offending 

particularly in respect of such offences as hate crime, violence against women and 

girls, child sexual exploitation, domestic abuse and online crime. 

•  Working with partners to improve the local Criminal Justice System, particularly in 

respect of managing offenders and reducing reoffending by young people (under the 

age of 18) and those in the 18 to 25 age group. 

•  Making a contribution to the Strategic Policing Requirement and protecting the public 

in South Wales, responding realistically to the identified threats from organised crime 

and terrorism and policing an ever-increasing number of events. 

•  Meeting the challenge of changing standards for the training of police officers, 

proposed by the College of Policing while also seeking to develop our staff at every 

level to meet the challenges they face and recruiting people so that the workforce as 

a whole reflects the communities that we police. 

        Policing the Capital City of Wales. 

My approach has included a focus on understanding the impact of the “Drivers of Harm” which include 
substance misuse (drugs and alcohol) problems of mental health, domestic violence and abuse and 
other social issues.  We have sought both to support the victims of domestic violence and abuse and 
to challenge the perpetrators as set out in earlier reports to the panel on programmes like DRIVE and 
IRIS which we have promoted on an industrial scale, showing benefits to victims and being very cost-
effective and beneficial for policing, the criminal justice system and agencies like health and local 
government but often depending disproportionately on police funds. 
 
The Commissioner must also make arrangements, before the first Council Tax Precept for a financial 
year is issued, to obtain the views of both the people in that police area; and the relevant ratepayers’ 
representatives on the proposals of the Commissioner for expenditure (including capital expenditure) 
in that financial year.  
 
We received 1,630 responses to our consultation exercise, which represented a 63% increase on the 

previous year and is the highest number we have received. For the first time, a majority of 55% of 

responses indicated that they would not be willing to pay more in 2022. I can understand this given 

the difficult financial circumstances many of our residents are facing. With inflation running at around 

5% and increased National Insurance contributions due from April 2022, family budgets are stretched 

and I have taken careful consideration of the survey results in my considerations of my Precept 

proposal, along with the demands our Force face and the real-terms cut in our grant from the 

Government. 

Page 8



  

 

  

5 | P a g e  
 

In setting the budget, due regard has to be taken of the Prudential Code which requires at least three- 
year projections of expenditure, both in revenue and capital terms, in order to identify funding 
requirements and assess the affordability and sustainability of planned expenditure. Whilst 
developing proposals for providing a balanced revenue budget and affordable Capital Programme in 
2022/23, the report will include the longer-term financial issues facing the police service in South 
Wales. 
 
The bulk of the resources available to the Commissioner are necessary to cover operational policing 
and are delegated to the Chief Constable.  Robust processes have been developed over many years 
within South Wales Police to quantify the budgetary resources required to provide the people of South 
Wales with an effective, efficient and sustainable police service.  The Joint Audit Committee oversees 
and tests this process. The new, and existing, burdens and pressures were explained in some detail by 
the Chief Constable at the December 2021 meeting of the Panel. Projections are constantly under 
review and the latest updates are contained within the attached Financial Strategy document.   
 

3. Governance Arrangements 

The governance arrangements within South Wales Police are designed to ensure appropriate 

accountability and to assist effective leadership. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

created two separate ‘corporations sole’ within each police force: the Chief Constable and the Police 

and Crime Commissioner. They have clear and separate roles and responsibilities set out in 

statute.  The Policing Protocol Order 2011 sets out an expectation that the relationship between a 

Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable is built on the principles of goodwill, 

professionalism, openness and trust. We believe that in South Wales we demonstrate these qualities 

in exemplary ways. 

The Chief Constable and his officers and staff within South Wales Police are held to account through 

a combination of meetings and activity by the Commissioner and the Commissioner’s staff, as well as 

assurance panels and committees, internal and external audit, the public and stakeholders (in addition 

to HMIC and other external inspectors and scrutiny arrangements). Key performance indicators are 

reported to the Commissioner’s Strategic Board and to the Chief Constable’s Gold meeting as well as 

to the Joint Audit Committee. The Commissioner may request updates on key indicators for which 

regular reporting is required for a period or on a regular basis. 

In South Wales, the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable have a Joint Corporate 

Governance Framework which: 

 sets out the relationship between the Commissioner and Chief Constable; two separate legal 
entities 

 is based upon the legislation, the Policing Protocol, and a mutually respectful and 
complementary relationship 

 recognises the authority of a single elected commissioner and the operational independence 
of Police Officers  

 builds on existing good governance principles and experience and 

 includes schemes of delegation and consent, financial regulations and standing orders as to 
contracts 
 

The Governance Framework was comprehensively reviewed and last updated in 2019 and is currently 
under further review, with an update expected in 2022. 
 

Page 9



  

 
 

  

6 | P a g e  
 
 

The Commissioner is the recipient of all funding, including the Government Grant and Precept and 

other sources of income related to policing and crime reduction and all funding for a force must come 

via the Police and Crime Commissioner. How this money is allocated is a matter for the Commissioner 

in consultation with the Chief Constable, or in accordance with any grant terms. The Chief Constable 

will provide professional advice and recommendations. The Commissioner will ensure that sufficient 

resources are delegated to the Chief Constable in order to deliver his Delivery Plan, once agreed.  

The Police and Crime Commissioner is the legal contracting body who owns all the assets and liabilities, 

with the responsibility for the estate and the financial administration of his office and the force, 

including all borrowing limits. Consent can be given by the Commissioner to the Chief Constable to 

acquire property (other than land and buildings) and is detailed in the financial regulations and 

standing orders relating to contracts.  

The Police and Crime Panel provides a check and balance on the Commissioner through reviewing or 

scrutinising his decisions, but not those of the Chief Constable. The panel is there to challenge the 

Commissioner, but it must carry out its functions with a view to supporting the effective exercise of 

the Commissioner's functions. In South Wales, as a courtesy to the panel and as a reflection of our 

cooperative approach, the Chief Constable and members of his team frequently join the Commissioner 

in providing detailed briefings to the Panel but they cannot be required to do so. 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is responsible for handling complaints and conduct matters in 

relation to the Chief Constable, monitoring complaints against officers and staff, and complying with 

the requirements of the Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC). This role has been enhanced 

through the introduction of recent legislation. 

Further details on our governance arrangements are includes in the detailed Financial Strategy 

attached. 

4. Context  
 
The Government published its three-year Comprehensive Spending Review in October 2021, covering 

the period 2022/2023 to 2024/2025. The overdue overhaul of the Police Funding Formula has at last 

commenced. The formula is both opaque and out-of-date as has been widely recognised for several 

years by successive Governments.  South Wales Police has lost around £111 million since 2010/2011 

due to the funding inequalities that the formula produces. Significant sums have been redistributed 

from South Wales to other Welsh forces in this period. Previous Comprehensive Spending Reviews 

have required the delivery of significant financial “efficiencies” and budget reductions.  Since austerity 

started in 2010/2011, South Wales Police has had to deliver £56 million of cumulative savings to 

produce balanced budgets in each year over the period. 

The ongoing uncertainty over the implications of the UK leaving the European Union, with 

consequential trade deal could have a significant impact upon inflation and interest rates and the 

exchange rate. All of these could have adverse implications on the budgeted expenditure outlined in 

the Financial Strategy.  

Government Funding, including the Provisional Settlement 2022/2023 

Consistent with the Comprehensive Spending Review announced in October 2021, the provisional 
settlement provided detailed allocation for the 2022/23 year and indicative total allocations to 
Policing for the two years following 2022/23. They included: 
 

Page 10



  

 

  

7 | P a g e  
 

 £550 million in 2022/23 (SWP’s allocation confirmed as an additional £11.4 million) 

 £650 million in 2023/24 (SWP’s allocation estimated to be an additional £2.2 million on 
2022/23 level) 

 £800 million in 2024/25 (SWP’s allocation estimated to be an additional £3.3 million on 
2023/24 level) 

 

These sums will need to fund both core (recurrent) expenditure, plus the implications of the Police 

Uplift Programme, explained below. 

Turning specifically to the headlines for the 2022/23 Provisional Settlement, the £550 million total 
grant is assumed by the Government to be augmented by a further £246 million from increased 
Precept income.  
 
Whilst the additional funding for the Police Service appears on the surface to be far more favourable 
than simply maintaining broadly flat cash funding, on closer inspection, the majority of the £550 
million grant is earmarked for ‘Operation Uplift’, which is the three-year programme to deliver 20,000 
additional police officers, and the funding is specifically for the final tranche of recruitment of new 
Officers. In this final tranche, South Wales Police has an allocation of 181 of the 8,000 new Officers, 
bringing a total of 450 for the three years. Even with this additional 450, the total number of Officers 
remains below the pre-austerity level. 
 
Capital funding to Commissioners has now ceased completely. South Wales Police used to receive £3 
million per annum capital funding until 2010, since when it has been reduced year-on-year. In 
2021/22, we received £0.3 million in capital funding which has now been reduced to zero. We estimate 
that the cumulative effect of cuts in capital funding amount to £30 million for South Wales Police since 
2010. This means that all of our capital expenditure must be financed by revenue, which puts pressure 
on other competing needs for revenue needs. 
 
In summary, this means that once the allowance for the increased employer’s National Insurance 
contributions is excluded from the total grant, it is a flat-cash settlement, and is the twelfth 
consecutive year of a real-terms cut in our grant funding from the Government. 
 
These amounts will need to cover all future expenditure, including Uplift, the consequences of which 
will become more significant from 2024, as costs associated with the first cohort of additional Officers 
will start to rise exponentially. The specific implications for 2022/23 are explained later in this paper. 
 
Other, “top-sliced” (hypothecated) amounts totalled £1.4 billion and included the following (not an 
exhaustive list, but the key items): 
 

 £188.1. million capital funding for national priorities and infrastructure set by the Home Office 

 £142.6 million Pensions Grant, of which South Wales Police receives £3.1 million. This amount 
does not fully cover the deficit.  In the past this expenditure was funded by the Treasury 
through the Home Office but the liability was transferred to Forces – a move that was strongly 
opposed by Policing – and as a result most of the cost is currently met through the Pensions 
Grant.  

 £606.5 million for Police Technology Programmes 

 £32.5 million for Counter Terrorism Programmes 

 £10.6 million to the National Police Chiefs Council for National Policing Capabilities 
 
An analysis of the 2022/23 grant settlement, including comparisons with the two previous years, is 
shown in the table below: 

Page 11



  

 
 

  

8 | P a g e  
 
 

Police Grant: 2020/21 (£M) 2021/22 (£M) 2022/23 (£M) Change +/- (£M) 

Core Grant Funding 160.7 160.7 160.7 Nil 

Capital 0.3 0.3    - -0.3 

Increased National 
Insurance Contributions 

- - 2.1 2.1 

Total Grant Funding 161.0 161.0 162.8 1.8 

Ringfenced Grants:     

Pensions Grant 3.1 3.1 3.1 Nil 

Operation Uplift: 2020/21 
Allocation 

15.9 15.9 15.9 Nil 

Operation Uplift: 2021/22 
Allocation 

N/A 9.3 9.3 Nil 

Operation Uplift: 2022/23 
Allocation 

N/A N/A 9.6 9.6 

Total 180.0 189.3 200.7 11.4 

 
A reconciliation of the provisional grant settlement with expenditure requirements for 2022/2023 is 
shown in the table below. 
 

 2022/2023 Budget Reconciliation £M 

 Budget Requirement, including ‘Operation Uplift’ (2021/2022 Budget was 
£327.8 million) 

350.8 

 The 2022/2023 Core Police Grant  (165.9) 

 ‘Operation Uplift’ Funding (28.3) 

 Current Base Precept Income (144.3) 

 Increase in Precept Base Income (0.6) 

 Budget Gap – Home Office Grant Shortfall 11.7 

 

The analysis shows that the provisional settlement, after allowing for inflation, both pay and non-

pay, plus pension increases, provides no additional resource for growth, and leaves a ‘gap’ in 

Government funding of £11.7 million. In order to achieve a balanced budget for the year, this gap 

will need to be fully addressed by a combination of Precept increase and savings. 

In addition, the provisional settlements for 2023/24 and 2024/25 would indicate similar flat cash 

settlements, which will necessitate further savings to be made in these years. 

Operation Uplift 
 
The Government made a commitment to recruiting an additional 20,000 Police Officers up to March 
2023 over a three-year period. The 2020/2021 year is the third and final year of recruitment. 
 
South Wales Police has been allocated the following additional numbers: 
 

 Year 1 (2020/21) 136 out of 6,000 new Officers 

 Year 2 (2021/22) 133 out of 6,000 new Officers 

 Year 3 (2022/23) 181 out of 8,000 new Officers 
 
This totals 450 additional Officers over the three years. In terms of funding, the salary costs for all new 
Officers has/will be provided by the Home Office, together with an allocation to fund ancillary costs, 

Page 12



  

 

  

9 | P a g e  
 

including fleet, training, uniforms and IT. Maximising the benefit from this investment in new Officers 
will be key, and this investment should ensure cross-organisation roles are filled by staff with the 
appropriate skills and experience. 
 
The first full year of steady state complement of the full Officers will be in 2023/2024, and a key 
financial risk to us is that the Government might fail to provide sustainable funding for Uplift and for 
the additional costs once Officers gain promotions and other consequential infrastructure costs kick 
in. The Government has not yet indicated that it will fund refresh costs or other inevitable increases. 
To help mitigate this risk, a budgetary provision of £10.3 million is included in the 2022/23 budget 
for Uplift, to include salaries, capital and other infrastructure costs. 
 
Beyond 2022/2023 
 
The total allocations announced for 2023/24 and 2024/25, stated above need to cover all future cost 
pressures and we anticipate significant financial pressure, both in 2023/24 and 2024/25 from 
cumulative pay awards, National Insurance increases and pensions.  
 
At the same time, the long-awaited review of the Police Funding Formula is now in progress and we 
expect some level of implementation within the next three years, although the extent of 
implementation has not yet been made clear. South Wales remains under-funded in a number of 
areas, including Capital City funding, Apprenticeship Levy costs and as a result of the dampening effect 
of the redistribution of grant. 
 
However much we hope for a fairer allocation and a recognition of the challenges of meeting the cost 
of policing effectively, the national economic position strongly indicates a continuation of cash neutral 
allocations, and this has been assumed in the longer-term financial forecasts, as indicated by the UK 
Government.  
 

5. Expenditure Assumptions 

The largest area of spend (approximately 80%) is on staffing. Successive budget cuts during austerity 
forced a reduction in the number of Police Officers from a high of 3,400 down to a low of below 2,800 
before investment was agreed – as reported to the Panel last year - to tackle vulnerability. This is 
below the critical mass number of 3,000 for South Wales regarded by successive Chief Constables as 
necessary to ensure force resilience. Everyone has worked tirelessly to achieve efficiencies and reduce 
costs wherever possible to protect the number of Police Officers and maintain the number of PCSOs 
at the level which matches the support from Welsh Government.  
 
Operation Uplift will address this in part, but even with the full complement of 450 new Officers over 
the three years, the total will still not quite reach the previous level of 3,400.  
 
The assumptions for pay awards, allowances, increments and non-staff inflation have been thoroughly 
scrutinised throughout the budget preparation and are as follows: 

 

 Pay awards – a 2.5% provision for the 2022 pay award has been assumed. However, the risk 
that the actual award will be higher now appears to be close to turning into a reality, due to 
the zero pay award in 2021, and the level of general inflation, plus increased National 
Insurance contribution (for both employee and employer) from April 2022. Each additional 1% 
adds approximately £3 million to pay expenditure, on a full-year basis. Should the actual 
award in 2022 be higher than 2.5%, the implications will have to be absorbed within the total 
budget presented within the Medium Term Financial Strategy, presented to the Panel. 
 

Page 13



  

 
 

  

10 | P a g e  
 
 

 For future years, pay awards of 2.5% are assumed throughout the MTFS.  
 

 Whilst South Wales Police receives a formula share of the special Pensions grant to recognise 
the additional costs of the Police Pension Scheme, this is not reflective of the service profile 
of officers and consequently the Pension grant falls short. 
 

 Non-staff inflation (2022/2023 to 2025/2026) - between 2.5% and 5% throughout the period. 
We are anticipating significant increases in both gas and electricity prices in 2022. 
 

 Additional borrowing revenue costs for capital investment have been included to help fund 
the Commissioner’s Capital Programme.  This amounts to budgeted capital financing costs 
(revenue) of £19.4 million in 2022/2023, which is continued at this level in the following years. 
Borrowing is essential to fund future Capital Programmes as Committed Funds become fully 
utilised. This is to the backdrop of the significant disinvestment (cut) in capital funding by the 
Government and the finite nature of the Commissioner’s Reserves and other committed 
funds.   
 

6. Capital 

The budget on proposed schemes for 2022/2023 is £28.0 million. The Estate schemes total £8.5 
million. The estates strategy includes major projects relating to a tactical firearms range and the 
completion of the learning and development centre at Police Headquarters.  Plans to redevelop Cardiff 
Central Station, in collaboration with Cardiff University, have commenced. Commercial funding 
options are under consideration for this joint development.   
 
The vehicle replacement programme is set at £2.8 million in 2022/2023. Blue Light Commercial are 
now procuring fleet on behalf of all Forces in England and Wales. The budget has been intentionally 
reduced through the use of new technology. The core fleet remains at an acceptable standard.  
 
The Information and Communication Technology (ICT) projects total £11 million in 2022/2023, with a 
further £5.7 million on Information Services. The force has now transitioned to an enhanced mobile 
capability, and is on target to deliver the ‘Right Person, Right Place, at the Right Time’ ambition. 
 
Capital Funding 
 
The capital investment requirements over the next five years are becoming clear as the 
implementation of the Estate, Fleet and ICT strategies are progressed.  Capital Expenditure over the 
four years from 2022/2023 to 2025/2026 totals £81 million of which the 2022/2023 element amounts 
to £28.0 million. 
 
The external grant for capital has been significantly reduced in recent years and now stands at zero, 
reduced from £3 million in 2010/2011. This means that additional internal resources are required to 
fund core estate and infrastructure requirements. 
 
The financing of the £81 million capital requirements over the next four years is anticipated to be by  
partner contributions in respect of the Joint Firearms Training facility as well as internal funding 
(Reserves & Revenue) for other projects.  
 
 
 

Page 14



  

 

  

11 | P a g e  
 

7. Reserves & Provisions 

The Commissioner, as part of his financial obligations, has regard to the level of contingency reserve 

and provisions in the financial forecasts. 

The table below shows forecast balances in Reserves at 31st March 2022 against the required target 

level. 

 

General Reserve  
This is held as working capital to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and also as a 
contingency to mitigate the impact of unexpected events or emergencies. The General Reserve 
amounts to £10.3 million, which is £2.1 million less than 3% of Net Revenue Expenditure, which is the 
CIPFA recommended level. The 3% target will be restored as soon as finances permit.   
 
Health & Wellbeing Reserve 

This will ensure the reorientation and organisational development necessary to deliver a motivated 

and productive force.  

Specific Requirements 

These are designed to address known liabilities that the force has identified and will be reassessed at 

the year-end, depending on outcomes. They are reviewed on a case-by-case basis on whether they 

are still required (committed). 

Capital Reserve 

This remains a concern. The estate requirements, including new projects, relocations and property 

condition survey assessments continue to exceed annual resource. Added to this are respective 

communications and mobile technology investments. The shortfall represents the additional 

borrowing being taken due to the lack of other funding, including the loss of Government capital 

funding of approximately £30 million in real terms since austerity. 

8. Treasury Management & Borrowing 

The Commissioner has responsibility for the Treasury Management and Borrowing strategy. 

The South Wales Police’s Corporate Finance Department undertakes the treasury management function on 
behalf of the Commissioner. Responsibilities are defined in the Manual of Corporate Governance, with 
references to Chief Financial Officer (to the Police and Crime Commissioner) and Chief Financial Officer (to 
the Chief Constable).     

 

Reserves and Provisions
Forecast 

2022/23

Target 

2022/23
Shortfall 

£M £M £M

Unallocated Reserves

General Reserve 10.3 12.4 2.1

Health & Welbeing Reserve 1.1 1.1 0.0

Earmarked Reserves

Specific Requirements 4.6 7.6 3.0

Partnership Fund 1.0 1.0 0.0

Capital Reserve 15.2 27.2 12.0

Provisions

Insurance Liabilities 3.8 3.8 0.0

Total  36.0 53.1 17.1

Page 15



  

 
 

  

12 | P a g e  
 
 

The current year’s investment performance to October 2021 is included at Part B of the attached Financial 
Strategy. The returns on investment are within agreed parameters. 

 
Banking services for the Commissioner are currently provided by Lloyds Banking Group. The service was 
tendered during 2020. 
 
External Advice 
 
A contract is agreed on an annual fee basis with Link Asset Services (Treasury Solutions) to provide advice 
and information services. Whilst the advisors provide support to the internal treasury function, under 
current market rules and the CIPFA Code of Practice, the final decision on treasury matters remains with 
the Commissioner.  
 
Investment and deposit dealings are undertaken via brokers, who are intermediaries with wholesale 
financial markets facilitating the trading activities of its clients, commercial and investment banks. They are 
reimbursed on a commission basis. Investments and deposits are also made directly with counterparties. 

 

9. Financial Standing 2022-2026 

A summary of the medium-term projections is shown in the table below. 

 

10. Efficiencies/ Value for Money 

By way of context, South Wales Police has had a £45 million cut in grant funding since 2010. It has 

made £56 million of savings in order to withstand these cuts and make the necessary investments in 

order to maintain a resilient force. South Wales Police is committed to improving productivity and 

SUMMARY REVENUE ACCOUNT 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£m £m £m £m £m

Employees 286.1 299.2 307.9 315.6 324.0

Indirect Staff 3.4 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9

Premises 11.9 12.6 12.9 13.7 15.0

Transport 5.4 5.7 5.8 5.9 6.5

Supplies & Services 28.4 30.0 30.7 32.7 34.0

Agency & Contracted Services 19.4 20.5 21.0 21.5 22.6

Capital Financing Costs 17.4 19.4 19.4 19.4 19.4

Police Uplift Programme 10.9 23.5 27.1 27.4 27.8

Gross Revenue Expenditure 382.7 414.4 428.5 440.1 453.2

Income and Specific Grants (54.8) (63.6) (63.6) (63.6) (63.6)

Net Revenue Expenditure 327.8 350.8 364.8 376.5 389.5

Core HO and WG Funding (160.9) (162.0) (162.0) (162.0) (165.0)

HO Uplift Funding (22.8) (32.3) (34.4) (37.5) (37.5)

Precept based on 5% p.a. (144.3) (152.1) (160.5) (169.4) (178.7)

Total Resources (327.8) (346.3) (356.7) (368.7) (381.1)

Annual Budget Gap 0.0 4.5 8.1 7.7 8.4 

Value for Money Savings 0.0 (4.5) (4.6) (4.7) (4.8)

Residual Annual Budget Gap 0.0 (0.0) 3.5 3.0 3.7 

Cumulative Residual Budget Gap 0.0 (0.0) 3.5 6.5 10.2 

Page 16



  

 

  

13 | P a g e  
 

efficiency, and to this end £4.5 million is included in the Productivity and Efficiency Plan for 2022/23. 

The provisional grant settlement for 2022/23 assumed cashable savings across the sector of £80 

million, which translates into £1.8 million for South Wales Police’s share. This amount forms part of 

the total savings target for 2022/23. South Wales Police will need to go beyond the national target by 

a further £2.7 million in order to balance the budget, resulting in cumulative savings of over £60 million 

by the end of 2022/23.  

Our assessment based on Treasury forecasts is that police grant funding is likely to remain flat cash 

throughout the medium-term planning horizon. Therefore, with real terms reduction in resource, 

sustained efforts will be required in order to deliver the right people, skills and infrastructure in order 

to maintain an effective and efficient policing service. 

11. Equalities Considerations 

 

This proposal has considered the general duty to promote equality, as stipulated under the Strategic 

Equality Plan and has been assessed not to discriminate against any particular group, in accordance 

with the Equality Act 2010.  

 

In preparing the Financial Strategy, consideration has also been given to the requirements of the 

Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

The force change programme has an embedded process to ensure consideration of these statutory 

requirements. 

12.  Precept Considerations 

By way of context, for a number of years the precept in South Wales was kept low as a result of 
decisions by the former Police Authority.  The precept in South Wales over the years has been lower 
than in Gwent and North Wales resulting in a difference in annual income of £1 million compared to 
the income if South Wales was at the Welsh Police average, and moving closer to that average would 
strengthen the baseline.  
 
The current precepts are (for Band D properties): 
       
North Wales   £305.55 
Gwent    £287.96 
South Wales   £287.72   
Dyfed Powys   £275.56 
 
Average of 3, excluding SWP  £289.69 
 
Tax Base Increases 
 
Each year, every local authority updates its council tax base, which is the number of Band ‘D’ 
equivalent properties in its area. The calculations take account of any discounts, premiums and 
exemptions. The tax base is used to determine the level of council tax the authority charges each 
dwelling. 
 
The updated bases for 2022/23, compared to 2021/22, per local authority, are shown in the table 
below. 
 

Page 17



  

 
 

  

14 | P a g e  
 
 

 
 
The net increase of 0.41% show above, is relatively low compared to other Force areas. To illustrate, 

the comparable figures in the other three Welsh Forces are: 

Gwent 0.67% 

North Wales 0.94% 

Dyfed Powys 1.87% 

Average of 3 (excluding SWP) 1.16% 

South Wales 0.41% 

The relatively high percentages for Dyfed Powys and North Wales are primarily due to premiums for 

second homes in certain areas. 

The recent Comprehensive Spending Review included an assessment by the Office for Budget 

Responsibility (OBR) of future Council Tax Forecasts, including growth in the tax base in England and 

Wales. The OBR’s forecasts assume that the tax base is anticipated to grow faster per annum in 

England than in Wales (1.1% in England compared to 0.6% in Wales, although the latter figure is 

inflated in 2022/23 by the second homes premium issue), and consequently a compensatory 

adjustment to the level of police precept was included to maintain funding parity. 

Were the 0.41% tax base increase for South Wales increased to the OBR’s forecast for growth in 

England, this would result in additional precept income of £1.4 million in 2022/23 and £12 million 

cumulatively over the next four years. 

The inflationary and other increases in costs that South Wales Police faces in 2022/2023 is £23 million. 

This includes the additional employer National Insurance contributions which are due to commence 

from April 2022, and are forecast to add £2.1 million to the pay bill. It also includes provision for a 

2.5% staff pay award in 2022, plus any further increase needing to absorbed within the total funding 

envelope. 

The cost pressures of £23 million, when set against the total increase in Government grant of £11.4 

million, leaves a gap of £7.2 million after deducting savings of £4.5 million, of which £1.8 million 

form part of the provisional settlement.   

As explained above, funding for the Police Uplift Programme is essentially ringfenced and it would be 

unwise to cross-subsidise this funding in order to balance the budget. 

Page 18



  

 

  

15 | P a g e  
 

This document has outlined the provisional grant settlement for 2022/2023, the financial assumptions 

and pressures facing the force, capital requirements and funding plus key financial risks, such as the 

capital reserve and capital funding more generally over the medium term. 

The Home Office has essentially provided a flat-cash settlement, with little allowance for inflation for 

our current infrastructure. This necessarily puts pressure on the Precept increase in order to produce 

a balanced budget for the year. This is on the back of a £45 million cut in Police Grant funding since 

2010. 

Precept Recommendations 

I have weighed up all the relevant issues and the significant risks, balanced with the need to both 

protect South Wales Police and be fair to the taxpayers of South Wales, before coming to my 

proposal of a £1.20 per month increase per Band D properties in line with Home Office 

announcements. This will ensure a balanced budget, but only by South Wales Police finding a further 

£4.5 million of cash releasing savings in-year.  

This increase provides very little flexibility within the budget, and will require continued very tight 

financial discipline and strict control in order to achieve a balanced budget in the 2022/23 year. In 

view of the pressure on residents, I have considered whether there is scope to further reduce the 

budget, and I have concluded that to do so would put at risk the service we provide to the people 

of South Wales and be likely to disadvantage those who are most vulnerable and live in our poorer 

communities. 

Our Council Tax Property analysis shows that 68% of the residents in the South Wales Police area are 

below Band D and the majority would pay between 18 pence and 25 pence extra per week, excluding 

receipt of any Council Tax discounts or benefits. It is important to note that South Wales Police will 

continue to have below average cost for policing in Wales in terms of Band D property and is mid-

table in terms of percentage of precept to budget, across England and Wales. 

13. Summary of Recommendations 

 

(a) That the Police and Crime Panel considers this report and supports the Police and Crime 

Commissioner’s precept proposal of an increase of £1.20 per month per band D equivalent 

property for 2022/23.  

 

That the Panel notes that a majority of Council Taxpayers in most of our local authority areas 

will pay much less than this. For example, the 87% of dwellings in Merthyr Tydfil will pay less 

than this amount. 

 

That the Panel notes the 2022/2023 proposed Police Precept on the Council Tax of 

£152,098,982 to be levied in respect of general expenses of £346,368,222 and that this 

sum will be apportioned to each Unitary Authority according to the table below: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



  

 
 

  

16 | P a g e  
 
 

Unitary Authorities £ 

Total Precept 

Tax Base: 

Band D 

Equivalent 

Properties 

Cardiff County Council 

City & County of Swansea 

Bridgend County Borough Council 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Neath Port Talbot Borough Council 

Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council 

The Vale of Glamorgan Council 

45,046,716 

28,130,671 

16,485,693 

5,615,451 

14,620,215 

23,476,062 

18,724,174 

149,107.00 

93,114.00 

54,568.51 

18,587.44 

48,393.68 

77,707.00 

61,978.00 

 

     Totals 152,098,982 503,455.63  

 

The Council Tax Precept shown in the above table generates the following amounts of council 

tax for the various bands: 

Council 
Tax Band 

     £ 

A 201.41 

B 234.97 

C 268.54 

D 302.11 

E 369.25 

F 436.38 

G 503.52 

H 604.22 

I 704.92 
 

  

 

 

Page 20



  

 

  

17 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

(b) That subject to the above, the panel approves the Revenue Budget for 2022/23 of 
£346,368,222. 

 

(c) That subject to the above, the panel approves the Capital Programme for 2022/23 of £28 
million also be approved, including the use of £6.7 million of capital reserves. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rt Hon Alun Michael, South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner 

Peter Curran, Treasurer (Chief Finance Officer), South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner 

 

January 2022 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 

 

  

1 

 

 

 
 
 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  
 
 

2022- 2026 
 

  

Page 23



  
 
  

 

  

2 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 PART 
A  

Section Title Page 

  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 3 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
n

in
g
 

C
o

n
te

x
t 

1 Introduction and Core Financial Planning Principles 6 

2 The Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan 2021-2026 9 

3 The Commissioner’s Budget 2022-23 11 

4 
Force Management Statement - Demand Capability Capacity 
Assessment 

18 

5 
People Strategy – Workforce Planning and Police Uplift 
Programme 

32 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 

C
o

n
te

x
t 

6 South Wales Police Financial Standing  36 

7 South Wales Police  Productivity, Innovation, Efficiency. 39 

8 National Economic Context and COVID19 46 

9 National Policing Settlement 48 

S
p

e
n

d
in

g
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

a
n
d

 A
llo

c
a
ti
o

n
s
 

10 South Wales Police Grant Allocations 2022-2025  53 

11 Revenue Budget and Forecasting Assumptions 2022-26 55 

12 Medium Term Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022-26 62 

13 Treasury Management and Prudential Borrowing 2022-26 66 

14 Police Precept and Budget Balance 2022-23 67 

K
e

y
 F

u
n

d
in

g
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

15 Capping Consideration and Council Tax Base 73 

16 Treasurer’s Comments (Chief Financial Officer to Commissioner) 75 

17 Local Government Act 2003 -  “Section 25” Statement 77 

18 Governance and Accountability Arrangements 78 

19 Summary And Conclusions 80 

  SCHEDULE OF SUPPORTING APPENDICIES 82 

Part B Capital Strategy 2022-26 including Prudential Indicators 112 

Part C 
Treasury Management Strategy 2022-26 including Treasury 
Management Indicators 

133 

Part D Reserves Strategy 2022-26 152 

 
 
 
 

Page 24



 
  
  

 

  

 

3 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 

 
This Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covers the financial years 2022 to 2026 and it is 
consistent with the supporting strategies and plans that constitute the policing approach within 
South Wales. 
 
The document shows the appropriate financial estimates of the challenges facing South Wales 
Police and the forecast changes over the Comprehensive Spending Review period.  
 
It complies with the relevant financial regulations to ensure all important factors have been fully 
considered in determining the resource requirements as well as being aligned to both the 
Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan and the Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan.  
 
This is the first time in a decade that a multi-year settlement has been announced through the 
Comprehensive Spending Review 2021 and the announcements are broadly consistent with 
previous MTFS 2021 assumptions, which had assumed, a fully funded police officer uplift 
programme initially and a continued flat cash core police grant. However, whilst the funding levels 
remain low and in line with expectations, there new unplanned cost burdens in the form of a 
Health and Social Care Levy (which will be funded by the Government) as well as pay and price 
inflation being higher than expected due to global supply chain problems driven by higher energy 
prices. A prudent assessment has been made on the level of risk within the budgets and £5M of 
cost uncertainty around pay and inflation has not been included within the budgets. 
 
The announcements by the Policing Minister and those contained within the Government’s 
Comprehensive Spending Review 2021, indicate minimal change in the core policing grant over 
the next three years (excluding Uplift funding) and this is reflected below: 
 

 
 
During the past decade of austerity, South Wales Police had to reduce officer numbers by 479 
and reduced police staff positions by 575. The Government’s Police Officer Uplift Programme 
indicates that by 2023 police officer allocations for South Wales Police will rise by an anticipated 
450 and funding made available for the equivalent uplift in police staff by around 150 (which still 
remains significantly below pre-austerity levels) this is despite the increase in demand and 
complexity of incidents routinely responded to by South Wales Police. 
 
In terms of Value for Money, South Wales Police continues to be the best performing in its most 
similar grouping of forces with regard to crime per 1000 population. There is a 20% lower chance 
of being a victim of crime in the South Wales Police area and we have prevented the equivalent 
of £730M of harm to the public from not becoming a victim of crime since 2011.  
 

Page 25



  
 
  

 

  

4 

 

 

South Wales Police has been denied over £111m in formula funding which has been frozen for 
nearly two decades despite changes to population and policing environment. The Capital City of 
Wales has an additional annual policing cost of £4M which is also not recognised in the existing 
funding formula. The Government has announced an intention to implement a new funding 
formula during the life of the current parliament and it is understood that proposals will emerge 
during 2022. It is not clear whether South Wales Police will be a beneficiary or a casualty in the 
formula review, although it is hoped that anomalies such as the lack of Capital City funding will 
be rectified. 
 
The General (contingency) Reserve currently stands at £10.3M and is £2.1M below the Force’s 
Reserve Strategy level as informed by CIPFA recommendations. This shortfall will be addressed 
as soon as the finances permit. The Force’s current commitment to essential infrastructure asset 
replacements results in long term borrowing rising by £25M to £47M. Ideally this should be funded 
via Government capital grants (which are now reduced to nil) or capital reserves (which have 
been fully utilised). The Reserves Strategy seeks to help reduce this borrowing over the MTFS 
period through any efficiency savings as and when realised.  
 
New costs mainly outside the control of the Force relating to national pay awards, contract inflation 
and national IT programmes result in a net £12.8M increase in costs on a standstill funding 
position and this reflects a part-year impact of the second pay freeze applied to policing last year. 
The independent Police Pay Review Body has been asked to make recommendations to the 
Home Secretary on officer pay. Given the previous pay freezes and significant cost of living 
increases, there is considerable risk to future budgets as each 1% change in pay has a £3M full- 
year budget consequence. 
 
Having delivered £56M of recurring budget cuts since 2011 to date, the strategy identifies a further 
shortfall in funding over the next four years of £10M following an assumed increase in police 
precept on a Band D property of £1.20 per month (£14.39 or 5.0% per annum). This is subject to 
Police & Crime Panel approval. The grant conditions on the Police Uplift Programme for Officers 
and Staff and the commitment to maintain PCSOs numbers with Welsh Government essentially 
ringfences 80% of the force budgets that are staff based. The non-pay budgets are under national 
inflationary pressures and therefore £10M of cuts entirely from non-pay budgets is not feasible.  
 
We were pleased to receive a further 41 PCSOs funded by Welsh Government on top of the 206 
already funded. This will take our target complement of PCSOs to 451 on a steady-state basis. 
 
The comprehensive Productivity and Efficiency Strategy has planned to deliver a further £8M of 
cash releasing savings by 2026 with a further £12M in productivity gains. However it is has 
become evident that given the three-year settlement, a combination of police precept and 
efficiency will be required to deliver a balanced budget, and this has been the case since austerity 
in 2010.  
 
It has been established that the majority of household occupancy in the South Wales Police area 
(68%) is below Band D property ratings and consequently will pay less than the £1.20 increase 
per month with around 36% of households being in receipt of discounted council tax. 
 
It is important to note that a 5% increase in police precept translates as a 1% increase in the 
overall Council Tax bill for on an average Band D property because the Police precept is around 
18% of the overall council tax bill.  
 
An analysis of Council tax base has shown that the composition of the tax base (the number of 
higher or lower banded properties ) and its annual growth rate varies considerably across police 

Page 26



 
  
  

 

  

 

5 

 

force areas and the South Wales Police precept generates relatively lower levels of precept 
income than many other forces across the country. 
 
The 2022/2023 financial year represents the 12th consecutive year of real terms grant cuts 
initiated in 2010/11. The cash value of the Revenue Budget is reduced to the levels received 18 
Years Ago (2004-05) and the real value of the Revenue Budget (adjusted for inflation) is reduced 
to levels received in the 1980s. 
 
This MTFS has carefully considered the known expenditure pressures, the annual grant funding 
from the Spending Review to 2025 as well as the cuts to existing budgets over the past decade. 
 
The proposed precept increase of £1.20 per month still presents the force with a £4.5M 
efficiency/budget reduction next year rising to £10.2M over the next 4 years. There is a 
considerable uncertainty next year on pay and price inflation and that is a cause for concern on 
top of cash releasing savings required to achieve the statutory duty of delivering a balanced 
budget. 
 
However, it is impossible to ignore the current economic environment which presents a cost of 
living challenge for households and consequently the precept proposal of £14.39 which increases 
the overall council tax by 1%, is considered as absolutely essential to maintain effective policing 
upon which the public depend to keep their communities safe. 

.  

Page 27



  
 
  

 

  

6 

 

 

1.0  INTRODUCTION AND CORE FINANCIAL PLANNING PRINCIPLES 
 
1.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 established two “Corporations Sole” 

for Police Forces - the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable - who 
have complementary policing responsibilities and gave them shared responsibility to 
provide effective financial and budget planning for the short, medium and long term.  
 

1.2 The Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable are duty bound to secure 
Value for Money which is independently examined by the Audit Wales and by Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS).  The 
positive findings of the independent bodies are set out later in this report. 
 

1.3 The Police and Crime Commissioner is required to prepare the following strategies and 
plans and in South Wales this is done jointly with the Chief Constable in accordance with 
the agreement to a co-operative model of leadership and oversight.;  
 

 A Police and Crime Plan that reflects the Commissioner’s priorities.  The Plan is 
developed after public consultation and after consideration of the resources 
available.  The plan has to take account of the Strategic Policing Requirement 
which is set by the Home Secretary; as well as the Policing Protocol Order. 

 

 A Risk Management Strategy;  
 

 A Medium Term Financial Strategy (the Financial Strategy); 
 

 The South Wales Police Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy; 
 

 A Reserves Strategy;  
 

 An Asset Management Strategy; 
 

 The Capital Programme; and 
 

 An Annual Revenue Budget and Value for Money Plan.  
 

1.4 The Commissioner must also propose a precept level for the forthcoming year. These 
plans are then subject to review by the Police and Crime Panel for South Wales.  
 

1.5 This report sets out the key issues considered by the Commissioner in determining an 
appropriate level of budget and precept necessary to meet the legal requirement to provide 
an efficient and effective police service to the public across South Wales.  
 

1.6 The Commissioner takes personal responsibility for the proposed level of precept, but 
makes his proposals each year in consultation with the Chief Constable, the Chief 
Constable’s Chief Financial Officer and advised by the Treasurer (the Commissioner’s 
Chief Finance Officer). The Commissioner’s decision is based on an assessment of what 
is required to deliver the priorities set out in the Police & Crime Plan, and careful 
consideration of the professional advice he has received in regard to policing and financial 
management. 
 

1.7 In developing this Medium Term Financial Strategy the following Core Principles have 
been adopted: 
 

Page 28



 
  
  

 

  

 

7 

 

a) The Medium Term Financial Strategy is consistent with the South Wales Police’s 
Vision of ‘Being the best at understanding and responding to our communities needs’. 
It will support the Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan and the Chief 
Constable’s Operational Delivery Plan which flows from it.  

 
b) In order to minimise ambiguity and uncertainty over local funding decisions over the 

medium term planning cycle the benchmark for South Wales Police is attaining and 
maintaining a level of police precept which is neither the highest or lowest but 
the average of the other three Welsh police forces. The precept for South Wales 
is currently less than the Welsh Police average. Clearly, if Central Government funding 
decisions for South Wales Police changes dramatically then this will need to be 
reviewed, but currently this provides a reasonable planning assumption. 

 
c) South Wales Police has had to cope with a £45M cut in grant funding since 2010 and 

then a freeze in police grant funding at the reduced level between 2017 to 2022. The 
combination of grant cuts followed by grant freezes have substantially reduced the 
policing budget and required £56M of recurring cashable savings to balance the 
budget together with significant efforts to deliver a continuous improvement culture 
with leadership that delivers the right people, skills, tools, at the right place and time. 
We will ensure in our financial planning assumptions that we provide our people 
with the necessary skills, tools and resources to maintain a highly effective 
policing service. 

 
d) The cuts in grant funding forced a reduction in the number of police officers from a 

historic high of 3,400 down to 2,800 before steps supported by the Police & Crime 
Panel were taken to increase resources to tackle vulnerability. That increased 
numbers to a budgeted establishment of 2,841. The Police Officer Uplift Programme 
provides funding (anticipated as 450 officers) and deadlines by which to achieve 
increases in the allocated establishment this strategy will seek to optimise this 
ringfenced uplift investment to enhance operational policing performance.  

 
e) We worked hard to achieve efficiencies and to reduce costs in order to protect the 

number of Police Officers we employed whilst maintaining the number of PCSOs. The 
Welsh Government has increased its number of PCSO’s directly funded from 206 to 
247 and this will ensure PCSO numbers are funded and recruited to the 447 
target during the planning cycle. 
 

f) Police staff numbers have been cut by 575 posts and there are many key specialist 
roles that impact on front line which has been acknowledged in the funding model for 
the 20,000 police officer uplift programme which incorporates 6,500 police staff posts 
to support the increase in direct and indirect support services. The Police Officer uplift 
programme is anticipated to fund 150 police staff posts by March 2023 and an active 
recruitment programme is underway. The MTFS will ensure we are able to fully 
utilise the allocated funding to support frontline services. 

 
g) The Medium Term Financial Strategy will continue to maintain collaborative 

momentum and secure further savings for South Wales Police and its partners. 
 

h) The strategy will seek to secure a sustainable infrastructure base which is 
compliant with Health & Safety and other legislative requirements to maintain 
operational effectiveness. 

 

Page 29



  
 
  

 

  

8 

 

 

i) Detailed strategies including Asset Management Plans will ensure effective provision, 
use and deployment of resources. The Strategy will ensure compliance with the 
Prudential Code requirements and that borrowing levels remain affordable and 
sustainable. 
 

j) The strategy will seek to maintain the purchasing power of base budgets 
particularly on fixed or unavoidable costs (e.g. overtime, allowances, utilities, licences, 
contracts) in order to ensure that financial plans are realistic and deliverable. The aim 
is for the annual budget to achieve a budget to outturn accuracy of more than 
99.5%. 

  

Page 30



 
  
  

 

  

 

9 

 

2.0 THE COMISSIONER’S POLICE AND CRIME PLAN 2021 -2026  
 
2.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner holds the legal responsibility of setting the policing 

priorities for South Wales through the Police and Crime Plan. In South Wales this is done 
in partnership with the Chief Constable, based on shared organisational values, principles 
and in consultation with the public and partners.  

 
2.2 This Financial Strategy supports the delivery of the Police and Crime Plan by setting 

out the provision and allocation of required resources.  Crucially, it also sets out how 
the Commissioner will set a balanced budget for the forthcoming financial year together 
with a Value for Money Plan to continue to set balanced budgets over the medium term.  

 
2.3 The overall budget and the financial plans have been developed jointly with the Chief 

Constable and his staff. The Commissioner and the Chief Constable have established an 
effective governance process to ensure the delivery of the Police and Crime Plan and to 
develop an effective risk management process to address emerging threats to such 
delivery. 
 

2.4 Following the Commissioner’s re-election in May 2021, an updated Police and Crime Plan 
has been approved for the period 2022-2026. The Plan is fully aligned to the shared South 
Wales Police Vision of: “To be the best at understanding and responding to our 
communities needs”. It sets out key priorities for the Commissioner’s term in office with 
an over-arching model of early intervention and prompt, positive action.  The following six 
priorities include a mix of direct initiatives and research projects that will help inform future 
initiatives. 

 
The updated plan makes specific reference to Tackling Violence Against Women and 
Girls within the ‘Engaging Communities’ section. The six priorities are as follows: 

 
Priority 1 – We will reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour to keep people 
safe and confident in their homes and communities. 
 

 

 Priority 2 – We will involve and empower our communities, working with partners in Local 
Government, Health, Fire, and Welsh Government to deliver services that people need. 

 
 

 Priority 3 – We will work to protect the most vulnerable in our communities, understanding 
causes and taking prompt positive action as issues arise. 

 
 

 Priority 4 – We will work to make the local Criminal Justice System efficient and effective 
to meet the needs of victims and reduce re-offending. 

 
 

 Priority 5 – We will ensure that South Wales Police continues to be a high performing 
Force in terms of the operational response to crime, threats, harm and the detection of 
offenders. 

 
 

 Priority 6 – We will spend your money wisely and support our people to provide the best 
possible policing in your community. 

 
2.5 These priorities are underpinned by the ethos promoted by the Commissioner, supported 

by the Chief Constable, that “Co-operation is the overarching principle that inspires 
us. Together we achieve more than we can achieve alone.”  Based on the experience 
of applying this principle over several years it has been concluded that the challenges that 

Page 31



  
 
  

 

  

10 

 

 

face the Police and the communities they serve are not separate and distinct, but that 
“everything is connected to everything else” so efforts are therefore made to find the 
connections that can be addressed together and with partners. Demand from mental 
health, substance misuse, domestic violence and abuse and the impact of Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are inter-related and if not prevented or addressed quickly 
they drive increases in demand for the NHS, Local Government and other partners too. 

 
  

Page 32



 
  
  

 

  

 

11 

 

3.0 THE POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER’S BUDGET 2022/23 
 
3.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable have an agreed governance 

process which ensures that the Chief Constable has sufficient resources to fulfil his 
operational requirements. The majority of the budget is delegated to the Chief Constable. 
Governance is set out within an agreement which makes clear the joint nature of 
leadership which has proved so effective in the past 9 years. 

 
3.2  Whereas the role of the former Police Authority was primarily to do with oversight and 

governance, the role of the Commissioner is a much wider and more complex role which 
includes delivery, prevention and partnership. In South Wales that has been developed 
significantly by both the Commissioner and the Chief Constable.    

  
3.3  The Police and Crime Commissioner retains direct allocation and management resources 

in the following areas summarised in the table below. In order to pursue those aspects of 
the Police and Crime Plan that are his direct responsibility although, in reality, there is 
generally a shared agenda and the Commissioner works very closely with the Chief 
Constable and his team on sustainable long-term initiatives to reduce and prevent crime. 

 
3.4 Police and Crime Commissioner’s Team Budget  
 

During 2019/20, a fundamental review of the Commissioner’s Team was undertaken. The 
review was triggered by a number of factors, not least being the additional responsibilities 
the Commissioner now has in relation to scrutiny, assurance and complaints. A further 
review of business critical posts was undertaken in 2021, and five new posts were added, 
funded from Operation Uplift allocations from the Home Office.  
 
Two further business critical posts have been added to the establishment, in order to 
address the increased work across the Criminal Justice portfolio and a Strategic Lead to 
lead on the planning and organizing of the work of the Commissioner’s Team. 
 
Additional statutory responsibilities as result of police reforms around the complaints 
system has also led to a need to increase staffing levels to manage the increase in 
demand. These roles will also support the role the Commissioner has in holding the Chief 
Constable to acooutn for the running of an efficient and effective Police force. 
 
Following the appointment of Lee Jones as the permanent Chief Executive, the senior 
post of Chief Operating Officer has been deleted from the establishment. 
 
The balance of the increase for 2022/23 essentially relates to the anticipated pay award 
for 2022 and incremental salary increases. 
 

3.5 Commissioned Services - Community Safety Fund 
 

Community Safety 
 

Each Community Safety Partnership within the South Wales Police area receives a 
contribution to support their work. The Commissioner’s funding has helped to deliver a 
range of community services, including: 
 

 Crime and disorder reduction and prevention interventions 

 Offender management 

 Anti-social behaviour interventions 

Page 33



  
 
  

 

  

12 

 

 

 Substance misuse support 

 Domestic and sexual abuse (including IDVA and ISVA services) support 

 Mental health support 

 Evening and nigh time economy interventions 

 Hate crime support 

 Community cohesion and engagement activities 

 Anti-human exploitation support 
 

Youth Offending 
 

The Commissioner’s contribution to Youth Offending has helped the Partnerships to 
deliver early intervention and preventions services, diversionary activities, substance 
misuse services and services for victims of youth crime.  
 

Substance Misuse Intervention  

 

The Dyfodol service was launched in 2016 and aimed to build a cohesive model that 
deliver substance misuse services to those who come into contact with the Criminal 
Justice Service. This is a £3.4m (joint funded) annual service, delivered by a range of 
commercial and third sector providers and is funded in partnership with Her Majesty’s 
Prison and Probation Service, who contribute £1.5M annually. 
 
Since inception, Dyfodol has supported individuals in the Criminal Justice System to tackle 
their substance misuse and offending related behaviour. Dyfodol aims to work with those 
who may be considered hard to engage and at high risk of harm. It plugs a gap in services 
for people who are rarely served by mainstream NHS treatment due to the challenging 
nature of their behaviour.   
 
Dyfodol workers engage with those who come into Police Custody to assess substance 
misuse issues and vulnerabilities. They work with the police to identify those most suitable 
for drug testing (in line with the Drug Act 2005 requirements). Dyfodol workers encourage 
voluntary engagement in treatment and refer individuals with low-level substance misuse 
to other suitable services. They link with mental health teams and police public protection 
teams (for example) to manage the risk and needs of each individual, providing 
appropriate treatment to divert them from ongoing criminality. Dyfodol liaise with Probation 
staff and provide information to sentencers to ensure appropriate Court Orders that 
consider the substance misuse related offending of the individual are considered.  
 
Dyfodol is an end-to-end service for the Criminal Justice System in South Wales, from 
community to custody to prison and back to community. In prison, it delivers non-clinical 
substance misuse services in the four public-sector prisons and in HMP & YOI Parc. 
Those receiving opiate substitute therapy in prison (from the NHS) currently receive the 
same therapy on release, and are supported whilst on license in the community. 

 
3.6 Prevent Offending & Re-offending 
 

Prevent Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach (WSA) and 18-25 Early 
Intervention Service 

 
A Commissioning Partnership has been formed between the South Wales Police and 
Crime Commissioner, Gwent Police and Crime Commissioner, HMPPS in Wales and 
Welsh Government to commission the Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach 
Service Delivery Model alongside the 18-25 Early Intervention Service across South 

Page 34



 
  
  

 

  

 

13 

 

Wales and Gwent. Consolidating delivery of both the Women’s Pathfinder and 18-25 
Diversion will provide a more streamlined approach to custody based interventions, 
recognising the wider benefits that can be realised through providing tailored approach for 
women and young adults who come in contact with the CJS. The providers of these 
services are Future4 (which is a consortium made up of G4S, Safer Wales, Include and 
Llamau).  

 
The 18-25 Early Intervention service will support young adults at the pre statutory stage 
(Diversion and pre-sentence) where the Women’s Pathfinder has become a much broader 
service and will provide a ‘Whole System Approach’ (supporting women at each stage of 
the justice system). The new model will offer this support in all BCUs across South Wales 
and will no longer be restricted by postcode (previously the Women’s Pathfinder Diversion 
Scheme was only operating in Cwm Taf and Cardiff). Recommissioning under a single 
contract has also achieved cost-savings of £94K per annum, which equates to a 29% 
reduction in delivery costs of 18-25 diversionary services. 

 
In total over £1.4million has been committed by the commissioning partnership to the 
Women’s Pathfinder and the 18-25 Early Intervention Service on an annual basis until 
2021 (with potential additional year on year funding until 2023). 
 
To further reduce on-going demand on the criminal justice system during (and beyond) 
the COVID period, the implementation of the new, simplified two-Tier Out of Court 
Disposals (OoCD) model provides an opportunity to capitalise on existing out of court 
diversionary provision to pilot OoCD service for low level, frequent offenders. This would 
enable services to be provided to those who frequently commit low level offences that 
attract a fine, bind-over or conditional discharge at court.  This cohort will include a 
number of females and 18-25s who would exceed our ‘normal’ eligibility criteria for an 
OoCD (using current previous-offending criteria). This pilot will also be open to eligible 
males over the age of 25, a cohort who current fall outside of the current diversionary 
offer in South Wales and Gwent.  No further funding required in 2022/23 as investment 
was ringfenced in 2021/22, hence why the funding requirement will reduce by 
approximately £44k in 2022/23. 
 
Many of those expected to be referred may have missed out on the chance to access 
early intervention initiatives to support them address their offending behaviour and now 
form a large part of the ‘revolving-door’ cohort. 
 
There is also an investment of £206k within overall funding related to the continuation 
CCTV development and other preventative projects.  The funding requirement of £70k 
for Early Action Together will reduce in 2022/23 as partnership funding has been 
secured with partners.  
 
 
Mental Health 

 
The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat is a shared statement of commitment, endorsed 
by senior leaders from the organisations most heavily involved in responding to mental 
health crisis in Wales. The Police, The Welsh Government, and its partners, NHS, the 
Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust, Local Authorities and third sector are committed 
to work together to improve the system of care and support for people in crisis due to a 
mental health condition and who are likely to be detained under section 135 and136 of the 
Mental Health Act 1983.  

 

Page 35



  
 
  

 

  

14 

 

 

The Concordat requires that these key partners work together, to intervene early, if 
possible, to reduce the likelihood of people presenting a risk of harm to themselves or 
others because of a mental health condition deteriorating to such a crisis point. The Crisis 
Care Concordat National Action Plan contains key objectives that will continue to be the 
focus for the year ahead, ensuring that key priorities are being delivered within South 
Wales Police and most importantly make a difference to the people in the community that 
require support. 

 
The mental health project is committed to supporting people who are vulnerable, who are 
in emotional or psychological distress and who may need mental health treatment. In the 
year ahead, working collaboratively with partners will be key, so that where people access 
services, they are always helped to find the most appropriate support needed. The 
ambition would be that in whatever situation that need arose and whichever service they 
turn to, they will get the help they need.  There will be continuing work to ensure that any 
intervention is carried out without recourse to unnecessary or inappropriate placement; for 
example within police custody.  
 

3.7 Tackling Perpetrators 
 

The Drive programme was initially limited to Cardiff and Cwm Taf and delivered in 
partnership with Safer Merthyr. The extension of Drive across Bridgend, Swansea, Neath 
Port Talbot and Vale of Glamorgan in 2021/22 follows a move to 3 BCUs across South 
Wales. The funding is intended further develop and embed delivery of community based 
intervention to improve victim safety by focusing on support and disrupt interventions for 
high harm perpetrators of domestic violence and abuse (of any gender)  aged 16 years or 
over. 
 
Since this expansion, the caseload figures have doubled, and so high harm perpetrators 
supported are now at 688, the victims and survivors supported are now at 781 and the 
associated children supported are now at 1,277. 
 
The Purpose of Drive – An innovative approach to responding to high-harm perpetrators 
of domestic violence and abuse (DVA).  The programme challenges perpetrators of DVA 
fundamentally changing their behaviour to make victims and families safer.  The aim is to 
target the root cause of DVA and improve outcomes for victims and their families by 
working with partners and other services, to complement and enhance existing 
interventions which drives perpetrators to change their behaviour. 
 
Through the implementation of Drive we have been able to strengthen working 
relationships and confidence in the programme has developed.  The Drive team are 
working with partners and agencies such as HMPPS and as a result are working with high 
harm perpetrators that have proven to be extremely hard to engage with and making 
significant progress in terms harm reduction and increasing victims safety.  
 
At a local level we are seeing a significant reduction in reporting of harmful behaviours, 
from both perpetrators and victims / IDVAs. Work with perpetrators has been enhanced 
through the close relationships built up with offender management organisations and the 
work with forensic psychology has meant that case managers within Drive are able to work 
with complex case perpetrators, something that would not have been possible in the 
beginning of the pilot. 
 
Drive has provided an intervention for those high harm perpetrators that previously would 
have received nothing, the engagement rate is 87%, and we have been able to gain a 

Page 36



 
  
  

 

  

 

15 

 

better understanding of the needs of perpetrators, with the three highest support needs 
reported as substance misuse, mental health and children families and parenting. 52% of 
perpetrators have 3 or more support needs. 
 
During 2021/22, the Drive Programme was rolled out throughout the South Wales area. 
This coverage will be continued into 2022/23. 
 

3.8 Victim Services  
 
The victim services funded by the Commissioner have continued to help victims cope and 
recover from the effects of crime and ensure that the Criminal Justice System puts their 
needs first. The Ministry of Justice provides an annual grant to all Police and Crime 
Commissioners allowing them to decide how best to commission services that meet the 
needs of victims locally. South Wales ‘Victim Focus’, delivered by Victim Support, is our 
core service for victims.  It provides free and confidential needs-led, help and support to 
anyone affected by crime. People who accessed the service who were helped to 
understand the information, advice and services available to them, said that they felt safer 
and that their health and wellbeing improved. 
 
The  current investment of £243K is to support the strategic ‘Change that Lasts’, the Family 
Intervention and the Survivor Empowerment programmes. 
 
The Victim Services funded by the Ministry of Justice  
 
The Ministry of Justice transferred responsibility for most victim services to Police and 
Crime Commissioners, with 2015/16 being the first year when the service was fully funded. 
The grant allocation for 2021/22 was £2.492M and whilst the Ministry of Justice has not 
yet announced the same cash allocation for 2022/23, this is likely to be received. The 
grant can be used to commission a range of services to help victims cope and recover 
from crime, including restorative justice solutions, part of the funding is ring fenced for 
services specifically for victims affected by Child Sexual Abuse or Child Exploitation, The 
largest share of the grant (£0.84M) is provided to Victim Support who through the delivery 
of Victim Focus South Wales, provide a range of support and engagement for victims of 
crime in South Wales who consent to being  contacted. More specialist services e.g. 
advocacy and court support services, young victims of crime, are being commissioned to 
complement this force-wide service.  
 

3.9 Violence Prevention Unit  
 

The Home Office are set to confirm that that further funding of £880K per annum for 
2022/26 will be allocated. The  Violence Prevention Unit  was established with the support 
of funding from the Home Office in 2019, and takes a public health approach to preventing 
all forms of violence across Wales. The core team comprises members from the 
Commissioners Team and the Force, Public Health Wales, HMPPS and third sector 
specialist support services.  The Unit aims to prevent all forms of violence across Wales, 
whilst maintaining a particular focus on serious violence in South Wales, in line with the 
Home Office grant agreement. 
 
The Core Function of the Violence Prevention Unit is to offer leadership, establish a Core 
Membership and, working with all relevant agencies operating locally, provide strategic 
coordination of the local response to serious violence.  
 

Page 37



  
 
  

 

  

16 

 

 

The Violence Prevention Unit will support a multi-agency, public health, long-term 
approach to preventing and tackling serious violence, in line with the Serious Violence 
Strategy, which is:  
 

 Focused on defined population  

 With and for Communities  

 Not constrained by organisational or professional boundaries  

 Focussed on generating long term as well as short term solutions  

 Based on data and intelligence to identify the burden on the population, including 
any inequalities  

 Rooted in evidence of effectiveness to tackle the problem  
 
3.10 Project Adder 
 

The Home Office in conjunction with DHSC and PHE secured funding in 2021/22 from the 
HMT Shared Outcomes Fund to pilot an intensive whole system approach to tackling drug 
misuse in select locations worst affected by drug misuse, alongside national activity to 
disrupt the middle market supply of drugs.  The funding available to South Wales was 
£653k in 2021/22 and a committed £500k in 2022/23. Therefore, the grant available has 
reduced by £153k in 2022/23. 
 
The pilot is referred to as Project ADDER and involves co-ordinated law enforcement 
activity, alongside expanded diversionary activity and treatment/recovery provision in the 
chosen pilot areas.  This is complemented by Home Office and National Crime Agency 
activity to tackle middle market drugs and firearms supply.   
 
The project builds on existing work and looks to expand multi-agency partnership working 
in the local areas to drive sustained health and crime related outcomes.  
 
The project plans have the following core elements: 
 

1. Enforcement: to bolster local police force capability including enhanced analytical, 
intelligence and investigatory capacity to support an increase in targeted drug 
supply disruption and a reduction in drug related harm and offending.   

2. Diversion: to use the criminal justice system to divert people who use drugs away 
from offending and into health interventions, through programmes such as Drug 
Testing on Arrest (DToA) and Out of Court Disposals (OOCDs).   

3. Treatment and recovery: a comprehensive expansion of drug outreach, harm 
reduction, treatment and recovery support services in each of the areas. This 
includes enhancing outreach and naloxone provision, increasing treatment 
capacity, improving pathways from criminal justice into treatment, developing 
recovery communities and peer support and specific support for those leaving 
prison, people experiencing homelessness and recovery support around 
employment. 

 
Swansea Bay area was confirmed as one of four project areas in England and Wales. The 
project in Wales began in 2021/22 and will be piloted until the end of 2022/23.  The project 
is underpinned by an evaluation and monitoring framework which will help to inform the 
evidence base for future Government intervention and national investment in this field. 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 
  
  

 

  

 

17 

 

3.11 Police & Crime Commissioner’s Budget 

 
A summary of the draft budget for the Commissioner’s Team for 2022/23 is shown below, 
and detailed at Appendix 1 together with comparative budgets in 2021/22.  

 

   

2021/22 

£'000 

2022/23 

£'000 

Change 

£'000 

 Internally Funded       

 Commissioners Team Core budget 2,092 2,445 353 

 Commissioned Services - Community Safety 3,390 3,390 0 

 Changes in Internally Funded 5,482 5,835 353 

         

 Partnership Fund (Funded Internally/EMR)       

 Prevent Offending & Re-offending 1,001 887 -114 

 Tackling Perpetrators (Drive) 762 762 0 

 Victims Services 243 243 0 

 Changes in Partnership Fund Requirement 2,006 1,892 -114 

         

 Externally Funded        

 Victims Services (Ministry of Justice Funded)* 2,492 2,492 0 

 

Violence Prevention Unit* 

Project Adder 

880 

653 

880 

500 

0 

-153 

 Changes in Externally Funded 4,025 3,872 -153 

         

 TOTAL POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 11,513 11,599 86 

 
Note:*   It is assumed that the external grant funding will be available in 2023/23 at the 
same level as in 2021/22. 
 

3.12 Precept Public Consultation Survey 2022/23 
 

The Police and Crime Commissioner has a responsibility under the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act to obtain the views of the public on matters relating to 
policing.  This includes consulting with residents in advance of setting the police precept 
level and allocating the police budget.  
 
The results of the consultation survey are presented in a separate paper to the Panel. 

 
 
  

Page 39



  
 
  

 

  

18 

 

 

4.0 FORCE MANAGEMENT STATEMENT - DEMAND, CAPABILITY, CAPACITY, 
ASSESSMENT  

 
South Wales Police is the busiest force in Wales and one of the busiest nationally in 
terms of crimes per 1,000 population. Previous comparisons on the levels of deprivation 
within the force boundary showed that It contained 64 of the 100 most deprived 
communities in Wales. During 2019, a new Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation was 
published and this affirmed that the South Wales Police area contained 50% of the top ten 
percent of most deprived areas across Wales, as shown below. 
 

 
 
 
 
South Wales Police provides a policing service to 1.3 million people - 42% of the Welsh 
population; managing around 43% of the total crime in Wales.  In the period between 
November 2020 to November 2021, the Force dealt with: 

 

Occurrences (Incidents); 329,274 

Arrests (including voluntary attendances); 31,789 

Emergency (999) calls; 226,145 

Non-emergency (101) calls 423,212 

Missing persons incidents 6,727 

Mental health reported incidents 19,738 

Page 40



 
  
  

 

  

 

19 

 

South Wales Police is also a strategic force in Wales delivering not only a local service 
but also provides support and capabilities for major national events outside the Force area.  

 
The Force polices around 600 events each year which require varying levels of police 
intervention in terms of planning and resources.  These can include policing championship 
and international football, international cricket and rugby and other sporting events, 
concerts, Royal visits, Public Military events, demonstrations and protest marches and 
policing of the night time economies of Cardiff and Swansea.  

 
The scale and complexity of incidents routinely dealt with by the Force and the additional 
issues involved in policing a Capital City make it unique within Wales and more widely. 

 

4.1  Force Management Statement - Demand, Capability, Capacity Assessment 

  
The FMS provides a candid and thoughtful insight into the challenges facing the force and 
how, through the Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan and the Chief Constable’s 
Delivery Plan, the force will address those issues.  
 
The force has undertaken a comprehensive review and refreshed its Force Management 
Statement (FMS) during 2021 using the available full year performance information 
in respect of 2020. The achievements over the last three years together with assessed 
opportunities and challenges for the future informed the development of the Chief 
Constable’s Delivery Plan 2021-2025 Appendix 2 
 
The key strategic challenges facing the force over the next four years are summarised as 
follows: 

 
4.1.1 Wellbeing 
 

The Commissioner and the Chief Constable are committed to promoting the wellbeing of 
the force and this is a priority in the Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan which aims over the 
next four years to improve the health management, attendance and wellbeing of its staff. 
This includes: 

 

 Investment in a number of additional resources and initiatives to support staff with 

mental health issues and to assist managers to deal with complex cases. 

 Alignment to the national Oscar Kilo framework against which progress is measured. 

 Creation of  a network of Health and Wellbeing Champions and Blue Light Champions. 

 Provide a wide range of wellbeing support to all staff and officers.  

 Provide support for staff and managers during the Coronavirus pandemic to deal with 

COVID-19 specific absences and wellbeing.  

 Reduce Sickness levels particularly in relation to mental ill-health and musculoskeletal. 

 Address the number of officers on adjusted duties and their deployment across the 

force. 

 Ensure training and development for managers supporting attendance and wellbeing. 

 
Despite this focus, officers and staff continue to suffer injures from assaults or accidents.  
The force is also unflinching in its commitment to learn from these incidents and to provide 
its staff with the right skills and equipment to promote their wellbeing and reduce injury  

 

Page 41



  
 
  

 

  

20 

 

 

4.1.2 Responding to the public - requests for service 
 

South Wales Police has an effective call handling service, albeit significant challenges 
present in the form of exponential growth in 999 and 101 calls and the ever-changing 
contact expectations of its communities. In 2019/20 the force received 207,327 
emergency 999 calls and 485,914 non-emergency 101 calls.   

 

In response to these challenges, the force has collaborated with partners in the Fire and 
Rescue Service, Welsh Ambulance Service, Social Services  and the NHS, to provide a 
holistic multi-agency interface which better serves its communities and improves the 
speed and quality of its response to those in need. In November 2020, the force launched 
Single Online Home, which provides alternative methods of contacting the force. 

 
The challenges to be addressed include: 

 

 The continued funding of DRIVE (included in the Commisioner’s budget) which is 

shown to reduce demand from victims as well as reducing re-offending 

 The for the provision of a Community Psychiatric Nursing Team.  

 The re-introduction of the Emergency Duty Team (Partnership Assessment and 

Resolution Hub) in the Public Service Centre.  

 Increasing demand from emergency (999) and non-emergency (101) calls. 

 Meeting public expectations in relation to answering non-emergency (101) calls.  

 The impact of the ongoing shift to digital public engagement. 

 The high levels of calls in relation to vulnerable people. 

 
4.1.3 Responding to the public - incident response  
 

During 2019/20, officers were deployed to 196,462 incidents, made 25,969 arrests and 
responded to 47% of emergency incidents within 15 minutes. Working together, the Chief 
Constable and Police and Crime Commissioner have equipped their workforce with mobile 
technology that enables quicker and better-informed decision making. The force has also 
trained an additional 539 officers to carry Tasers. 

 
The Commissioner and the Chief Constable are committed to working with partners to 
reduce non-crime demand and changes in force policies has resulted in: 

Emergency
Non-Emergency 

(101)

Non-Emergency 

(Other)

Other Contact 

Methods

207,327 485,914 34,366 N/A

99.7% 91.2% 96.9% N/A

5 Seconds 2 Mins, 5 Seconds 6 Seconds N/A

182,082 184,613 17,884 44,226

Emergency (Grade 1) 69,229 14,418 6,795 6,648

Priority (Grade 2) 24,315 40,249 5,382 14,973

Non-Priority (Grade 3) 4,022 20,053 630 5,048

Scheduled (Grade 4) 9,420 53,328 585 8,356

FCR (Grade 5) 75,096 56,565 4,492 9,201

 

2019/20

Number of Calls Received

Percentage of those calls answered

Average wait time

Total number of calls for assistance

Page 42



 
  
  

 

  

 

21 

 

 

 a saving of 22,480 hours (or 11 officers) in relation to attendance at reports of 

shoplifting.  

 In consultation with our partners, changes to force policy for missing persons, has 

seen a 15% reduction in reports of missing persons. 

 Under the New Force Structure Programme, the force has amended its BCU 

structures to better align to local partnership boundaries. 

 The force has also established an Incident Resolution Team within its Public Service 

Centre, who deal with and resolve 13% of force demand at the first point of contact. 

 
The challenges to be addressed with regard to incident response include: 

 

 The high levels of calls in relation to vulnerable young people missing from local 

authority care. 

 The impact of the Police Education and Qualification Framework on student officers 

and therein the delayed benefit realisation from the Uplift Programme is an issue which 

the force seeks to manage through better succession planning and strategic resource 

management 

 A thorough understanding of the skills and abilities of officers and staff and the 

development of an effective succession planning process. 

4.1.4  Community Safety 
 

Community Safety and Neighbourhood Policing sit at the heart of our strategy. We will 
strengthen the role of our Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) to focus clearly on 
local problem-solving and on communicating (listening to and engaging with the local 
community) and empowering local communities to be resilient, safe, and confident. It 
means involving everyone, protecting the vulnerable, maintaining high levels of victim 
satisfaction and working with partners. That’s why our leadership teams play a full part in 
Public Services Boards working with Local Government, the NHS, and other partners on 
local delivery and on our refreshed vision of Community Safety in Wales. We aim for “more 
partnership through fewer, better-focussed meetings”.  

 

4.1.5 Prevention and deterrence (neighbourhood policing) 
 

Reducing and preventing crime is a priority in the Police and Crime Plan and Chief 
Constable’s Delivery Plan.  The Chief Constable and Police and Crime Commissioner are 
committed to build upon existing partnership arrangements through Public Service Boards 
to provide sustainable partnership arrangements to reduce and prevent crime.  
 
The investment in dedicated Senior Community Safety Coordinators across the Police 
and Local Government partners will help ensure community safety issues are identified 
and addressed jointly. 
 

Page 43



  
 
  

 

  

22 

 

 

The force is also maximising the use of its cadre of special constables who contributed 
over 21,000 hours during 2019/20 and its 252 police support volunteers in support of its 
priority to reduce and prevent crime.  The force has also seen a 35% increase in stop 
search, resulting in over 1,500 arrests. 

 
The realisation of the changes proposed by the Vulnerability Change Programme is a key 
driver to creating more resilient communities.  
 
The key challenges with regard to Neighbourhood policing include: 

 

 Ensuring our policing model continues to meet the demands and expectations of our 

communities.  

 The support of partner agencies through the Public Service Boards for an integrated 

approach to neighbourhood policing, including supporting the Citizens in Policing 

Programme. 

 The sustainability of existing partnership arrangements to reduce and prevent crime. 

 Ensuring there is a sustainable infrastructure to support the UK Government’s Uplift 

Programme.   

 A thorough understanding of the skills and abilities of officers and staff and the 

development of an effective succession planning process. 

 
4.1.6 Investigations 
 

South Wales Police is committed to providing the victims of crime with efficient and 
effective investigations that bring offenders to justice in a timely manner. In 2019/20, the 
force saw a 9.5% reduction in burglary, a 4.7% reduction in vehicle theft, a 9% increase 
in drug possession and a 17.5% positive outcome rate. 

 
The force, like others nationally, has faced challenges as follows: 

 

 Attracting, retaining and accrediting detectives with the necessity to manage 

increasingly complex digital evidence.  

 The ongoing threat of serious violent crime and serious sexual offences continues to 

impact our investigative capacity, as it does community resilience. 

 Achieving a sustainable funding model for the Violence Prevention Unit is considered 

an important step in preventing violent crime.  

 Improving its ISO accreditation for forensic services and develop a Digital Forensic 

Cyber Crime Unit that is appropriately resourced and fit for purpose.  

 Continuing to work with the Crown Prosecution Service and the Courts Service post 

COVID-19 to reduce the backlog of cases awaiting trial remains a priority across all 

criminal justice partners. 

Page 44



 
  
  

 

  

 

23 

 

 The ability of the force to meet ever increasing demands from digital evidence as well 

as the ability to meet the pace of change in relation to digital devices. 

 
4.1.7 Protecting vulnerable people 
 

In 2019/20, the force recorded 17,140 domestic abuse and violence crimes, and dealt with 
1,537 perpetrators of these crimes. However, 83% of domestic abuse and violence victims 
surveyed by the force did not support a prosecution from the outset.  During 2019/20 the 
force saw a 37% increase in demand for its Online Investigation Team, a 11% increase in 
mental health demand, and a 16% increase in stalking and harassment cases. 
 
In 2019/20, the force recorded 1,930 hate crimes, a 5% increase on the 1,845 recorded 
in 2018/19. There has been a rise in recorded crime across each strand, with the highest 
increases seen in religious hate crime (19%), disability hate crime (17%) and transgender 
hate crime (14%).   

 

 
  

The post COVID-19 landscape is likely to exacerbate existing vulnerabilities as well as 
surfacing new vulnerabilities.  The importance of effective partnership working is at the 
heart to such a response and the force has invested heavily to meet the needs of the most 
vulnerable in our communities.  
 
The Vulnerability Change Programme seeks to embed multi-agency Hubs in our 
communities, whilst the establishment of multi-agency triage services from ambulance, 
mental health and social services within the Public Service Centre provides support at the 
point of need.  The challenges which the Chief Constable and his leadership team are 
actively addressing include: 

 

 The impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on safeguarding the most vulnerable, 

investigations and the criminal justice system. 

Page 45



  
 
  

 

  

24 

 

 

 The increases in rapes and serious sexual offences and continued partnership 

support through continued funding for the Sexual Assault Referral Centres. 

 The high levels of calls in relation to vulnerable young people missing from local 

authority care. 

 The challenges faced by the increasing number of homeless people, particularly 

in Cardiff and Swansea. 

 A sustainable partnership approach to supporting vulnerable people, including 

mental health triage, and early action together.  

 Continuing to resource the policing support for those vulnerable members of our 

communities in tandem with the current shortage of detectives. 

 Supporting staff wellbeing in what can be very stressful and demanding roles. 

 
4.1.8  Managing offenders 
 

South Wales Police has an effective strategic governance arrangements for offender 
management and Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements.  The force has led the 
way on developing bespoke offender management arrangements for domestic abuse 
perpetrators through its DRIVE programme, as well as diversionary schemes for women, 
children and young adults.   

 
Securing sustainable funding streams remain a challenge that the force seeks to address. 

 
There has been a recognition of the exponential growth (113%) in offenders who require 
management under Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements and the force has 
invested in additional capacity to manage the 1,706 highest risk violent and sexual 
offenders. The additional capacity is supported by an improved governance process for 
offender management, youth offending service and lifetime offender management. 

 
The further challenges that need to be addressed include: 

 

 Year on year increases in the numbers of offenders who require management under Multi 

Agency Public Protection Arrangements and the corresponding funding pressures 

generated by necessary increases in offender management resources.  

 The force’s capacity to fully implement the Wales Integrated Serious and Dangerous 

Offender Management (WISDOM) programme. 

 The sustainability of diversionary schemes/interventions and in some cases, the lack of 

cross sector support for some initiatives.  

 The impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on the criminal justice system. 

 

4.1.9  Managing serious and organised crime 
 

The four welsh police forces work together  to  provide  substantial  commitment  to 
combating criminality operating at regional and national level which not only benefits the  

Page 46



 
  
  

 

  

 

25 

 

communities  of  the  South  Wales  Police  force  area  but  also  those  in  our neighbouring 
forces. 

 
 South Wales Police is recognised as the lead regional force on Serious and Organised  

Crime  and  receives  specific  ring  fenced  funding  for  an  all  Wales Extremism and 
Counter Terrorism Unit (WECTU), and a Regional Organised Crime Unit (ROCU) which 
encompasses a Regional Intelligence Unit (RIU), a Regional Asset Recovery  Team  
(RART)  and  has  established  through  collaborative  funding  a Regional Task Force 
(RTF) along with a number of other initiatives to tackle cross border issues with other 
police forces in Wales and England.  

    
Tarian is our joint operations unit (with Gwent and Dyfed Powys Police) for serious and 
organised crime. The unit is funded by several separate grant streams from various 
Home Office initiatives which are match-funded and uplifted by PCC contributions from 
the collaborating forces. South Wales’ requirement for Tarian is 54%.  
 
The unit has had significant reductions in overall grant funding levels over the last 4 
years and these gaps have been filled from a combination of Earmarked Reserves and 
additional contributions from the PCC’s. Significant uncertainty remains around the 
continuation of the other Grant Funding streams (which continue to be rolled over on 
a 1 year settlement basis) and around the future funding mechanism for the ROCU as 
a whole which makes medium-term planning for the unit challenging.  
 
The ROCU network continues to pursue a funding arrangement that is more centrally and 
consistently delivered and discussions are continuing to make ROCU provision a statutory 
requirement. If these plans are implemented, the impact on local force funding of ROCU 
will likely change with top slicing of force funds a consideration. 
 
The national ROCU network has recently implemented Serious and Organised Crime 
tasking system which is a whole system approach to identification, assessment and 
prioritisation of risk, harm and threat from organised criminality. It is intended to provide a 
consistent method of managing threats across all three layers of law enforcement.  
 
The Police Uplift Program will also impact on ROCU service provision, with 11 additional 
detective posts allocated to Tarian for 2021/22 and a further 10 posts for 2022/23. NPCC 
have not agreed to considerations for direct entry recruitment to ROCUs so it is inevitable 
that these resource demands will need to be met from existing experienced detectives 
within force which will be challenging  particularly in light of the current detective resilience 
issues experienced within the forces.  

 
4.1.10 Joint Regional Firearms Unit 
 

Since the inception of the regional Joint Firearms collaboration (JFU) between South 
Wales Police, Dyfed Powys Police and Gwent Police in 2012, demand for the operational 
firearms capability has increased year on year. A review of both the operational and 
funding aspects of the regional unit were undertaken in 2019/20 which produced a number 
of recommendations and an adjustment to the funding arrangements of the regional unit 
which more accurately reflects the current demands on the unit. The implementation of 
the 2019 review recommendations and the need for significant recruitment to bring the 
unit up to operational capacity required a substantial uplift in contributions from the three 
forces / PCC’s in 2021/22 and the medium term, SWP’s share of that uplift will be 50%. 
The national Counter Terrorism Firearms capability (CTSFO) within Southern Wales sits 

Page 47



  
 
  

 

  

26 

 

 

alongside the regional firearms unit and consists of 32 CTSFO’s funded half by the Joint 
Firearms unit (JFU) and half by Home Office Grant Allocation. 
 
It is recognised that the CT threat has a local footprint and consequently South Wales 
Police throughout the austerity period, has protected neighbourhood policing and 
response resources. The strategy recognises the need to invest collaboratively in 
appropriate training facilities to ensure we are well placed to address any operational 
challenge in this area. An operational requirement for a tri-force (Gwent Police, Dyfed 
Powys Police and South Wales Police) replacement firearms training facility has been 
accepted by the Commisssioners of the three forces and acquisition of the land in the 
required location has been agreed with the Welsh Government and contractors have been 
appointed to realise the facility. There are supply chain constraints which are having an 
impact on construction prices and a further assessment on costs will be undertaken at the 
opportune moment. 

 
The force has been successful in building its resilience to infiltration by County Lines as 
well as enforcing against 60 locally based organised crime groups. 

 
To reinforce the response to serious and organised crime, the force seeks to work with 
partners to establish Local Organised Crime and Serious Violence Partnership Boards 
and seeks sustainable funding streams for the Violence Prevention Unit and TARIAN 
respectively.  

 
The Organisational challenges identified in managing and tackling serious and organised 
crime include: 

  

 The rapid growth in financial crime and cyber-enabled criminality. 

 detective resilience issues within local policing and specialist team present challenges 

in tackling serious and organised crime.  However, there are plans in place to boost 

capacity and address these threats, albeit it will take time to realise.  

 Increased numbers of mapped Organised Crime Groups requiring management.  

 The growing threat of County Line trafficking within local communities, most notably 

within Swansea. 

 A corresponding increase in knife related crime and violent crime. 

 Increasing the effectiveness of Local Organised Crime Partnership Boards.  

 More diverse demand on the force’s Major Crime Investigation Team. 

 A sustainable funding model for TARIAN. 

 
4.1.11 Major events 
 

The way South Wales Police has policed events has been showcased internationally, 
having hosted events such as the Champions League finals and other major events 
televised to millions globally.  The return of events post COVID-19 does, however, pose 
challenges for the force through increased demand on local policing and specialist 
resources abstracted to police those events.  The new and emerging terrorist attack 
methodologies will impact on the resourcing plans. 

 

Page 48



 
  
  

 

  

 

27 

 

The financial burden associated with maintaining a high level of specialist capabilities to 
support local and national demand also features in the forces’ financial planning. The 
challenges to be addressed include: 

 

 The growing volume and scale of major and public events throughout the force area 

especially post-pandemic, which translates to greater demand on BCU and specialist 

resources. 

 An increase in protest activity nationally and locally. 

 The changing security landscape and diversification of the terrorist threat which is 

necessitating the deployment of specialist assets such as Authorised Firearms 

Officers to events that previously would not have warranted a policing presence.  

 The sustainability of year on year increases in mutual aid deployments, which risk 

neglecting force requirements as well as the health and wellbeing of our staff.  

 The increasing demand upon Roads Policing Unit to supplement pursuit capability in 

territorial policing. 

 
4.1.12 Knowledge management and ICT 
 

South Wales Police has long been a beacon force for its technological innovation and has 
formed a Joint Digital Services Division in collaboration with Gwent Police being focused 
on creating organisational capacity through technology that maximises operational 
efficiency and visibility.   

 
The maintenance of the technology infrastructure locally and nationally continues to be a 
challenge and the Medium Term Financial Strategy needs to support the necessary 
security and efficacy of the technology upon which the force depends as a critical asset. 
The Emergency Services Network is the ground-breaking replacement for police radios, 
whilst it has suffered from national delays,  there is now increasing confidence on delivery 
which has to be funded and implemented locally, the associated financial burden of 
maintaining both a legacy system and procuring new capability for the Emergence 
Services Network are a cause for concern as is the recruitment and retention of ICT staff 
similar to most public sector bodies. 
 

4.1.13 Force-wide functions 
 

The force has well established corporate functions including communications, programme 
management, performance management, human resources, learning and development, 
financial and legal services. There are a number of comprehensive strategies in place to 
ensure effective organisational change control and include:  

 

 A 5 Year Commercial and Procurement Strategy. 

 A 10 Year Estates Strategy. 

 A 5 Year Transport Strategy. 

 A 4 Year People and organisational Strategy. 

 A 10 Year Policing Digital Strategy 2030 . 

Page 49



  
 
  

 

  

28 

 

 

 A 5 year Digital Services Strategy.  

 A 4 year Productivity Innovation and Efficiency Strategy. 

 A 4 year Police Collaboration Strategy.  

 In recognition of the global environmental consideration a 10 Year sustainability 

Strategy is currently under development. 

 
4.1.14  Collaboration 
 

The four Welsh forces have a long and successful tradition of working together, with best 
practice being recognised nationally.  The forces have agreed to establish a permanent 
Assistant Chief Constable Post to provide leadership and continuity over collaborative 
functions and development of further collaborative initiatives. The force also works closely 
with the Welsh Government and partner agencies to ensure communities across the South 
Wales area are safe places to live and work in.  

 
4.1.15 Financial Implications resulting from the Force Management Statement 
 

The Force Management Statement has identified significant areas for development which 
have been incorporated into the Chief Constables Delivery plan and there are a number 
of areas requiring financial investment which will need to be factored in to the Medium 
Term Financial Plan as follows: 
 

 Maintaining the sustainability of externally funded projects 

 Addressing the uncertainty over the future levels of public sector funding 

including changes in the funding formula for policing. 

 Addressing the impact of this funding gap for 2022/23 after having delivered 

£56M in budget cuts. 

 Address the capital reserve shortfall.  

 Seek recognition of the financial challenges arising from policing a Capital City 

and a significant major events profile. 

 Ensure that our police estate remains fit for purpose and provides a safe work 

place 

 Ensure the force is able to meet the rising costs from national programmes, 

such as the Emergency Services Network.  

 Achieving a sustainable funding model for the Violence Prevention Unit is 

considered an important step in preventing violent crime.  

 Improving its ISO accreditation for forensic services and develop a Digital 

Forensic Cyber Crime Unit that is appropriately resourced and fit for purpose.  

 Ensure effective cost control measures are in place to sustain the cashable 

savings realised to date.  

Page 50



 
  
  

 

  

 

29 

 

 Ensure investment through the Uplift Programme is targeted to achieve the best 

impact for the force.  

 Continue to view partnership and collaboration as a key enabler to service 

sustainability. 

 Ensuring there is a sustainable infrastructure to support the UK Government’s 

Uplift Programme.   

 
4.2     Strategic Operational Threat Risk Harm Assessment 
 

The purpose of the Strategic Assessment is to provide an accurate and realistic evaluation 
of the risk posed by significant areas of crime, disorder and emerging threats impacting 
the South Wales Police force area in the short to medium term.  

The assessment is produced to inform the strategic process that determines force crime 
and disorder priorities for the next 12 months along with the development of control 
strategies to mitigate the identified risk. It also informs the organisational planning process 
and a broad range of other decision-making forums. 

4.2.1 Overarching Thematic Groupings ranked by level of Risk 

The following table summarises the change in the level of threat risk and harm in 
operational areas over the previous year and consequently the operational effort that will 
need to be directed to address and mitigate.  Drugs Trafficking, Domestic Violence and 
Abuse, Serious Violence and Rape and Serious Sexual Offences continue to present the 
biggest risk areas across the force area. 
 

 

Overarching Thematic Group 
Risk 

Score 
2021 Risk 
Ranking 

2020 
Risk 

Ranking 

Drug Trafficking and Supply 119 1 1 

Domestic Violence And Abuse 105 2 2 

Serious Violence 66 3 3 

Rape and Serious Sexual Offences  63 4 2 

Disorder and Anti-Social Behaviour 55 5 4 

Serious Organised Crime 52 6 1 

Child Exploitation and Abuse 45 7 2 

Fraud 32 8 5 

Extremism 25 9       6 

Volume of Acquisitive Crime 21 10 7 

Cyber and Internet Crime 15 11 8 

 
In recent years, there has been an increased reliance on external funding streams and 
partner assistance to deal with progressively complex and nuanced crime areas. This has 
been reflected in the strategic assessment with less than half (47%) of themes requiring 
the involvement of external funding in 2018 having increased to 60% in 2021. 

 
The strategic threat, risk, and harm assessment is used primarily in prioritising the use of 
specialist resources, however, the complexity of the threat has a considerable impact of 
whole organisation.  The Medium Term Financial Strategy therefore considers the 

Page 51



  
 
  

 

  

30 

 

 

additional resource requirements to maintain existing capability and capacity as well as the 
need to focus the investment from the Police Uplift Programme into the areas indicated by 
the threat assessment. 

 
4.3  Demand Assessment  
 

The Infographic below outlines the complexity of daily demand within South Wales Police 
and the need to maintain effective and sustainable frontline resources. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
4.4 The Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan 2021-26 and anticipated outcomes 
 

Based upon the strategic operational assessment of the force, the Chief Constable’s 
Delivery Plan over the next four years seeks to provide improvements across the whole 
force grouped under four broad themes. Organisational, People, Operational and 
Partnership as below. 

 
Organisational 

 

 We will support the Force in seeking out opportunities that will make the best use of 
our resources, embedding problem solving and deliver change that benefits our 
communities and our organisation. 

Page 52



 
  
  

 

  

 

31 

 

 

 We will help the Force use accurate and accessible information to inform how we 
prioritise and make decisions. 
 

 We will support the development of our digital response to provide a quality service 
to our communities that complements traditional channels. 

 
Our People 

 

 We will help all staff  take personal responsibility to create a safer workplace and 
support initiatives that improve our wellbeing.  

 

 We will ensure we treat our colleagues and our communities with dignity and 
respect, eliminate inappropriate behaviours and improve representation of our 
workforce.  
 

 We will ensure the Force is clear about our responsibilities as supervisors and 
leaders, be equipped with the right skills, supporting and developing our teams with 
confidence. 

 
Operational  

 

 We will support the Force to be proactive in targeting perpetrators of serious and 
organised crime that cause harm to our communities and exploit those most at risk. 
 

 We will ensure the Force works with partners to protect those who are less able to 
protect themselves, or others, from harm or exploitation. 
 

 We will ensure the Force adapts our services to meet the individual needs of our 
victims, we will keep them informed and supported. 

 
Partnerships 

 

 We will ensure the Force works with partners to identify and help those at risk, 
through early intervention and prevention. 

 

 We will ensure the Force engages with our communities and partners to develop 
sustainable solutions to shared problems. 

 

 We will ensure the Force carries out high quality investigations to seek justice for 
victims, and work with Criminal Justice partners to reduce offending. 

 
  

Page 53



  
 
  

 

  

32 

 

 

 
5.0 PEOPLE STRATEGY – WORKFORCE PLANNING AND POLICE UPLIFT 

PROGRAMME 
 
5.1 People & Organisational Development Strategy 
 
5.1.1 In order to achieve its Policing Strategy, South Wales Police strives for a workforce model 

and working environment which sustains the right people, doing the right things in the 
right way.   
 

5.1.2 Ensuring that our people are ready, willing and able to deliver the service and change 
required will be determined by our collective ability to define, develop and deploy robust 
people policy, processes and services that help create an organisational 
environment and workplace culture where staff can excel and be the very best they 
can be. 
 

5.1.3 Our people strategy (see Appendix 3) aims to take a systematic approach to People 
Management and be aligned to key stages of the employment life cycle. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.1.4 The changing and modern demands on policing are well publicised at both a national and 

local level. The challenge of meeting the increasing complexity, diversity and volume of 
demand is changing how police forces operate and strive to deliver the required levels of 
public service and delivery. Unprecedented financial pressures place further strain on this 
delivery model, as do specific workforce challenges.  
 
 
 
National Drivers for Change:- 

 Evolving specialist capabilities 

 Adaptive local policing  

 Value of for money 

 Digital policing 

 Collaboration 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 
  
  

 

  

 

33 

 

Key SWP workforce challenges:- 
 

 Demographic profile 

 Developing a talented & representative workforce  

 Capability & leadership development 

 Safety, Health & Wellbeing 

 The People and Organisational Development Strategy (2021 - 24) aims to meet 
the changing demand and skills requirement of our future workforce, enable the 
Force to overcome key workforce challenges and become increasingly resilient 
and agile. 

 
Central to delivering the people agenda within South Wales Police, will be the 
commitment to: 
 

a)  Explore collaborative opportunities within other forces and through engaging  

external partners  

 

b)  Increasingly adopt technological solutions  

 
c)  Drive sustainability and creating an ‘’all weather approach’, through improving 

the efficiency and effectiveness of our ‘people products’ and service providers 

 

d)  Respond to the market pressures surrounding the recruitment and retention of ICT 
professional and other technical support functions such as finance, legal services 
and procurement.  The force has a well developed paid interns process to attract 
graduate level candidates into a career in policing as well as introducing 
apprenticeships in a number of technical roles.  

 
5.2  Budgeted Establishments 
 
5.2.1 The Financial Strategy reflects a PCSO establishment of 204 full time equivalent (FTE) 

posts funded from the South Wales Police budget which complements  the 247 (increased 
by 41 compared to the previous MTFS)  Community Support Officers funded by the Welsh 
Government resulting in 451PCSOs or 150 PCSOs per Basic Command Unit (BCU).  

 
5.2.2 Detailed operational assessments have been undertaken to ensure the positive 

community impact of this partnership is realised. Our investment in officer and PCSO 
tracking and tasking has already shown a 20% increase in the visibility of PCSOs in the 
community and we are unique in being able to demonstrate PCSO activity across the force 
in this way.  

 

Page 55



  
 
  

 

  

34 

 

 

 

5.3  Historic Officer Numbers  
 
5.3.1 The budgeted establishment includes an additional 450 full-time equivalent posts 

anticipated as part of the Government’s 20,000 officer uplift programme in addition to our 
base budgeted establishment of 2,861. From a historic high of nearly 3,400 officers, the 
budgeted establishment for 2008/9 was 3,244 and a reduction by 479 full-time equivalent 
officers became unavoidable in order to balance the budget in line with funding constraints 
from grant and precept funding.  
 

5.3.2 Therefore the 450 full-time equivalents still falls short of our pre-austerity numbers. The 
number of officers is broadly equivalent to officer numbers in the mid 90’s.  

 
5.4 Allocation of Uplift Officers and Staff 
 
5.4.1 In order to ensure we maximise the effectiveness from officers and staff as consequence 

of the ring fenced funding from the Home Office, a project and team was established to 
help ensure replacement posts were targeted to greatest effect and applied  objective 
scoring criteria to ensure priority areas were identified and addressed this includes the 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Core Establishments WTE WTE WTE WTE WTE

Police Officers 2,861         2,841         2,841         2,841         2,841         

Police Staff 1,762         1,799         1,799         1,799         1,799         

Police Community Support Officers 200            204            204            204            204            

Total Core Establishments 4,823         4,844         4,844         4,844         4,844         

Police Officer Uplift Programme

Police Officers 269            452            452            452            452            

Police Staff 90               150            150            150            150            

Total South Wales Police Funded Establishment 359            602            602            602            602            

Externally Funded Establishments

Police Officer 147            168            168            168            168            

Police Staff 357            387            387            387            387            

Police Community Support Officers 206            247            247            247            247            

Total Externally Funded 710            802            802            802            802            

Overall Establishments 5,892         6,248         6,248         6,248         6,248         

Police Special Constabulary 200 200 200 200 200

2,400

2,500

2,600

2,700

2,800

2,900

3,000

3,100

3,200

3,300

3,400

1979198119831985198719891991199319951997199920012003200520072009201120132015201720192021

Police Officer Strength as at 31st March
(excludes long term absences)

Page 56



 
  
  

 

  

 

35 

 

strategic operational assessment, the Force Management Statement and Productivity and 
Efficiency considerations. 

 
5.4.2 The Table below summarises the three year investment proposals based on the 

prioritisation matrix with further detail on allocations at Appendices 4 & 5. 
 
Uplift Programme Police Officer Posts 

 

 
 

Uplift Programme Police Staff Posts 
 

 
 
5.4.3 There remain pressures to increase resources beyond the Uplift Programme which have 

had to be deferred until affordability criteria can be met.  

No. Posts No. Posts No. Posts TBC

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Regional Posts 6

Response Policing 15 30

Hub Investigations 47 24

Operation Sceptre 14

Operation Sceptre Caseload 4

Bronze Command Review 5 5

Operational Support Services 7 22

Specialist Crime 7 22

Learning and Development 8

Equality Diversity and Inclusion 4

Justice Services 2

Professional Standards 8

Public Contact Centre 39

Total 136 135 181

Post Location

Post Location No Posts No Posts No Posts TBC

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

BCU Support 0.7

Continuous Improvement 5

Contract Management Officer 1

Coroners Support 4

Corporate Communications 4

Digital Services Division 5

Equalities & Diversity 2

Estates 3 3

Fleet 2

Health & Safety 2

Human Resources 7.5

Information Management 12

Intelligence Researcher 0.3

Justice Services 6

Legal 1

Public Service Centre 20

Research & Data Quality 4

Scientific Support 1 1

Specialist Crime 5

Specialist Operations 2

Training 1 6.5

Grand Total 36 63 51

Page 57



  
 
  

 

  

36 

 

 

 
6.0  SOUTH WALES POLICE FINANCIAL STANDING   
 
6.1 Approach to Risk Management 

 
6.1.1 The Commissioner and South Wales Police have a robust risk management framework 

which has received the highest internal governance assurance (from independent audit 
functions). The supporting business processes ensure we drive resource decisions to 
mitigate the identified risk and capitalise on opportunity.  

 
6.1.2 Both the Commissioner’s and Chief Constable’s Registers are also regularly considered 

by the Joint Audit Committee to ensure risk and opportunity management processes are 
actually operating as intended, are effective and embedded in both Corporations Sole. 

 
6.1.3 This Financial Strategy has considered the resource implications arising out of the 

updated Police and Crime Plan, the Strategic Operational Assessment, The Force 
Management Statement and the Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan. To ensure a holistic 
financial planning process to deliver an effective policing service across South Wales.  

 
6.1.4 The Commissioner’s Risk Register aligns risks to their appetites, which are set by the 

Executive Team. The Strategic Register includes the threat of available funding being 
insufficient to deliver the Commissioner’s Police & Crime Plan. The Resources Board is 
the key vehicle through which financial risks are reported and managed. These are 
explained in the paragraph below. 

 
6.1.5 The Force’s uncertainty register has identified a number of threats linked to the present 

economic circumstances which are well documented within this report. There are also a 
number of substantial resource implications arising from the identified risks and 
opportunities as follows: 

 

 The replacement for the secure Emergency Services Communications Network is 
now moving to delivery stage and the current Analogue system is planned for 
switch-off by 2026, this will be a huge undertaking across all emergency services 
and the Capital programme must ensure sufficient funding is allocated to main this 
vital functionality. The capital programme requirement for this is currently 
estimated at £9.6M with an additional spend estimated at around £2M beyond the 
current MTFS horizon; 

 

 The force has demonstrated the significant improvements brought about by 
investments in technology that have been invaluable in helping address the 
increase in demand and complexity of policing challenges. However technology is 
typically a short life asset and needs frequent refresh to be effect. The Capital 
replacement programme no longer benefits from capital grants which at £270k in 
2021/22 made little impact against the £13M recurring programme. The strategy 
needs to ensure technology remains current and dependable. 

 

 Whilst a considerable amount of progress has been made to the overall condition 
of the police estate there remain a few significant buildings which are beyond 
economic life and require a significant investment that is no longer funded from 
either direct capital grant allocation or supported PFI funding. These issues 
continue to be risk managed and the Collaborative Firearms Training Facility in 
particular is essential requiring £30M of investment over the next three years as 
well as Cardiff Central Police Station and in the longer-term the Swansea 

Page 58



 
  
  

 

  

 

37 

 

Bridewell. Therefore the risk to the investment in the estate will remain for the 
foreseeable future. The known unfunded requirement to 2026 is reflected in the 
Capital Reserve Target as £29.4M; 

 

 Coronavirus Global Pandemic – to the end of November 2021, the Force has 
incurred £2.5M of expenditure in its response to the pandemic and this is forecast 
to be £3.8M by the end of the financial year. The force prudently established an 
earmarked reserve in the previous year which has been utilised to help address 
additional costs being incurred. 

 
6.2 Reserves and Provisions 
 
6.2.1 There is an obligation on the Police and Crime Commissioner to have proper regard to the 

totality of the settlement when considering the approach to the budget for 2022/23 and 
subsequent years, including an assessment of the contingency reserve. The most up-to- 
date Reserve Strategy is shown at Part D of this strategy. 

 
6.2.2 The table below shows the forecast balance in our Reserves at April 2022 against the 

required target level and shows a shortfall in contingency reserves of £26.7M and primarily 
reflects the known funding required to address the Estate Strategy issues primarily the 
backlog Property condition survey work and the current unfunded gap in the medium term 
capital programme. Whilst the fall back position is to bridge this through long term 
borrowing any opportunities to reduce the borrowing requirement through savings to 
replace the depleted capital reserve.  
 

6.2.3 In addition the 10 year estate strategy indicated the need to renew the custody estate and 
BCU headquarters in the western area of the force as well as rationalise further some very 
poor accommodation in places like Morriston. Initial estimates indicate a £30M 
requirement, which sits beyond the planning horizon of the MTFS. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Reserves and Provisions
Forecast 

2022/23

Target 

2022/23
Shortfall 

£M £M £M

Unallocated Reserves

General Reserve 10.3 12.4 2.1

Health & Welbeing Reserve 1.1 1.1 0.0

Earmarked Reserves

Specific Requirements 5.6 8.6 3.0

Partnership Fund 1.4 1.0 -0.4

Capital Reserve 7.4 29.4 22.0

Provisions

Insurance Liabilities 3.8 3.8 0.0

Total  29.6 56.3 26.7

Page 59



  
 
  

 

  

38 

 

 

 6.3 General Reserve 
 

6.3.1 There is a requirement to maintain a prudent level of balances in line with the sound 
financial management principles and guidelines. It is even more important in times of 
austerity (when budget flexibility is severely constrained) that an adequate level of 
contingency reserves is maintained to avoid adverse impact on policing plans in the event 
of a critical incident or incidents. 

 
6.3.2 Sound financial principles would therefore advocate a provision of at least 1% for major 

incidents, 1% for day to day operating cashflow risk and 1% for other unknown events. 
This would suggest that a General Reserve should be maintained at a level of 3% of the 
gross operating expenditure.  This would result in maintaining a General Reserve of circa 
£12.4M. The Force is below this at an April 2022 forecast of  (£10.3M), however, in an age 
of financial uncertainty this remains a priority to restore to the required level as soon as 
finances permit. Given the continued austere environment, a risk assessed reserve is vital 
to maintain an effective service. 

 
 
6.4  Health & Wellbeing Reserve  

 
6.4.1 This continues to invest in frontline facilities and services necessary to deliver a motivated 

productive force. The specific ear marked reserve requirements set out above is 
necessary to address known liabilities and the current forecasted level of provisions will 
need to be reassessed at the year end. 
 

6.4.2 The material cause for concern continues to be the Capital Reserve shortfall with 
increasing health and safety concerns resulting from the Estate Strategy, property 
condition survey assessment as well as the need to replace critical infrastructure in 
communications and mobile technology. 

  

Page 60



 
  
  

 

  

 

39 

 

7.0  SOUTH WALES POLICE PRODUCTIVITY, INNOVATION AND EFFICIENCY 
 
7.1 Value for Money Targets 
 
7.1.1 The police service has been unique in demonstrating year on year compliance with the 

efficiency agenda since 1999. It is also important to note that due to the historic under 
funding and the inequities of the formula South Wales Police has had to exceed the 
national targets to achieve a balanced budget, which in latter years have been achieved 
through budget cuts. 

 
7.1.2 The Value for Money (VFM) Plan savings achieved to date are detailed at Appendix 12, 

South Wales Police has to date delivered £56M (£58M including non-recurring items) of 
savings since the CSR2010 and the forecast over the next four years has a budget gap 
of £10M against which £4.6M of savings have been targeted to date. 

 

 
 
7.1.3 The Chief Constable’s change programme has been fundamental in transforming the 

service and delivering the £56M cash releasing savings to 2020 and some of the initiatives 
delivered are as follows:  

 

 Reduction from seven contact and controls rooms to one 

 Rationalisation of 16 custody facilities to 4 

 Rationalisation of 8 basic Command Units to three 

 Lean review and re-engineering of all back office functions and frontline support 

functions 

Grant Cuts VFM Plan

% £M

2010/11 1.9% 2.6

2011/12 5.1% 16.4

2012/13 6.7% 5.2

2013/14 1.6% 2.3

2014/15 4.8% 5.3

2015/16 5.1% 7.5

2016/17* Plus NI increase 0.6% 5.4

2017/18 1.4% 3.1

2018/19 0.0% 3.4

2019/20 (Excludes £2.7M non recurring) 0.0% 4.5

2020/21 0.0% 0.0

2021/22 0.0% 0.0

Sub-Total 55.7

2022/23 0.0% 4.6

 Identified savings 2023/24 0.0% 0.1

 Identified savings 2024/25 0.0% 0.1

 Identified savings 2025/26 0.0% 0.1

Total VFM Plan Revenue Savings 60.5

Residual Gap Revenue 5.2

Total VFM Achieved/Required 2010 to 2026 65.7

VALUE FOR MONEY CASH REDUCTIONS

Page 61



  
 
  

 

  

40 

 

 

 Rationalised Police estate by 33% and implemented Fixed -Flexible-Field working 

 Reduced Fleet size by 20% 

 Reduced Police staff numbers by 31% 565 posts 

 Reduced Police Officer Posts by 14% 479 positions 

 Reduced expenditure on Good and Services by more than 20% £15M 

 Extended collaborative work (£40M) with police forces, local authorities, other 

emergency services, probation service and Welsh Government as well as 

collaborative procurement with other public sector bodies. 

 
7.1.4 These initiatives resulted in significant reductions in budgeted expenditure. The reductions 

in police staff posts contributed 33% (£19M), reductions in police officer posts contributed 
31% (£18M), reductions in PCSO’s contributed 7% (£4M) and in goods and services 26% 
(£15M).  
 

7.1.5 With these cuts it is clear the frontline has been prioritised and it is important to note that 
as police officer and police staff budgets are now being effectively ring fenced (to qualify 
for additional officer funding) the remainder of the budgets are under even greater 
pressure to provide effective support to operations. The reductions in police staff budgets 
for example included reductions in control room staff and custody services and IT which 
had to increase and to address new demands and have therefore been prioritised in the 
uplift programme. 

 
7.2 Productivity and Innovation  
. 
7.2.1 Incident Resolution Team (IRT) 

We have considered carefully how to reduce unnecessary deployment to non-urgent 
demand from the public through the creation of an Incident Resolution Team (IRT) 
comprising experienced police officers. This  significant investment of 5 Sergeants and 36 
Police Constable have reviewed 99,000 occurrences resolving 73,000 of those 
occurrence allowing frontline resources to focus more on our vulnerable and high risk 
victims. We are in the process of quantifying the operational efficiency resulting from this. 
 

7.2.2 Mental Health Triage 

 

South Wales Police conducted a Mental Health Triage Public Service Centre Pilot which 

was a ‘test and learn’ exercise in partnership with the three Health Boards, namely Cardiff 

& Vale, Swansea Bay (formerly ABMU) and Cwm Taf.  The aim of the pilot being  to ensure 

persons in Mental Health  crisis and/or distress are provided the necessary support and 

intervention at first point of contact and that Section 136 of the Mental Health Act is utilised 

appropriately and only when absolutely necessary by police officers. Non-cashable 

efficiency savings of approximately £0.9M have been achieved through reduced 

occurrences and more appropriate use of S136 of the Mental Health Act. 

 

7.2.3  Missing Person Teams 

In December 2020, the inception of 1 Sergeant and 8 Police Constables into the Public 
Service Centre Missing Persons team has complimented the creation of a No Apparent 
Risk category of missing persons. The team has currently reviewed 226 Missing persons 
with 125 prevented deployments to individuals equating to an approximate productivity 
gain of £375,000 thus far based on national figures. 

Page 62



 
  
  

 

  

 

41 

 

 
7.3 Quality of Service improvements achieved by South Wales Police 
 
7.3.1 South Wales Police has throughout the extended austerity period, protected and 

maintained neighbourhood and community presence. We have avoided shroud waving 
and focussed on achieving the best possible balance between Protection, Prevention and 
Early Intervention in line with our mission of Keeping South Wales Safe and our vision 
of being the best at understanding and responding to our communities needs . 

 
7.3.2  In keeping with our core mission, the force currently achieves the following compared to 

our most similar group of forces (MSG): 
 

 Achieving a positive outcome (identifying and taking action against a suspect) in more 
cases than our most comparable forces, standing at 17.9%, which means we are 
ranked first in our MSG. 

 We are also ranked first in our MSG in respect of our positive outcome rate for violence 
with injury, which stands at 29.4%.  

 We are second in the ranking for sexual offences and 

 We are  fourth in the ranking for our positive outcome rates in respect of burglaries. 
 
7.3.3 Despite the financial and Covid-19 related challenges we have faced we have achieved 

some significant improvements in performance in comparison to all forces and we are 
recognised as one of the best performing forces in England and Wales.  It’s a long 
list, but some of the improvements achieved despite austerity challenges include: 

 

 A consistent and protected model of neighbourhood policing. (HM Inspectorate were 

concerned that many forces have eaten into neighbourhood policing); 

 A beacon Public Service Centre shared with two fire Authorities and a Clinical Desk 

for the Wales Ambulance Service. 

 Maintained Assets that support the National UK wide Strategic Policing 

Requirement; 

 Leading nationally on development and use of technology to transform policing; 

 Modern collaborative vehicle fleet and fit for purpose workshop; and 

 Modern and legislatively-compliant custody facilities. 

 Based on the data from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, significantly 

fewer crime per 1000 population than our most similar forces year on year and 

being: 

 2nd in the country for taking action on violence with injury; 

 4th in the country for taking action on violence against the person; 

 5th in the country for taking action on violence without injury; 

 5th in the country for taking action on robbery; 

 7th in the country for taking action on residential burglary; and 

 9th in the country for taking action on sexual offences; 
 
 

Page 63



  
 
  

 

  

42 

 

 

7.3.4 These year-on-year improvements have brought the service up to a level that we believe 

the public of South Wales have a right to expect and receive. The Commissioner and Chief 

Constable are committed to continuing with this impressive level of performance. In addition 

to delivering the above performance during a period of Austerity, South Wales Police has 

also significantly reduced more harm in our communities when compared to our most similar 

group of forces.  

 

7.4 HMIC Value for Money Profiles and Economic Consequences of Crime  
 

Based on data from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, South Wales 
Police has delivered significantly fewer crime per 1000 population than our most 
similar forces year on year. 

 
7.4.1 The chart below analyses the difference in the volume of recorded crime between South 

Wales Police area compared to other Forces (orange bars) and in the most similar group 
(MSG blue bars). 

 
7.4.2 The HMIC analysis shows that South Wales Police achieves lower rates of crime in all 

categories compared to its MSG of forces (except for bicycle theft). When compared to all 
forces (including rural forces) it achieves lower rates of crime in 16 out of 23 crime 
categories and 7 categories where higher rates are experienced are associated with urban 
force environments. Based on the HMIC benchmarking database, the risk of being a victim 
of crime in South Wales Police area is 20% lower than the MSG.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
7.4.3  The comparison between our most similar grouping of forces is more relevant and we 

have consistently achieved lower levels of crime in the South Wales Police area in 
comparison and the graph below shows the comparative experience in crime levels with 
the most similar forces grouping. 

-5000 -4000 -3000 -2000 -1000 0 1000 2000 3000

Criminal damage
Domestic burglary
Other theft
Violence with injury
Public order offences
Theft from vehicle
Miscellaneous crimes against society
Non-domestic burglary
Interfering with a motor vehicle
Robbery of personal property
Shoplifting
Arson
Possession of weapons offences
Theft from the person
Other Sexual Offences
Rape
Theft or unauthorised taking of motor vehicle
Robbery of business property
Trafficking of drugs
Aggravated vehicle taking
Homicide
Bicycle theft
Possession of drugs

HMIC - Levels of Crime Most Similar and All Forces Compared to 
South Wales 

Difference in Crimes  ALL Forces Difference in Crimes  MSG

Page 64



 
  
  

 

  

 

43 

 

 

 
 
7.4.4 This number of fewer crimes can be costed using a published study on the Home Office 

website “The Economic and Social Costs of Crime (second Edition July 2018)). This 
calculation shows that South Wales Police has prevented the amount of harm in our 
communities by nearly £0.73billion compared to our most similar group of Forces since 
2011. This is broken down by financial year in the table below. 

 

 £M 

2011/12 91 

2012/13 13 

2013/14 73 

2014/15 22 

2015/16 58 

2016/17 125 

2017/18 111 

2018/19 130 

2019/20 106 

TOTAL 730 

 
7.4.5 This benchmarking analysis demonstrates the value and effectiveness of the police 

approach in the South Wales Police area. 
 
7.4.6 Previous Financial Strategies have consistently responded well to the scale of the task 

arising from the funding reductions imposed by CSR2010 and CSR2016. The Spending 
Review 2021 maintains a further real terms cut in funding and consequently the detailed 
VFM plan (Appendix 12 ) continues to reflect reductions in both pay and non-pay budgets. 
Given that over 80% of the revenue budget is pay related, it is inevitable given the scale 

-5,000

-4,000

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

 -

 1,000

 2,000

 3,000

 4,000

Difference in crime PER 1000 from MSG 2011-2020

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Page 65



  
 
  

 

  

44 

 

 

of funding cuts, that the majority of the required savings will be focussed on reductions in 
the pay budgets. 

 
 
7.5 Productivity Innovation and Efficiency Strategy  

 
7.5.1 The three year Spending Review settlement for policing already reflects a built in £100M 

cash releasing savings per annum and £200M of non-cashable or productivity savings. To 
ensure we address these requirements a comprehensive Productivity Innovation and 
Efficiency Strategy has been developed with the strategy aims being to:  

 

 Develop a comprehensive Benefits Realisation Methodology and ensure it is 

applied consistently. 

 

 Embed benefits realisation into investment proposals by developing standard 

business case templates that will ensure business benefits are clearly identified 

and measurable. 

 

 Quality assure business cases which are supported by subject matter experts, 

prior to DCC COG/ CC and Gold approval as appropriate. 

 

 Monitor and evaluate regional and national best practice initiatives on productivity 

innovation and efficiency. 

 

 Develop and support business cases for national funding streams that 

demonstrate Productivity, innovation and Efficiency. 

 

 Develop a reporting framework on productivity and efficiency that facilitates 

resource alignment to organisational priorities. 

 

 The South Wales Police  share of the £1billion national target for police  efficiency 

is around £22.5M but and the strategy seeks to deliver around £24M as detailed 

in the table below: 

 

Cashable and Non-cashable efficiency targets 

 PUP yr 
1 

PUP yr 
2 

CSR Period  

 2020/21 
£M 

2021/22 
£M 

2022/23 
£M 

2023/24 
£M 

2024/25 
£M 

Total 
£M 

Cashable 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 8.0 

Non-cashable 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.2 16.0 

Total 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.8 24.0 

 
7.5.2 There is now a requirement to accelerate the cashable savings targets to enable a 

balanced budget and this is detailed within Value For Money Plan shown at Appendix 
12. The provisional grant settlement for 2022/23 includes cashable savings across all 
forces of £80 Million, of which South Wales Police’s share is £1.76 million. 

 

Page 66



 
  
  

 

  

 

45 

 

7.6 VFM Conclusions   
 
7.6.1 South Wales Police has proven to be efficient and effective and in comparison to its ‘Most 

Similar Group of Forces’ is best performing in reducing harm resulting from crime. 
 
7.6.2 Despite the national economic circumstance the South Wales Police Financial Strategy 

has enabled a year on year balanced budget but this has been a challenging process and 
whilst some difficult decisions have had to be taken to deliver an effective police service 
with declining resources further cuts are still required and will be difficult to deliver. 
 

7.6.3 Whilst the government has recognised the need to replace the lost capability and capacity 
in policing due to austerity with 20,000 officers (to replace the 21,000 officers lost) there 
remains a considerable shortfall of funding to sustain core budgets and the impact of 
inflation. Pay and price increases and organisational support structures to sustain uplift in 
terms of technology, transport, uniform, property, training recruitment, are adding to the 
financial pressures. 
 

7.6.4 With 80% of the pay budgets effectively ring fenced (due to the need to evidence uplift on 
an agreed base) and non-pay budgets subject to supply chain and COVID and Brexit 
implications, leaves few options to deliver a sustainable balanced budget, and this will be 
addressed in the subsequent sections of this strategy on considering precept options. 
 

 
  

Page 67



  
 
  

 

  

46 

 

 

8.0  NATIONAL ECONOMIC CONTEXT AND COVID-19  
 
8.1 The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had a well publicised and substantial impact 

on the economy, as well as public sector borrowing and debt. The impact continues to 
be felt and this means that estimates of public sector expenditure and borrowing are 
subject to greater uncertainty than usual. 

 
8.2 Central government tax and National Insurance receipts combined in the financial year 

ending April 2020 to March 2021 were £668.7 billion, this was a fall of £36.6 billion (or 
5.2%), compared with the same period a year earlier. 

8.3 Government support for individuals and businesses during the coronavirus pandemic 
contributed to an increase of £205.2 billion (or 27.8%) in central government day-to-day 
(or current) spending, bringing the total expenditure for 2021 to £943.2 billion. 

8.4 As a result of the lower receipts and higher expenditure, provisional estimates indicated 
that in 2021, the public sector borrowed £321.9 billion. This is equivalent to 15.0% of UK 
gross domestic product (GDP), the highest such ratio since the end of World War Two, 
when it was 15.2% in FYE 1946. 

Public Sector Borrowing as a % of GDP 
 

 
 
  
8.5 In total, over 50 schemes were announced by the UK government and the devolved 

administrations to support individuals and businesses during the coronavirus pandemic.  
The extra funding combined with reduced cash receipts and a fall in GDP, have all helped 
to push public sector net debt as a ratio of GDP to levels last seen in the early 1960s. 
Public sector net debt excluding public sector banks (PSND ex) at the end of November 
2021 was equivalent to 96.1% of GDP. 

 

WW2 

Financial 
Crisis 

COVID 

Page 68



 
  
  

 

  

 

47 

 

 
Public Sector Net Debt as % of GDP 

 

 
 
 
8.6 Given the level of public sector debt and falling tax receipts it is clear that public spending 

will continued to be constrained and this has materialised in the non-protected 
departments (including the Home Office) where year on year central grants are expected 
to fall in real terms. This MTFS continues to assume flat cash settlements beyond those 
announced in the recent CSR 2021 settlement for policing. 

 
 

  

Page 69



  
 
  

 

  

48 

 

 

9.0 NATIONAL POLICING SETTLEMENT  
 
9.1 Core Grant Funding 
 
9.1.1 The previous analysis in the 2020/21 Financial Strategy was predicated on a continuation 

of police grant freeze at 2017/18 levels for 2021/22 and beyond but excluding the Police 
Officer Uplift (PUP)) programme which was anticipated to be fully funded. 

 
9.1.2 These assumptions have proved to be sound and the next three years will likely see a 

further real terms cut in core police grant and Uplift programme being funded in full initially, 
but with no guarantees that this will continue beyond the recruitment years, which cease 
in March 2023.  This outcome results in pay and price inflation not being funded for 
successive years compounding the 25% grant reductions 2010- 2018. In essence police 
funding from central government will have seen cuts in real terms year on year for 12 
consecutive years.  
 

9.1.3 The APCC & NPCC have both made representations to Government for full funding of the 
increase officer numbers. 
 

9.1.4 The headline announcement for the next three years for policing is an increase in funding 
of £985M to 2023 this includes elements hypothecated and top sliced and consequently 
the amount attributable to core police budgets is analysed in the table below. Further detail 
is shown at Appendix 6. 

 
 
  

COMPOSITION OF £985M 
 

£M 

1 Core grant increase over three years (average £87M per annum) 260 
2 Additional Funding for Uplift  540 
3 Total Allocation to Local Policing over three years 800 

4 
5 
6 
 

Drugs and Crime 
Fraud and Money Laundering 
ESN 

42 
18 

125 

6 Total 985 

 
9.1.5 The Policing Minister added that in respect of police grant funding for policing in England 

and Wales: 
 

“This Government is absolutely committed to keeping the public safe; the police have a 
critical role to play in this, and in reducing crime. We are determined to strengthen our 
police service and, by providing a three-year Spending Review settlement, we are giving 
the police the financial certainty and stability needed for longer-term, strategic reforms. 
We have confirmed total grant funding for police forces for the next three years, with 
increases of £550 million in 2022/23, at least £650 million in 2023/24 and no less than 
£800 million in 2024/25. In addition, PCCs in England will have up to £10 of precept 
flexibility in each of the next three years to use according to their local needs.” 

This Translates as: 

Page 70



 
  
  

 

  

 

49 

 

 £550 In 2022/23 The majority of this is to facilitate recruitment of 8,000 police 

officers and 2,700 police staff posts to deliver the 20,000 police officer uplift 

programme by March 2023. 

 An Additional £100M in 2023/24, again the majority of this is in relation to the 

uplift programme 

 An additional £150M in 2024/25 

 

9.1.6 Given that the annual core police budget inflation is around 4% (£550M) the annual police 
grant increases above clearly fall significantly short of the levels required to sustain 
standstill policing budgets, consequently the announcement assumes contributions from 
council tax of around £250M per annum and £100M of efficiency savings (budget cuts). 

9.1.7 The continuation of ringfenced funding has been welcomed by the Police service and this 
is evidenced by the progress on Uplift programme which by the end of September 2021 
had recruited an additional 11,000 officers, which is 55% of the 20,000 target. 

 
9.1.8 However, it is important to note that these replacement officers combined with normal 

annual retirements and the loss of 21,000 officers during austerity have left a huge 
experience gap.  It is practically impossible to replace the 8 year losses (630,000 years of 
police experience) in capacity and capability in just three years particularly as officers 
continue to leave the service. Consequently policing is managing a relatively 
inexperienced workforce with increased complexity of demand, with greater need for 
productivity and efficiency.  
 

9.1.9 This Medium Term Financial Strategy continues to fund and cost Uplift as a discrete item 
and clearly show the funding and actual year on year costs of uplift. It is prudent to work 
on the basis that the additional funding will be contingent upon demonstrating net increase 
in police officer and staff numbers and therefore ensuring base establishments are 
maintained as any posts held vacant could result in a corresponding withholding of 
additional uplift funding. 

 
9.1.10 The national funding position therefore results in a real terms cut excluding the precept 

flexibility. What also gets forgotten is the Government imposed additional costs on 
employers such as: 

 

 The new Social Care Levy 

 the apprenticeship levy, which is not funded as it is in England and therefore puts us 
at a disadvantage 

 nationally set pay awards and  

 unfunded infrastructure costs 

 additional costs of implementing National Police IT solutions.  
 
9.2 Top slicing  

 
9.2.1 The amount of money top sliced from the amount available to local policing has is 

increased again for 2022/23 by £380M to reach £2,899M per annum. The amount of top-
slicing now means that nearly £3 billion is allocated by the Home Office outside a funding 
and needs based formula and this is detailed below. 
 

 
 
 

Page 71



  
 
  

 

  

50 

 

 

 
 

 
9.3 Infrastructure grant  

 
9.3.1 Capital grant funding in respect replacement technology, transport, and property related 

expenditure has been declining over successive years this was £120M 2013/14 of which 
£106M was allocated to forces. 
 

 
 
However as can be seen above capital grant has now been removed leaving the 
burden of capital infrastructure funding falling on the Revenue Account. 
 

9.3.2 The Force’s share of the Capital Grant for 2021-22 was £0.3M (2010 this was £3M per 
annum) and this unplanned shortfall in funding adds to funding pressure on the Revenue 
Account. 
 
 

Year Capital Grant

Special 

Capital Grant

National 

Police Air 

Services

Police Live 

Services, 

Arms Length 

Bodies

CT, SOC, 

Technology TOTAL

£M £M £M £M £M £M

2013/14 106.0 1.0 13.0 0.0 0.0 120.0

2014/15 109.3 1.0 10.0 0.0 0.0 120.3

2015/16 109.5 1.0 10.4 0.0 0.0 120.9

2016/17 54.1 1.0 16.5 10.4 0.0 82.0

2017/18 45.9 1.0 12.2 18.1 0.0 77.2

2018/19 45.9 1.0 15.2 13.1 0.0 75.2

2019/20 46.9 1.0 11.5 16.6 0.0 76.0

2020/21 12.3 1.0 11.5 13.1 38.1 76.0

2021/22 12.3 0.0 11.5 9.2 31.6 64.6

2022/23 0.0 0.0 12.0 4.0 172.1 188.1

Home Office Top Slicing 2021/22  

£M

2022/23  

£M

Counter Terrorism Specific Grant 914 980

Police Technology Programmes 485 607

Legacy Council Tax 549 546

Capital Reallocations 0 188

PFI Grant 72 72

Arms Length Bodies - HMICFRS etc 71 69

Police Special Grant 55 62

National Capability Programmes 39 65

Crime Reduction Capabilities & Programmes 0 59

Serious Violence Strategy 39 50

Top Ups to ROCUs and NCA 5 33

Counter Terrorism Programmes 33 33

Forensics 26 26

Fraud 0 23

Police Uplift Programme 15 12

Drugs and County Lines 0 30

Police and CJS Performance 0 13

NPCC Programmes 0 11

Rape Review 0 12

Police Now 7 7

National Operational Policing Units 3 3

BlueLight Commercial 5 0

Sceince Technology and Research 5 0

International Crime Coordination Centre 5 0

Safer Street Fund 20 0

GLAA and Pre-charge Bail 2 0

Serious Organised Crime Strategy 146 0

Welsh Top-Up 23 0

Total Home Office Specific Grants 2,519 2,899

Page 72



 
  
  

 

  

 

51 

 

 
9.4 The Cumulative Impact of Government Decisions on Police Funding 
 
9.4.1 The 2010 Comprehensive Spending Review  set out the proposed police funding levels 

for four years from 2011 to 2015 and was acknowledged as the most financially 
challenging (but manageable-HMIC) funding settlement for policing in a generation, this 
translated into a real terms reduction of 20%. However this reduction was added to, over 
each successive year beyond 2015, resulting in a projected real terms reduction of 40% 
by 2023 (twice the HM Inspectorate assessed manageable level). 

 
9.4.2 The overall impact of the reductions to police funding are illustrated below. The graph 

shows the police cash allocations by the Home Office since 1995/96 (blue bars) and how 
the recent and proposed settlements progressively reduced cash funding to below 
2004/05 levels. The real terms reduction (after adjusting for inflation) presents an even 
bleaker picture  and shows that local policing funding has fallen to levels received in the 
1980’s. At the same time the current policing environment is radically different from that 
of the past two decades. 

 

 
 
9.4.3 Essentially, more than two decades of growth in police funding has been removed with 

the first signs of improvement indicated by government in respect of the 20,000 officer 
uplift programme from 2020. 

 
9.4.4 It is impossible to assess the long term consequences of this reductions to date but there 

is cause for concern given that: 
 

o There has been significant loss in police resources, skills, knowledge, and 
experience. 

 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

Cash Changes Central in Government Funding To Police Forces 

CASH CUT TO  
2004/05            
15 yrs backwards

REAL TERMS 
CUT TO 1980's

Page 73



  
 
  

 

  

52 

 

 

o Internet-related crime and online fraud offences of nearly 7.5 million nationally are 
increasing demand on scarce policing resources.  

 
o Cases of historic abuse and increased focus on vulnerability also add to demand 

pressures.  The emphasis on protecting the vulnerable is a key part of our Police 
and Crime Plan so it is high on the priorities of the Chief Constable and the 
Commissioner but it is not cost-free. 

 
o The increased threat of terrorism and extremism, together with the consequences 

for a liberal society have shown the urgent need for enhancing national capability. 
Some of this will impact on local resources and priorities. 

 
9.4.5 The Government’s announcement of funding for 20,000 police officers is the first step in 

acknowledging the difficult policing challenges being faced, however, as core inflation is 
not funded then this creates an acute financial challenge for Commissioners and Chief 
Constables. With more than 80% of the police budgets comprising staffing and ringfenced, 
means that any unfunded pressures falling on 20% of already depleted non-pay budgets. 

 
9.4.6 The permissive precept flexibility will help to bridge the budget gap (due to flat cash 

settlement) but remains a local judgement and burden. The detrimental realities of the 
past 12 consecutive years of real terms grant cuts for policing are being recognized, but 
not yet sufficiently to address the actual need.  
 

9.4.7 It is now hoped that a review of the police funding formula in the longer term may offer an 
opportunity to properly resource policing. However if the overall funding for policing is not 
increased then there will be some police forces with even greater reductions in funding 
and that will be difficult to effect such change given the cuts already made by policing. 
  

Page 74



 
  
  

 

  

 

53 

 

10.0  SOUTH WALES POLICE GRANT ALLOCATONS 2022-25 
 

10.1 Grant Allocation 
 
10.1.1 The police grant allocation for South Wales Police (excluding ringfenced Police Officer 

Uplift Programme) is essentially a flat cash settlement and is in line with previous strategy 
assumptions. Therefore the core grant allocation does not include funding for inflation cost 
pressures.  

 
10.1.2 Whilst a fair expectation, after over a decade of cash and real terms cuts, would be to 

expect police funding would at least be uplifted for the effects of inflation the allocation 
continues to be at 2017/18 cash levels and perpetuates a real terms reduction of funding 
into a 12th consecutive year. The total cash cut since 2011/12 stands at £44.6M (23.5%). 
This is the highest percentage and cash reduction in Wales compared with the other Local 
Authorities across the South Wales Police area. 

 
10.1.3 Previous Medium Term Financial Strategies have been founded on sound judgements 

and have been demonstrably prescient. The impact of flat cash funding assumptions over 
financial planning horizon are set out in the following table. 

 

 
 
10.1.4 The amount of additional funding allocated to Wales for uplift means that the previous 

level of dampening is now not shown separately. However dampening of the formula is 
still being applied albeit not as Rule 1 adjustment. The Policing Minister will continue to 
apply damping in respect of 2021/22 of £5.6M. A technical adjustment has taken place 
within the overall funding envelope so that Welsh Top Up Funding is now included in the 
Core Grant from the Home Office (approximately £23M split between Gwent, North Wales 
and Dyfed Powys as £0.7M, £11.9M and £10.4M respectively.  

 
10.1.5  The funding that is removed from SWP for redistribution to the other Welsh Forces has 

been effected year on year for almost two decades and the cumulative effect of this for 
South Wales Police has seen a loss in formula funding of £111M of police grant. (The 
current reallocation would fund an additional 112 Police Officers per annum.  

 
10.1.6 Given the ongoing work to develop a new police funding allocation formula means that the 

dampening provisions around the current formula introduced in 2003/4 will continue to 
significantly disadvantage South Wales Police despite the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for South Wales, supported by the Chief Constable, providing successive 
Ministers with evidence of the inequity that affects South Wales.  Ministers have 
acknowledged that there is a problem but without any financial redress. 

 
 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Source of Funding £M £M £M £M £M

Police Grant 107.638 131.917 133.992 137.105 140.105

Revenue Support Grant/NNDR 75.989 62.352 62.352 62.352 62.352

Total Formula Based Grant 183.627 194.269 196.344 199.457 202.457

Less Yr 2 & 3 Uplift Funding (10.887) (20.455) (22.530) (25.643) (25.643)

Comparable Funding 172.740 173.814 173.814 173.814 176.814

Percentage Increase / (Decrease) 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 1.7

Indicative

Page 75



  
 
  

 

  

54 

 

 

10.2 Funding Assumptions Beyond 2022/23 
 
10.2.1 The three-year police settlement provides the envelope for police funding to 2025 broadly 

on a flat cash basis. The Office of Budget Responsibility’s analysis of the national 
economic position and previous funding announcements strongly indicates a continuation 
in the freeze of core police grants for the foreseeable future with the exception of the Police 
Uplift Programme. 

 
10.2.2 The combination of top-slicing, National Insurance costs, Apprenticeship Levy and 

redistribution of central IT charges result in a 29% cut over the period 2011 to 2025. The 
impact of this and pay awards is shown below. 

 

 
 

10.2.3 Since the start of the national austerity measures South Wales Police has lost cash 
funding of 23.1% with a further 29% in inflation pressure. This loss in spending ability 
is projected into a cash equivalent cut of £126M to 2025/26. It is vital therefore that 
appropriate local decisions on funding are taken to ensure an effective sustainable police 
service over the medium term. The only effective funding mechanism locally is the Police 
Precept.  

Financial Year

Actual 

Percentage 

Change

Actual 

Cash Cuts            

£M

Unfunded Pay 

Awards

Unfunded 

Prices-CPI 

OBR

Impact of 

Unfunded 

Pay & 

Prices £M

Impact of 

Unfunded 

Pay & 

Prices £M

Total 

Austerity 

Measures 

in £M

2011/12 -3.8% -9.4 2.6% 3.7% -7.70 7.70      -17.10 

2012/13 -5.5% -12.2 1.1% 4.2% -4.60 4.60      -16.80 

2013/14 -1.9% -2.8 0.0% 2.7% -1.40 1.40      -4.20 

2014/15 -4.8% -8.5 0.6% 2.0% -2.31 2.31      -10.81 

2015/16 -5.1% -8.6 1.0% 0.5% -2.33 2.33      -10.93 

2016/17 -0.6% -0.9 1.0% 2.0% -3.06 3.06      -3.98 

2017/18 -1.4% -2.2 1.0% 1.0% -2.59 2.59      -4.79 

2018/19 0.0% 0.0 2.0% 2.8% -5.68 5.68      -5.68 

2019/20 0.0% 0.0 3.0% 2.6% -7.91 7.91      -7.91 

2020/21 0.0% 0.0 2.5% 1.8% -6.78 6.78      -6.78 

2021/22 0.0% 0.0 0.0% 4.2% -2.59 2.59     -2.59 

2022/23 0.0% 0.0 2.5% 4.0% -9.18 9.18     -9.18 

2023/24 0.0% 0.0 2.5% 2.6% -8.73 8.73     -8.73 

2024/25 0.0% 0.0 2.5% 2.1% -8.63 8.63     -8.63 

2025/26 0.0% 0.0 2.5% 2.0% -8.84 8.84     -8.84 

Total -23.1% -44.6 25% 38% -82.3 56.1 -126.9

Page 76



 
  
  

 

  

 

55 

 

11.0 REVENUE BUDGET AND FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS 2022/26 
 
11.1 The Revenue Budget projections made by South Wales Police have consistently proven 

to be highly accurate. Similarly the Value for Money Plan savings have been carefully 
considered and robustly challenged which has ensured the year on year delivery of the 
Value for Money Plan and balanced budgets. 

 
 Expenditure Assumptions 
 
11.2 The expenditure assumptions that inform the budget are as follows: 

 
a) Pay Awards and Inflation 

 
The independent Police Pay Review Body has been asked to make a 
recommendation to the Home Secretary on police officer pay from September 
2022 and given a multi-year grant settlement it is likely that this could cover the 
period to 2025. Based on the repeated pay freezes and general inflation increases 
prudent assumptions have been made on future pay. Annual CPI inflation was at 
4.2% in November 2021 its highest level for 10 years.  
 

 
 

It is clear from the graph that the protracted period of public sector pay restraint 
and the erosion of pay through inflation has had a considerable detrimental impact 
on take-home pay of police officers and staff, which is further compounded by 
Pension and National Insurance cost increases both on employee and employer. 
 
Understandably this then drives up pressure on wage claims. However, given the 
national economic circumstance, only modest levels of pay awards (below 
inflation) are anticipated over the period of the MTFS with police staff pay award 
anticipated to mirror that for Police Officers. This below inflation assumption on 
pay awards brings a considerable risk to the MTFS as each 1% results in a cost 
increase of around £3M and consequently the strategy reflects  the potential for 
an additional 1% increase in pay from September 2022.  

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

Police Officer and Police Staff Pay Awards 
compared to RPI and CPI inflation

Police Officers % Police Staff %

Inflation- RPI OBR % Inflation -CPI OBR %

Pay Freeze 

Page 77



  
 
  

 

  

56 

 

 

The previous pay awards and assumptions over the next Financial Strategy period 
are detailed in the table below and shows the equivalent OBR inflation rates for 
RPI and CPI respectively as per the OBR November forecast. The actual pay 
awards are still subject to the Independent Pay Review Body proposals. 
 

 
 

The budget requirement for 2022/23 recognises the specific inflationary 
requirements in relation to contracted services as well as general inflationary 
uplifts of 2.5% to both expenditure and income targets as well as more specific 
inflationary elements such as Gas 21% Electricity 46%.  
 

b) Pensions & National Insurance 
 
In April 2019 HM Treasury (HMT) announced changes to the discount rate for 
unfunded public sector pensions late in September 2018, which uses lower 
discount rate (due in part to national economic conditions) from 3% to 2.4%. This 
had the effect of increasing employer contributions from 24.2% to the current 
31.0% from April 2019. The Government Actuaries Department (GAD) has 
estimated that the above will result in an increased cost to policing of £330M per 
annum. 
 
HMT has continued with additional funding in 2022/23 (£3.1M) to mitigate against 
some of the increase with policing budgets paying the balance. This strategy 
assumes a continuation of this HMT contribution on a flat cash basis to 2026. 
 
The next actuaries evaluation of the police pension scheme is anticipated in 2026 
and early indications are for a further 5% increase in the employers contribution 
rate from April 2026. 

 
 The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) concluded a triennial actuarial 

review in 2019.  South Wales Police had ensured that the long term exposure to 
increased pensions costs attributed to workforce transformation during the 
austerity period were properly planned and ensured appropriate contribution levels 
to avoid a major increase in subsequent valuations. This strategy resulted in a 
favourable outcome in the revaluation of the scheme. The scheme determined a 

Police Officers Police Staff Inflation- RPI OBR Inflation -CPI OBR

% % % %

2010/11 2.6 2.6 4.8 3.7

2011/12 1.1 1.1 4.8 4.2

2012/13 0.0 0.0 3.1 2.7

2013/14 0.6 0.6 2.7 2.0

2014/15 1.0 1.0 1.6 0.5

2015/16 1.0 1.0 3.2 2.0

2016/17 1.0 1.0 2.0 1.0

2017/18 1.0 1.0 3.9 2.8

2018/19 2.0 2.0 3.5 2.6

2019/20 2.5 2.5 2.7 1.8

2020/21 2.5 2.5 1.5 0.8

2021/22 0.0 0.0 7.1 4.2

15.3 15.3 40.9 28.3

2022/23 2.5 2.5 5.0 4.0

2023/24 2.5 2.5 3.4 2.6

2024/25 2.5 2.5 2.8 2.1

2025/26 2.5 2.5 2.8 2.0

Pay Awards and Inflation

Page 78



 
  
  

 

  

 

57 

 

revised employer contribution rate for March 21 to March 2023 of 16% which 
compares favourably to the previous effective contribution rate of 18.1% and has 
been reflected accordingly. The outcome of the 2022 evaluation is yet to be 
determined however, the strategy has assumed no change in the employers 
contribution rate at this stage. 

 
c)  Police Officers and Staff Pay Budgets 

 
The proposed budget for 2022/23 reflects zero-base calculations for all staff and 
officers drawing a salary. The zero-base ensures appropriate budget provision for 
each individual based on their specific entitlements including increments and cost 
savings from individuals who leave the organisation. Using the revised zero base 
budgets, all calculations on potential savings resulting from a reduction in staffing 
levels are undertaken on real costs to ensure budget accuracy. Appendix 13 
details movement on the establishment for the Force. The Police Officers and Staff 
Budgets account for around 80% of the budgeted spend  
 

d) Police Education Qualification Framework 
 

Following a national debate on the level of qualifications, training and development 
of police officers the College of Policing introduced new standards , referred to as 
the Professional Educational Qualification Framework (PEQF). 
 
This includes a range of accredited qualifications at a much higher level than 
previously. The basic requirement is now a degree level qualification in policing for 
new police constables through to Masters’ qualification for Superintendents. This 
demands a greater input from the organisation both in education and assessment 
terms and has inevitable financial consequences. 
 
The Four Welsh forces are disadvantaged compared to English Forces, which have 
secured funding from the Skills Funding Agency within the Department for 
Education for a Police Apprenticeship Degree with an estimated cost of £27,000 
per new officer in England. 

 
Education and related funding is a devolved matter in Wales and the Welsh 
Government determines what apprenticeships qualify for funding in Wales and the 
Police Apprenticeship Degree does not meet the Welsh Government criteria for 
funding. As a result, Welsh Forces have worked together in developing a cost 
effective solution to achieve the same national educational and professional 
standard as officers in England. 
 
The annual cost of administrating the framework in South Wales Police is £2M and 
includes university accreditation fees per student of £500k and additional trainers 
and accommodation of £1.5M. This is in addition to paying an annual apprenticeship 
levy of £1M. Following consistent and strong representation the Home Office has 
agreed to award a direct grant to policing in Wales of £2.4M next year (an increase 
of £1.4M on 2021/22) of which the South Wales Police’s share is £1M, in effect a 
third of the costs being incurred compared to a cost neutral position for forces in 
England that have sourced the qualification from the Universities directly. The 
strategy assumes the shortfall will continue over the planning horizon to 2026. 
 
 
 

Page 79



  
 
  

 

  

58 

 

 

e) Police  Uplift Programme 
 

The Uplift programme has been reflected within the People strategy chapter and 
the costs of Uplift are costed and matched with grant allocations. The attraction, 
selection, assessment training of 450 officers in addition to the annual total attrition 
over the three year period of around 500 posts results in 950 posts to be recruited 
to. The typical application to successful appointment ratio around 10:1 on average 
giving a potential 9,500 candidates to be evaluated over the uplift period.   
 
The Government has retained a proportion of the police grant to be released on 
condition of uplift targets being met with quarterly reporting of recruitment 
performance. Given the uncertainty on the timing of both leavers and joiners and 
the risk to funding if numbers fall below the agreed target, the officer establishment 
will need to be sufficiently  above the targeted level throughout the year. South 
Wales Police will be around 40 officer posts above the target by March 2022 and 
the strategy assumes this sound approach will be maintained throughout next year 
and monitored on a monthly basis. 
 
As part of the Uplift Programme funding there is also an acceptance that Police 
Staff Numbers also need to be increased on a ratio of broadly 3:1 compared to 
Police Officers. The Force is currently partway through the recruitment of police 
staff of approximately 90 WTE posts. The estimated financial implications 
anticipated funding of the uplift programme is shown below. 
 

 Revenue Accounts 
 

11.3 The detailed medium term revenue account requirement reflecting both uplift and 
core budgets in respect of the period 2022 to 2026 are shown at Appendix 8 and 
summarised in the tables below under broad income and expenditure 
classifications. This shows a £7.8M budget gap in respect of 2022/23 before police 
precept increase. The potential for further cash releasing efficiency savings is 
greatly diminished having already delivered £56M of savings/cuts with importantly 
pay budgets now locked due to Police Officer Uplift Programme and match funding. 
Importantly the gap continues to grow year on year based on the three year 
settlement and therefore the government accepts increase in police precept as a 
vital source of funding to deliver balanced budgets. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



 
  
  

 

  

 

59 

 

Police Uplift Programme Costs 2022/23 to 2025/26 
 

 
 
 
11.4 A comprehensive reconciliation of the expenditure requirements between the financial 

years 2021/22 to 2022/23 is included at Appendix 10 with a further reconciliation on tax 
consequences between the financial years is shown at Appendix 9. The summary below 
shows the projections over the next four years with a total shortfall of £10M. 

 
11.5 South Wales Police Revenue Budget (Including Uplift Programme) 2022/23 to 2025/26 
 

 
 

 
 
11.6 The enduring strategy to bridge budget gaps has been a combination of recurring cash 

releasing efficiency savings and measured increases in police precept and this has been 
proven to be effective to date in delivering a quality service and balanced budget and 

Forecast 

Budget

Forecast 

Budget

Forecast 

Budget

Forecast 

Budget

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000 £000

Police Officers 14,583 17,034 17,460 17,896

Police Staff 5,460 6,389 6,549 6,713

Running Costs 3,450 3,726 3,324 3,243

Gross Expenditure 23,493 27,149 27,333 27,852

Specific Grant (3,100) (3,100) (3,100) (3,100) 

Net Expenditure 20,393 24,049 24,233 24,752

HO Hypothocated Grant (20,393) (22,474) (25,587) (25,587) 

(Surplus) / Deficit 0 1,575 (1,354) (835) 

SUMMARY REVENUE ACCOUNT 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£m £m £m £m £m

Employees 286.1 299.2 307.9 315.6 323.5

Indirect Staff 3.4 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9

Premises 11.9 12.6 12.9 14.0 15.4

Transport 5.4 5.7 6.2 6.9 7.6

Supplies & Services 28.4 30.0 30.7 32.5 34.3

Agency & Contracted Services 19.4 20.5 21.0 21.5 22.6

Capital Financing Costs 17.4 19.4 19.4 19.4 19.4

Police Uplift Programme 10.9 23.5 27.1 27.3 27.9

Gross Revenue Expenditure 382.7 414.4 429.0 441.0 454.5

Income and Specific Grants (54.8) (63.6) (63.6) (63.6) (63.6)

Net Revenue Expenditure 327.8 350.8 365.3 377.4 390.8

Core HO and WG Funding (160.9) (173.9) (173.9) (173.9) (176.9)

HO Uplift Funding (22.8) (20.4) (22.5) (25.6) (25.6)

Precept based on 5% increase. (144.3) (152.1) (160.3) (169.0) (178.2)

Total Resources (327.8) (346.3) (356.6) (368.4) (380.6)

Annual Budget Gap 0.0 4.5 8.7 9.0 10.3 

Value for Money Savings 0.0 (4.5) (4.6) (4.7) (4.8)

Residual Annual Budget Gap 0.0 (0.0) 4.1 4.3 5.5 

Page 81



  
 
  

 

  

60 

 

 

continues to be applied. This approach is supported by the comments by the HMICFRS 
that financial management is a strength in South Wales Police.  
 

11.7 The strategy, however, must also consider the resource implications over the medium 
term and the financial projections 2022 to 2026 are summarised below. The cumulative 
budget gap to 2022/23 before police precept is £135M (based on the reductions in central 
police grant allocations and known expenditure requirements). This £135M cumulative 
gap is bridged through additional income from police precept of £72M and a Value for 
Money Plan to March 2023 of £63M in order to achieve a balanced budget for 2022/23.  

 

 
 
 
11.8 The funding being made available to Forces indicated in the CSR21 results in a further 

cumulative budget gap for the period 2023-2026 of £6M the service implications of which 
are yet to be identified. This results in a total gap since the austerity measures were 
introduced of over £165M which is effectively a reduction in resources of 48% over the 
period and this is tabled below.  

 
 

Page 82



 
  
  

 

  

 

61 

 

 
 

  

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

2
0
1
5
/1

6

2
0
1
6
/1

7

2
0
1
7
/1

8

2
0
1
8
/1

9

2
0
1
9
/2

0

2
0
2
0
/2

1

2
0
2
1
/2

2

2
0
2
2
/2

3

2
0
2
3
/2

4

2
0
2
4
/2

5

2
0
2
5
/2

6

£M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M

 Net Revenue Expenditure (Pre VFM) 260 272 274 285 290 294 304 311 322 346 367 386 409 424 436 449

 External grants (183) (170) (174) (169) (161) (160) (157) (157) (161) (173) (184) (195) (196) (199) (203)

 Precept base (71) (72) (72) (72) (73) (74) (75) (76) (77) (79) (80) (80) (81) (81) (82)

 Total Resources (254) (242) (246) (241) (233) (234) (232) (232) (238) (251) (263) (275) (277) (281) (285)

 Cumulative Unfunded Expenditure 18 32 39 49 61 70 78 90 108 116 123 135 147 155 165

 Precept increase  (4) (7) (13) (17) (22) (25) (30) (39) (50) (57) (65) (72) (80) (88) (96)

 Value For Money Plan Savings 

Required 
15 24 27 32 39 45 48 51 58 58 58 63 67 67 69

 Current Value For Money Plan  19 24 27 32 39 45 48 51 58 58 58 63 63 63 63

 Net VFM Plan (Surplus)/Deficit 
(4) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) 0 0 0 0 0 (0) 4 4 5

CSR 10

SUMMARY REVENUE ACCOUNT

CSR21

Page 83



  
 
  

 

  

62 

 

 

12.0 MEDIUM TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 2022-26 
 
12.1 The Capital programme is based on comprehensive 10 year Estate, Transport and Digital 

Services Strategies which are regularly refreshed and which have been prioritised to 
maximise the limited resources available to maintain the capital infrastructure upon which 
effective policing service is now hugely dependent. 

 
12.2 Capital Strategy 
 
12.2.1 Given the prudential regime, it is important to prepare a capital statement and approve a 

Capital Strategy. This statement is intended to describe how the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable collectively determine the programme of capital 
investments including how key priorities are identified. The Capital Strategy is important 
because:- 

 
a) It promotes the most effective use of capital resources by ensuring that the capital 

investment programme is closely aligned to key priorities; and 
 
b) The assessment by HMICFRS and External Audit is that it contributes to both the 

financial and operational management of the police service. 
 
12.3 Capital Strategy Objectives 

 
12.3.1 To ensure the delivery of an effective policing service through sustainable infrastructure 

management aligned to the policing priorities. The key aims for the three main 
infrastructure areas are:  
 

 Transport – Fit for purpose vehicles that address operational requirements in 
terms of availability and function; 

 

 Technology – Technology platform that facilitates agile/mobile working with 
information and intelligence systems delivered to the point of need and  

 

 Estate – A safe, warm and dry operating environment that is conducive to 
wellbeing goals, and effective policing. 

 
12.3.2 The detailed requirements of Transport, Technology and Estate are informed by: 

 

 An Asset Management Plan that identifies the medium term asset replacement 
requirements; 

 

 Capital Programme Monitoring within the context of the agreed financial framework 
to ensure delivery of capital projects; 

 

 Appropriate Planning Seminars to ensure requirements are relevant; 
 

 The Performance Management regime; and Risk Management Strategies. 
 
12.3.3 In this context the force has a multi-year asset replacement programmes and annually 

reviews its requirements against the asset base and changing operational need. The ten 
year estate strategy has been refreshed following wide consultation on the future policing 
model. The Technology platform has migrated to an integrated mobile capability, and the 

Page 84



 
  
  

 

  

 

63 

 

Transport programme is being aligned to national collaborative standardised 
specifications for vehicles as well as considering the de-carbonisation agenda. 
 

12.3.4 As a result of the cessation of the capital grant the financing of the capital programme is 
now derived from Revenue Contributions to Capital and Prudential Borrowing and any 
capital receipts on asset disposals as shown below.  

 
The trend on capital grant funding for South Wales Police as been gradual reduction 
from £3.1M per annum in 2011 down to a £0.3M in 2020/21 to now, nil in 2022-23.  
 

12.3.5 This has created a further £1.1M funding gap in the 4 year Capital Programme for primarily 
short life assets which will need to be funded from additional revenue contributions to 
capital. 
 

12.3.6 The previous sound assumptions for capital grant were that grant levels were likely to 
remain low and consequently 95% of the Capital programme is already funded through 
charges to the revenue account as capital financing cost. This results in the capital 
programme being supported by an annual revenue contribution of £15.9M with priority on 
any potential in year underspending being given to be vired into the capital funding budget 
to minimise prudential borrowing. 

 
12.3.7 The medium term Capital Programme has been developed in accordance with approved 

strategies for Estates, ICT, DSD and Fleet. The Police and Crime Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable jointly scrutinise and determine the approval or otherwise of specific 
capital spending within the programme.  A fully costed programme based on the current 
announced funding is included in summary form at Appendix 11  and further summarised 
below: 

 

 
 
 

Area

 2021/22 

PROJECTED 

OUTTURN 

 2022/23  2023/24  2024/25 2025/26
4 Year 

Total

 £M  £M  £M  £M £M  £M 

Infrastructure Maintenance

Estates Essential and Legislative Works 1.9 2.1 1.6 1.5 1.5 6.7

Fleet 4.4 2.8 2.1 2.1 2.1 9.1

Information Services 4.0 2.1 2.1 2.1 1.6 7.9

Digital Services 4.5 11.1 3.2 3.7 6.2 24.2

Other 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

Total Infrastructure Maintenance 15.4 18.1 9.0 9.4 11.4 48.0
 
One - Off Projects 
Estates 22.2 7.4 19.3 16.9 0.0 43.6

(Less partner contributions) (1.1) (6.7) (7.2) 0.0 (15.0)

Information Services 1.3 3.6 0.4 0.4 0.0 4.4

Total One Off Projects 23.5 9.9 13.0 10.1 0.0 33.0

 

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 38.9 28.0 22.0 19.5 11.4 81.0

DRF 9.1 15.9 15.9 15.8 15.9 63.4

Reserves 5.3 6.7 0.4 0.3 0.0 7.3

External Grants 1.4 0.4 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.9

Capital Receipts 1.0 0.8 0.8 0.8 7.0 9.4

Application of Prior Approved Borrowing 22.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Internal Borrowing 0.0 4.3 4.4 2.7 (11.2) 0.2

Total Funding 38.9 28.0 22.0 19.6 11.7 81.2

Funding Shortfall 0.0 (0.0) (0.0) 0.1 0.4 0.3

Page 85



  
 
  

 

  

64 

 

 

12.3.8  It is important that no borrowing is undertaken for short life assets as this does not provide 
value for money and simply aggregates risk down the years. Borrowing for long life assets 
is sound and Estates Programme is almost entirely funded through borrowing and 
balanced where appropriate with capital receipts on estate disposals and with 
contributions from partners e.g. by Gwent Police and Dyfed Powys Police in respect of a 
replacement firearms training facility.  

 
12.3.9 The infrastructure maintenance elements are seen as essential unavoidable capital 

expenditure and include:-  
 

 Investment in respect of the Estates Strategy and known historic issues to be 
resolved including the replacement for a Tactical Firearms Range, the completion 
of the Police Learning Centre at Police Headquarters and the replacement of 
Cardiff Central Police Station. Business cases will also be developed for a 
replacement for the Bridewell in the Western BCU to bring this up to same standard 
as our other modernised custody facilities.  

 

 Following the introduction of automatic vehicle location system, there was a 
greater understanding and management of vehicles and as a result the number of 
vehicles required to deliver policing was reduced by 20%. In addition we are 
participating in a National Fleet Standard which results in lower acquisition costs 
on patrol vehicles in particular. The core fleet remains fit for purpose and the 
replacement cycle continues to ensure effective operational response capability 
from an efficient and effective transport service. The Police Uplift Programme 
includes initial funding for increased vehicles broadly on a 4:1 ratio and the vehicle 
fleet is anticipated to grow by around 100 vehicles depending upon actual officer 
allocations over the three years and these will then need to be incorporated into 
the replacement programme in line with current fleet strategy.  

 

 In terms of Information Services, South Wales Police has rapidly transitioned to an 
enhanced mobile data capability (following successful innovation funding) and is 
on target to deliver the ambition of the Right Person, Right Place, at the Right Time, 
with the appropriate access to force intelligence systems that enable more work to 
be undertaken remotely and will also enhance visibility. It is self-evident that the 
new improved operating model is heavily dependent upon use of technology to 
deliver policing that meets public expectations. The short life cycle for technology 
requires regular refresh and the programme reflects these requirements. 

 

 South Wales Police is also supporting the National Enabling Programme which 
seeks to standardise systems and contracts on common software licenses.  

 

 The one-off funded projects costs reflect the replacement of Airwave with a new 
Emergency Services Communications Network, which has faced delays in the past 
but a December 2026 switch is now being affirmed.  

 

 The delays to date have resulted in end of life Airwave sets requiring replacement 
before the new ESN system ‘goes-live’. The Force therefore procured replacement 
radios at a cost of £1.4M in 2019/20, and work on the replacement telephony and 
command and control systems is also underway to maintain essential operational 
services. We are also advised that central funding will only cover the core 
infrastructure costs such as coverage costs and that ESN devices will remain a 
local funding issue along with telephony and Command and Control room 
upgrades, the current estimates are around £4M funding per annum over three 

Page 86



 
  
  

 

  

 

65 

 

years is required (the final year 2026-27  which is beyond the current MTFS 
planning horizon). 
 

12.3.10 The 4 year capital programme is estimated as £81.0M with approximately £22M of this 
to be funded from external borrowing. 

 
12.3.11 Where appropriate internal borrowing will be utilised to minimise interest payments 

before any external borrowing takes place. 
 
  

Page 87



  
 
  

 

  

66 

 

 

13.0  TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND PRUDENTIAL BORROWING 2022-26 
 
13.1 The South Wales Police borrowing requirements are determined by the application of the 

Prudential Code which is designed to ensure that any borrowing is affordable and 
sustainable. The Prudential Indicators are summarised below and the further Prudential 
Indicators are detailed within the Capital Strategy and Prudential Indicators (attached at 
Part B).  

 
 Estimates of Capital Expenditure are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirements are as follows  
 

 
 
 
13.2 The Capital Financing Requirement measures the underlying need to borrow for capital 

purposes and is linked to asset values and proposed capital expenditure. Under the CIPFA 
Prudential Code, borrowing (gross debt) must not exceed the Capital Financing 
Requirement except within the short term – defined as the current year plus future two 
years’ estimate of the Capital Financing Requirement. The Force has therefore complied 
with this requirement. 

 
13.3 Detailed modelling has been undertaken that demonstrates that the future of costs of 

borrowing (following the replacement of previous high interest loans on maturity with 
new lower interest borrowing) is broadly similar to the existing borrowing costs within the 
budgets over the planning horizon at around £3M per annum. The table below provides 
a year-on-year analysis over the MTFS period. 

 
 
 
 

  

2020-21 Actual
2021-22 

Projection
2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

£m £m Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Transport 3.393 4.454 2.828 2.100 2.100 2.100

Technology 5.704 10.495 16.717 5.773 6.250 7.823

Estates 22.146 23.982 8.472 14.134 11.183 1.500

TOTAL 31.243 38.931 28.017 22.007 19.533 11.423

2020-21 Actual
2021-22 

Projection
2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

£m £m Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Gross Debt 25.072 33.777 42.626 46.632 45.742 44.957

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 22.944 42.727 44.809 46.989 47.269 45.032 

Page 88



 
  
  

 

  

 

67 

 

14.0 POLICE PRECEPT AND BUDGET BALANCE 2022-23 
 
14.1 The funding for South Wales Police is a combination of central grants and a local police 

precept. The core police grant settlement in respect of 2022-23 is essentially the same 
amount of cash as at 2017/18 (excluding pensions and uplift funding) this has the effect 
of 4 years of inflation not being funded and compounds upward pressure on spending due 
to unavoidable price and pay increases as well as operational resource demand. The main 
essential only cost increases are as follows: 

 

 Essential and unavoidable cost increases £m 

1 Pay inflation, incremental drift and pay inflation, and externally funded 
programmes including uplift 

23.6 

2 Externally funded programmes including uplift  (11.4) 

3 Changes in the Tax base (0.5) 

4 Total standstill cost increases  11.7 

 
 
14.2 Historic and Persistent Funding Inequities 
 
14.2.1 Previous Medium Term Financial Strategies have cited a number of areas where South 

Wales Police is significantly disadvantaged in terms of funding and these issues 
continue to remain unresolved due mainly to the failure to address the funding 
formula anomalies. We are committed to seeking a resolution to these issues and will 
continue to raise them at the highest levels to seek redress. 

 
14.2.2 The below table summarises the annual detriment in funding faced by South Wales Police 

(with further detail at Appendix 7). The assessment shows that around £17.2M of annual 
funding inequity persists which if addressed would transform policing for the public in the 
South Wales Police area. 

 

 
 
 
14.2.3 The introduction of the new Police Funding Formula in 2018/19 was abandoned at the last 

moment due to fundamental errors in the statistics underpinning the formula. Following a 
formal apology by the Home Office Permanent Secretary, a revised formula was expected 
to be implemented but these plans were then put on hold. Our latest understanding is that 
the earliest date for a new police allocation formula being considered is 2022 and given 
past experience the strategy assumes it is unlikely to be effected within the planning 
horizon of this financial strategy. 

 

Funding Inequalities Impacting on South 

Wales Police £M

Medium Term Financial 

Strategy Reference

Precept Differential in Wales 1.0 Paragraph 14.3

Funding Formula Damping (Rule 1) 5.6 Appendix 7

Area Cost Adjustment 4.0 Appendix 7

Capital City Requireemnts 4.0 Appendix 7

Police Education Qualification Framework 

(PEQF) 1.0 Appendix 7

Capital Infrastructure Funding 1.6 Appendix 7

Total Impact of Funding Inequalities 17.2

Page 89



  
 
  

 

  

68 

 

 

14.2.4 It is important to note that the one of the exemplification of the abandoned formula 
(undertaken by Devon and Cornwall Police) indicated a potential reduction in police 
funding to Wales of around £45M per annum. This is clearly a major cause for concern 
and we will continue to make robust challenges and representation to the new working 
group when established by the Home Office.   

 
14.2.5 The complete failure of successive governments to devise and agree a new funding 

formula is a major cause for concern. Given the unique aspects of policing the Capital City 
of Wales there remains no re-dress for these Capital City Policing Costs. The generic 
police formula is too complex and fraught with difficulty consequently the current Home 
Office Practice is direct funding. Whilst we will continue to make strong representation and 
seek measured funding for the costs of policing the Welsh Capital, the most prudent 
assumption at this stage is to anticipate that changes in the funding formula are unlikely 
to result in any beneficial changes to the real-terms funding needs of South Wales Police. 

  
14.3 Police Precept 
 
14.3.1 The proportion of funding from police precept varies across England and Wales from less 

than 18% (Northumbria) to over 55% (Surrey) of the total police budget. In this context, 
the South Wales Police precept percentage of local funding is 44.0% (the average across 
43 forces is 38.3%).  

 

 
 
14.3.2 Set out below is the history and context of police precept levels (based on a Band D 

property) since 1995 across police forces in Wales. It has been acknowledged by Ministers 
that police forces with lower levels of police precept as a proportion of their total budgets 
will face a greater financial challenge as the cuts are in central grant funding only. 

 
14.3.3 The chart below shows that South Wales Police has historically had the lowest level of 

police precept in Wales for over two decades (and has forgone income of £191M). The 
successive Medium Term Financial Strategies have sought to attain a police precept in 
South Wales which is at the average of the other three forces in Wales, currently  and the 
South Wales Police precept income of around £1M per annum below the Welsh police 
precept average. 
 
 

 

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

 N
or

th
um

br
ia

 W
es

t M
id

la
nd

s

 M
et

ro
po

lit
an

 P
ol

ice

 C
ity

¹

 M
er

se
ys

id
e

 G
re

at
er

 M
an

ch
es

te
r

 S
ou

th
 Y

or
ks

hi
re

 C
le

ve
la

nd

 W
es

t Y
or

ks
hi

re

 D
ur

ha
m

 L
an

ca
sh

ire

 H
um

be
rs

id
e

 N
ot

tin
gh

am
sh

ire

 K
en

t

 S
ta

ffo
rd

sh
ire

 L
ei

ce
st

er
sh

ire

 B
ed

fo
rd

sh
ire

 D
er

by
sh

ire

 C
um

br
ia

 A
vo

n 
&

 S
om

er
se

t

 E
ss

ex

 D
ev

on
 &

 C
or

nw
al

l

 H
am

ps
hi

re

 S
us

se
x

 C
he

sh
ire

 H
er

tfo
rd

sh
ire

 S
uf

fo
lk

 G
w

en
t

 N
or

th
am

pt
on

sh
ire

 W
es

t M
er

ci
a

 C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire

 S
ou

th
 W

al
es

 L
in

co
ln

sh
ire

 T
ha

m
es

 V
al

le
y

 N
or

fo
lk

 W
ilt

sh
ire

 W
ar

w
ic

ks
hi

re

 G
lo

uc
es

te
rs

hi
re

 N
or

th
 Y

or
ks

hi
re

 D
or

se
t

 N
or

th
 W

al
es

 D
yf

ed
-P

ow
ys

 S
ur

re
y

Precept as % of Total Funding

Page 90



 
  
  

 

  

 

69 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
14.3.4 The 2021/22 average level of Police Precepts in Wales, excluding that of South Wales 

Police is £289.66, the comparative South Wales Police’s precept is £287.72 or £1.94 
below the average which is equivalent to annual additional investment of £1.0M or 
sufficient to recruit up to 36 apprentice police officers. 

 
14.3.5 The level of precept in 2021/22 for each Welsh force is shown below and in essence the 

higher the current precept level and tax base the greater the amount of local income that 
can be generated for the same percentage increase. For example, a 1% increase for North 
Wales Police (£3.06 per Band D property) would require a 1.06% increase (per Band D 
property) in South Wales Police to achieve the same cash increase. 

 

 
 
14.3.6 The graph below shows the amount a £10 increase in precept generates as increased 

income per force.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

£ £

North Wales 305.55 3.06

Dyfed Powys 275.56 2.76

Gwent 287.86 2.88

Average 289.66 2.90

South Wales 287.72 2.88

Force 2021/22 Potential 

Impact of a 1% 

increase

 -

 50.00

 100.00

 150.00

 200.00

 250.00

 300.00

 350.00

19
95

/9
6

19
96

/9
7

19
97

/9
8

19
98

/9
9

19
99

/0
0

20
00

/0
1

20
01

/0
2

20
02

/0
3

20
03

/0
4

20
04

/0
5

20
05

/0
6

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9

20
19

/2
0

20
20

/2
1

20
21

/2
2

Average of other Three North Wales Gwent Dyfed-Powys South Wales

£1.0M

Page 91



  
 
  

 

  

70 

 

 

 
 
14.3.7 Whilst recognising the pressures to comply with government guidance on council tax 

increases there are only a limited number of alternative options to bridge the budget 
gap: 

 

 Generating even more additional cash releasing efficiencies; 

 Phasing development requirements in line with delivery of efficiencies; 

 Increasing borrowing for long life assets; 

 Minimising developmental expenditure; 

 Making service cuts; and 

 Raising additional income through police precept/grants. 

 
14.3.8 In preparing the detailed budget, all the above factors have been considered and 

addressed.  The delivery of cash releasing efficiencies of £56M over the 10 years 
since austerity is unprecedented in the history of South Wales Police. These plans 
have already delivered some unpalatable reductions through police officer numbers 
and realignment of ranks, overtime reductions and changes in traffic management 
and Project Reform. The Value for Money Plan considerations at paragraph 6.9 has 
detailed the delivery of Value for Money and its independent verification through 
scrutiny by the HMICFRS. 

 
14.3.9 The HMICFRS and Audit Wales (as independent reviewers of our operational 

and financial performance) have confirmed we have appropriate arrangements 
for the use of public finances and deliver Value for Money. We have consistently 
improved our performance and delivered an effective policing service within a 
reducing resource envelope. 

 
14.3.10 The determination of the level of police precept depends on a combination of 

operational need, judgments on affordability and Welsh Government powers to limit 
increases if deemed by Welsh Ministers to be excessive. Whilst there is no 
expectation that the historic funding inequities can be bridged over the medium term 
or indeed longer term, the strategy of modest increases in precept alongside efficiency 
cuts is sound. 

 
14.4 Precept Public Consultation Survey 2022/23 
 

The Police and Crime Commissioner has a responsibility under the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act to obtain the views of the public on matters relating to 
policing.  This includes consulting with residents in advance of setting the police 
precept level and allocating the police budget.  

 
The results of the consultation survey are presented in a separate paper to the 
Panel. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



 
  
  

 

  

 

71 

 

 
 
14.5 Police Precept Requirements to Achieve a Balanced Budget 
  

1. The amount of Police Grant continues to be frozen again at 2017/18 levels. This 
results in a standstill budget gap in 2022/23 of £11.7M which would have been 
considerably higher if a pay freeze from September 2021 had also not been 
announced. 

 
2. The focus over the next financial year in addition to meeting the requirements 

of the strategic policing plans is to ensure the officers and staff allocated through 
the Uplift programme are appointed and associated funding is secured. 

 
3. An important consequence of the 20,000 officer uplift programme is that forces 

need to demonstrate additionality above the base budgets to secure full 
additional funding which effectively results in 80% of the budget being linked to 
the uplift funding and 20% being non-pay. Given the £15M of non-pay budget 
cuts already further savings are unrealistic. The VFM plan section clearly 
demonstrates the hard choices already taken over a decade of austerity.  

 
4. Continued efforts to improve productivity and efficiency gains necessary to meet 

the growing demand for policing services, are also being prioritised, with around 
£4.5M of gains targeted over the next financial year (Appendix 12). 

 
5. The Spending Review and police settlement have clearly not been sufficient to 

address core budget inflation and therefore a measured increase in the police 
precept is critical to deliver a balanced budget and maintain staffing objectives. 

 
6. On this basis, in order to achieve both a balanced budget and deliver on the 

uplift programme, it is appropriate that the police precept is increased by 5.0% 
or £1.20 per month (£14.39 per annum resulting in a total annual Band D 
Precept of £302.11 per annum). 

 
14.5.1 It would require an increase of a further £8 or £1.85 per month to negate the need 

for further value for money savings (£4M). However, in the light of current financial 
circumstances for householders, and given the results of the consultation survey, 
the £1.20 per month (£14.39 per annum on a Band D Property) seems to be most 
considered and measured assessment for an increase. 

 
14.5.2 The previous MTFS projections were predicated on a 5% annual precept increase 

and this MTFS maintains those levels of increases through to 2026. It is important 
to note the updated requirement for 2022- 2023 has only changed by 1% from 
the previous assessment which indicates the strength of financial planning 
within the force. 

 
14.5.3 It is important to emphasise that the further £4.5M of savings takes the overall 

target of savings to £63M of which £60M is recurring  given the £56M of 
recurring savings already made.  

 
14.5.4 The operational assessment shows that both demand and crime are increasing 

across England and Wales and previous decisions on investment in tackling 
vulnerability and prevention have ensured crime  in South Wales Police area is rising 

Page 93



  
 
  

 

  

72 

 

 

slower and remains significantly lower in comparison with our most similar group of 
forces and indeed all forces across many crime categories.  

 
14.5.5 A financial assessment of the economic cost of crime shows that South Wales Police 

prevented £130M harm of potential harm to the public in our area (from not becoming 
a victim of crime) and cumulatively since 2011 this equates to £0.73billion of less 
harm. This is significant demonstration of the effectiveness of the policing strategy 
and its resource management. 

 
14.6 Analysis of Property Bandings and Council Tax 
 
14.6.1  An analysis of council tax properties by local authority area shows (below) that 6 8% of 

the residents living within South Wales Police area will pay less than the average Band D 
value, and therefore the majority of residents will pay less than the £1.20 monthly increase.  

 
 

 
 

14.6.2 The police precept equates is less than a 18% as a proportion of the overall Council Tax 
bill and consequently the proposed increase will add 1% to the council tax bill.  
 

14.6.3 An analysis of council tax increases across south wales area shows the Police precept 
being a significantly lower contributor to the overall council tax despite the disproportionate 
cuts in funding suffered by South Wales Police. 
 

Page 94



 
  
  

 

  

 

73 

 

 
 
 

 
 
15.0 CAPPING CONSIDERATION AND COUNCIL TAX BASE 
 
 
15.1 Capping Considerations 
 
15.1.1 Under devolution arrangements the power to determine capping levels on the council 

tax are administered by the Welsh Government who have been consistent in their 
consideration and application of capping and the 5% proposed increase in precept is 
in line with previous indications of acceptable precept increases. 

 
15.2 Council Tax Base 
 
15.2.1 The Council Tax to be paid has to be allocated to the billing councils on the basis of the 

relevant tax bases notified by them.  The tax base is calculated from the number of 
properties in each area allocated to each property band and discounted for single 
occupancy, non-payers, etc.  The tax base is expressed as a “Band D” equivalent as 

follows: 
 

 

Local Authority 2021/22 2022/23 Change %

Cardiff Council 147,794.00  149,107.00 1,313.00 0.89%

Swansea Council 94,051.00    93,114.00 -937.00 -1.00%

Bridgend County Borough 54,329.46    54,568.51 239.05 0.44%

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 18,430.74    18,587.44 156.70 0.85%

Neath Port Talbot Council 48,163.46    48,393.68 230.22 0.48%

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 77,197.81    77,707.00 509.19 0.66%

Vale of Glamorgan Council 61,412.00    61,978.00 566.00 0.92%

Total Council Tax Base 501,378.47 503,455.63 2,077.16 0.41%

Band D Equivalent Properties

Page 95



  
 
  

 

  

74 

 

 

 
 

 
15.2.2 The localisation of Council Tax Benefit initially caused turbulence in Councils’ Tax 

bases.  A national approach was agreed within Wales based on a maximum eligibility 
of 90% of Council Tax bills.  The move away from a fully funded scheme increased the 
potential for non-payment and many councils adjusted their Council Tax bases 
downwards accordingly.  Relatively late in the 2013/14 budget cycle, Welsh 
Government reverted to a scheme with a maximum 100% eligibility and this has now 
settled as an issue.  

 
15.3 Changes in Council Tax Base 
  
15.3.1 New housing developments and population growth has seen the council tax base 

increase overall by 0.41% for the South Wales Police area for 2022/23 Notably the Tax 
Base for Swansea City Council has decreased by 1% compared to 2021/22.  

 
15.3.2 The Council Tax base is expressed as a Band D equivalent and the Home Office has 

assumed a level of growth for England (1.1%) and Wales of (0.6%) However, the 
Office of Budget Responsibility estimates the following changes. 

 
Percentage Change in Council Tax Base 

 

 Actual Forecast 

 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

England 0.8 1.3 1.3 1.1 1.1 1.1 

Scotland  0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 

Wales 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 

 
15.3.3 It is clear that the tax base in England is anticipated to grow faster than in Wales 

which results in greater levels of precept income for English forces for the same rate 
of precept increase.  

 
15.3.4 The additional income for South Wales Police from precept if the tax base 

increased in line with English forces would be an additional £12M over the next 
4 years and would enable budget balance at less than 5% precept and not 
require additional VFM savings to balance the books as well as enable 
investment into policing the South Wales area. 

 
15.3.5 Using the above tax base the impact of the police precept on property bandings for 

each local authority area is detailed at Appendix 14. The Force precept will be added 
to the figures for the Unitary Authorities and will form part of the overall Council Tax 
demand bills.  Under the regulations, the billing authority must determine a schedule of 
instalments for payments to precepting authorities.  The agreement is that the Unitary 
Authorities will pay the Force in 12 instalments on or before the last working day of 
each month. 

 
  

Page 96



 
  
  

 

  

 

75 

 

16.0 TREASURER’S COMMENTS   
(THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER TO THE COMMISSIONER)  
 

16.1 The Local Government Act 2003, Part 2 Section 25, requires additional statements by the 
Treasurer to be included in the budget report. The Treasurer is required to report to the 
Police and Crime Commissioner on the robustness of the estimates, which underpin the 
budget requirement, and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. The Panel is 
required to have regard to this report when considering the budget. 

 
16.2 The proposed budget presented in this report is based upon robust figures, prepared by 

the Chief Financial Officer. The detailed estimates have been prepared on a realistic basis. 
A wide range of Senior Officers have been involved in the budget process. Proper 
provision has been made for pay and price increases, achievable levels of income and 
productivity and efficiency gains. 

 
16.3 A Resources Board attended by both Chief Financial Officers monitors budgets on a 

regular basis. The Board reports into the Commissioner’s Strategic Board, which is also 
attended by the Chief Constable. There is a detailed monthly budget monitoring system 
in place involving all budget holders and reports are provided to facilitate financial 
management. Both the Audit Wales and Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary Fire 
and Rescue Services have commented on the robustness of financial planning by South 
Wales Police. 

 
16.4 The General Reserve is below the target level and the adequacy of both the General 

reserve and specific reserves are monitored regularly by the Resources Board. Similarly 
the robust approach on risk management has enabled critical infrastructure developments 
and ensure a sustainable police service, however the Estate condition continues to be a 
cause for concern and is reviewed regularly by the Resources Board and the 
Commissioner’s Strategic Estates Board. 

 
16.5 It is clear that the financial environment will remain extremely challenging for the 

foreseeable future. The Medium Term Financial Plan anticipates Flat Cash Settlements 
throughout the planning horizon (excluding uplift grant funding) which is supported by the 
Office of Budget Responsibility economic analysis. The Government’s priority in terms of 
Police finance is to support the recruitment of an additional 20,000 Officers by March 2023, 
and we have every belief that funding will be forthcoming for the initial recruitment of the 
number, of which South Wales Police expects to receive an allocation of 450 new Officers. 
However, whether funding is maintained to cover increased costs, such as promotion and 
increments remains to be seen. 

 
16.6 Equally challenging is the forecast of real terms cuts to funding on ‘core business.’ A 

second pay freeze was applied to police pay in 2021 and the Independent Pay Review 
Body will no doubt reflect this and cost of living pressures within their recommendation to 
the Home Secretary. The Police Service has been challenged on resources throughout 
the pandemic and this will also feature in any assessment. So with future pay awards and 
inflation are increasing with announced real terms reductions in grant funding to 2025 and 
likely 2026.  

 
16.7 Increase in demand and additional costs, such as the increase in the costs of police 

training and technology infrastructure mean that this will only be partly offset by a Council 
Tax as the strategy assumes 5% per annum through to 2026 with cumulative budget gap 
of £10M. 

 

Page 97



  
 
  

 

  

76 

 

 

16.8 The Value for Money plan focuses on delivering productivity and efficiency gains and 
provides the best opportunity to mitigate the growing demand for police services and 
reduce levels of borrowing. 

 
16.9 As anticipated within the MTFS The Spending Review 2021 has not addressed core 

budget inflation and therefore financial pressures are set to continue. 
 
16.10 Under the circumstances a £14.39 increase in the Band D police precept is necessary and 

proportionate to deliver a balanced budget in 2022/23. 
 

Page 98



 
  
  

 

  

 

77 

 

17.0 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003  “SECTION 25” STATEMENT 
 
17.1 When setting the Budget and Capital Programme for the forthcoming year the Police and 

Crime Commissioner must be satisfied that adequate consideration has been given to the 
following: 

 
          a) Government policy on spending, as applied to the Police 
          b) The medium term implications of the Budget and Capital Programme 
          c) The CIPFA Prudential Code 
          d) The size and adequacy of general and specific earmarked balances 
          e) Whether the proposals represent a balanced budget for the year 
          f) The impact on the Council Tax 
          g) The threat or risk of capping 
          h) The prevailing pressure for service development and associated risk to 

performance 
 
17.2 This Financial Strategy proposal has fully considered and documented the requirements 

above.  I am satisfied that the proposals for 2022/23 produce a balanced budget and whilst 
the current level of reserves is inadequate plans are being developed to address this.  
South Wales Police faces a difficult challenge in the coming year and I have highlighted 
above, the need to develop mitigation plans going forward to address the total budget gap 
of £10M for the planning period to 2026. 

 
Peter Curran FCPFA 

Chief Financial Officer to the Police and Crime Commissioner South Wales Police 

 
  

Page 99



  
 
  

 

  

78 

 

 

18 GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY ARRANGEMENTS 

 
18.1  The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 together with the Policing Protocol 

Order 2011 and the Financial Management Code of Practice (as revised in July 2018) set 
out the revised governance arrangement for policing with effect from 22nd November 2012. 
The Act established the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable each 
as a Corporation Sole. 

 
18.2 The Police and Crime Panel has been established to scrutinise the actions and decisions 

of the Police and Crime Commissioner for the area.  Appendix 15 provides an overview 
of the main governance and accountability arrangements that are in place in South Wales. 

 
18.3 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary , Audit Wales and the National Audit Office 

have independently reviewed aspects of the South Wales Police Service and reported 
objectively on their findings.  

 
18.4 Since the current Police Effectiveness Efficiency Legitimacy (PEEL) inspection regime 

was established, South Wales Police has consistently performed well in the inspection 
process. The table below is a summary of the main findings since 2014. 

 

 
 
18.5 The PEEL inspection programme is an assessment of the effectiveness, efficiency and 

legitimacy of police forces in England and Wales.  In 2018 the HMICFRS developed its 
approach with the introduction of an integrated PEEL assessment programme which 
brought together the three PEEL pillars (effectiveness, efficiency and legitimacy) into a 
single inspection. HMICFRS also introduced a risk-based approach, to concentrate on 
areas of the greatest risk and have now developed an intelligence-led continuous 
assessment model for its PEEL inspection programme.  

 
18.6 This approach has also seen the introduction of a new set of twelve questions, ten of which 

will be given a graded judgement. The HMICFRS have also moved to a five tier graded 
structure to provide a greater degree of information on where improvements are 
needed.  These changes mean that direct comparisons can no longer be made between 
the annual graded judgements awarded in previous PEEL inspections.   The Force was 
last inspected as part of the PEEL programme in 2018/19 and is currently being inspected 
against the new framework in 2021/22.  

 
 

18.7 Audit Wales and the National Audit Office concurred with the findings of the HMIC on both 
our understanding of demand and resource allocation and usage. The Annual Audit Letter 

3 E's Fundamental Question 2014 2015 2016 2017 2019

Effectiveness

How effectively does the Force 

reduce crime and keep people 

safe? Ungraded Good Good Good Good

Efficiency

How efficiently does the Force 

operate and how sustainable 

are its services? Good Good Good Good Good

Legitimacy

How legitimately does the 

Force treat the public and its 

workforce? Ungraded Good Good Good Good

Fundamental questions being asked were re-worded in 2019

Page 100



 
  
  

 

  

 

79 

 

is shown in full at Appendix 16  and the key findings within the letter are summarised 
below: 

 

I am satisfied that the Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales and the Chief 
Constable of South Wales Police have appropriate arrangements in place to secure the 
Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness in the use of their resources….Auditor General 
Audit Wales. 

 
18.8 The Commissioner and the Chief Constable have established a Joint Audit Committee to 

monitor the effectiveness of the governance arrangements and the Joint Audit Committee 
reported their findings for 2021/22 as follows: 

 

The Committee has received reports, recommendations and observations from TIAA, 
Audit Wales, HMICFRS, and presentations from officers of both Corporations Sole to 
formulate an independent opinion and provide independent assurance to the Police and 
Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable in respect of the financial and governance 
controls within the Corporations Sole. 
 
Having received these reports, the Joint Audit Committee is satisfied that there are 
no major issues of concern that affect the financial standing of the Corporations 
Sole. It is satisfied that there is a robust governance framework in place, supported 
by adequate risk management and controls. 
 
Looking ahead to 2022/23, the operational challenges facing both Corporations Sole will 
undoubtedly remain significant. In the context of the pandemic, financial challenges are 
inevitable, coupled with an increasing and evolving demand for resources. The importance 
of an effective committee therefore remains critical.   

 
18.9 The above independent external scrutiny confirms the well-developed governance 

arrangements in place to deliver an effective policing service to the public in South Wales 
as well as securing Value for Money in the use of public resources.  

 
  

Page 101



  
 
  

 

  

80 

 

 

19.0 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS  
 
19.1 Whilst the ongoing national economic climate has a significant bearing on the acceptability 

in level of police precept to be levied on local taxpayers it is also recognised that in times 
of economic decline the requirements for an efficient and effective police service rise 
considerably.  

 
19.2 In this Financial Strategy we have attempted to balance the difficult equation of risk, 

demand, affordability, the need to limit increases in expenditure where possible and the 
possibility of capping. The challenge to deliver further cuts of £10M on top of the £56M 
delivered in 2011 to 2021 without affecting services is not possible given the constraints. 

 

19.3 Given the announcements of the Spending Review 2021 it is clear that excluding 
ringfenced uplift a flat cash settlement with real terms cuts to funding are being applied to 
subsequent years to 2025 and there is little ground for a change in this assessment in 
terms of 2025/26. However two exceptional events are expected to impact on future costs 
and funding. The Police Funding Formula Review is now likely to be implemented by then 
and the review of police pensions is anticipated to increase the employers’ contribution 
rate by around 5%.  

 

19.4 The minimal Capital Funding has now been reduced to nil and the financial burden of the 
replacement of short life assets falls entirely on the revenue grants, which are reducing in 
real terms. 

 
19.5 A balanced budget is only achievable through a combination of increase in the police 

precept and further challenging of cash releasing efficiency savings next year of £4M. It is 
important to note that without the imposition of a pay freeze in 2021/22 and the proposed 
£1.20 increase per month increase in police precept, the delivery of the police officer uplift 
programme would have been in jeopardy. South Wales Police continues to have the 
lowest local cost for policing in Wales in terms of proportion of local funding compared to 
total funding required. 

 

19.6 CONCLUSION 
 

This Medium Term Financial Strategy proposes: 
 

 A 5.0% increase in South Wales Police Precept in 2022/23 giving a Band D 
Precept of £302.11. Which results in 2022/23 Revenue Budget of £346,368,222 
with total precept income of £152,098,982. 

 

 A Capital Programme for 2022/23 to 2025/26 of £80.9 million including the 
utilisation of £7.5 million of capital reserves and the Capital Strategy, Treasury 
Management Strategy, MRP Policy and Prudential Indicators for 2022-26 are 
necessary to support the capital programme requirements. 
 

 The Spending Review 2021 envelope for the Home Office indicates and an 
additional £1M and £2M towards core budget during 2023/24 and 2024/25 and it 
is important to ensure appropriate decisions on precept are sustained which do 
not compound the future years budget challenges with predicted £10M of 
efficiencies required. 

 
  

Page 102



 
  
  

 

  

 

81 

 

19.7 WIDER GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS 
 
A. LEGAL  

 
The Commissioner is required to set a balanced budget, determine the rate of Council Tax 
and issue a precept in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the 
Police Act 1996. Under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 the 
Commissioner may only issue a precept after consultation with the Police and Crime 
Panel.  
 
 

B. PERSONNEL, EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES AND HUMAN 
RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

 
South Wales Police has a comprehensive Community and Equalities Impact Assessment 
process that is embedded within the change management programme. Each workstream 
will consider the wider service implications and undertake an equalities and Human Rights 
impact assessment in the planning phase. 
 
 

C. REVIEW ARRANGEMENTS 
 

There will be regular monitoring of the 2022/23 Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and 
Value for Money Plan by the Commissioner and Police and Crime Panel. 

 
D. RISKS 
 

1. The Operational and organisational risks have been considered and adjusted for 
in the development of the 4 year Medium Term Financial Strategy using the Force 
Management Statement, The Commissioner and Chief Constable Delivery Plan, 
the Strategic Risk and Uncertainty Management arrangements within the force. 
 

2. The risk of capping has been considered through discussions with Welsh 
Government and the proposed precept is not expected to initiate capping action.  
 

3. The main uncontrolled risk relates to the long term estate issues and these are 
reviewed regularly to ensure legislative compliance is not compromised. 

 
4. There is a potential for pay and price inflation to exceed assumptions by £5m which 

it has not been possible to provide for. 
 

E. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Local Government Finance Report 2022 to 2023 Welsh Government. 
Police Grant Report England and Wales 2022 to 2023.  

Page 103



  
 
  

 

  

82 

 

 

 
   Schedule of Appendices 
 
 
 
Appendix 1   Police and Crime Commissioner’s Budget 2022/23 
 
Appendix 2 Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan. 
 
Appendix 3 People and Organisational Development Strategy 2021-24 
 
Appendix 4 Year 1 Uplift Prioritisation Matrix   
 
Appendix 5 Year 2 Uplift Prioritisation Matrix   
 
Appendix 6 Summary of the Police Revenue funding announcement for 2021 – 2025. 
 
Appendix 7  Funding Inequities Impacting on South Wales Police. 
 
Appendix 8 South Wales Police Budget Summary 2022/23 to 2025/26. 
 
Appendix 9 Reconciliation of Revenue Budget Changes 2021/22 to 2022/23. 
 
Appendix 10 Detailed Analysis of Revenue Budget Changes 2021/22 to 2022/23. 

 
Appendix 11 Summary Capital Programme and Financing Arrangements 2022/23 to 2025/26. 
 
Appendix 12 Value for Money Plan 2022/23 to 2025/2026 (7.1.2)(5th referred to) 
 
Appendix 13 Reconciliation of Establishment Changes. 
 
Appendix 14 Police Precept 2022/23 Implications. 
 
Appendix 15 Overview of the Governance Framework within South Wales Police 
 
Appendix 16 Annual Audit Letter 2020-21 from Audit Wales 
 
 
  

Page 104



 
  
  

 

  

 

83 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 
 
 
 

Administration Budget 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£’000 £’000 £'000 £'000

Salary Related Costs 1,324 1,698 1,763 2,104

Officer Salary Cost 64 152 153 157

Indirect Employee Costs 32 32 32 32

Premises Costs 5 5 5 5

Transport Costs 27 27 27 27

Supplies & Services 105 109 112 120

Sub-Total 1,557 2,023 2,092 2,445

Externally Funded Commissioned Services 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22* 2022/23

£’000 £’000 £'000 £'000

Violence Prevention Unit 880 880 880

Tackle & Reduce Violence Against Women & Girls 607

Early Intervention Adverse Childhood Experiences 3,053

Victim Services 1,531 1635 2492 2492

Project ADDER 653 500

Prostitution Research 92

Early Intervention Youth Fund 974

Sub-Total        6,257        2,515        4,025          3,872 

Internally Funded Commissioned Services

Substance Intervention –Dyfodol Contribution 2,320 2,320 2,320 2320

Community Safety Partnerships 629 629 629 629

Youth Offending Teams 332 332 332 332

Contingency 35 35 35 35

Other Commissioned Services 56

Violent Crime 74 74 74 74

Drive Project 762 762

Change that Lasts 163 163

Family Intervention Programs 80 80

Sub-Total 3,446 3,390 4,395 4,395

Partnership Fund (specific ear-marked reserve)

Women Pathfinder / 18-25 Year Olds 506 681 763 681

Enhance Case Management 61 61 69 69

Mental Health Project 50 30 30 30

Drive 258 432

Early Action Together 70 0

Early Intervention Adverse Childhood Experiences

Other Funded Projects 100 69 107

Sub-Total          875        1,304        1,001             887 

 Total Funding      10,578        7,209        9,421          9,154 

 Total Police & Crime Commissioner Investment      12,135        9,232      11,513        11,599 

*2021-22 Budgets for Externally Funded Commissioned Services have been rebased due to additional

external funds received in year.

POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER BUDGET CHANGES

Page 105



  
 
  

 

  

84 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 106



 
  
  

 

  

 

85 

 

APPENDIX 3  
 

 
 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 

People really matter at South Wales Police (SWP). With a team of over 5,700 employees, and up 
to 300 volunteers, our people are our biggest asset and central to delivering our mission of 
keeping South Wales safe. Our people do incredible things every day and we are proud of the 
professionalism and positive contributions we make 24/7, all year round. Understanding and 
responding to the needs of our organisation and workforce will enable us to achieve our vision of 
being the best at understanding and responding to the needs of our communities. 
 
The changing and modern demands on policing are well publicised at both a national and local 
level. The challenge of meeting the increasing complexity, diversity and volume of demand is 
changing how police forces operate and strive to deliver the required levels of public service and 
delivery. Unprecedented financial pressures place further strain on this delivery model, as do 
specific workforce challenges.  
 

National Drivers for change Key SWP workforce challenges 

Evolving specialist capabilities Demographic profile 

Adaptive local policing  Developing a talented & representative workforce   

Value of for money Capability & leadership development 

Digital policing Safety, Health & Wellbeing 

Collaboration  

 
The People and Organisational Development Strategy (2021 - 24) aims to meet the changing 
demand and skills requirement of our future workforce, enable the Force to overcome key 
workforce challenges and become increasingly resilient and agile.  
 
1.1 Our challenges 

 
Demographic Profile 
South Wales Police is facing a demographic challenge.  At 31st March 2021, 52% of police officers 

were aged between 18 to 40yrs, 37% were aged between 41 and 50yrs and the remaining 11% 

were over 51 years old. Based on length of service, 90 officers could retire in 2021/22 and 167 

officers in 2022/23, which could include 2 Chief Superintendents, 12 Superintendents, 8 Chief 

Inspectors and 34 Inspectors. Ongoing uncertainty relating to Police pension arrangements mean 

this is a dynamic situation. 

 

The loss of experienced officers and the need to recruit additional officers to meet this shortfall 

will be significant, it will also mean a significant change to the shape of our demographic profile. 

By 2024 it is expected that 45% of our officers will have 10 years service or less. Such a shift in 

workforce make up does represent a significant challenge. However, at the same time, it creates 

People & Organisational 
Development Strategy 
 2021-2024  
Executive Summary  

Page 107



  
 
  

 

  

86 

 

 

new opportunities in how we retain and transfer knowledge of our existing staff, recruit and 

develop our future workforce. 

 
Workforce Design/ planning & resourcing  

 

A key challenge for the next 3 years  will be  how SWP attracts and selects high calibre recruits 
to replace experienced staff due to leave the organisation and how it  
 
 
resources additional officer positions that have been provisioned through the Police Uplift 
programme (PUP).  
 
Ensuring diverse talent entry routes into the organisation that are capable of attracting skills and 
experiences necessary will be critical to supporting a workforce mix that not only meets the 
capacity requirements but also the capability needs of the organisation.  
This is particularly relevant as to how we further understand and develop specialist capability 
requirement.  
 
Representative and Inclusive workforce  
 
Difference at all ranks and grades within our organisation, where people can be their true selves 
and are able to be the best they can be, will be critical to ensuring we provide the best possible 
care to our communities. 
 
Since the last CCDP 2018-21 we have made progress increasing gender diversity of our 
workforce in both staff and officer roles, with 61% of staff and 34% of officer establishment now 
being female. Improvements in LGBT (+1%) and Disability (+0.7%) representation can also be 
noted as can increases in BAME diversity (+0.59%) with 2.74% of all officer establishment 
identifying as either a Black, Asian or Minority ethnic.  
 
However more work clearly needs to be done and quickly. As a Force, we remain significantly 
underrepresented with regard to Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups. Compared to a 
community profile of c6%, existing BAME officers represent only 2.74% of force establishment, 
whilst the comparable number within Police staff is 1.78%.  Such challenges identify the need for 
wider and more innovative approaches to attraction/selection with increased focus and refinement 
to our recruitment and engagement. Our representation challenge however is not exclusively 
limited to the initial attraction stages. Currently there are no BAME officers above the rank of Chief 
Inspector within the Force. With regard to female officers, whilst South Wales performs higher 
than the national average for PCs, Chief Supts and Chief Officers, representation of female 
officers at the ranks of Inspector to Superintendent is behind the national average.   
 
The force recognises the benefits of a more representative  and inclusive workforce the need 
to continue to understand the reasons for current performance and to be creatively relentless in 
ensuring sustained improvements in workforce diversity and inclusion . 
 
Capability Development 
 
Operational delivery 
In addition to meeting external and internal recruitment challenges the Force will be required to 
improve its capacity and capability to upskill and develop new entrants. The challenges presented 
by the volume of recruits through the PUP alone together with continuing pressures, restrictions 
and disruption caused by COVID pandemic are significant and present opportunities to further 
revise and modernise our learning and development offering.  

Page 108



 
  
  

 

  

 

87 

 

 
Demands for new and diverse training solutions, high volume refresher and emerging operational 
training (e.g. Taser), coupled with stagnant budgets and pressures to continually limit levels of 
abstraction from the BCU’s increasingly place significant demands on learning and 
development products and services.  
 
Given the demographic profile there is also a clear need to ensure mechanisms are in place to 
capture and manage the transfer of knowledge from experienced officers so that ‘organisational 
insight and learning’ is captured and preserved.  
 
Ensuring that SWP continues to improve visibility of current capabilities and the emerging 
competency requirement is critical to ensuring the prioritisation of available resource and proving 
an ‘all-weather’ training facility that represents true value for money. 
 
Functional / organisational capability  
Building force resilience, through an adaptive, agile and innovative workforce will be key to 
meeting future demand. A recent skills audit identified organisational gaps relating to business 
and management competencies that SWP believe are critical toward supporting a progressive, 
value for money service. It is important that appropriate interventions are developed to support 
this capability need. 
 
Critical to further developing a progressive workforce and enabling change outlined in the CCDP 
will be the ability of our leaders to continue to inspire, motivate, and empower employees in 
decisions that impact upon what they do. The importance of developing a supportive leadership 
culture and the need to further empower the workforce was highlighted in our Engagement Survey 
2019. Developing leadership capability that is able to create and sustain a supportive, 
collaborative culture and high performing teams will be of critical importance.  
 
 
Safety, Health & Wellbeing 
 
Nobody should go to work and expect to be assaulted or seriously harmed as a consequence of 
undertaking their role. Whilst our performance on general health and safety is positive, we cannot 
be complacent and need to do more. Unfortunately, the rate of assaults on front line officers is 
increasing. Nationally in 2019/20 over 30,000 assaults on officers were recorded, over 10,000 of 
which resulted in injury. For South Wales police comparative data shows that 642 assaults were 
recorded in the same period, with 281 resulting in injury.  Our number one priority and commitment 
to our workforce is to create a safer workplace, where we learn from events, proactively reduce 
risk, injury and harm to colleagues and in so doing improve confidence of front line teams in 
undertaking a difficult and often hazardous role.  
 
In 2019/20, national Sickness Absence data ranked SWP police staff as 38th and officers as 28th 
out of all 43 forces in the UK.  This does represent an improvement on previous years and due to 
an increase in focus and support being afforded in this area. Mental health remains the highest 
cause for work related absences, with circa 37% of sickness absence is attributable to mental 
wellbeing.  
 
During 2020/21, 1,316 officers and staff were referred to the Occupational Health team, of which 
539 were referred because of psychological conditions and 777 physical conditions. Significant 
investments have been made in improving the wellbeing services, enhancing the speed and 
quality of services that can be accessed. A review of attendance management processes and 
support for line managers has also ensured an improvement and timeliness of supervisor support. 
 

Page 109



  
 
  

 

  

88 

 

 

However, attendance figures still represent an area for improvement and more needs to be done 
to support force resilience and the wellbeing of our teams. Every 1% absence represents an 
additional £2m cost per annum and an equivalent to 24.0 FTE Constable resources. The impact 
of absence remains significant upon individual colleagues and to operational and service delivery. 
 
As pension changes unfold and police officers will be required to work longer before being eligible 
to retire, the need for the Force to be increasingly proactive in how it promotes and supports a 
healthy workplace environment, where people are able to fully contribute, is significant.  
 
2.0 Our People & OD Strategy 
 
In order to achieve its Policing Strategy, South Wales Police strives for a workforce model and 
working environment which sustains the right people, doing the right things in the right way.   
 
Ensuring that our people are ready, willing and able to deliver the service and change required 
will be determined by our collective ability to define, develop and deploy robust people policy, 
processes and services that help create an organisational environment and workplace 
culture where staff can excel and be the very best they can be. 
 
Our people strategy aims to take a systematic approach to People Management and be aligned 
to key stages of the employment life cycle. 
 
 
Our Key Commitments & Deliverables 
 

 
 
Defining our skills 
 

 Define workforce competencies, identifying current and future requirements. 

 Develop Professional Development Profiles (PDP) that enable officers and staff to understand 

the competency requirements, training, skills and Continuous Professional Development 

(CPD) requirements of their rank/role and those they aspire toward. 

 Deploy accessible skills assessment tools to support to identification of individual and 

organisational capability gaps. 

 Design and deploy integrated Training Needs Analysis to inform prioritisation of force training 

plans. 

Page 110



 
  
  

 

  

 

89 

 

Recruiting our People 

 A refresh of the Representative Work Force strategy to facilitate accelerated attraction and 

recruitment of underrepresented groups and improve our organisational standing. 

 Develop and continue to diversify entry routes into policing including Detective fast track 

programme (DHEP) and Pre- Join programme. 

 Introduce an integrated range of career entry programmes for officers and staff including 

volunteering schemes, work placements, internships, apprenticeships and degree entry 

programmes.  

 Develop capability to support Police Uplift programme and develop a regional centre of 

resourcing excellence, extending collaboration opportunities to realise productivity and 

efficiency gains for participating organisations. 

 Revision of internal board processes to ensure reliability and validity of promotion 

assessments, supporting a strong internal leadership cadre. 

Developing our People 

 Embed 70:20:10 development model, promoting self development opportunities.  

 Support ambitions for more diverse entry routes through the provision of accompanying 
development programmes (Detective DHEP, Pre- join syllabus etc) 

 Develop new and/or existing development programmes aligned to apprentice frameworks for 
existing staff and officer training. 

 Design and deliver a bespoke EDI training programme that provides a segmented approach 

to organisational learning needs, raising awareness for all and developing expertise for 

subject matter experts and leaders.  

 Design and deliver development programme to support continuous improvement and 

organisational problem solving 

 Increasingly develop the scope and adoption of blended learning and knowledge retention 

tools and training solutions. 

 Realise opportunities to enhance value for money by developing strategic partnerships and 

collaborations 

Leading our People 

 Development of a spine of leadership programmes to support emerging leaders at different 

stages of their career 

 Define a tailored first line supervisor learning programme  

 

 Provision of leadership self-development portal – improving knowledge share and self-

directed learning 

 Define and develop a senior leadership pathway which is aligned to succession planning 

enabling early identification of potential senior leaders. 

 Develop standard objectives for appraisal process, supporting goals translation of Chief 

Constable Delivery plan and annual performance reviews  

 Develop and deploy talent identification model  

Engaging our People 

 Review current provision of Employee engagement / survey tools to ensure timely relevant 
and consistent mechanisms / tools that facilitate timely workforce feedback  

Page 111



  
 
  

 

  

90 

 

 

 Review and develop agile working policy, incorporating lessons from remote working during 
the Covid pandemic 

 Continue to review provision of attendance and case management processes to ensure timely 
engagement and support. 

 Develop and embed appropriate provisions that ensure mental health support and financial 
wellbeing services 

 Embed a Safety culture where we understand and limit risk through improved data provision, 
safety leadership and governance.  

 Further Develop our voluntary / flexible employee benefits offering  

 Continuation and development of non-financial recognition schemes 

 Continue to explore with partners, cost effective options to develop OH services and provision 
to support proactive well being measures  

 

Central to delivering the people agenda within SWP, will be the commitment to: 

1) Explore collaborative opportunities within other forces and through engaging  external 

partners  

 

2) Increasingly adopt technological solutions  

 
3) Drive sustainability and creating an ‘’all weather approach’, through improving the 

efficiency and effectiveness of our ‘people products’ and service providers 

 
4) Respond to market pressures surrounding the recruitment and retention of ICT 

professional and other technical support functions such as finance, legal services and 

procurement. The force has well developed paid interns process to attract graduate level 

candidates into a career in policing as well as introducing apprenticeships in a number of 

technical roles. 

 
  

Page 112



 
  
  

 

  

 

91 

 

APPENDIX 4 
YEAR 1 UPLIFT PRIORITISATION MATRICES 

 
 
 
  

Page 113



  
 
  

 

  

92 

 

 

APPENDIX 5 
YEAR 2 UPLIFT PRIORITISATION MATRICES 

 
 

  

Page 114



 
  
  

 

  

 

93 

 

APPENDIX 6  
 

Summary of the Police Revenue Funding Announcement / Forecasts 2021-2026 
 

 
  

2014/15 

£M

2015/16 

£M

2016/17  

£M

2017/18  

£M

2018/19 

£M

2019/20 

£M

2020/21 

£M

2021/22 

£M

2022/23 

£M

2023/24 

£M

2024/25 

£M

2025/26 

£M

Total Formula Funding:

Police Core Settlement 4,585 4312 4290 4233 4233 4333 4333 4333 4414 4441 4498 4498
of which Home Office Police Main Grant 4,407 4136 4112 4055 4055 4143 4143 4143 4218 4245 4302 4302

National, International and Capital City Grant (MPA/MoPC only) 176 174 174 174 174 185 185 185 190 190 190 190

City of London Capital City Grant + precept grant 2 3 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5

DCLG General Grant 2,926 2820 2802 2765 2765 2821 2821 2821 2787 2806 2845 2846
of which formula funding 2,924 2818 2800 2763 2763 2818 2818 2818 2784 2803 2842 2842

of which Ordnance Survey 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 4

WAG General Grant 140 135 137 139 139 143 143 143 113 113 113 113

Welsh Top -Up 14 23 63 63 63 63

National Police Co-ordination Centre 2 0 2.9 2.9 2.9 2.9 2.9 2.9

National IT Cost Recovery 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

CORE SETTLEMENT 7,653 7,267 7,229 7,138 7,138 7,298 7,315 7,324 7,381 7,427 7,523 7,524

UPLIFT GRANT BASELINED

Additional Uplift grant 519 676 676 676 676 676

Additional Uplift grant 315 315 315 315 315

Additional Uplift grant 2023 432 432 432 432

Additional Uplift grant 2024 54 54 54

Additional Uplift grant 2025 54 54

CORE SETTLEMENT plus uplift baselined 7,653 7,267 7,229 7,138 7,138 7,298 7,834 8,315 8,804 8,904 9,054 9,055

Total Home Office Specific Grants: 819 919 1,050 1,149 1,257 1,434 1,684 1,564 1,847 1,847 1,847 1,847

Comprising…. 

Welsh Top-up 13 13 9.9 5.9 3.7 4.1

Counter Terrorism Specific Grant 564 564 640 670 728 792 960 914 978.9 978.9 978.9 978.9

Top-ups NCA ROCU 56 56.8 4.9 33.2 33.2 33.2 33.2

SOC Strategy 90 140 146.3 0 0 0

PFI Grant 73 73 73 73 73 73 72.8 71.6 71.6 71.6 71.6 71.6

Police Innovation Fund 50 70 55 0 0 0 0 0 0

Independent Police Complaints Commission 18 30 32 0 0 0

College of Policing (for direct entry schemes) 3 5 5 0 0 0

HMIC for regular force inspections 9 9 9 0 0 0

Arms Length Bodies - HMIC- IPCC- COP + new OCD 54 63 63 82.9 75.7 68.7 68.7 68.7 68.7

Transformation Fund includes £32M CTSFO 76 175 175 175 0 0 0

Police Special Grant 15 25 50 93 73 80.9 54.8 62.4 62.4 62.4 62.4

Major Programmes 40 22 47 39 65 65 65 65

Forensics 29 26 26 25.6 25.6 25.6

Police Now 7 7 7 7 7 7

GLAA + Pre Charge Bail 17 17 4 2 2 0 0 0

Serious Violence Strategy 39 39 50 50.1 50.1 50.1

Police Uplift Programme 16.5 14.5 12 12 12 12

BlueLight Commercial 3.7 5 0 0 0

Safer Streets Fund 10 20 0 0 0

Counter Terrorism Specific Programmes 32.4 32.5 32.5 32.5 32.5 32.5

National Policing Capabilities 3.2 10.6 10.6 10.6 10.6

International Crime Co-ordination Centre 5 0 0 0 0

Police and CJS performance 13 13 13 13

Crime Reduction Programmes 45.8 45.8 45.8 45.8

Crime Reduction Capabilities 13.5 13.5 13.5 13.5

Rape Review 12 12 12 12

Drugs/county lines 30 30 30 30

Capital Reallocations 188.1 188.1 188.1 188.1

Fraud 23.1 23.1 23.1 23.1

Legacy Council Tax Freeze Grants 

of which legacy Council Tax - England 23 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31

of which legacy Council Tax (11/12) Freeze Grant 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59

of which legacy Council Tax (13/14) Freeze Grant 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7

of which legacy Council Tax (14/15) Freeze Grant 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

of which legacy Council Tax (15/16) Freeze Grant 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Total Government Funding 8,479 8,186 8,279 8,287 8,395 8,732 9,518 9,879 10,651 10,751 10,901 10,902

% cash change in Total Government Funding -3.3% -3.5% 1.1% 0.1% 1.3% 4.0% 9.0% 3.8% 4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 104.8%

Adjustments

Pensions Grant Treasury 143 142 142 142 142 142 142

UPLIFT FUNDING RING FENCED 168 100 135 135 135 135

Legacy Council Tax Grants DCLG 404 404 404 404 404 404 404 404 404 404 404

DCLG freeze grants MOPAC and City Of London Police 37 37 37 37 39 39 41 36 36 36 36

ESN Migration + Technology programmes 80 213 291 291 294 281 403 403 403 403

Airwave 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204

Central Government Funding including CT 8,479 8,831 9,004 9,145 9,331 9,813 10,770 11,051 11,975 12,075 12,225 12,226

NCA Baseline adjustment 14 14 28 28

CT (564) (640) (670) (728) (792) (960) (914) (979) (979) (979) (979)

Total Government funding Excl CT 8,281 8,378 8,503 8,631 9,021 9,810 10,137 10,996 11,096 11,246 11,247

FIGURES FROM HANSARD (EXCL CT) 8,271     8,378       8,497       8,631      9,021      9,810      10,138    10,996 11,096    11,246    11,246   

Page 115



  
 
  

 

  

94 

 

 

APPENDIX 7 
Funding Inequities Impacting on South Wales Police  
 
1. Formula Allocation, Floor Funding Mechanism 
Despite the inequities within the funding formula South Wales Police has been denied the 
full formula allocation for over a decade. The amount of formula funding denied now totals 
£111M. 
 
We remain extremely concerned that there is no progress on an alternative mechanism to 
address the floor funding deductions. South Wales Police is still contributing around £5.7M 
(£8.8M previously) annually towards the Floor Funding mechanism and is the 5th highest 
floor funding contributor. The analysis shows that there are clear disparities where a 
potential reallocation of grant funding from deprived areas to less deprived areas is taking 
place as a result of floor funding. 

 
The allocations would be different if a more sophisticated approach was taken. However, 
it would be far more preferable that additional funding is found to protect those forces 
below the floor until such time as the funding formula is properly reviewed. The denial of 

Page 116



 
  
  

 

  

 

95 

 

funding to date of £106M is a key factor in the infrastructure funding gap being 
experienced. The continued application of damping in this way makes a mockery of any 
funding mechanism. 
 

2 Funding Formula  
The 43 police forces across England and Wales are funded through a combination of 
Central Government Grants and Police Precept (which is decided locally). The 
Government determines a total sum of money for Central Grants and this is then 
distributed through the application of a needs-based formula. 

 
The current formula used for distributing the Home Office Police Main Grant divides funds 
between the different activities that the police undertake. These activities, or workloads, 
can be broken down into five key areas: Crime, Incidents (e.g. public disorder), Traffic 
(e.g. assistance at road traffic accidents), Fear of Crime (e.g. public reassurance), and 
Special Events (e.g. football matches). A portion of total funding is also distributed 
according to population sparsity, to address the specific needs of rural forces. 
 
South Wales Police is adversely affected by some specific issues within the current 
funding formula due to the following: 

 

 Area Cost Adjustment; 

 Capital Expenditure Funding; and 

 Lack of recognition of Cardiff as the Capital City of Wales for funding purposes. 
 

3 Area Cost Adjustment (ACA) 
The Area Cost Adjustment seeks to recognise the cost of delivering public services in 
different geographical parts of the country. However, its application to policing raises 
concerns on a number of grounds: 
 

 The police officer pay is nationally determined and except for specific issues around 
London this is consistent across the country; 

 Similarly, the police staff pay increases are determined nationally and are broadly 
similar except in cases of market forces and this could be argued more for London. 

 The remainder of non-pay expenditure (20%) is subject to a variety of procurement 
routes including national frameworks; and 

 Therefore, only a limited argument could be made for local variation. Yet the Area Cost 
Adjustment is applied to the whole of the Formula Allocation as the final reallocation 
adjustment.  

 The expansion of Area Cost Adjustment across the country is now significantly 
distorting the formula grant allocation and has expanded over a wider area over the 
last decade as shown above and the blue shading reflects the expansion from London 
to the South east and beyond. 
 

 

Page 117



  
 
  

 

  

96 

 

 

 
 

Whilst it is understandable to apply the ACA to a restricted area in the South East region 
this should be constrained to those elements of policing costs that are directly affected by 
geographic price variations. It is clear from the above that the ACA goes much wider than 
the South East of England. In addition, the Area Cost Adjustment ignores Wales as a 
country completely and yet the areas of South and North Wales are not dissimilar in 
economic terms to some of the areas where the ACA currently applies. 
 
It is important that with the planned review of the Funding Formula by the Home Office 
that every effort is made to seek long term redress of the issues detailed below. 

 
4 Capital Funding 

The continued reduction in capital funding reduces the capacity to address legacy issues 
of an obsolete estate and increases the risks on health and safety considerations. The 
current funding requirement to address property condition surveys exceeds available 
funding by a factor of 10.  
 
An alternative mechanism to address the capital estate funding is long overdue particularly 
as PFI funding has never been accessible to South Wales Police; the other three forces 
in Wales have approved PFI schemes and receive annual funding in support. South Wales 
Police does not. Whilst not seeking a PFI as a solution the equivalent funding in supported 
borrowing would allow us to address some acute critical infrastructure issues. 
 

5 Capital City  
It is a fact that whilst the present funding formula does make some provision for major 
events, this is only a nominal universal sum multiplied by a population factor. In essence 
the formula gives the same relative recognition per head of population to Norfolk as to 
South Wales Police, whereas the actual range and number of major events is significantly 
more diverse.  

 
It is important to recognise that the impact of policing Cardiff extends to the whole of the 
Force area given the flow of resources to address the number of Capital City related 
events. In a typical year South Wales Police manages around 500 events annually which 
is complete contrast to the likes of Norfolk or Wiltshire. 
 
Cardiff is unique because it is the largest urban conurbation in Wales with an infrastructure 
that is both conducive and attractive to both event attendees and organisers. However, 
this desirable circumstance requires a commensurate effective affordable policing strategy 
and whilst we are addressing this, it comes at the expense of the wider policing 
requirements across South Wales. 
 

The 
randomness of 
the blue areas 
that benefit from 
an area cost 
adjustment 
defies 
understanding 

Page 118



 
  
  

 

  

 

97 

 

 Cardiff has the highest number of licensed premises per square mile than any other 
city within the UK.  Pre-Covid approximately 50,000-70,000 people visit during the 
weekends and this night time economy inevitably has heavy policing demands. 

 

 Cardiff attracts 12 million visitors a year and is now in the top ten tourist destinations 
in the UK. Recent regeneration includes the £1.8 billion Bay development of Cardiff 
and the £102M development of the new Wales Millennium Centre, Wales’ most visited 
attraction.   
 

 In an average year the force will plan for between 400 and 500 events of varying scale 
in Cardiff alone. These range from the local to international with iconic events in iconic 
locations bringing added counter terrorism threats. 

 

 Cardiff as the seat of Welsh Government attracts increasing number of demonstrations 
against regional and national policy. 

 

 There is evidence that Cardiff is being used as a base for non-indigenous organised 
criminal groups with connections with groups in London, Bristol and Manchester. 
Cardiff is recognised as a main distribution centre for drugs gangs in South East 
Wales.  

 

 The Welsh Government’s vision for economic prosperity across some of Wales’ and 
the UK’s most deprived communities is dependent on a strong and sustainable 
Capital. The Wales Index of Multiple Deprivation 2005 placed a number of areas within 
Cardiff amongst Wales’ highest 10% most deprived category, notably parts of 
Butetown and Riverside. 

 
It is possible that some of these circumstances are arising across the country but we argue 
that the combination is unique and relates to the status of the city, which no generic 
funding formula is capable of addressing and just like Edinburgh and London requires a 
specific solution outside a formula. 
 
South Wales Police has responsibility for 42% of the Welsh population and 49% of the 
total crime in Wales. Cardiff has 30% of the population of the force area and our 
conservative estimate of the policing demands associated with the Capital City status has 
increased from £2.6M to £4.0M, due to increased national heightened threat from 
terrorism. 
 
It is important to note that the Policing Minister has recognised such issues in respect of 
City of London Police by providing extra top sliced funding and therefore it is time that 
Cardiff should now also be recognised as having a similar special status. 

  

Page 119



  
 
  

 

  

98 

 

 

APPENDIX 8 
SOUTH WALES POLICE REVENUE BUDGET 2022/26 

 

 
 
 
 

  

Base Budget

Forecast 

Budget

Forecast 

Budget

Forecast 

Budget

Forecast 

Budget

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

1.025 1.025 1.025

Employees

Police Officers 144,116 148,206 152,504 156,317 160,225

Police Officers - Uplift Programme 7,737 14,583 17,034 17,460 17,896

Police Staff 83,833 88,840 91,417 93,690 96,032

Police Staff - Uplift Programme 3,118 5,460 6,389 6,549 6,713

Police Community Support Officers 14,107 16,906 17,396 17,831 18,277

Police Pensions (net) 44,013 45,274 46,587 47,752 48,946

Total Employee Costs 296,924 319,270 331,327 339,598 348,088

Running Exps 1.025% 1.025% 1.020%

Non Pay to be split below

Indirect Staff 3,449 3,645 3,737 3,830 3,926

Premises Costs 11,893 12,571 12,885 14,007 15,357

Transport Costs 5,355 5,660 6,202 6,857 7,628

Supplies and Services 28,354 29,969 30,719 32,487 34,299

Agency and Contracted Services 19,387 20,492 21,004 21,529 22,567

PUP Running Costs 3,450 3,726 3,324 3,243

Total Running Expenses 68,437 75,787 78,271 82,033 87,020

72,337 78,682 80,649 82,665

Interest and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 3,534 3,534 3,534 3,534 3,534

Direct Revenue Financing (DRF) 13,840 15,856 15,856 15,856 15,856

Total Expenditure 382,735 414,447 428,989 441,021 454,498

Income

Specific Grants (31,884) (36,131) (36,131) (36,131) (36,131) 

Police Officer Uplift Grant Ring Fenced Grant (2,300) (3,100) (3,100) (3,100) (3,100) 

Specific Grants- WG PCSOs (6,901) (9,461) (9,461) (9,461) (9,461) 

Other Income (13,765) (14,863) (14,863) (14,863) (14,863) 

Total Income (54,850) (63,555) (63,555) (63,555) (63,555) 

327,886 350,892 365,434 377,466 390,943269,876 269,876 286,181 290,999 290,999

Grants and Precepts - Based on 

Police Grant (94,073) (99,640) (99,640) (99,640) (99,640) 

Rule 1 9,145 0 0 0 0

Home Office Police Grant (96,750) (111,518) (111,518) (111,518) (111,518) 

NNDR/RSG (75,989) (62,352) (62,352) (62,352) (62,352) 

(172,739) (173,870) (173,870) (173,870) (176,870) 

Uplift Grant  - Year 2 (10,890) (10,890) (10,890) (10,890) (10,890) 

Uplift Grant  - Year 3 (9,509) (11,584) (14,697) (14,697) 

Total External Support (183,629) (194,269) (196,344) (199,457) (202,457) 

(144,257) (152,099) (160,343) (169,033) (178,195) 

TOTAL RESOURCES (327,886) (346,368) (356,687) (368,490) (380,652) 

Annual Budget (Surplus) / Deficit 0 4,524 8,747 8,976 10,291

Value For Money Plan Savings Identified 0 (4,524) (4,617) (4,706) (4,771) 

Residual Budget Gap 0 (0) 4,130 4,270 5,520

TAXBASE 0.4% increase assumed beyond 2022/23. 501,378.47 503,455.63 505,469.45 507,491.33 509,521.30

BAND D PRECEPT AT 5.% (£14.39) plus 5% thereafter. 287.72 302.11 317.22 333.08 349.73

Precepts on Billing Authorities at 5% in 2022/23 and 5% onwards

Nominal Split

TOTAL NET REVENUE EXPENDITURErevised net revenue

Page 120



 
  
  

 

  

 

99 

 

APPENDIX 9 
 
 
 

 
REVENUE BUDGET 2022/23 

RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES 2021/22 to 2022/23 
 

 

 
  

Increases in Budget above 2021/22

Expenditure Band D Equivalent Tax 

Unavoidable Costs Net of External Funding as per settlement

£000 % £ %

Pay Inflation and Incremental Drift 22,345 6.8% 44.38 15.43%

Other Inflation 2,885 0.9% 5.73 1.99%

Base Budget Adjustments and Re-allocations 5,383 1.6% 10.69 3.72%

Specific Grant Allocations (18,247) (5.6)% (36.24) (12.60)%

Change in Budget Requirement 12,366 3.8% 24.56 8.54%

Budget Balance Actions

New Value For Money Plan Savings (4,524) (1.4)% (8.99) (3.12)%

Tax Base Increase (597) (0.2)% (1.19) (0.41)%

Balance of Funding from Police Precept Increase (7,245) (2.2)% (14.39) (5.00)%

Residual Balance 0.00

     
     
     

Page 121



  
 
  

 

  

100 

 

 

APPENDIX 10 
 

 
 
 
 

SOUTH WALES POLICE TOTAL

ANALYSIS OF REVENUE BUDGET CHANGES- 2021/22 to 2022/23 £'000 £'000 £'000

Pay & Pensions Inflation and Incremental Drift

Police Officers

Anticipated Pay Award impact  from Sept 22 3,859

Re-based establishment including Incremental drift/ rank structure 103

NI Increase (1.25%) 1,365

Uplift Posts 6,384

Other net changes in externally funded/ collaborative posts 60

Overheads & Allowances

Housing, Rent, CRTP & Allowances

Targeted Bonus Payments

Overtime Rebase: External Collaboration 166

Overtime Uplift 253

Overtime rebase: PSC to fund staff posts (117) 

Overtime Other (Inflation etc.) 123

Police Staff/ PCSO's

Anticipated Pay Award impact from Sept 22 and incremental drift 2,895

NI Increase (1.25%) 729

Uplift Staff Posts 2,481

WG PCSOs additional posts plus vacancy factor removal 2,261

Collaboration (DSD, WECTU, ROCU, Firearms JSIU) 639

PSC Posts (funded from Overtime reductions) 345

Additional Pay cost PCC 248

Additional Pay cost PCC- NOMS funded partnership budget 102

Changes in other Externally Funded Posts (Safety Camera Partnership. Air Quality Scheme etc) 430

Overtime Uplift 91

Overtime External/ Collaborative areas (72) 

Sub - Total Pay & Pensions Inflation and Incremental Drift 9,209                 13,136 22,345

Other Inflation

Inflation, Contracts & Utilities 3,053

Inflationary Increases on Income (168) 

Sub - Total Other Inflation 2,885 2,885

Base Budget Adjustments and Re-allocations

DRF Growth 22/23 1,750

Loss of Capital Grant 266

Vehicle Insurance & Maintenance 317

Forensic Collision Invetsigation 123

Net Base Budget Adjustments 434

NNDR adjustment PLC minus Bocam Park 257

Utilities rebase PLC minus Bocum Park 356

Police Upllift Programme                  1,100 

PCC NOMS to staff pay (102) 

WECTU (352) 

OPCC Core & Commissioned Serivices (grant funded) 1,301

External/ Collab Misc non pay/ income (67) 

Sub - Total Base Budget Adjustments and Re-allocations 1,100 4,283 5,383

Specific & General Grant

Misc Changes in Specific External Funding (2,990) 

Special Branch ring fenced grant (1,256) 

WG PCSOs (2,560) 

Police Uplift Ring-fenced Grant increase (800) 

Police Uplift Increase in Police Grant/RSG/NNDR (9,509) 

Police grant Special Branch topslice 1,256

Police Grant Capital Grant reduction (270) 

Police Grant/ RSG/ NNDR Inflationary increase (2,118) 

Sub - Total Specific & General Grant (10,309) (7,938) (18,247) 

Change in Tax Base (597) 

Total Standstill Budget Requirement 0 11,769

5% (£14.39) Precept Increase (7,245) 

Total Unfunded Expenditure to be addressed through VFM/Cuts 4,524

Page 122



 
  
  

 

  

 

101 

 

 
APPENDIX 11 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022/23 TO 2025/26 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DESCRIPTION

FORECAST 

OUTTURN 

2021/22

BUDGET 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

4 Year  

Programme

EXPENDITURE £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Infrastructure Maintenance / Renewal

Estates Essential & Legislative Works 1,889 2,146 1,600 1,500 1,500 6,746

Fleet 4,454 2,828 2,100 2,100 2,100 9,128

Information Services 4,018 2,101 2,101 2,101 1,601 7,904

Digital Services Division 4,523 11,061 3,242 3,779 6,212 24,294

Other 628 10 10 10 10 40

Sub total for Instrastructure  Maintenance / Renewal 15,512 18,146 9,053 9,490 11,423 48,112

One Off Projects

Estates 22,167 7,446 19,260 16,917 0 43,623

(Less Partner Contributions) (1,120) (6,726) (7,234) 0 (15,079)

Information Services 1,326 3,545 420 360 0 4,325

Sub total for One Off Projects 23,493 9,871 12,954 10,043 0 32,869

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 39,005 28,017 22,007 19,533 11,423 80,981

FUNDED BY

Home Office Capital Grant 266 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Contributions 9,148 15,856 15,856 15,856 15,856 63,424

Use of Capital Reserves 5,304 6,716 360 360 0 7,436

External Grants / Other Contributions 1,193 325 574 0 0 899

Capital Receipts 1,000 800 800 800 7,000 9,400

Total Funding in Year 16,911 23,697 17,590 17,016 22,856 81,159

TOTAL CAPITAL BORROWING REQUIREMENT 22,094 4,320 4,417 2,695 (11,255) 178

USE OF INTERNAL BORROWING 0 4,320 4,417 2,695 (11,255) 178

Page 123



  
 
  

 

  

102 

 

 

 
APPENDIX 12 

 
VALUE FOR MONEY PLAN 2022-26 

 
 
 

 
 
 

General 

Election CSR2016

General 

Election

General 

Election

Brexit 

Transition

General 

Election

One Year 

Settlement

Local 

Elections

Two Year 

Settlement

One Year 

Settlement

One Year 

Settlement

Spending 

Review 21

Efficiency Project Name

 2010/11 to 

2014/15 

Target 

 2015/16 

Target 

 2016/17 

Target 

 2017/18 

Target 

 2018/19 

Target 

 2019/20 

Target 

 2020/21 

Target 

 2021/22 

Target 

 Total to 

Date 

 2022/23 

Target 

 2023/24 

Target 

 2024/25 

Target 

 2025/26 

Target 

 Total To 

Date 

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'001  £'000  £'000 

Value For Money Targets        31,909          7,477           5,370           3,062           3,402           7,169                 -                   -           58,389           4,524           8,747           8,976         10,291        90,927 

Police Officer Numbers        12,442                 -                  50           2,769         15,261        15,261 

Police Staff Numbers        11,127          1,108           3,539           1,000           1,000              630         18,404        18,404 

PCSO Numbers          1,679          2,000              618           4,297          4,297 

Generic Establishment 

Vacancy Factor
                -             2,000           2,000           2,000           2,000          8,000 

Terms and Conditions + 

Transformation+ oncosts
         1,659             420              489           2,568              792              792              792              792          5,736 

Collaboration                -               359              131              536                 -             1,026          1,026 

Goods and Services          2,952          1,640           1,342           1,009              842              250           8,035          8,035 

Transport          1,000             250              202                70           1,522          1,522 

Estate             800             200              159              316              270           1,745              412              505              594              659          3,915 

Other                 -                955              955              955              955          3,820 

Capital Programme                -            1,000           1,000          1,000 

Income             250             500              561                40              525           1,876              365              365              365              365          3,336 

Value For Money Delivery        31,909          7,477           5,370           3,062           3,402           4,514                 -                   -           55,734           4,524           4,617           4,706           4,771        74,352 

CUMULATIVE DEFICIT                -                   -                   -                   -             2,655                 -                   -             2,655 -                0           4,130           4,270           5,520 

General 

Election CSR2016

General 

Election

General 

Election

Brexit 

Transition

General 

Election

One Year 

Settlement

Local 

Elections

Two Year 

Settlement

One Year 

Settlement

One Year 

Settlement

Spending 

Review 21

Efficiency Project Name

 2010/11 to 

2014/15 

Target 

 2015/16 

Target 

 2016/17 

Target 

 2017/18 

Target 

 2018/19 

Target 

 2019/20 

Target 

 2020/21 

Target 

 2021/22 

Target 

 Total to 

Date 

 2022/23 

Target 

 2023/24 

Target 

 2024/25 

Target 

 2025/26 

Target 

 Total To 

Date 

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'001  £'000  £'000 

Value For Money Targets        31,909          7,477           5,370           3,062           3,402           7,169                 -                   -           58,389           4,524           8,747           8,976         10,291        90,927 

Police Officer Numbers        12,442                 -                  50           2,769         15,261        15,261 

Police Staff Numbers        11,127          1,108           3,539           1,000           1,000              630         18,404        18,404 

PCSO Numbers          1,679          2,000              618           4,297          4,297 

Generic Establishment 

Vacancy Factor
                -             2,000           2,000           2,000           2,000          8,000 

Terms and Conditions + 

Transformation+ oncosts
         1,659             420              489           2,568              792              792              792              792          5,736 

Collaboration                -               359              131              536                 -             1,026          1,026 

Goods and Services          2,952          1,640           1,342           1,009              842              250           8,035          8,035 

Transport          1,000             250              202                70           1,522          1,522 

Estate             800             200              159              316              270           1,745              412              505              594              659          3,915 

Other                 -                955              955              955              955          3,820 

Capital Programme                -            1,000           1,000          1,000 

Income             250             500              561                40              525           1,876              365              365              365              365          3,336 

Value For Money Delivery        31,909          7,477           5,370           3,062           3,402           4,514                 -                   -           55,734           4,524           4,617           4,706           4,771        74,352 

CUMULATIVE DEFICIT                -                   -                   -                   -             2,655                 -                   -             2,655 -                0           4,130           4,270           5,520 

Page 124



  
  
  
 

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

103 

 

 

 

SOUTH WALES POLICE APPENDIX 13
2022/23 BUDGET

ESTABLISHMENT MOVEMENTS FTE

VFM 

Plan 

Cuts

SWP 

Funded 

Projected Uplift

External 

Funded

Total 

Funded 

Police Officer Establishment FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

2008/09 3,244 90 3,334

2009/10 (185) 3,059 102 3,161

2010/11 (38) 3,021 123 3,144

Post Comprehensive Spending Review

2011/12 (114) 2,907 137 3,044

2012/13 (62) 2,845 102 2,947

2013/14 (30) 2,815 97 2,912

2014/15 (15) 2,800 109 2,909

2015/16 -         2,800 118 2,918

2016/17 -         2,800 137 2,937

2017/18 44          2,844 139 2,983

2018/19 52          2,896 154 3,050

2019/20 (35) 2,861 154 3,015

2020/21 2,861 136 151 3,148

2021/22 2,861 269 147 3,277

2022/23 2,841 452 168 3,461

2023/24 - Forecast 2,841 452 168 3,461

2024/25 - Forecast 2,841 452 168 3,461
2025/26 - Forecast 2,841 452 168 3,461

(383)

Total Police Officers Funded Establishment in 2022/23 2,841 452 168 3,461

Police Community Support Officers

VFM 

Plan 

Cuts

SWP 

Funded 

Projected Uplift

Welsh Gov 

Funded

Total 

Funded 

2008/09 325 0 325

2009/10 325 0 325

2010/11 325 0 325

Post Comprehensive Spending Review 0

2011/12 (25) 300 0 300

2012/13 phased Welsh Gov PCSO -         300 206 506

2013/14 -         300 206 506

2014/15 (100) 200 206 406

2015/16 -         200 206 406

2016/17 -         200 206 406

2017/18 -         200 206 406

2018/19 -         200 206 406

2019/20 -        200 206 406

2020/21 -        200 206 406

2021/22 -        200 206 406

2022/23 -         204 247 451

2023/24 - Forecast -        204 247 451

2023/24 - Forecast -        204 247 451
2025/26 - Forecast -        204 247 451

(125)

Total PCSO Funded Establishment 2022/23 204 0 247 451

Police Staff Establishment

VFM 

Plan 

Cuts

WFT/ 

CDO/ 

Other 

Adj

SWP 

Funded 

Projected Uplift

External 

Funded

Total 

Funded 

2008/09 1,789 1,789

2009/10 270 2,059 2,059

2010/11 (131) 69 1,997 1,997

Post Comprehensive Spending Review

2011/12 (167) 1,830 1,830

2012/13 (125) 2 1,707 1,707

2013/14 (60) 13 1,660 1,660

2014/15* 41 (130) 1,571 154 1,725

2015/16 (100) 112 1,583 186 1,769

2016/17 (21) 4 1,566 180 1,746

2017/18 0 67 1,633 222 1,855

2018/19 0 1,662 236 1,898

2019/20 (12) 64 1,714 341 2,055

2020/21 1,754 349 2,103

2021/22 1,762 90 357 2,209

2022/23 1,799 150 387 2,336

2024/25 - Forecast 1,799 150 387 2,336

2023/24 - Forecast 1,799 150 387 2,336

2024/25 - Forecast 1,799 150 387 2,336
(575)

Police Staff Establishment  2022/23 1,799 150 387 2,336

* External funded disaggregated

TOTAL VFM PLAN CUTS (1,083)

TOTAL FUNDED  ESTABLISHMENT 2022/23 4,844 602 802 6,248

Page 125



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

104 

 

 

  

APPENDIX 14

SOUTH WALES POLICE

REVENUE BUDGET 2022/23

A BUDGET AND COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT £

14.39£

1 or

5.00%

TOTAL BUDGET 409,923,010

LESS: Specific Grants/Income 63,554,788

BUDGET REQUIREMENT 346,368,222

LESS:   Revenue Support Grant 61,871,199

             NNDR 480,318

             Police Specific Grant 131,917,723

             Sub Total for Core Grant Funding 194,269,240

SOUTH WALES POLICE PRECEPT REQUIREMENT 152,098,982

B SWP ELEMENT OF COUNCIL TAX BY PROPERTY

Proportion of 

Band D

C

o

u

n

c

i Council Tax      £

Band A 6/9 201.4100

Band B 7/9 234.9700

Band C 8/9 268.5400

Band D 9/9 302.1100

Band E 11/9 369.2500

Band F 13/9 436.3800

Band G 15/9 503.5200

Band H 18/9 604.2200

Band I 21/9 704.9200

C PRECEPTS ON UNITARY AUTHORITIES

No. of 

Band D 

Equivalent 

Properties

S

W

P    

P

r

e

 SWP    Precept          

£

Cardiff Council 149,107.00 45,046,716.000

Swansea Council 93,114.00 28,130,671.000

Bridgend County Borough 54,568.51 16,485,693.000

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 18,587.44 5,615,451.000

Neath Port Talbot Council 48,393.68 14,620,215.000

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 77,707.00 23,476,062.000

Vale of Glamorgan Council 61,978.00 18,724,174.000

503,455.63 152,098,982

Page 126



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

105 

 

 
 
 

APPENDIX 15 
 

OVERVIEW OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK WITHIN SOUTH WALES POLICE 
 
1.0 The Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
 The Police and Crime Commissioner has a statutory duty and electoral mandate to ensure 

an efficient and effective police service and to hold the Chief Constable to account on 
behalf of the public with respect to delivery of policing service. 

 
The Commissioner has a strategic role in leading and developing partnership working with 
local government and other key partners such as health and the voluntary sector and has 
demonstrated this commitment through a series of consultations with partners to date.   

 
The Commissioner is the recipient of funding relating to policing and crime reduction, 
including government grant and precept and other sources of income.  How this money is 
allocated is a matter for the Commissioner in consultation with the Chief Constable, or in 
accordance with any grant terms.  The statutory officers of the Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable will provide professional advice and recommendations. 

 
2.0 The Chief Constable 
 
 The Chief Constable is responsible for maintaining the Queen’s Peace and has direction 

and control over the force’s officers and staff.  The Chief Constable holds office under the 
Crown, but is appointed by the Police and Crime Commissioner.  The Chief Constable is 
accountable to the law for the exercise of police powers, and to the Commissioner for the 
delivery of efficient and effective policing, management of resources and expenditure by 
the police force.  At all times the Chief Constable, his officers and staff, remain 
operationally independent in the service of the public. The Commissioner’s Oath of Office 
includes an undertaking to protect the independence of police officers.   

 
3.0 The Police and Crime Panel   
 
 The Police and Crime Panel consists of ten local councillors representing the seven local 

authorities in South Wales and two co-opted independent members.  The Panel meets 
quarterly with the remit to hold the Commissioner to account for: 

 

 The implementation of the priorities within the Police and Crime Plan; 

 The relevance and content of the Plan. 
 

The Panel also has the remit to scrutinise the Commissioner’s precept proposal and the 
appointment of a Chief Constable. The Panel has powers to veto the precept proposal 
and require the Commissioner to make an alternative proposal.  The Panel can veto the 
appointment of a Chief Constable and require the Commissioner to propose a reserve 
candidate.  The Commissioner was supported by the Panel in appointing Matt Jukes QPM 
as Chief Constable from January 2018 onwards.   

  

Page 127



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

106 

 

 

4.0 The Chief Finance Officers to the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief 
Constable 

 
 Both the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable are each required to 

appoint a person to be responsible for the proper administration of their financial affairs.  
Each Chief Finance Officer has a personal fiduciary duty by virtue of their appointment as 
the person responsible for proper financial administration under the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011 and the Local Government Finance Act 1988.  This includes 
requirements and formal powers to safeguard lawfulness and propriety in expenditure. 
Throughout this document the ‘Chief Financial Officer’ to the Commissioner is referred to 
as the ‘Treasurer’ for the sake of clarity.  

 
5.0 The Chief Executive (Chief of Staff) to the Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
 The Police and Crime Commissioner is required to appoint a Chief Executive.  The Chief 

Executive is designated as Monitoring Officer for the purposes of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 with responsibility for ensuring the legality of the actions of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and his staff and acts as the ‘proper officer’ for the 
recording of all decisions made by the Police and Crime Commissioner.  In South Wales 
the appointed officer is referred to as the Commissioner’s Chief of Staff.   

 
6.0 Manual of Corporate Governance 
 

The corporate governance framework within which both corporations sole will govern, both 
jointly and separately consists of: 
 

 Code of corporate governance – statutory framework which sets out how the core 
principles will be implemented. 

 Manual of Corporate Governance – defines the parameters within which the 
corporations sole will conduct their business. This includes delegations/consents from 
the Commissioner, financial regulations and standing orders relating to contracts. 

 Separate policy and procedures for each corporations sole, with protocols where they 
operate jointly. 

 

 
 

7.0 Commissioner’s Strategic Board 
 
 The Commissioner’s Strategic Board is the key vehicle to co-ordinate the activities of both 

corporations sole.  The Board is attended by both the Commissioner’s and Chief 

 

CODE OF  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

SCHEME OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

POLICIES & PROCEDURES 
COMMISSIONER  

DECISION MAKING AND 
ACCOUNTABILITY 

FRAMEWORK   

POLICIES & PROCEDURES  
 CHIEF CONSTABLE   

 

Page 128



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

107 

 

Constable’s management teams.  The purpose of the Board is to ensure a strategic 
approach to the development and delivery of the Police and Crime Plan and to other areas 
of strategic importance. 

 
8.0 Chief Constable’s Gold Group 
  

This holds Chief Officers to account on the delivery of the operational plan 
The overall governance framework and links to delivery boards is shown below: 

 

 
 

 
9.0 Annual Governance Statement 
 
 The Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable are each required to 

produce and sign an Annual Governance Statement.  Each Statement is a key document 
which describes the governance arrangements, reviews their effectiveness and highlights 
significant governance issues.  The Statements follow the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework 
“Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” and are published as part of the 
Statement(s) of Accounts. 

 
10.0 Joint Audit Committee 
 
 The Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable have established a Joint 

Audit Committee.  The Committee comprises five members who are independent of both 
the Commissioner and the Force.  The Committee considers internal and external audit 
reports.  The Committee advises the Commissioner and Chief Constable according to 
good governance principles and reviews the appropriateness of risk management 
arrangements in accordance with proper practices and the provisions of the Financial 
Management Code of Practice. 

 
 
11.0 Internal Audit    
 Both the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable are required to maintain 

an effective internal audit of their affairs.  In addition to the statutory requirement, Internal 
Audit is needed: 

Page 129



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

108 

 

 

 

 To satisfy the Commissioner and the Chief Constable that effective internal control 
systems are in place; and 

 To satisfy the external auditor that financial systems and internal controls are effective 
and that the Police Fund is managed so as to secure Value for Money. 

 
Internal audit services are provided jointly to the Commissioner and Chief Constable 
currently by TIAA who attend and report their finds to the Joint Audit Committee. 
 

12.0 External Audit 
 
 The Auditor General for Wales is responsible for the appointment of external auditors.  

Audit Wales (formerly the Wales Audit Office) are the appointed auditors for the Police 
and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable.  The external auditor must satisfy 
themselves that: 

 The annual accounting statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations; 

 They comply with all relevant regulations; 

 Proper practices have been observed when the accounts were compiled; and 

 The audited body has made proper arrangements to secure effectiveness, 
efficiency and economy in use of resources. 

 
Audit Wales attend and report to the Joint Audit Committee, In addition it provides statutory 
review of the governance arrangement. The 2020/21 Annual Audit Letter is shown at 
Appendix 17. 

 
13.0 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies (and Fire and Rescue Services for 

England). 
 

HMIC assess police forces and policing, are appointed by the Crown and report to 
Parliament on the efficiency and effectiveness of police forces in England and Wales.  
HMIC have powers to seek information from police forces and to access their premises, 
they can decide on the depth, frequency and areas to inspect based on their assessment 
of risk to the public. The annual inspection programme is subject to the approval of the 
Home Secretary in accordance with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  
The Police and Crime Commissioner has to provide a response to any Inspectorate report 
to the Home Secretary. 
 
The HMIC has conducted a number of Value for Money inspections over the last three 
years and has commented favorably on the Medium Term Financial Strategy and the 
approach taken to meet the austerity cuts. 
 
During 2013, The Chief Inspector of Constabulary attended a meeting with the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable following a presentation on the use of technology. 
He confirmed that South Wales Police were in his opinion the leading force in the use of 
technology in the operational environment. The Financial Strategy reflects a continuation 
of investment in this area under the stewardship of the Digital Services Department (DSD) 

  

Page 130



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

109 

 

 
APPENDIX 16 

ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 2020/21 FROM AUDIT WALES 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 131



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

110 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 132



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

111 

 

 
 

  

Page 133



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

112 

 

 

PART B   
 

Capital Strategy 
Including Prudential Indicators 

 
 

2022/23 – 2025/26 
 
 

December 2021 
 
 

   
 
  

Page 134



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

113 

 

OVERVIEW OF CAPITAL STRATEGY 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
The Prudential Code for Capital Financing in Local Authorities (2017) placed a requirement on 
the Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales (the Commissioner), in consultation with the 
Chief Constable, to determine a Capital Strategy which demonstrates that capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are taken in line with service objectives and properly takes account of 
stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability. The  Capital Strategy 
needs to set out the long-term context in which capital expenditure and investment decisions are 
made and gives due consideration to both risk and reward and impact on the achievement of 
priority outcomes.  
 
 

1.1 AIMS AND PRINCIPLES 
 
The Capital Strategy is presented to the Police and Crime Panel as a Policy Framework 
document, and links the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2022/2026 and the Treasury 
Management Strategy (TMS) 2022/23. It sets out: 
 

 what is capital expenditure/investment and why we incur it; 

 the overall capital objectives, priorities and plans; 

 how the capital expenditure/investment will be funded/resourced 

 how the capital expenditure/investment plans will be appraised; 

 how capital plans will be approved, monitored and reported upon; and 

 the skills and knowledge required to deliver the capital plans. 
 

The Capital Strategy should be read in conjunction with the TMS 2022/23 which covers the 
Commissioner’s Investment Strategy and Borrowing Strategy and the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) policy which is attached as Schedule A to this document. The Commissioner’s 
borrowing and MRP policy are directly impacted by capital plans. 
 
The Capital Programme Budget 2022/23 and Forecast to 2025/26 is a key element of the MTFS. 
The MTFS sets out key objectives for the three main components of the infrastructure being:- 
 

 Transport – Fit for purpose vehicles that address operational requirements in terms 
of availability and function; 

 Technology – Technology platform that facilitates agile/mobile working with 
information and intelligence systems delivered to the point of need; and 

 Estate – A safe, warm and dry operating environment that is conducive to wellbeing 
goals and effective policing. 

 
  

Page 135



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

114 

 

 

 
The Capital Strategy sets out a number of guiding principles on the following: 
 

PRINCIPLE 1 : Focus capital investment on delivery of the  
                           Objectives and Priorities of South Wales Police 

 Ensuring that capital investment plans are driven by the Chief Constable’s Delivery 
Plan 

 Ensuring decision-makers are clear on the positive contribution capital investment 
makes to these objectives and priorities 

 Ensure a corporate business planning process incorporating service transformation 
and the impact on property assets 

PRINCIPLE 2 : Ensure strong governance over decision-making 

 Ensuring that proposals demonstrate that a rigorous process of options appraisal 
has been followed, requiring evidence of need, cost, risk, outcomes and methods of 
financing 

 Schemes will only be added once an affordable business plan is in place and it 
demonstrates value for money 

 All major capital schemes have a lead Project Sponsor and follow project 
management principles 

 The approval process contained in the Manual of Corporate Governance (Schedule 
B) are strictly adhered to 

PRINCIPLE 3 : Ensure capital plans are affordable, sustainable and prudent 

 Promote capital investment which allows invest to save outcomes and which 
contribute to future MTFS savings 

 Make sure assets perform at an optimal level through effective ongoing asset 
management and consistent with levels of investment 

 Review and challenge assets, including the need, cost and performance of the 
estate 

PRINCIPLE 4 : Maximise and promote the best use of available funds 

 Bidding for external grants where possible and ensuring that there are effective 
working relationships with external funders 

 Have clear policies for the consumption of our reserves  

 Ensuring that there is effective pre and post project appraisal 

 Ensuring up to date property information relating to condition surveys, life cycle costs 
and maintenance back logs 

 
 

1.2 PRUDENTIAL CODE – KEY OBJECTIVES 
 

The objective of the Prudential Code is to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital 
expenditure plans are :- 
 

 AFFORDABLE – total capital investment remains within sustainable limits. The 
Commissioner is required to consider the resources currently available to it and those 
estimated to be available in the future, together with the totality of its capital plans and 
income and expenditure forecasts in assessing affordability. 

 PRUDENT – an authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt is set. These 
need to be consistent with the plans for affordable capital expenditure and financing and 

Page 136



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

115 

 

with its Treasury Management Strategy and practices. There should be a balance between 
security, liquidity and yield. 

 SUSTAINABLE – taking into account the arrangements for the repayment of debt through 
the Minimum Revenue Provision and consideration of risk and how these will be managed 
to levels that are acceptable to the Commissioner. 

  
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENT 
 

2.0 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 

Capital investment is technically described as: 
 
 “Expenditure on the acquisition, creation, or enhancement of ‘long term assets’”  
 
This generally consists of land, property and plant which have a useful life of more than 1 
year, but can also include funding passed on to other bodies in order for them to undertake 
capital works. Expenditure outside this definition will be, by definition, revenue expenditure.  
 
Expenditure can be capitalised where it relates to the:- 
 

 Acquisition, reclamation, enhancement or laying out of land. 

 Acquisition, construction, preparation, enhancement or replacement of 
roads, buildings and other structures. 

 Acquisition, installation or replacement of movable or immovable plant, 
machinery, apparatus vehicles or vessels. 
 

Enhancement of an existing fixed asset means:- 
 

 To lengthen the useful life of the asset; or 

 To increase substantially the open market value of the asset; or 

 To increase substantially the extent to which the asset can be used for the purposes 
of, or in connection with, the functions of the Commissioner. 

 

Within the Accounting Policies for the Commissioner, expenditure on the acquisition, creation or 
enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided 
that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item 
will flow to the Commissioner and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure 
that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits or 
service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred. 

All expenditure on Property, Plant and Equipment is recognised irrespective of value.  However, 
some Capital expenditure is considered non-enhancing and is immediately impaired. 

In 2022/23, the Commissioner is planning capital expenditure of £28 million as summarised 

below: 

Table 1: Prudential Indicator 1: Estimates of Capital Expenditure  

 

Page 137



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

116 

 

 

 
 

2.1 CAPITAL FINANCING 
 
All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (grants and other 
contributions), the Commissioner’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or net 
financing requirement (borrowing and leasing). The planned financing of the expenditure outlined 
in Table 1 is as follows: 
 

Table 2: Capital financing 

 

 
 

The net financing requirement or ‘debt’ is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and 
leases must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from 
revenue which is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). MRP charges are detailed in 
table 3 below: 
 

Table 3: MRP Charges 

 

 

The Commissioner’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and 
reduces by the MRP amount within the year. The CFR is expected to increase by £2.083 million 
during 2022/23. Based on the above figures for expenditure and financing, the estimated CFR is 
as follows: 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator 2: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 

 

2020-21 Actual
2021-22 

Projection
2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

£m £m Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Transport 3.393 4.454 2.828 2.100 2.100 2.100

Technology 5.704 10.495 16.717 5.773 6.250 7.823

Estates 22.146 23.982 8.472 14.134 11.183 1.500

TOTAL 31.243 38.931 28.017 22.007 19.533 11.423

2020-21 Actual
2021-22 

Projection
2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

£m £m Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

External sources 0.266 0.266 0.325 0.574 0.000 0.000

Own resources                   16.691 16.645 23.372 17.016 17.016 11.423

Net Financing Requirement 14.286 22.020 4.320 4.417 2.517 0.000

TOTAL 31.243 38.931 28.017 22.007 19.533 11.423

2020-21 Actual
2021-22 

Projection
2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

£m £m Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 1.662 1.662 2.070 2.022 2.028 1.986 

Additional Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP) 0.575 0.575 0.167 0.215 0.209 0.251 

Total MRP & VRP 2.237 2.237 2.237 2.237 2.237 2.237 

Page 138



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

117 

 

 
 
 
 
The diagram below shows the impact of capital expenditure, financing and MRP on the CFR:- 

 
 Capital Expenditure      – increases the CFR 

 Sources of Finance     – decreases the CFR 

 MRP < Capital Expenditure funded from Borrowing – the net CFR increases 

 MRP = Capital Expenditure funded from Borrowing – the net CFR stays the same 

 MRP > Capital Expenditure funded from Borrowing – the net CFR decreases  
 
THE COMMISSIONER’S CAPITAL PLANS 
 
 

3.0 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022/23  
The Capital Strategy is important because :- 

 It promotes the most effective use of capital resources by ensuring that the capital 
investment programme is closely aligned to these key priorities; and 

2020-21 Actual
2021-22 

Projection
2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

£m £m Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Opening Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 10.895 22.944 42.727 44.809 46.989 47.269 

Movement in Year

Capital Expenditure 31.243 38.931 28.017 22.007 19.533 11.423 

Sources of Financing (16.957) (16.911) (23.697) (17.590) (17.016) (11.423)

Minimum Revenue Provision (1.662) (1.662) (2.070) (2.022) (2.028) (1.986)

Voluntary Revenue Provision (0.575) (0.575) (0.167) (0.215) (0.209) (0.251)

Total Movement in Year 12.049 19.783 2.083 2.180 0.280 (2.237)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 22.944 42.727 44.809 46.989 47.269 45.032 

Movement in CFR represented by :-

Net Financing Requirement (Table 2 Above) 14.286 22.020 4.320 4.417 2.517 0.000 

Total Movement in Year 12.049 19.783 2.083 2.180 0.280 (2.237)

(2.237) (2.237)MRP (table 3 above) (2.237)(2.237) (2.237) (2.237)

Grants & Contributions

Capital Receipts

Revenue Contributions

Reserves

Gap is the

element

funded by

borrowing

C
ap

it
al

 F
in

an
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t

(C
F

R
)

Ca
pi

ta
lE

xp
en

di
tu

re

So
ur

ce
s o

f 
Fu

nd
in

g

M
RP

M
RP

M
RP

Page 139



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

118 

 

 

 Its assessment by HMICFRS and External Audit contributes to both the financial and 
operational management of the police service. 
 

In accordance with PRINCIPLE 1 above, the majority of schemes within the existing Capital 
Programme link to the Commissioner’s Objectives and Priorities within the Police and Crime Plan 
:- 

 Reduce and Prevent Crime and Anti-social Behaviour to Keep People Safe and Confident 
in their Homes and Communities; 

 Involve and Empower our Communities, working with Partners in Local Government, 
Health, Fire and Welsh Government to Deliver Services that People Need; 

 Work to Protect the Most Vulnerable in Our Communities, Understanding Causes and 
Taking Prompt Positive Action as Issues Arise; 

 Work to Make the Local Criminal Justice System Efficient and Effective to Meet the Needs 
of Victims and Reduce Re-offending; 

 Make Wider Contribution to Policing through the Strategic Policing Requirement including 
Successfully Policing Major Events; and 

 Spend Money Wisely and Support People to Provide the Best Possible Policing in the 
Community. 

 
3.1 OTHER KEY DRIVERS 

 
As well as the Police and Crime Plan, there are other key drivers of the Commissioner’s capital 
plans. These are: 
 

 Estates Strategy 2018/28 

 Health and Safety Assessments 

 Condition Surveys 

 Asset Management Plan 
 
3.2  STRATEGIC ESTATE OBJECTIVES   

The development of the Estate Strategy and the estate realignment proposed to deliver the 
required Core Operational and Community footprints will be based upon the following Strategic 
Objectives:  
SO1:  Maintaining a strong, visible and local presence  
SO2:  Supporting our Specialist Capabilities to be high performing and highly effective  
SO3: Ensuring safer detention and the handling of persons in police custody   
SO4:  Providing high quality training facilities to enable us to attract, nurture and retain our officers 
and staff  
SO5:  Creating an inspirational and efficient office environment that supports good service 
performance and provides safe and secure facilities  
In delivering the above we will:  
SO6:  Support the wellbeing of our workforce and our communities  
SO7:  Maximise the utilisation of core retained freehold estate so that it acts as a catalyst for wider 
estate re-alignment  
SO8:  Collaboration with partners to share facilities, integrate services and reduce costs wherever 
practically possible  
SO9:  Ensure safe, legislatively compliant and accessible accommodation that satisfies the 
demands of a diverse operational policing requirement 
 

3.3  HEALTH AND SAFETY WORKS 

Page 140



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

119 

 

The police estate comprises a broad range of specialised facilities, such as custody, forensic 
sciences, fire arms and public contact centres, to open plan administration and shared front-line 
accommodation. The buildings and sites vary in age, quality, condition and cost. Many of our 
properties are still in a poor state inflexible not fit for purpose and some are uneconomic for repair.  
Within the Capital Programme, there is an allocation of £1.85 million for the 2022/23, £1.6 million 
2023/24 and £1.5 million 2024/25 and 2025/26 to finance a prioritised list of health and safety 
works on buildings within the estate’s portfolio. This will be monitored by the Capital Programme 
Board. 
 

3.4 COMMERCIALISATION POLICY 
 
The Commissioner does not hold any investment properties whereby the objective is primarily to 
generate capital or revenue resources.   
 
 

3.5 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY (TMS) 
 

 Treasury Management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash available to 
meet the Force’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved. Surplus cash is invested 
until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by borrowing, to avoid excessive credit 
balances or overdrafts in the bank current account. The Commissioner is typically cash rich in the 
short term as revenue income is received before it is spent, but cash poor in the long term as 
capital expenditure is incurred before being financed. The revenue cash surpluses are offset 
against capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall borrowing. 
 
 

3.6 BORROWING STRATEGY  
 

      The Commissioner’s major objectives when borrowing are:- 
 

 to minimise the revenue costs of debt 

 to manage the Commissioner’s debt maturity profile i.e. to leave no one future year with a high 
level of repayments that could cause problems in re-borrowing  

 to effect funding in any one year at the cheapest cost commensurate with future risk 

 to forecast average future interest rates and borrow accordingly 

 to monitor and review the level of variable interest rate loans in order to take greater advantage 
of interest rate movement 

 to reschedule debt if appropriate, in order to take advantage of potential savings as interest 
rates change 

 to optimise the use of all capital resources including borrowing, usable capital receipts, 
revenue contributions to capital and grants and contributions 

 
3.7 LIMITS TO BORROWING ACTIVITY 
 

The Commissioner’s long term borrowing at 31 March 2021 was £25.072 million. External 
borrowing can arise as a result of both capital and revenue expenditure and timing of cash flows. 
As the Commissioner has an integrated TMS, there is no association between individual loans 
and particular types of expenditure. The capital borrowing need (Capital Financing Requirement) 
shows that an under-borrowed position is forecast at the end of the financial year 2022/23 where 
capital expenditure has not been fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the reserves, 
balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure. This strategy is because it is 

Page 141



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

120 

 

 

anticipated the capital receipts will be received towards the end of the MTFS cycle which brings 
debt and the capital financing requirement in line with each other by 2025/26. Projected levels of 
the total outstanding borrowing is shown below compared with the Capital Financing 
Requirement:-    
 
Table 5: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 

 
 
Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except in 
the short-term. As can be seen, the Commissioner expects to comply with this in the medium 
term. 
 
The Commissioner is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the 
authorised limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational 
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit. 

Table 6: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m 

 

 
 
Full details of the Commissioner’s borrowing are included within the Treasury Management 
Strategy. External debt (Other long-term liabilities), authorised limit and operational boundary, 
have been amended to allow for those leases which were previously off balance sheet, being 
brought onto the balance sheet at 31 March 2023. The actual amount of these will not be known 
until a full review of the Commissioner’s operational leases are undertaken in accordance with 
IFRS16.  

2020-21 Actual
2021-22 

Projection
2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

£m £m Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Gross Debt 25.072 33.777 42.626 46.632 45.742 44.957

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 22.944 42.727 44.809 46.989 47.269 45.032 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

Actual Projection Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Authorised limit – 

borrowing
39.594 40.000 70.000 80.000 80.000 80.000

Authorised limit – other 

long term liabilities
0.000 0.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000

Authorised Limit Total 39.594 40.000 75.000 85.000 85.000 85.000

Operational boundary – 

borrowing
34.594 35.000 60.000 70.000 70.000 70.000

Operational boundary – 

other long term liabilities

0.000 0.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000

Operational Boundary 

Limit Total
34.595 35.000 65.000 75.000 75.000 75.000

Total Borrowing and 

Long Term Liabilities
26.751 26.751 49.070 52.775 59.724 58.730

Page 142



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

121 

 

 
 

3.8 INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
The Commissioner’s major objectives when investing are:- 
 

 to maintain capital security 

 to maintain liquidity so funds are available when expenditure is needed  

 to achieve the yield on investments commensurate with the proper levels of security and 
liquidity 
 

Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term is invested, for example with the government, other 
local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the risk of loss. Money that will be held 
for longer terms is invested more widely to balance the risk of loss against the risk of receiving 
returns below inflation. Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, 
where an external fund manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and the 
Commissioner may request its money back at short notice. 
 
 
Table 7: Treasury management investments 
 

 2020-21 

Actual 

£m 

2021-22 

Projection 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

£m 

2023-24 

Estimate 

£m 

2024-25  

Estimate 

£m 

2025-26  

Estimate 

£m 

Cash and Cash 

Equivalents 

31.973 30.000 20.000 15.000 10.000 5.000 

Short term 

Investments 

- - 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 

Longer term 

Investments 

- - - - - - 

TOTAL 27.235 30.000 25.000 20.000 15.000 10.000 

 
 
3.9 OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES 
 

As stated above in paragraph 3.7 above, during 2022/23 the introduction of the new accounting 
standard IFRS16 for leases will take place. There will no longer be a distinction between 
Operating and Finance Leases. If a Lease exists (with some exceptions) – there will be an asset 
on the balance sheet – “Right of Use Asset” – and a corresponding Liability for the Obligation 
Value. Work is currently underway to assess the value of the liability so an estimate has been 
included in this Strategy. 
 

3.10 REVENUE BUDGET IMPLICATIONS 
 

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable on 
loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income receivable. The net 

Page 143



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

122 

 

 

annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. the 
amount funded from Precept, Business Rates and Police Grant. 
 
Table 8: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 
 

 
 
 
From the table above it is evident that the proportion of the revenue budget set aside to finance 

capital expenditure remains consistently around the 5% mark.    

RESOURCING STRATEGY 
 

4.0  FINANCIAL CONTEXT 
 

Whilst the aims and priorities will shape decisions around capital expenditure, there is recognition 
that the financial resources available to meet priorities are constrained in the current economic 
and political climate. The context for capital expenditure decisions is as follows: 
 

 The Commissioner does have a Disposal Strategy and has capital assets which it could 
sell and use receipts to reinvest; 

 The Commissioner is currently servicing debt of £25 million with over £5.1 million of 
principal needing to be repaid over the MTFS period;  

 The Commissioner’s MTFS shows a funding gap so any additional capital expenditure 
which is not funded through capital resources will increase this gap unless that 
expenditure delivers revenue savings or income to be used to repay the borrowing costs. 
 

All borrowing is unsupported so South Wales Police receive no revenue to ring-fenced for the 
borrowing costs. Consequently, the Capital Programme is supported by an annual revenue 
contribution to capital which has needed to be increased to £16 million in 2022/23 due to the 
requirements for investment in digital technology which cannot be funded from borrowing. 
Earmarked Reserves have been set aside to fund capital projects which include those expenditure 
items slipped from the current financial year, carrying forward of the Uplift Capital Grant or projects 
that are multi-year. 
 
 
 
 

4.1 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE BIDS 
 

The capital programme is updated on an annual basis (or more frequently as required) to take into 
account revised priorities, new schemes and changes in the availability of funding. The current 
year’s programme is monitored by the Capital Programme Board which includes the Chief Finance 
Officers for both the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable.  
 
There are only limited amounts of capital resources, and regard is needed for the overall 
affordability of the capital programme in future years. Each scheme, therefore, needs to be 
evaluated to ensure it meets PRINCIPLES 1 to 4 above. 

Page 144



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

123 

 

 
The business plan put forward for a capital project will be reviewed to ensure it takes account of 
stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability. Investment decisions will 
consider risk and reward and how the project contributes to the achievement of corporate 
objectives. The phasing of projects over more than one financial year will be assessed to ensure 
timetabling of plans and budgeting is realistic and funding is available over the life of the project.  
 
The revenue implications for each capital bid are considered at the initial evaluation stage, 
covering both staffing /running costs associated with the bid and the financing costs over the 
lifetime of the asset created. One of the Chief Finance Officer’s requirements when reviewing 
capital bids is to ensure that the revenue implications are realistic. The options appraisal exercise 
undertaken for larger projects seeks to ensure that the lifetime revenue implications of a capital 
project are fully considered and evaluated, are affordable and are included in the MTFS in 
accordance with PRINCIPLE 2 above. 
 
Successful projects will then be required to complete a full Business Case to be considered in 
more detail by the Capital Programme Board for eventual inclusion in the Capital Programme to 
be incorporated in the MTFS, to be approved by the Police and Crime Panel.  
 
Any bids for capital funding outside of the annual MTFS bidding round should be accompanied 
by a full business case to be presented to the Capital Programme Board for approval. All funding 
sources should be fully identified before the bid is taken forward. Any new schemes for which 
external funding has been approved (grants and contributions) will be added to the capital 
programme once the funding has been accepted and included in the next capital programme 
report to the Chief Constable’s Gold Group. This holds the Chief Officers to account on the 
delivery of the operational plan. It receives Capital Monitoring Reports for period 4, 6 and 9. 
 

4.2 The proposed Capital Programme for the MTFS period is detailed below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table 11: Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2025/26  

Page 145



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

124 

 

 

 
 
The main capital schemes are summarised below. 

 
Estates Essential & Legislative Works 
 
The Refreshed Estate Strategy has identified £93 million of works to make the South Wales Police 
Estate fit for purpose. In addition, Property Condition Surveys (independent professional 
assessment) on critical works to ensure Force properties are compliant with health and safety 
regulations and other legislative operational requirements. The current affordability envelope 
restricts works to a ‘safe, warm and dry’ standard. Hardwiring/asbestos plant and mechanical 
engineering work is also being undertaken to ensure compliance with legislation. The deferral 
process continues to add to the backlog of required works of around £16 million. £6.8 million of 
Property Condition Survey related work could be superseded by an accelerated Estate Capital 
Works Programme. However, given the lack of funding and capacity to undertake the scale of 
works, a risk based prioritisation process will continue to apply. 
 
Vehicles Replacement Programme 
The challenges of the automotive industry have been felt within South Wales Police, we are 
fortunate that we have previously maintained a good standard of fleet replacement, and therefore 
have been able to repurpose vehicles in the short term. The replacement cycle will continue as 

Description
 2021/22 

Projection 
 2022/23  2023/24  2024/25  2025/26 

 4 Year 

Future Total 

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Estates Essential and Legislative 

Works
1.889 2.146 1.600 1.500 1.500 6.746

Fleet 4.454 2.828 2.100 2.100 2.100 9.128

Information Services 4.018 2.101 2.101 2.101 1.601 7.904

Other 0.628 0.010 0.010 0.010 0.010 0.040

Total Infrastructure Maintenance 10.989 7.085 5.811 5.711 5.211 23.818

 

HQ scheme 19.875 0.556 0 0 0 0.556

Other Estates 2.218 5.770 12.534 9.683 0.000 27.988

Information Services 1.326 3.545 0.420 0.360 0.000 4.325

Total One - Off Projects to be 

Internally Funded
23.419 9.871 12.954 10.043 0.000 32.869

 

Total Digital Services Division 4.523 11.061 3.242 3.779 6.212 24.294

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 38.931 28.017 22.007 19.533 11.423 80.981

Summary of Funding

Baseline Capital Grants 0.266 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Revenue Contribution 9.148 15.856 15.856 15.856 15.856 63.424

Grant Funding 1.193 0.325 0.574 0.000 0.000 0.899

Capital Receipts 1.000 0.800 0.800 0.800 7.000 9.400

Earmarked Reserves 5.304 6.716 0.360 0.360 0.000 7.436

Unsupported Borrowing 22.020 4.320 4.417 2.517 (11.433) (0.178)

TOTAL FINANCING 38.931 28.017 22.007 19.533 11.423 80.981

Page 146



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

125 

 

planned into 2022/23 to ensure effective operational response capability from an efficient and 
effective transport service. 
 
Information Services 
In terms of Information Services, South Wales Police has rapidly transitioned to an enhanced 
mobile data capability and is on target to deliver the ambition of the Right Person, Right Place, at 
the Right Time, with the appropriate access to force intelligence systems that enable more work 
to be undertaken remotely that will also enhance visibility. It is now evident that the new improved 
operating model is heavily dependent upon use of technology to deliver policing that meets public 
expectations. The short life cycle for technology requires regular refresh and the programme 
reflects these requirements. 
 
South Wales Police Headquarters Site 
 
The HQ Site Project includes the development of a four storey Police Learning Centre (PLC) and 
Human Resources Building, a two-storey gymnasium, new access arrangement, parking 
provision and associated hard and soft landscaping works.  The facility will provide in-house, on-
site training, continual professional development, human resources and recruitment centre. The 
PLC will provide Training classrooms with associated breakout space, a human resource 
recruitment centre as well as office space for internal departments across the force.  It will include 
provision for an assessments and standards unit, an operations training unit, investigative training 
and ‘policing through technology’ facilities. The building would also accommodate an office for 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC), breakout spaces, classrooms and photovoltaics and 
plant equipment on the roof.  The development also includes a free-standing Gymnasium Building 
adjacent to the north-western boundary of the site. This building will also include 4 classrooms 
and training space which will be ancillary to the PLC use and will be used for various police training 
purposes. At the time of writing, the PLC, Gym and the ICT property stores have all nearly been 
completed, with only a small amount of slippage into 2022/23 when the properties will be ready 
for occupation. 
 
Tactical Tri-force Firing Range 
This is within the Capital Programme as a high-level estimate together with a contribution for both 
Dyfed Powys and Gwent Police Forces. The purchasing of land for the range is nearing 
completion, the cost of land and associated surveys is around £1.7m. 
 
Force-wide Estate developments 
The estates programme will look at developing some of the older sites across the force, 
collaborating with partners and disposing of buildings that are no longer required for Operational 
policing, this will include Cardiff Central and Ely Police station redevelopments. 
 
Digital Services Division 
There is significant investment required within the force for our digital services to ensure we have 
the appropriate kit and equipment to manage our evolving technology. We will see the 
replacements of the laptops £3.8m, as well as Body worn video £2.5m within 2022/23. The force 
is also replacing our command & control system to align with the movement onto the Emergency 
Services Network (a national requirement) which will be a significant investment over the MTFS 
period.  
  

Page 147



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

126 

 

 

 
GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

5.0 STRATEGY 
It is important given the risks surrounding Capital Projects that the appropriate Governance 
framework is in place. This is highlighted in PRINCIPLE 2 above. The Manual of Corporate 
Governance provides the Framework for capital decisions. 
 
The Prudential Code sets out a clear governance procedure for the setting and revising of a 
capital strategy and prudential indicators. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer for Chief Constable will prepare a Capital Programme for consideration 
by Capital Programme Board. It must be approved by Police and Crime Panel as part of the 
MTFS. 

Variations to the capital programme shall require the approval of the Capital Programme Board and will 
be reported to the next Gold Group Meeting. 

 
5.1 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE/INVESTMENT DECISION 

A monitoring process is in place which:  

 Reports on variances in expenditure and slippage on schemes and seeks explanations 
from project managers who are answerable to the Capital Programme Board 

 Capital monitoring reports will be prepared for the Gold Group which should include details 
of any virements between projects as well as projections of likely year end spend 

 A post project appraisal of all projects must be completed to demonstrate how objectives 
have been met, how final costs compared to budget and what revenue costs / savings 
materialised.  This information will be reported back to feed future appraisal exercises.   
 

5.2 RISK MANAGEMENT 
Major capital projects require careful management to mitigate the potential risks which can arise. 
The effective monitoring, management and mitigation of these risks is a key part of managing the 
capital strategy. 
  
General risks are those which are faced as a consequence of the nature of the major projects 
being undertaken. Most of these risks are outside of the Commissioner’s control but mitigations 
have been developed as part of the business planning and governance process.  
 
Financial Instruments – Risk 

 
The procedures for risk management are set out through a legal framework set out in the Local 
Government Act 2003 and the associated regulations. 

 
The Commissioner’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, the key risks are:- 
 

 Credit risk – the possibility that the counterparty to a financial asset might fail to pay 
amounts due to the Commissioner; 

 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Commissioner might not have cash available to 
meet its commitments to make payments;  

 Market risk - the possibility that unplanned financial loss might arise for the 
Commissioner as a result of changes in such measures as interest rates movements. 

 

Page 148



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

127 

 

Further details of these risks can be found within the Statement of Accounts’ Financial 
Instrument Disclosures.  
 
Inflation Risk  
Construction inflation over and above that budgeted by the Commissioner’s professionals and 
advisers and built into project budgets could impact on the affordability of the capital programme. 
This is mitigated through the provision of contingencies, updating estimates regularly as they 
change and monitoring the impact through governance processes. This is also mitigated post the 
signature of contracts with construction companies and developers through fixed price contracts.  
 
Change in Law Risk 
Capital schemes need to comply with the latest law and regulations which can change leading to 
an impact on construction costs and may be retrospective in their nature. This is mitigated by 
awareness of pipeline legislative changes and through contingencies.  
 
 
Management of Project Risks  
Project risks are those which relate to the delivery of capital projects which in many cases can be 
controlled, influenced or directly mitigated in ways other than making contingencies available. 
These risks would mostly be related to unforeseen project delays and cost increases which could 
arise from a range of circumstances.  
 
Supplier Financial Stability 
Construction companies and developers contracting with the Commissioner which experience 
financial instability post a significant risk. They may not be able to raise finance to cash flow 
operations, any potential insolvency process could lead to a costly process of changing suppliers 
without any guarantee of remaining within overall budget, the Commissioner could suffer direct 
financial loss and any defects or other issues may not be resolvable as anticipated. To mitigate 
the Commissioner carefully considers the financial robustness of any contractor and requests 
appropriate financial standing assurance and support wherever possible.  
 
Risk of Revenue Write Off  
The Commissioner commits to feasibility studies on many of its significant capital schemes at the 
point where spend is revenue in nature or when capital spend may be written off should the 
scheme in question not progress. This is managed through careful consideration and approval of 
all expenditure potentially at risk of revenue wrote off.  
 
Contingencies in the Capital Programme  
In the initial stages of development, major capital projects will have significant uncertainties. For 
example, these may relate to the planning process, the views / interest of stakeholders who must 
be consulted, ground conditions, or the costs of rectifying or demolishing existing buildings (e.g. 
the cost of asbestos removal).  For this reason, the Commissioner has adopted a structured 
process of identifying and managing contingencies which is in line with guidance issued by HM 
Treasury. In the initial stages of a project these contingencies are necessarily broad estimates 
due to the number of unknown factors. As projects progressed the unknown factors become 
clearer and project managers focus on managing these in the most effective way possible, 
utilizing contingencies to do so as needed.  
  

Page 149



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

128 

 

 

 
KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS 

 
6.0 IN-HOUSE RESOURCES 
 

The successful implementation of the Capital Strategy necessitates the availability of people with 
the necessary experience of: 
 

 developing capital projects 

 acquiring and selling properties 

 commissioning partners to deliver the capital programme 
 
Within Corporate Finance, the Capital Programme and Treasury Management Strategy are 
managed by professionally qualified accountants or staff with extensive experience. They all 
follow a Continuous Professional Development Plan (CPD) and attend courses on an ongoing 
basis to keep abreast of new developments and skills. The Commissioner subscribes to the 
CIPFA Financial Advisory Network (FAN) and as a result has access to courses and 
documentation on developments within the capital and treasury management fields. Both the 
Chief Finance Officer (Police and Crime Commissioner) and the Chief Finance Officer (Chief 
Constable) are professionally qualified accountants and follow CPD arrangements. Treasury 
Management Practices (TMPs) are reviewed and updated as necessary. 
 
Project management tools are used and there is a strong project management ethos within South 
Wales Police. There is a good mix of professional qualified staff and staff within the Estates 
Department, Fleet Services and ICT and DSD services. 
 

6.1 EXTERNAL ADVISERS 
 
External Advisers are used as appropriate including the valuations of assets and treasury 
management advisers who assist with the review of the investments and borrowing of the 
Commissioner. At a time where interest rates are beginning to rise, treasury management 
advisers will be used to provide the Commissioner with a breakeven analysis to see whether there 
is any opportunity to reduce borrowing costs going forward.  External Advisers compliment in-
house knowledge and skills. 
  

Page 150



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

129 

 

Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Policy    Schedule A 
 
The Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement needs to be approved before the start of 
each financial year. The MRP charges for 2022/23 will be on the following bases:-  
  

i. Capital expenditure previously financed through Equal Instalment of Principal (EIP) 
Loans, MRP will be charged equivalent to the repayment of the principal  

ii. Other capital expenditure exercised under the Prudential Code, the MRP charge will 
be based on the Asset Life Method. The minimum revenue provision will be at equal 
annual instalments over the life of the asset. The first charge may be delayed until the 
year after the asset is operational but this will be at the discretion of the Chief Finance 
Officer  

iii. For assets reclassified as finance leases under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), the MRP charge will be regarded as met by a charge equal to the 
element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance sheet liability for the 
year  

iv. Where opportunities allow, additional Voluntary Revenue Provisions will be set aside 
to reduce the Capital Financing Requirement 

 
The anticipated charge for 2022/23 will be :- 
Forecast Opening Capital Financing Requirement (01/04/22)  £42.727 million 
 
MRP  - EIP Loans        £  1.150 million 
MRP – 40 years on Unsupported Capital Expenditure   £  0.920 million 
MRP – Voluntary        £  0.167 million 
Estimated MRP 2022/23       £  2.347 million 
 
 

  

Page 151



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

130 

 

 

Extract Manual Code of Corporate Governance   Schedule B 
 

2.3 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

 

Why is this important? 

 

2.3.1 Capital expenditure involves acquiring or enhancing fixed assets with a long-term value 

to South Wales Police such as land, buildings, and major items of plant, equipment or 

vehicles. Capital assets shape the way services are delivered in the long term and may 

create financial commitments in the form of financing costs and revenue running costs.  

 

2.3.2 South Wales Police is able to undertake capital investment providing the spending plans 

are affordable, prudent, sustainable and demonstrate VFM. CIPFA’s Prudential code 

sets out the framework under which spending plans are considered. 

 

2.3.3 The capital programme is linked to the approved medium term financial strategy.  

 

Responsibilities of the Chief Constable 

  

2.3.4 To develop an asset management plan for approval by the Police and Crime 

Commissioner.  To implement the approved asset management plan. 

 

Responsibilities of the Treasurer, Chief Finance Officer and Chief Constable 

 

2.3.5 To prepare a capital funding strategy for consideration and approval by the 

Commissioner. 

 

Responsibilities of the Commissioner 

 

2.3.6 To approve the asset management plan. 

 

2.3.7 To approve the capital funding strategy. 

 

Medium term Capital Programme 

 

Responsibilities of the Chief Constable and the Chief Finance Officer 

 

2.3.8 To prepare a rolling programme of proposed capital expenditure for consideration by the 

Commissioner. The total capital cost of each project will be identified and any additional 

revenue commitments.  

 

2.3.9 To prepare project appraisals (i.e. the Business Cases) for all schemes in the draft 

medium term year capital programme and shall be submitted to the Treasurer and 

Commissioner for consideration and scheme approval. This will include all additional 

revenue and capital costs. 

 

Page 152



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

131 

 

2.3.10 Each capital project shall have a named officer responsible for sponsoring the scheme, 

monitoring progress and ensuring completion of the scheme. 

 

2.3.11 To identify, in consultation with the Treasurer, available sources of funding for the 

medium term capital programme, including the identification of potential capital receipts 

from disposal of property.  

 

2.3.12 A gap may be identified between available resources and required capital investment.  

Requirements should be prioritised by the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the 

Chief Constable to enable the Commissioner to make informed judgements as to which 

schemes should be included in the capital programme, the risk assessed level of funding 

required for each scheme and the potential phasing of capital expenditure.  

 

2.3.13 All schemes within the draft medium term capital programme should incorporate an 

estimate of future price inflation where appropriate.  

 

Responsibilities of the Treasurer 

 

2.3.14 To make recommendations to the Commissioner on the most appropriate level of 

revenue support and appropriate levels of borrowing, under the Prudential Code, to 

support the capital programme.   

 

Responsibilities of the Commissioner 

 

2.3.15 To approve a fully funded medium term capital programme which is sustainable and in 

accordance with the prudential code.  

 

Annual Capital Programme 

 

Responsibilities of the Commissioner 

 

2.3.16 To agree the annual capital programme, and how it is to be financed. 

 

                Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer 

 

2.3.17 Approval of the annual capital programme by the Commissioner authorises the Chief 

Finance Officer to incur expenditure on schemes providing the detailed business case 

has been approved and expenditure on the scheme does not exceed the sum contained 

in the approved programme by more than 10% or £250,000 whichever is the lower 

amount.  Such approval is subject to the underlying business case remaining viable.  The 

Chief Finance Officer shall identify appropriate capital funding. 

 

2.3.18 To ensure that finance leases or other credit arrangements are not entered into without 

the prior approval of the Treasurer. 

 

Page 153



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

132 

 

 

2.3.19 To ensure that, apart from professional fees (e.g. feasibility studies and design fees), no 

other capital expenditure is incurred before the scheme is approved by the 

Commissioner.  

 

Responsibilities of the Treasurer 

 

2.3.20   Approval of the annual capital programme by the Commissioner authorises the 

Treasurer to incur expenditure on schemes providing the detailed business case has 

been approved and expenditure on the scheme exceeds the sum contained in the 

approved programme by more than 10% or £250,000 whichever is the lower amount.  

Such approval is subject to the underlying business case remaining viable. The 

Treasurer shall identify appropriate capital funding.  The Treasurer shall notify the 

Commissioner whenever any such authorisation is given. 

 

2.3.21   The Treasurer shall approve the detailed business case for all schemes itemised in 

  the annual capital programme.  

 

Monitoring of Capital Expenditure 

  

 Responsibilities of the Chief Constable 

 

2.3.22   To ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital contracts. 

 

Responsibilities of the Chief Constable and the Chief Finance Officer 

 

2.3.23   To monitor expenditure throughout the year against the approved programme.  

 

2.3.24   To submit capital monitoring reports to the Commissioner on a regular basis throughout 

the year.  These reports are to be based on the most recently available financial 

information. The monitoring reports will show spending to date and compare projected 

income and expenditure with the approved programme. The reports shall be in a format 

agreed by the Commissioner and Treasurer. 

 

2.3.25   To prepare a business case for any new capital schemes [after the annual programme 

has been agreed] for submission to the Commissioner for consultation and approval.  

Amendments to the programme increasing its overall cost must demonstrate how such 

changes are to be funded. 

 

Responsibilities of the Treasurer and Chief Finance Officer  

 

2.3.26   To report on the outturn of capital expenditure as part of the annual report on the statutory 

accounts. 
  

Page 154



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

133 

 

 

PART C 

Treasury Management Strategy 
Including Treasury Management Indicators 

 
 

2022/23 – 2025/26 
 
 

December 2021 
 
 

   
 
  

Page 155



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

134 

 

 

OVERVIEW OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury 
management as: 

 
“The management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

 
Treasury Management activities are regulated by the Local Government Act 2003 which provides 
the powers to borrow and invest as well as providing controls and limits on this activity. The Local 
Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003 as amended, develops 
the controls and powers within the Act. This requires certain bodies, including the Police and 
Crime Commissioner for South Wales (the Commissioner) in consultation with the Chief 
Constable, to undertake any borrowing activity with regard to the CIPFA’s Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) and to operate the overall treasury 
function with regard to the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 
Services (the TM Code).  
 
In 2017, CIPFA published new versions of the Prudential Code and the TM Code. The TM Code 
requires a Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) to be produced and approved by committee 
before the start of the financial year. The updated Prudential Code included a new requirement 
for certain bodies, including the Commissioner, to provide a Capital Strategy, which is a summary 
document approved by committee covering capital expenditure and financing, treasury 
management and non-treasury investments; an overview of how the associated risk is managed 
and the implications for future financial sustainability. The production of two strategies ensures 
the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield principles, and the 
policy driven by expenditure on an asset. 
 
The Capital Strategy including the Prudential Indicators will be approved together with this TMS 
by the Police and Crime Panel in February 2022 as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS). Both should be read in conjunction of each other. 
 

1.1 Aims and Principles 
 

The aim of this is to provide a Treasury Management Strategy for approval to meet with the 
requirements of the Code which details:- 

 

 Current Economic Forecast including Interest Rates Projections; 

 Overall Current Treasury Position; 

 The Borrowing Strategy 2022/23; 

 An Annual Investment Strategy 2022/23; 

 The Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need; 

 The Investment Counterparty Strategy/Creditworthiness Policy;  

 Governance Arrangements. 

 

Page 156



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

135 

 

The treasury management operation is concerned with the need to ensure that cash flow is 
adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are 
invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Commissioner’s low 
risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the capital 
plans identified within the Capital Strategy.  These capital plans provide a guide to the 
borrowing need, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the capital 
spending obligations can be met. This management of longer-term cash may involve 
arranging long or short-term loans, or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasions, 
when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet risk 
or cost objectives.  
 

 
1.2 The TM Code – Key Objectives 
 

The objective of the TM Code is to ensure, within a clear framework, that the Commissioner 
bases all treasury management decisions on the below Key Principles:- 

 

KEY PRINCIPLE 1 Public service organisations should put in place formal and 
comprehensive objectives, policies and practices, strategies and reporting arrangements for 
the effective management and control of their treasury management activities; 

 

KEY PRINCIPLE 2 Their policies and practices should make clear that the effective 
management and control of risk are prime objectives of their treasury management activities 
and that responsibility for these lies clearly within their organisations. Their appetite for risk 
should form part of their annual strategy, including any use of financial instruments for the 
prudent management of those risks, and should ensure that priority is given to security and 
portfolio liquidity when investing treasury management funds; and 

  

KEY PRINCIPLE 3 They should acknowledge that the pursuit of value for money in treasury 
management, and the use of suitable performance measures, are valid and important tools 
for responsible organisations to employ in support of their business and service objectives; 
and that within the context of effective risk management, their treasury management policies 
and practices should reflect this. 

  

Page 157



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

136 

 

 

CURRENT ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 
 

2.0 Sources of Information 
 

On behalf of the Commissioner, South Wales Police Corporate Finance Department receives 
regular advice and information on the economic outlook from its Treasury Management 
consultants, Link Asset Services (Treasury Solutions) and other sources. This includes their views 
on the prospect for interest rates for both borrowing and investments with both forecasts as at 
November 2021 being detailed below.  

 
2.1 Interest Rates Forecast 

 
The table below is the most up to date information available from our Treasury Management 
Advisors and is still influenced by uncertainties at the time of production.  
 

 
Table 1 : Link Asset Services’ Interest Rate Forecast 
 

The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and to economies around 
the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to 
0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent meetings. 

As shown in the forecast table above, the forecast for Bank Rate now includes five increases, one 
in December 2021 to 0.25%, then quarter 2 of 2022 to 0.50%, quarter 1 of 2023 to 0.75%, quarter 
1 of 2024 to 1.00% and, finally, one in quarter 1 of 2025 to 1.25%. However, it is likely that these 
forecasts will need changing within a relatively short timeframe for the following reasons: - 
 

 There are increasing grounds for viewing the economic recovery as running out of steam 
during the summer and now into the autumn. This could lead into stagflation which would 
create a dilemma for the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) as to whether to focus on 
combating inflation or supporting economic growth through keeping interest rates low. 

 The impact of some current key supply shortages may cause economic activity in some 
sectors. 

 Rising gas and electricity prices in October and next April and increases in other prices 
caused by supply shortages and increases in taxation next April, are already going to 
deflate consumer spending power without the MPC having to take any action on Bank 
Rate to cool inflation.  

 On the other hand, consumers are sitting on over £160bn of excess savings left over from 
the pandemic so there is unknown timing of when this money will be spent in full or in part. 

 Supply chain shortages have been driving up both wages and costs, could reduce 
significantly within the next six months or so and alleviate one of the MPC’s key current 
concerns. 

Page 158



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

137 

 

 Unknown impact of the new Omicron variant, on top of the flu season this winter, and even 
the possibility of another lockdown, which could all depress economic activity. 

 If the UK invokes article 16 of the Brexit deal over the dislocation in trading arrangements 
with Northern Ireland, this has the potential to end up in a no deal Brexit. 

 
In summary, with the high level of uncertainty prevailing on several different fronts, it is likely that 
these forecasts will be revised again over the next few months - in line with what the new news 
is. 
 

2.2 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates 
 

As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is likely to be a steady rise 
over the forecast period, with some degree of uplift due to rising treasury yields in the US. The forecasts 
are also predicated on an assumption that there is no break-up of the Eurozone or EU within the 
forecasting period, despite the major challenges that are looming up, and that there are no major 
ructions in international relations, especially between the US and China / North Korea and Iran, which 
have a major impact on international trade and world GDP growth.  

Borrowing interest rates fell to historically very low rates as a result of the COVID crisis and the 
quantitative easing operations of the Bank of England and still remain at historically low levels. The 
policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served local authorities 
well over the last few years. As some PWLB certainty rates are currently below 2.00%, there remains 
value in considering long-term borrowing from the PWLB where appropriate.  Temporary borrowing 
rates are likely, however, to remain near Bank Rate and may also prove attractive as part of a balanced 
debt portfolio. In addition, there are also some cheap alternative sources of long-term borrowing if an 
authority is seeking to avoid a “cost of carry” but also wishes to mitigate future re-financing risk.     

While the Commissioner will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance new capital expenditure, to 
replace maturing debt and the rundown of reserves, there will be a cost of carry, (the difference 
between higher borrowing costs and lower investment returns), to any new short or medium-term 
borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash balances as this position will, most likely, incur a 
revenue cost. 

    
2.3 Economic Forecast Summary 

 

Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many influences weighing on UK gilt 
yields and PWLB rates. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be liable to further amendment 
depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next year.  
 
Over the next year the MPC will be doing a delicate balancing act of weighing combating inflation being 

higher for longer against growth being held back by significant headwinds.  Those headwinds are due 

to supply shortages (pushing prices up and holding back production directly), labour shortages, surging 

fuel prices and tax increases.  However, those headwinds could potentially be offset – at least partially 

- by consumers spending at least part of the £160bn+ of “excess savings” accumulated during the 

pandemic.  However, it is also possible that more affluent people may be content to hold onto elevated 

savings and investments and, therefore, not support the economic recovery to the extent that the MPC 

may forecast. 

  

Page 159



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

138 

 

 

The latest forecasts by the Bank showed inflation under-shooting the 3 years ahead 2% target (1.95%), 

based on market expectations of Bank Rate hitting 1% in 2022. This implies that rates don’t need to 

rise to market expectations of 1.0% by the end of next year. 

 

It is worth recalling that the MPC pointedly chose to reaffirm its commitment to the 2% inflation target 

in its statement after the MPC meeting in September yet at its August meeting it had emphasised a 

willingness to look through inflation overshooting the target for limited periods to ensure that inflation 

was ‘sustainably over 2%’. On balance, once this winter is over and world demand for gas reduces - 

so that gas prices and electricity prices fall back - and once supply shortages of other goods are 

addressed, the MPC is forecasting that inflation would return to just under the 2% target. 

  

Page 160



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

139 

 

 

 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 
3.0 The Commissioner’s Overall Treasury Position 2021/22 

 
The external debt and investment position for 30 November 2021 is detailed below:- 
 
Table 2 : Overall Treasury Position 30 November 2021 
 

 

Principal as 
at 31 March 

2021 
£’000 

Principal as 
at 30 

November 
2021 
£’000 

External Borrowing – Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) 

  

Short Term Borrowing  1,295 432 

Long Term Borrowing 23,777 23,777 

Total External Borrowing 25,072 24,209 

Treasury Investments   

Call Accounts   

Lloyds Bank 7,671 7,661 

Royal Bank of Scotland 4,391 7,995 

Total Call Accounts 12,062 15,656 

Money Market Funds (MMF’s)   

Aviva - 10,000 

CCLA 10,000 10,000 

Federate 9,050 8,920 

Invesco 439 - 

Total Money Market Funds 19,489 28,920 

Total Treasury Investments 31,551 45,576 

NET DEBT/(INVESTMENTS) (6,479) (21,367) 

 
A new Fixed Rate Maturity Loan of £10 million over forty years was taken towards the end of 
December 2021 with a favourable interest rate of 1.57%. There have been payments in respect 
of the first instalments of principal paid on the Equal Instalment of Principal (EIP) Loans. 
Favourable cash flows have provided surplus funds for investment and the balance on 
investments at 30 November 2021 was £45.576 million. This was an increase in investments 
outstanding from the start of the financial year where investments were £31.551 million. The 

Page 161



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

140 

 

 

current average interest rate for the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Loans is 0.18% for short 
term and 2.28% for long term borrowing. 
 

3.1 Liability benchmark  
 
In order to compare the Commissioner’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes the 
forecasts on the level of reserves, borrowing and working capital and that cash and investment 
balances are kept to a minimum level of £10 million at each year-end to maintain sufficient liquidity 
but minimise credit risk. Table 3 below details how the Capital Financing Requirement is forecast 
to increase from £22.9 million at the start of the 2021/22 financial year to £45 million at the end 
of the MTFS period representing a net increase of £22.1 million of capital expenditure financed 
through borrowing. The Working Capital Requirement is based on the level that was required in 
the last full financial year 2020/21. The Commissioner will strive to maintain the Police Fund at a 
level of just over £11 million which provides an opportunity to use internal borrowing rather than 
going out to the market. 
 
Table 3 : Liability Benchmark 2021/22 to 2025/26 
 
 

 
 
The Liability Benchmark shows that the lowest risk level of borrowing by 31 March 2026 would 
be £53.6 million. This would cover the capital financing requirement of £45 million less the amount 
available from reserves after the working capital adjustment plus a £10 million liquidity balance 
for investments. As stated, this is the lowest risk level for borrowing, so the actual net borrowing 
requirement for the Commissioner would be £43.6 million.  
 
 
BORROWING STRATEGY 
 

4.0  Net Borrowing Requirement  
 
Using the above liability benchmark analysis, the new borrowing to be taken over the MTFS period 
(Net Borrowing Requirement reduced by current External Borrowing) is forecast to total £24.7 
million as detailed in Table 4 below:- 
 
 
 
 
Table 4 : New Borrowing Requirement 2021/22 to 2025/26  
 

31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Capital Financing Requirement 22.9 42.7 44.8 47.0 47.3 45.0

Less: Usable Reserves (39.7) (22.10) (15.2) (11.30) (11.30) (11.30)

Plus: Working Capital Required 9.9 9.9 9.9 9.9 9.9 9.9

Net Borrowing Requirement (6.9) 30.5 39.5 45.6 45.9 43.6

Preferred Year-end Position 10 10 10 10 10 10

Liability Benchmark (year-end) 3.1 40.5 49.5 55.6 55.9 53.6

Page 162



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

141 

 

At the end of the MTFS period, the below table summarises this new borrowing requirement : 
 
 

 
 

 
Table 5 : New Borrowing Requirement 2025/26  
 

 

31 March 
2026 
£m 

Capital Expenditure financed through borrowing 45.0 

Anticipated Police Fund & Earmarked Reserves (11.3) 

Working Capital Requirement  9.9 

External Borrowing (30.0) 

MTFS New Borrowing 13.6 

 
The new borrowing is anticipated to be taken in accordance with the table below. As interest rates 
are anticipated to rise, the borrowing is profiled to be taken towards the earlier years of the MTFS 
:- 
 
Table 6 : New Borrowing Profile  
 

 

31 
March 
2022 
£m 

31 
March 
2023 
£m 

31 
March 
2024 
£m 

31 
March 
2025 
£m 

31 
March 
2026 
£m 

Net Borrowing  10.0 15.0 - - - 

 
 The £10 million was taken in December 2021 as outlined above so a further £15 million will need 

to be taken in 2022/23 or reprofiled dependent on the prevailing interest rates and working capital 
requirements. 

 
4.1 Borrowing Objectives 
 

The chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk balance between 
securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are 
required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the long-term plans change is a secondary 
objective. Therefore the major borrowing objectives for 2022/23 are :- 
 

 To minimise the revenue costs of debt; 

 To manage the debt maturity profile i.e. to leave no one future year with a high level of 
repayments that could cause problems in repayment or re-borrowing; 

31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

£m £m £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing 25.1 33.8 32.6 31.6 30.7 30.0

Net Borrowing Requirement 6.9 (30.5) (39.5) (45.6) (45.9) (43.6)

Investments/(New Borrowing) 32.0 3 (6.9) (14.0) (15.2) (13.6)

Page 163



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

142 

 

 

 To effect borrowing in any one year at the cheapest cost commensurate with future risk; 

 To forecast average future interest rates and borrow accordingly; 

 To monitor and review the level of fixed and variable interest rate loans in order to take 
advantage of interest rate movements; and 

 To reschedule debt in order to take advantage of potential savings as interest rates change. 
 

At the end of the financial year 2021/22, it is anticipated that the Commissioner will move to an 
under-borrowed position. This means that the capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing 
Requirement), has not been fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Commissioners’ 
reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent 
as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to be considered. 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted with 
the 2022/23 treasury operations. The Director of Finance will monitor interest rates in financial 
markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances: 

 
 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing rates, then borrowing 

will be postponed. 
 
 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in borrowing rates than 

that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the rate of increase in central 
rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity, or a sudden increase in 
inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding will 
be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the next few years. 

 
 

4.2 Sources of Borrowing 
 

The Commissioner has no policy to restrict the type of borrowing instruments required, however in 
practice it has been confined to-  

(a) PWLB      
(b) Market temporary 
(c) Market Long Term 
(d) Overdraft 
(e) Leasing 

 
The Commissioner will also investigate other sources of finance, such as local authority loans, 
Municipal Bond Agency and bank loans if rates are favourable. 
 

4.3 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need  
 

The Commissioner will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit 
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within 
forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to 
ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and that the Commissioner can ensure the 
security of such funds. Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to 
prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting mechanism. 
For 2020/21, the Commissioner did have a marginally over borrowed position of £2.2 million but 
this will disappear by the end of the current financial year 2021/22.  
 

Page 164



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

143 

 

4.4 Debt Rescheduling 
 
The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium or receive 
a discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. If the possibility of debt 
rescheduling opportunity arises, it will not be taken unless the appropriate discounted cash flow 
calculations are favourable. However, this is very unlikely as there is still a very large difference 
between premature redemption rates and new borrowing rates. 
 

4.5 Maturity Structure of Borrowing Indicator 
 
This is the first Treasury Management Indicator is set for the forthcoming financial year to control 
exposure to refinancing risk with respect to the maturity of external borrowing and has been set 
to allow for the possible restructuring of long term debt where this is expected to lead to an overall 
saving or reduction in risk. It is the amount of projected borrowing maturing in each period as a 
percentage of total projected borrowing. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of 
borrowing will be:  
 
Table 7 : Treasury Management Indicator 1 – Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 

  

Actual Actual Estimate Estimate

% £’000 % £’000

31/03/2021 31/03/2021 31/03/2022 31/03/2022

Under 12 Months 10% 0% 6%           1,681 4%          1,295 

12 Months and within 24 Months 10% 0% 5%           1,295 3%          1,151 

24 Months and within 5 Years 15% 0% 11%           3,035 8%          2,670 

5 Years and within 10 Years 25% 0% 11%           2,987 8%          2,644 

10 Years and within 15 Years 25% 0% 6%           1,480 4%          1,271 

15 Years and within 20 Years 40% 0% 0%              933 2%             700 

Over 20 Years 70% 0% 57%         15,342 72%        25,342 

TOTAL 100%         26,753 100%        35,072 

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate 

Borrowing at 31 March 

Upper 

Limit

Lower 

Limit

Page 165



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

144 

 

 

 
Annual Investment Strategy 2022/23 
 

5.0  Investment Background 
 

The Commissioner’s Annual Investment Strategy has regard to the following: - 
 

 Welsh Government (WG)’s Guidance on Local Government Investments 2019 (“the 
Guidance”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes 2017 (“the TM Code”)  

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018   
 
 Both the TM Code and the WG Guidance require the Commissioner to invest its funds prudently 
and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate 
of return, or yield.  The objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between 
risk and return, balancing the risk of incurring losses from defaults against receiving unsuitably 
low investment income. 
 

5.1 Investment Objectives 
 

The general policy objective is the prudent investment of its treasury balances.  Balances include 
monies borrowed for the purpose of expenditure in the medium term. The major objectives to be 
followed in 2022/23 are :- 
  

 To maintain capital security; 

 To maintain portfolio liquidity so funds are available when expenditure is needed;  

 To achieve the yield on investments commensurate with the proper levels of security and 
liquidity; 

 To maintain policy flexibility; and 

 To achieve a level of return greater than would be secured by defaulting internal 
investment. 

 
5.2 The TM Code Requirements 
 

The key requirements of both the Code and the investment guidance are to identify and approve the 
following: 
 

 The strategy guidelines for decision making on investments; 

 The principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds can be committed; 

 Specified investments which the organisation will use; and   

 Non-specified investments which the organisation will use. 
 

5.3 Specified and Non- Specified Investments 
 

Specified investments - The Welsh Government Investment Guidance defines specified investments 
as those:- 
 

 Denominated in pound sterling; 

 Due to be repaid within 12 months of arrangement (364 days); 

Page 166



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

145 

 

 Not defined as capital expenditure by legislation; and   

 Invested with one of:  
 the UK Government; 
 a UK local authority; 
 a UK parish or community council; or 
 a body or investment scheme of “high credit quality”    

 
The Commissioner defines “high credit quality” as organisations and securities as those having:- 

 a long term credit rating of A- (Fitch or equivalent) or higher;  

 a short term credit rating of F1, P1, A1 or higher; 

 domicile in the UK or a foreign country with a minimum sovereign rating of AA+ or higher; 

 money market funds and other pooled funds “high credit quality” is defined as those having a 
credit rating of A- or higher. 

 
Non-specified investments -  Any investment that does not fall into the criteria detailed above under 
the Specified investments definition. The Commissioner does not intend to make any investments 
denominated in foreign currencies nor any defined as capital expenditure. 
 
Non-specified investments will therefore be limited to:-  
 

 long-term investments, i.e. those that are due to mature 12 months or longer from the date of 
arrangement; or 

 investments with bodies and schemes not meeting the definition on high credit quality. 
 

5.4 Investment of Money Borrowed in Advance of Need 
 
The Welsh Government maintains that the borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make 
a return is unlawful and the Commissioner will not engage in such activity. However, the Commissioner 
could potentially borrow in advance of need where this is expected to provide the best long term value 
for money. Since amounts borrowed will be invested until spent, the Commissioner is aware that it will 
be exposed to the risk of loss of the borrowed sums, and the risk that investment and borrowing interest 
rates may change in the intervening period.  These risks will be managed as part of the overall 
management of its treasury risks. 
 

5.5 Investment Counterparty Strategy/Creditworthiness Policy  
 
The primary principle governing the organisation’s investment criteria is the security of its investments, 
although the yield or return on the investment is also a key consideration.  After this main principle, the 
organisation will ensure: 

 It maintains a policy covering: the categories of investment types it will invest in; criteria for 
choosing investment counterparties with adequate security; and monitoring their security.  

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments.  For this purpose, it will set out procedures for 
determining the maximum periods for which funds may prudently be committed.  These 
procedures also apply to prudential indicators covering the maximum principal sums 
invested.   

The organisation will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the following criteria and will revise 
the criteria and submit them for approval as necessary.  Long term are expressed on a scale from AAA 
(the highest quality) through to D (indicating default).  Ratings of BBB- and above are described as 
investment grade, while ratings of BB+ and below are described as speculative grade. 

Page 167



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

146 

 

 

This organisation relies on credit ratings published by Fitch Ratings, Moody’s Investors Service or 
Standard & Poor’s to establish the credit quality of counterparties (issuers and issues) and investment 
schemes. The organisation has also determined the minimum long-term and short-term and other 
credit ratings it deems to be “high” for each category of investment.   

The rating criteria use the Lowest Common Denominator (LCD) method of selecting counterparties 
and applying limits.  This means that the application of minimum criteria will apply to the lowest 
available rating for any of the above three rating institution.  For instance if an institution is rated by 
two agencies, one meets the criteria, the other does not, the institution will fall outside the lending 
criteria.  This is in compliance with the WG Guidance and the TM Code.  

Credit rating information is supplied by our treasury consultants on all active counterparties that comply 
with the criteria below.  Any counterparty failing to meet the criteria would be omitted from the 
counterparty (dealing) list.  Any rating changes, rating watches (notification of a likely change), rating 
outlooks (notification of a possible longer term change) are provided to officers almost immediately 
after they occur and this information is considered before dealing.  For instance a negative rating watch 
applying to a counterparty at the minimum criteria will be suspended from use, with all others being 
reviewed in light of market conditions. Similarly if a counterparty is upgraded following suitable 
consultation, so that it fulfils the criteria, it will be included in the Counterparty List. 

Additional requirements under the TM Code require the organisation to supplement credit rating 
information.  Whilst the above criteria relies primarily on the application of credit ratings to provide a 
pool of appropriate counterparties for officers to use, additional operational market information will be 
applied before making any specific investment decision from the agreed pool of counterparties.  This 
additional market information (for example Credit Default Swaps, negative rating watches/ outlooks) 
will be applied to compare the relative security of differing investment counterparties. Credit Default 
Swaps (CDS) are currently considered more responsive of market factors than rating changes, with 
the lower the measure the lower the perceived risk.  

Creditworthiness 
 
Significant levels of downgrades to Short- and Long-Term credit ratings have not materialised 
since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they did change, any alterations were limited 
to Outlooks. However, as economies are beginning to reopen, there have been some instances 
of previous lowering of Outlooks being reversed.  
 
CDS prices 
 
Although bank CDS prices, (these are market indicators of credit risk), spiked upwards at the end of 
March / early April 2020 due to the heightened market uncertainty and ensuing liquidity crisis that 
affected financial markets, they have returned to more average levels since then. However, sentiment 
can easily shift, so it will remain important to undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and 
return in the current circumstances. The treasury management advisers monitor CDS prices as part 
of their creditworthiness service and the Commissioner has access to this information via its Link-
provided Passport portal. 

5.6 Approved Investment Counterparties and Limits 

The criteria for providing a pool of high credit quality investment counterparties (both Specified and 
Non-specified investments) are considered further. The table below sets out the authorised deposit 
takers and details the proposed organisational limit for each category:- 

 
Table 8 : Approved Investment Counterparties and Limits 

Page 168



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

147 

 

 

  Fitch Long 
Term Rating 

(or equivalent) 

Category 

Money Limit 

Transaction 
limit 

Maximum 

Time  

Limit 

UK Debt Management Office 
– Executive Agency of HM 
Treasury (incl. deposit, 
Treasury bills, gilts and other 
securities) (DMADF) 

UK sovereign 
rating 

unlimited unlimited 50 years 

Local authorities N/A £70 million £10 million 10 years 

Banks 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AAA 

AA+ 

AA- 

A+ 

A 

A- 

 

£30 million 

“ 

“ 

“ 

“ 

£20 million 

 

£10 million 

“ 

“ 

£8 million 

“ 

“ 

 

10 years 

5 years 

3 years 

2 years 

1 year 

6 mths 

Building Societies – 

Top 10 Rated  

 

 

 

 

Top 10 Unrated only 

 

AAA 

AA+ 

AA- 

A+ 

A 

Unrated 

 

£30 million 

“ 

“ 

“ 

“ 

£20 million 

 

£10 million 

“ 

“ 

£8 million 

“ 

“ 

 

10 years 

5 years 

3 years 

2 years 

1 year 

6 mths 

 Fund rating Money Limit  Time 

Limit 

Money Market Funds 
including Low Volatility Net 
Asset Value 

AAA to 

A- 

£70 million £10 million 

 

liquid 

 

 

 

5.7 Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year  
 
All investments longer than 365 days (non-specified) will be made with a cautious approach to 
cash flow requirements and advice from the treasury management consultants will be sought as 
necessary.  Where the organisation invests, or plans to invest, for periods longer than a year, an 
upper limit is set for each forward financial year period for the maturing of such investments. The 

Page 169



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

148 

 

 

purpose of this indicator is to control the exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early 
repayment of long term investments. The limits on the long term principal sum invested to final 
maturities beyond the period end will be as shown in table 8 below. 
 
Table 9 : Treasury Management Indicator 2 Principal Sums Invested for Periods longer than 365 
days 
 

£m 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Principal sums invested for 
longer than 365 days 

£10 million £10 million £10 million £10 million 

 
 The Commissioner has no current investments in excess of one year.  
 
5.8 Investment Limits  

 
A group of banks under the same ownership will be treated as a single organisation for limit 
purposes. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count against 
the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries. 
Investments are allowed with the organisation’s own banker if it falls below the criteria included 
at Table 8. 
 
Giving due consideration to the organisation’s level of balances over the next 3 years, the need 
for liquidity, its spending commitments and provisioning for contingencies, it is currently 
determined that no more than £10 million of overall fund balances can be prudently committed to 
longer term investments (i.e. those with a maturity exceeding one year). Currently, this amount is 
nil and given the scope of financing over the medium term, this is likely to continue to be the case. 
 
Based on its current cash flow, the organisation anticipates its fund balances in 2022/23 to range 
between £5 million and £80 million. The latter takes into account a significant grant advance, 
normally each July. The minimum amount of its overall balance in short-term investments is nil. 
 

5.9 End of Year Investment Report 
 

At the end of the financial year, the Commissioner will report on its investment activity as part of 
its Annual Treasury Management Outturn Report.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
GOVERNANCE AND PROCEDURES 
 

6.0 Treasury Management reporting 
 

The Commissioner is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 
treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.   
 

a. Treasury Management Strategies including treasury management indicators  
this is forward looking and covers: 

Page 170



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

149 

 

 how the investments and borrowings are to be organised, including treasury indicators; 
and  

 an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be managed). 

 
b. A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress report and will 

update the Commissioner on investments and borrowings to date 
 

c. An annual treasury management outturn report – This is a backward-looking review 
document and provides details of a selection of actual treasury indicators and actual 
treasury operations compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

 
 
6.1 Manual of Corporate Governance 

 
The Manual of Governance was revised and updated in October 2019. The below is an extract of 
procedures linked to Treasury Management and the various responsibilities:- 
 

Treasury Management 

 

Why is this important? 

 

3.6.1 South Wales Police is a large organisation that handles hundreds of millions of 

pounds in each financial year. It is important that South Wales Police money is 

managed properly, in a way that balances risk with return, but with the prime 

consideration being given to the security of the South Wales Police capital sum.  

 

3.6.2 South Wales Police will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective 

treasury management: 

 

 A treasury management strategy, stating the policies, objectives and approach 
to risk management of its treasury management activities. 

 Suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) setting out the manner in 
which the organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and 
prescribing how it will manage and control those activities.  

 

  

 

 

 

Responsibilities of the Commissioner 

 

3.6.3 To adopt the key recommendations of CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the 

Public Services: Code of Practice (the Code). 

 

3.6.4 To approve the annual treasury management strategy and annual investment 

Strategy.  

 

Page 171



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

150 

 

 

3.6.5 To receive and approve quarterly treasury management performance monitoring 

reports. 

 

 Responsibilities of the Treasurer 

 

3.6.6 To implement and monitor treasury management policies and practices in line with 

the CIPFA Code and other professional guidance and to execute and administer 

treasury management in accordance with the CIPFA Code and the approved 

policy. 

 

3.6.7 To prepare reports on the treasury management policies, practices and activities, 

including, as a minimum, an annual strategy, quarterly performance monitoring 

reports and an annual report. 

 

3.6.8 To arrange borrowing and investments, in compliance with the CIPFA Code and 

the Treasury management policy and to ensure that all investments and 

borrowings are made in the name of the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 

Wales. 
 
 

6.2 Treasury Management Training 
 

The needs of the treasury management staff for training in investment management are assessed 
as part of the staff appraisal process, Perform, and also if the responsibilities of individual 
members of staff change. Training is received from the treasury management consultants, CIPFA 
and other bodies in the form of training courses and seminars. Personal development is also 
encouraged so individuals enhance their own knowledge through reading CIPFA guidance, 
publications and research on the internet. Continuous Professional Development (CPD) is one of 
the Organisation’s Objectives for staff. 
 

6.3 Treasury Management Practices 
 

CIPFA recommends that an organisation develops a number of treasury management practices 
(TMPs) that are relevant to its treasury management powers and the scope of its treasury 
management activities. These have been written and approved by the Police and Crime Panel. 
 

6.4 Treasury Management Consultancy and Investment Brokers 
 

A contract is agreed on an annual fee basis with Link Asset Services (Treasury Solutions), formerly 
named Capita Asset Services, to provide advice and information services. It is considered prudent to 
retain these services.  Whilst the advisors provide support to the internal treasury function, under 
current market rules and the CIPFA Code of Practice the final decision on treasury matters remains 
with the Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales.  
 
Investment and deposit dealings are undertaken via brokers, who are intermediaries with wholesale 
financial markets facilitating the trading activities of its clients, in particular commercial and investment 
banks. They are reimbursed on a commission basis. Investments and deposits are also made directly 
with counterparties. 

Page 172



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

151 

 

 
 
  

Page 173



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

152 

 

 

PART D  
 

 
 

 

 

SOUTH WALES POLICE 
RESERVES STRATEGY 

2022-2026 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A BACKGROUND 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This Reserve Strategy seeks to ensure that the level of Reserves retained by South 

Wales Police are necessary and proportionate to the risks and challenges facing 

the force in delivering its strategic objectives, maintenance of  critical force 

infrastructure, or as contingencies to avoid adverse impact on policing plans in the 

event of a critical incident or incidents. 

 
1.2 As part of the 2018/19 Police Funding Settlement, Nick Hurd, the Minister of State for 

Policing and the Fire Service provided guidance on what information Police and Crime 
Commissioners (PCCs) should publish on their reserves. This guidance forms part of 
Financial Management Code of Practice (FMCOP).   

 
1.3  In July 2014 the Chartered Institute of Public Finance issued updated guidance on the 

establishment of local authority reserves and balances, setting out the key factors that 
should be taken into account locally in making an assessment of the appropriate level of 
reserves and balances to be held. 

Page 174



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

153 

 

 

 The requirement for financial reserves is acknowledged in statute. Sections 
31A, 32, 42A and 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 require billing 
and precepting authorities in England and Wales to have regard to the level of 
reserves needed for meeting estimated future expenditure when calculating the 
budget requirement. Section 93 of the 1992 Act requires Scottish authorities, 
in calculating council tax, to take into account ‘any means by which those 
expenses may otherwise be met or provided for’. This includes reserves. 
 
There are also a range of safeguards in place that help to prevent local 
authorities over-committing themselves financially. These include: 
 

o The balanced budget requirement: - England, sections 31A, 42A of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended - Wales, sections 32 
and 43 and Scotland, 93 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and 
- section 85 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999. 
 

o Chief finance officers’ duty to report on robustness of estimates and 
adequacy of reserves (under section 25 of the Local Government Act 
2003) when the authority is considering its budget requirement (England 
and Wales) 

 
o Chief finance officers’ duty to report on the robustness of estimates and 

the 
adequacy of reserves (under sections 4 and 6 of the Local Government 
and 
Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 2011 
 

o The legislative requirement for each local authority to make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and 
that the chief finance officer / proper officer has responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972, section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and 
section 1 of the Local Government and Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 
2011 
 

o The requirements of the Prudential Code. CIPFA's Prudential Code 
requires chief finance officers in local authorities to have full regard to 
affordability when making recommendations about the local authority’s 
future capital programme. Such consideration includes the level of long 
term revenue commitments. Indeed, in considering the affordability of its 
capital plans, the authority is required to consider all of the resources 
available to it/estimated for the future, together with the totality of its 
capital plans and revenue forecasts for the forthcoming year and the 
following two years. 

 

Page 175



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

154 

 

 

o These requirements are reinforced by section 114 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 which requires the chief finance officer 
in England and Wales to report to all the authority’s councillors if there 
is or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an unbalanced budget. This 
would include situations where reserves have become seriously 
depleted and it is forecast that the authority will not have the resources 
to meet its expenditure in a particular financial year. The issue of a 
section 114 notice cannot be taken lightly and has serious operational 
implications. Indeed, the authority’s full council must meet within 21 days 
to consider the s114 notice and  during that period the authority is 
prohibited from entering into new agreements 
involving the incurring of expenditure. 
 

o Within the existing statutory and regulatory framework, it is the 
responsibility of chief finance officers (proper officer in Scotland) to 
advise local authorities about the level of reserves that they should hold 
and to ensure that there are clear protocols for their establishment and 
use. Reserves should not be held without a clear purpose. 
 

o CIPFA and the Local Authority Accounting Panel consider that local 
authorities should establish reserves including the level of those 
reserves based on the advice of their chief finance officers. Authorities 
should make their own judgements on such matters taking into account 
all the relevant local circumstances. Such circumstances vary. A well-
managed authority, for example, with a prudent approach to budgeting 
should be able to operate with a level of general reserves appropriate 
for the risks. 

 
o (both internal and external) to which it is exposed. In assessing the 

appropriate level of reserves, a well-managed authority will ensure that 
the reserves are not only adequate but are also necessary. There is a 
broad range within which authorities might reasonably operate 
depending on their particular circumstances. 

 
o Section 26 of the Local Government Act 2003 gives Ministers in England 

and Wales a general power to set a minimum level of reserves for local 
authorities. However, the government has undertaken to apply this only 
to individual authorities in the circumstances where an authority does 
not act prudently, disregards the advice of its chief finance officer and is 
heading for serious financial difficulty. This accords with CIPFA’s view 
that a generally applicable minimum level is inappropriate, as a minimum 
level of reserve will only be imposed where an authority is not following 
best financial practice. 

 

Page 176



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

155 

 

o When reviewing their medium term financial plans and preparing their 
annual budgets local authorities should consider the establishment and 
maintenance of reserves. These can be held for three main purposes: 

 
o  

 A working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash 
flows and avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms 
part of general reserves; 
 

 A contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or 
emergencies – this also forms part of general reserves;  

 
 A means of building up funds, often referred to as earmarked 

reserves (or earmarked portion of the general fund in Scotland - 
see below), to meet known or predicted requirements; earmarked 
reserves are accounted for separately but remain legally part of 
the General Fund. 

 
 

1.4 This Reserves Strategy is therefore published in order to supplement the current Medium 

Term Financial Strategy and comply with the forthcoming updated Financial Management 

Code of Practice. The Force retains and classifies Reserves to three broad categories: 

 

 Earmarked Revenue Reserves: Known Revenue expenditure 

commitments for specified items which transition over more than a year. 

 

 Earmarked Capital Reserves: Known Capital Infrastructure and specific 

capital project commitments which may straddle a number of years in the 

completion cycle. 

 

 And a General Reserve: – a relatively small contingency Reserve that 

reflects the complexity and uncertainty in a 24 hour seven days a week 

emergency service. The General Reserve (Police Fund), is funded from 

historic accumulated surplus of income over expenditure and is maintained 

to meet exceptional and unforeseen expenditure. Such as;  

 
o Unforeseen emergencies linked to a major incident, terrorist incident, 

civil contingency, 

 

o In year changes to Nationally Funded programmes with local 

implementation costs for example the police radio communications 

systems. 

 

o A shift in police demand examples include a spike in gun crime, knife 

crime, a serial serious and organised crime spree. 

 

Page 177



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

156 

 

 

o The smoothing of timing differences between grant receipts and 

expenditure for example South Wales Police manages Regional 

Units for which grant funding does not get allocated until a number 

of months into the financial year and without reserve funding short 

term expensive bank loans would be required. 

 
o The general guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

that a risk assessed General Reserve.  
 
 
B FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
2. Forecast Reserves at 31st March 2022 
 
2.1 The table below details the South Wales Police Reserve balances forecast as at 31st 

March 2022.  A future expenditure profile of these reserves over the 2022/26 MTFS period 
is also provided. 

 

 
 

 
3. Purpose/Description of individual Reserves 
 
3.1 A brief description of the most significant revenue and capital reserves is as follows. 
 

2022-23 

£000

2023-24 

£000

2024-25 

£000

2025-26 

£000

Police Fund: 10,300 General Reserve for contingencies 0 0 0 0 10,300

Earmarked Revenue Reserves: 

OPCC - Partnership Fund 1,406 Violence Prevention, ACE, NOMADS, Pathfinder (1,406) 0

COVID - 19 1,311 Partial funding from Home Office towards costs in 2021-22 (1,311) 0

Health & Wellbeing Reserve 1,097 To support Health and Wellbeing strategy to transform 

organisational capability.

(274) (274) (274) (274) 0

PEQF 600 Required for Tuition Costs (600) 0

OPCC - General 542 General Reserve for use by the OPCC (271) (271) 0

WG PCSO 534 Additional WG funding towards PCSOs (534) 0

Digital Evidence Transfer 500 Digital Forensics Unit - Resilient Technology Infrastructure (500) 0

Regional Incentivisation 405 Funds returned from Regional Incentivisaiton Scheme (203) (203) 0

Officer Safety Equipment 405 Operational requirement to improve officer safety 

uniforms and equipment

(203) (203) 0

PSC Overtime 250 Significant reduction on previous year transition to new 

working arrangements

(250) 0

ROCU 245 Regional collaborative functions funding (245) 0

Major Crime Fund 210 Reserve held to contribute to potential unfunded major 

investigations

(210) 0

Other Specific reserves < £150,000 584 Various minor reserves relating to delayed expenditure 

plans in 2021-22

(292) (292) 0

Sub-total 8,089 Sub-total (6,298) (1,242) (274) (274) 0

Spend Profile

Capital Reserves

Estate Redevelopment 675 Required for redevelopment of the Force Estate (675) 0

ICT 1,529 Requirered to Support ICT projects (809) (360) (360) 0

Police Officer Uplift Programme 5,232 Required to fund kit, vehicles and safety equipment (5,232) 0

Sub-total 7,436 Sub-total (6,716) (360) (360) 0 0

Total Earmarked Revenue Reserves 25,825 Total Spend Profile (13,014) (1,602) (634) (274) 10,300

Forecast Spend Profile Forecast 

Balance at 31 

March 2026 

£000

Forecast 

Balance at 31 

March 2022 

£000

Comments

Page 178



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

157 

 

3.2 Police Fund (General Reserves)  

 
Our operational experience and sound financial principles would advocate that the 
force should maintain a General Reserve balance at a level of 3% of the gross 
operating expenditure as follows: 
 

 1% for major incidents, 

 1% for day to day operating cash-flow risk and  

 1% for other unknown events. 
 

This would result in a General Reserve Balance of circa £12.7M and the Force is 
currently approximately £2.4M short of that target. The current £10M balance has 
been funded from an accumulation of small budget surpluses over many years and 
still represents a considerable achievement and reflects positively on the financial 
standing of the force. Our experience of change management and the need to invest 
in the short term to save over the longer term in an austere environment has 
demonstrated that such a risk assessed General Reserve is vital to maintain an 
effective policing service. 
 

3.3 Earmarked Revenue Reserves 
 
The main Earmarked Reserves rationale and purpose is explained below.   
 
Health and Well-being Reserve 
The Health & Wellbeing Reserve will ensure the reorientation and organisational 
development necessary to deliver a motivated productive force is sustained. 
 
Commissioner’s Partnership Funds 
Required for Commissioning Strategy and includes partnership working, diversionary 
work with 18-25 year offender group and reducing Violence Against Women and Girls, 
Women’s Pathfinder – a diversionary scheme to reduce re-offending. 
 
Police Uplift Programme 
This is to fund the start up costs of the Police Officer Uplift Programme in 2022-23. 
 
COVID-19 
The Coronavirus Global Pandemic has had a significant impact on policing. This 
reserve represents partial reimbursement of costs from the Home Office and will be 
utilised in 2022-23 to continue policing the pandemic. 
 
Regional Organised Crime Unit 
This is committed expenditure that transitions across financial years to support the 
objectives of the Regional Organised Crime Unit. 
 
Operational Safety Equipment 
This is to ensure that officers and staff remain safe and protected from harm whilst 
performing their duties. 
 
Regional Incentivisation 

Page 179



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

158 

 

 

This represents a share of funds determined by the courts from asset seizures and 
confiscation of cash to deny criminals benefiting criminal activity. The money is used 
to undertake further activity to disrupt serious and organised crime activity across the 
three Southern Wales Forces.   

 
Police Education and Qualification Framework  
This represents funds required to fund tuition fees in the early years of the education 
programme for new Police Constables. 

 
Other Specific Reserves less than £150,000 
A variety of small budget requests by departments as part of the financial control 
framework that encourages prudence within devolved budgets to carry forward 
required underspends into approved business cases to be delivered in the following 
year. 

 
 
3.4 Earmarked Capital Reserves 
  

The rationale and purpose of the main Earmarked Capital Reserves are as follows: 
 

Estate Redevelopment 
Required to support the redevelopment of Police Headquarters in Bridgend which will 
include a new Police Learning Centre and a Joint Firearms’ Range necessary to meet 
current operational threats. The internal funds are supported by planned contributions 
from other forces in the Joint Firearms Unit as well as long term prudential borrowing.  

 
Technology 
This reserve is required to support the delivery of a number of integrated technology 
platforms to ensure the right people are in the right place at the right time with the right 
skills to improve productivity and effectiveness. 
 
Police Officer Uplift 
Required to purchase vehicles, radios, computers and operational safety equipment 
for uplift officers and staff. 

 
 
4. Home Office Transparency 
 
4.1 The Minister’s guidance to Forces also requires Commissioners to analyse their 

current reserves by those required for general contingencies, those required over the 
MTFS period and those extending beyond the MTFS period. This analysis is shown in 
the table below.  

 

Page 180



  
  
  
  
  
 

  

  

 

159 

 

 
 

 
C. LEGAL AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

Detailed in within the Financial Considerations within paragraphs 2.1 to 2.2. 
 
 

D. PERSONNEL, EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

None. 

 

E. REVIEW ARRANGEMENTS 

The Reserves Strategy will be updated as part of the preparation of the 

MTFS for 2021-25. 

 

F.   LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

  CIPFA LAAP bulletin 99 – July 2014. 

Financial Management Code of Practice. 

Group Statement of Accounts 2020/21.  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

31st 

March 

2022 

£000

31st 

March 

2023 

£000

31st 

March 

2024 

£000

31st 

March 

2025 

£000

31st 

March 

2026 

£000

Funding held as a general contingency or 

resource to meet other expenditure needs in 

accordance with sound principles of financial 

practice. 10,300 10,300 10,300 10,300 10,300

Funding for planned expenditure on projects 

and programmes over the period of the 

current Medium Term Financial Strategy. 15,525 2,511 909 274 0

Funding on specific projects and programmes 

beyond the current planning period. 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 25,825 12,811 11,209 10,574 10,300

Projected Reserve Balances for Reserves held at 31st March

Page 181



  
  
 

 
 

  

  

 

160 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

  

Page 182



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

Report of the Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales 

TITLE:  Draft refresh of the Police and Crime Plan 

DATE:  3rd February 2020 

PURPOSE: For Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel considers the amendments as laid out in the 

draft attached summary plan. Essentially the 2020 refresh: 

 

• develops and enhances the activities aimed at delivering the priorities set by 

the Commissioner in collaboration with the Chief Constable 

• clearly defines the distinct yet complementary roles of Commissioner and 

Chief Constable including developing the Commissioners oversight and 

accountability role. 

• reaffirms the powerful ethos of co-operation between us, and others, in 

making South Wales once of the safest places to live and work 

• re-affirms our shared determination to protect and further develop 

neighbourhood policing, community safety and other key aspects of policing 

and partnership-working in the face of significant challenges. 

 

It also re-affirms commitment to working with our communities and tackling 

discrimination, focussing on the importance of race equality and all forms of 

fairness, equality and diversity. More clearly articulates our unwavering 

commitment to work with South Wales Police and our partners to tackle 

violence against women and girls in light of tragic events during 2020. 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

Each year, we have refreshed the executive summary of the Police & Crime 

Plan in response to engagement with partners, the public and latest 

developments in criminal justice and policing (including financial challenges).  

3. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

In determining the refresh the Commissioner has had regard to the pressures 

on policing; the Policing Vision; the Strategic Policing Requirement; the Chief 

Constable’s view of the financial resources required to deliver the operational 

requirements of the Plan; the level of resources to be allocated for 

commissioning; and public engagement. 

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Police and Crime Panel are required to note the proposed amendments.  

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

There are financial implications to the delivery of this plan which are fully 

articulated within the Commissioner’s and Treasurer’s Budget and Precept 

Page 183

Agenda Item 5



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

Report, supported by the annexed Medium Term Financial Strategy, also 

presented at today’s Panel. 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

The majority of the Policing and Crime Budget covers Police Officer and Police 

Staff salaries and employer’s contributions.  The plan takes account of the 

pressure on the budget and drive the efficient and effective use of the budget 

in a planned and timely manner. It also reflects commitments to identify 

applicable grants and funding streams in support of a number of early 

intervention and prevention activities. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Developing priorities and a plan,  reviewing the police and crime plan, 

particularly in the light of: 

(i) any report or recommendations made by the police and crime panel; and 

(ii) any changes in the strategic policing requirement  

(iii) statutory responsibilities of the Commissioner under the Police Reform 

and Social Responsibilities Act 2011. 

8. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

9. RISK 

A timely decision will minimise the risk to the delivery of the priorities and 

development of the plan. 

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This report will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Lee Jones, Chief Executive to the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 

Wales. 

12. ANNEXES 

The Annexe to this report is a copy of the draft refresh for noting.  

 

 

 

Page 184



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SOUTH WALES 
POLICE & CRIME 
PLAN 2022-25

Everything is Connected to Everything Else

Page 185



Achieving More Together for  
a Safer South Wales
In eight years since the first commissioner elections we have developed 
a powerful ethos of co-operation which keeps our communities safe. 
The Commissioner and Chief Constable share the principles and values 
underpinning this police & crime plan. 

We aim to be the best at understanding and responding to the needs of all our communities. Work 
with partners is fundamental to giving people the response they need, when they need it. Tackling 
offenders – especially organised criminals and those who prey on vulnerable people – is balanced 
with early intervention and prevention and a full understanding of equalities and diversity.

The financial challenge is enormous. Since 2010 money from UK Government through Police Grant has 
been cut by well over 32% (real terms) yet we’ve delivered almost £0.6 billion of social and economic 
benefit to South Wales in recent years. We focus on innovation, early intervention and prompt 
positive action, working with partners for action on mental health demand and substance misuse. 

We will not withdraw from local communities, stop tackling low-level offending or miss 
opportunities for prevention. Neighbourhood Policing is crucial and we will strengthen the 
PCSO role to focus on communication (speaking to and listening to communities), local problem-
solving and empowering communities to be resilient, safe, and confident. We are dealing with the 
impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). As well as supporting victims we are tackling 
perpetrators of Domestic Violence and Abuse. Working with Probation we are improving offender 
management. We aim to involve everyone and maintain high levels of victim satisfaction. We will 
work to strengthen Community Safety Partnerships and Youth Offending Teams. We play a full part 
in Public Services Boards and work with Local Government, the NHS and others on local delivery. 
Our aim is “more partnership through fewer, better-focused meetings” to get things done. 

We have created strong foundations but we will strive to improve and to respond 
effectively to new demands. The South Wales Police & Crime Plan is the basis for the 
way we will deliver excellence in policing to the communities of South Wales.

Rt Hon Alun Michael
South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner

Jeremy Vaughan 
Chief Constable

2

Page 186



We are united in pursuing 
the following principles and 
priorities:
• Prevent crime - the first responsibility of 

the police - and support safe, confident, 
resilient and diverse communities.

• Understand crime trends and root causes, 
targeting early intervention and prompt 
positive action through partnership.

• Plan for the well-being of future generations 
through a joined-up approach to preventing 
harm, intervening early with young people 
and women offenders, involving people and 
together breaking intergenerational cycles. 

• Help to join up Public Services, making 
them innovative, ambitious, and 
sustainable and work through Public 
Services Boards in the public interest.

• Seek connections between the plethora of 
different joint boards to create a coherent 
“single public service” approach by devolved 
and non-devolved agencies together.

This Plan sets the priorities against which I will hold the Chief Constable to account 
as we continue our shared journey towards a safe, confident communities across 
South Wales and to which I and my team will contribute. 

Co-operation is the 
overarching principle 
that inspires us. 
Together we achieve 
more than we can 
achieve alone. 
Rt Hon Alun Michael 
South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner

Not everything can be 
tackled and addressed 
by the police alone. We 
will continue to work 
in partnership, to get 
people the support and 
help they need.
Jeremy Vaughan 
Chief Constable

3

Page 187



The Voice of the People 
Statutory Duties

“The spirit of co-operation and partnership working includes both support and 
challenge to make both South Wales Police and the criminal justice system 
stronger. This Plan sets out my priorities in cutting crime and supporting our 
communities as well as holding the Chief Constable and local criminal justice 
system to account as a “Critical Friend”.

Rt Hon Alun Michael, South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner

The Commissioner and the Chief Constable have 
distinct roles and responsibilities. The Chief 
Constable is responsible for the control, direction 
and delivery of operational policing for the 
force area. The Police and Crime Commissioner 
is elected to give a voice to the people and to 
hold the Chief Constable to account for the 
delivery of efficient and effective policing.

The co-operative ethos within which we carry 
out our roles in South Wales means this Plan 
reflects areas which have been jointly developed to 
prevent crime and reduce harm, while enabling an 
effective and efficient police service which meets 
community needs and builds trust and confidence.

“As Commissioner and team, we work in 
partnership with a range of agencies at local  
and national level to create a unified approach  
to preventing and reducing crime.”

The Police Reform Act 2011, says 
the Commissioner must:

• Appoint (or dismiss) the Chief Constable 
and hold him or her to account

• Ensure the local police are efficient and effective

• Set local priorities through the Police &  
Crime Plan

• Set the force budget and determine the 
precept (the amount people contribute 
to policing through their council tax)

• Contribute to national and international policing 

• Bring together community safety and criminal 
justice partners, to make sure local priorities  
are joined up

Page 188



Transforming Public Services
Two key pieces of legislation help to drive the way partners in  
Wales work together

They are the Social Services and Well-being Act and the Well-being of Future Generations Act. We will  
continue to be part of the leadership at Public Services Boards and work with Regional Partnership Boards  
on the development and delivery of sustainable public services that make our communities safer and  
improve our well-being. 

We have adopted the five ways of working set out in the Well-being of Future Generations Act:

Involvement 

We seek to engage and empower our communities, 
working with community groups and partner 
agencies to deliver the priorities set out in this plan.

Planning for the Long Term 

By tackling underlying causes we are predicting 
and reducing demand for the police and our 
partner agencies. Our digital leadership is 
equipping our workforce to work flexibly 
and efficiently in our communities.

Prevention

Early intervention, and prompt positive action is 
helping to break intergenerational cycles of harm.

Integration

Connecting everything to everything else. 
The Police alone cannot cut crime so we take 
a joined-up approach to policy, strategy and 
delivery, from improving mental health and 
well-being to education and youth services.

Collaboration 

As “Statutory Invitees” we help local delivery 
through Public Services Boards and refreshed 
Community Safety arrangements. We’re tackling 
Adverse Childhood Experiences with partners 
through “Early Action Together”. We work with  
NHS partners on responding well to demand from 
mental health and other crises as well as being 
joined up with Fire and Ambulance Services in 
our joined-up Public Response Centre. Our co-
operative ethos makes collaboration instinctive.

1. A prosperous Wales

2. A resilient Wales

3. A healthier Wales

4. A more equal Wales

5. A Wales of cohesive communities

6. A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving  
Welsh Language

7. A globally responsible Wales

We share the ambition of the seven well-being goals for Wales:

Page 189



Policing our Neighbourhoods
Everyone is a leader and we will develop the 
professional role of our PCSOs to reflect that

We are enhancing the Police Community Support 
Officer role as communicator (to the local 
community and listening to the local community), 
problem solver (with the local community) and 
enabler to empower local communities. 

Leadership is the responsibility of everyone and 
we will value and develop the distinctive role of 
our Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) 
as problem solvers who listen to, involve and 
empower local people. Our local approach to 
keeping communities safe helps combat extremism, 
terrorism and serious and organised crime.

Digital Leadership
Technology brings new threats but can improve 
the way we police our communities 

We are at the cutting edge of digital  
leadership – working collaboratively with  
Gwent Police to deliver:

• Agile working to increase the time spent 
by officers in their communities

• New and improved ways of reporting crime

• More efficient, integrated systems 

The Commissioner champions innovation whilst 
building confidence in how technology is used. 
For example, South Wales Police has been at the 
forefront of using facial recognition technology as  
a preventative measure at major public events 
and our approach has ensured the integrity and 
legitimacy of its use balancing protecting the 
safety of the public with protecting civil liberties.

Page 190



“Everything is Connected to Everything Else”

Improving Governance  
and Scrutiny
One of the Commissioner’s key responsibilities is 
to provide accountability on behalf of the public

Our governance arrangements ensure appropriate 
accountability and assist effective leadership. For 
example, we operate a Scrutiny & Accountability 
Board where operational policing is held to account 
for the delivery of its services on behalf of the 
public and runs a board containing community 
members and partner agencies that are able to 
feed in their views on policing issues. Areas that 
are regularly scrutinised include use of force, stop 
search and use of facial recognition technology.

In February 2020, the Government changed the 
complaints system so that police forces operate 
under a significantly different legal framework. 
The reforms aimed to deliver a more proportionate 
approach in handling complaints with the emphasis 
on learning. We scrutinise the police complaints 
system to ensure that the Chief Constable has 
an effective and efficient system in place.

Preventing Violence
Reducing violence has been a key aim for  
the Commissioner since 2012, using data  
sharing with health to pinpoint where and  
how violence occurs

This has exposed violence that had not been
reported to the police, leading to local action to
prevent future violence.

The Violence Prevention Unit takes a public health 
approach to preventing violence, which involves 
seeking to understand the epidemiology of violence, 
and using this evidence to develop interventions 
focused on tackling the root causes of violence. 
Through this approach the VPU aims to develop a 
whole system response to the prevention of violence. 

Rt Hon Alun Michael

Page 191



“Everything is Connected to Everything Else”

Victims
Victims are at the heart of all we do. We have 
strengthened vital services to help victims of 
crime cope and recover

We have listened to people who have experienced 
crime to significantly improve services. 
South Wales Victim Focus is providing the 
help people need, when they need it.

The South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner, 
through Ministry of Justice Funding, has 
allocated over £4.5 million over the past 3 years 
to help victims on their recovery journey.

Owing to the unprecedented nature of 2020, we 
secured an additional £635,000 extraordinary 
COVID-19 funding from the Ministry of Justice, 
which was allocated to specialist services to 
help support victims during the pandemic.

A Victims and Witness Strategy 2020-2025 has been 
developed jointly between the Commissioner and 
Chief Constable in consultation with stakeholders.

Tackling Violence Against 
Women and Girls
Early identification of all forms of violence 
against women and girls is key to keeping 
people safe

Our Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls 
Joint Strategy 2019-24 builds on our partnership 
approach to tackle all forms of violence and abuse; 
we have improved how we use partnership data to 
inform a more joined up approach. As such we have 
taken forward actions to better protect victims and 
increase perpetrator accountability. Voices of victims 
and survivors remain critical in informing the 
development of a long-term whole systems response.

Our work to prevent this complex problem 
involves collaboration with partners including:

• Welsh Women’s Aid Change that Lasts 
programme, strengthening responses 
for victims with local disclosure points, 
Community Ambassadors, Trusted Professionals 
and additional specialist support

• Expanding the DRIVE programme across 
the whole South Wales Police area to 
work with 390 high harm perpetrators, 
safeguarding victims and children

• Welsh Government, Public Health Wales, local 
authorities, specialist agencies and the Violence 
Prevention Unit working in partnership towards 
eradication of all forms of violence against 
women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 

Rt Hon Alun Michael

Page 192



Preventing and  
Reducing Offending
Our commitment to prevention and early 
intervention has driven radical changes to cut 
re-offending, by providing support focused on 
understanding their need

The UK Government has agreed to invest  £1 million 
in the Swansea Bay area to reduce drug crime, in 
a programme of work led by the Commissioner. 

The money will be invested into piloting Project 
ADDER (Addiction, Diversion, Disruption, 
Enforcement and Recovery) – a new intensive 
approach to tackling drug misuse, combining 
targeted and tougher, disruptive policing coupled 
with enhanced treatment and recovery services. 
The Project will bring together partners in the 
local area including the Police, Councils and Local 
Health Board, running for two financial years.

This will supplement existing work to divert 
people who use drugs away from offending 
through programmes such as drug testing 
on arrest and Out of Court disposals.

Volunteers
Volunteering is “the essential act  
of citizenship” and has always been  
a part of policing by consent

We’ve built on strong foundations established in 
recent years by actively encouraging volunteers 
to play a full part in local policing. Special 
Constables have grown in numbers and the 
hours they devote to the community, while 
our Police Youth Volunteers are helping their 
community while developing communication 
skills and working towards a St John’s first aid 
qualification and the Duke of Edinburgh’s Award.

Our Independent Custody Visitors and animal 
welfare visitors provide a vital scrutiny role, 
ensuring that the rights and entitlements 
of people in custody are upheld, and that 
police dogs and horses are well treated.

During COVID-19 our South Wales Police Volunteers 
have played a significant role in reopening courts 
and enabling victims to give evidence remotely.

Page 193



Preventing ACEs in future generations could reduce levels of:

Heroin/cocaine 
use by 66%

(Lifetime)

Incarceration by 
65%

(Lifetime)

Violence 
perpetration  

by 60%
(Past year)

Violence 
victimisation  

by 57%
(Past year)

Cannabis Use  
by 42%

Unintended 
Teen pregnancy  

by 41%

High-risk 
drinking  
by 35%

Early Sex 
by 31%

(Before age 16)

Smoking 
tobacco or 

e-cigarettes  
by 24% (current)

Poor diet
By 16%

(Current <2 fruit & 
veg portions daily)

Statistics source: Public Health Wales, Welsh Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study 2015

We support initiatives where ACEs are already present. If its too late for prevention its not too late for prompt 
positive action.

ACEs
The Commissioner and Chief Constable have worked with Public Health Wales to design 
a response to their ground-breaking research on adverse childhood experiences (ACEs).
This has led to Wales being recognised as a world leader in tackling the consequences  
of ACEs and understanding why people, including young people, behave in difficult and 
challenging ways.

Because the police are often the first agency to 
be in contact with children or families in need 
of help, our £6.8m programme of work with 
Public Health Wales, the other three Welsh forces 
and wider partners (Early Action Together) has 
developed initiatives that will tackle root causes, 
break the cycle of harm and prevent problems from 
escalating. Ultimately this will stop people from 
becoming victims, divert people away from crime 
and reduce demand on the police and our partners. 

We are confident that this work will prove beyond 
doubt that preventing and responding to ACEs will 
protect the most vulnerable and will reduce crime 
and harm to health and society over the longer term 
protecting the well-being of future generations. 
Home Office funding has now ended but working in 
the devolved environment, we will continue to drive 
this work and critically examine the outcomes and 
future opportunities for reducing harm and demand.

10

Page 194



Priority 1 
We will reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour to keep people 
safe and confident in their homes and communities

We will be tough on crime and the causes of crime, tackling root causes through early 
intervention and prompt, positive action, partnership and evaluation of “what works”. 

Neighbourhood Policing 
• Implementing evidence-informed 15-minute 

foot patrols to deter and prevent serious 
violence within the communities

• Enhancing the distinctive role of the PCSO, 
which is to be a communicator (listening to and 
talking to local people, solving problems with the 
community and empowering local communities)

• Leading action on anti-social behaviour  
with partners in local government 
and social housing providers

• Working with young people to expand 
our South Wales Police Youth Volunteers 
scheme, providing positive experiences, 
offering skills in engagement, St John’s first 
aid qualifications and the chance to progress 
through the Duke of Edinburgh’s Award

• Recruiting more Special Constables from within 
all our communities 

Working within Communities
• Helping local communities to become 

resilient by taking an active role to solve 
local problems working with partners, the 
voluntary sector and Neighbourhood Watch

• Championing the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (Wales) 2015 with full active 
membership of Public Service Boards  
and linking the layers of joint boards in each  
of our areas

• Promoting the effectiveness of Community 
Safety Partnerships using the data from the 
Violence Prevention Units’ Violence Surveillance 
System to develop detailed community 
profiles to guide preventative action

• Developing the Police Schools 
Programme to be adaptable in support 
of local needs and prevention

• Supporting Youth Offending Teams 
to prevent and reduce offending, re-
offending and anti-social behaviour 
amongst children and young people

• Using Home Office Teachable Moments 
funding to support children & young people 
attending custody suites to access support

• Following the launch of our Children’s Rights 
Charter, increasing opportunities for children and 
young people to have voice in policing through 
the National Participation Standards (Wales)

• Working through the South Wales Police 
Youth Trust to support young people to 
lead safe, healthy, fulfilling lives

• Reinvigorating the Anti-Social Behavior Case 
Review, creating an important safety net for 
victims of persistent anti-social behaviour and 
those who may be most vulnerable 

Tackling Serious Violence
• Supporting young people in South 

Wales by commissioning primary, 
secondary and tertiary interventions to 
respond to  serious youth violence 

• Further promoting innovation, by using the 
developed Serious Violence Interventions 
Pathway with Local Authority partners

• Ensuring, through the Dyfodol Service and 
partnership work, availability and access 
to effective treatment and support services 
for those with substance use issues

• Reducing opportunities for exploitation 
by organised crime groups, including the 
risk of re-offending and harm, faced by 
those with substance dependency

How we are doing it:

11

Page 195



Priority 2
We will involve and empower our communities, working with partners in  
local government, health, fire and welsh government to deliver services that 
people need 

We are proud of living in a diverse community, it makes us what we are; we will continue to improve access 
to South Wales Police, so people get the services they need, when they need them. This includes continuous 
improvement in the performance of the Public Service Centre and understanding the demands on our 101 
non-emergency number to ensure the public receive a prompt, positive response and are confident to report. 

Involving 
• Promoting the development of a representative 

workforce – reflecting the communities we  
serve and addressing under-representation 
of specific communities

• In the light of our response to Black Lives 
Matter, we will work to enable all employees to 
understand the importance of racial equality  
and inclusion

• Improving recruitment, retention and 
progression of women in South Wales Police

• Applying the United Nations Convention on  
the Rights of the Child

• Encouraging and enabling our communities  
and partners to influence policy, 
service design and delivery

• Highlighting the importance of volunteer roles 
within policing and increasing opportunities for 
people to directly contribute towards safe and 
confident communities 

Empowering 
• Pursuing a strategy that demonstrates our 

commitment to involvement and good 
communication, internally and externally

• Helping members of the public to make  
contact with the appropriate service on  
issues other than policing

• Using the Serious Youth Violence Prevention 
Strategy developed by the Violence 
Prevention Unit; designed to empower 
individuals, communities and organisations 
to take a public health approach to violence 
prevention, with the support and leadership 
of the Violence Prevention Unit

• Providing a Welsh language response and 
promoting the use of the language 

• Continuing to help fund Community Safety 
Partnerships to ensure they have the  
resources they require to meet local needs 

Enabling
• Continuing to develop digital engagement to 

make the police more accessible, including 
the introduction of online crime reporting

• Making 101 and other police non-emergency 
contact options more accessible, ensuring 
that diverse needs are considered

• Seeking out innovative ways for involving our 
communities and victims in developing the 
services of South Wales Police, to ensure that they 
are focused upon the issues that affect them

• Using the Strategic Needs Assessment designed 
by the Violence Prevention Unit to support 
partners to undertake community responses to 
address the needs of the area based on data

How we are doing it:

12

Page 196



Priority 3 
We will work to protect the most vulnerable in our communities, understanding 
causes and taking prompt positive action as issues arise

We will develop our understanding of the issues faced by our communities to 
provide the support they need, using the principles of early intervention and co-
operation with partners to identify and help those who need it most.

Tackling Violence Against  
Women & Girls 
• Moving to a more sustainable funding model  

for violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence services 
based on evidence and needs

• Improving our awareness and response 
to victims of stalking and harassment

• Launching IRIS (Identification and Referral 
to Improve Safety) in Swansea and Neath 
Port Talbot with the Health Board – and the 
subsequent roll out to every part of South Wales 

• Developing and testing interventions that 
seek to focus on perpetrators through the 
provision of “support or disrupt” interventions

• Establishing a regional multi-
agency learning network 

Mental Health & Disability
• Working with partners to improve 

communication between the police and those 
with mental health needs or learning difficulties 
and promoting the Keep Safe Cymru card

• Working to support safe, friendly non-custodial 
places of safety for those experiencing crisis 
or at risk of being detained under Section 
136 or 135 of the Mental Health Act

• Employing mental health professionals in  
the Public Service Centre

• We are working with the Mental Health 
Foundation to understand how our services 
impacts on the mental health and wellbeing of 
the communities we serve. Our aim is to ensure 
that mental wellbeing is embedded into the 
way the Police operate and build wellbeing and 
resilience for staff and the local community. 

• Developing with partners, effective multi 
agency forums to consider the challenges 
and opportunities to address the existing 
demand for services for those in crisis and 
the quality of provision, ensuring positive 
outcomes for citizens and their families

• Ensuring early intervention is universally 
recognised as the best form of prevention, 
continuing work with partners to create safe, 
confident, resilient communities 

Child Sexual Exploitation & Abuse
• Implementing the recommendations of 

the Child Sexual Exploitation Review

• Continuing to develop the work of the 
Children’s’ Advocates with victims and improve 
identification of children at risk, working with 
partner agencies to deliver effective support

Vulnerable People
• Reviewing hate crime data and victim 

experiences to ensure hate crime victims 
get the most appropriate service and are 
satisfied with the response they receive

• Encouraging victims of hate crime 
to report incidents so that they can 
receive appropriate support

• Working with partners including Get Safe 
Online to protect people from the growing 
issue of scams and fraudulent behaviour

• Working with partners including Media 
Academy Cymru to support those who are 
most at risk of involvement in the Criminal 
Justice System, considering opportunities to 
intervene and prevent future involvement

How we are doing it:

13

Page 197



Priority 4
We will work to make the local criminal justice system efficient and effective  
to meet the needs of victims and reduce re-offending

The Criminal Justice System needs to have a clear emphasis on reducing crime with  a focus 
on preventing offending and re-offending while reducing harm and risk to the public.

Victims
• Funding and developing victim services 

that work for those most in need

• Improving outcomes for victims and 
ensuring their voice is heard through 
increased use of restorative approaches

• Ensuring compliance with the Victims Code 
of Practice and monitoring quarterly data on 
delivery from linked organisations 

Offenders
• Working with the Crown Prosecution Service  

to maximise our joint effectiveness

• Working with Welsh Government and the 
Ministry of Justice on the transformation 
of the justice system in Wales for women 
and young people, implementing the 
Blueprints that set out the changes needed

• Expanding the opportunities to intervene 
early, diverting people from crime, building 
on the Women’s Pathfinder and 18-25 
programmes to improve life opportunities

• Developing pathways for people with 
Mental Health issues so they get the 
support they need, when they need it

• Improve our response to the needs and 
management of our most dangerous offenders, 
ensuring victim safety is at the heart of our 
response, using the WISDOM model

• Investing in collaborations with local partners 
to develop a range of evidence based initiatives 
aimed at early intervention and at domestic 
violence perpetrators, including the Safe Lives 
“DRIVE” project 

Partners
• Working with the Prison and Probation 

Services to develop a coherent and 
integrated ‘end to end’ offender management 
approach across South Wales

• Working with partners to support the roll out 
of trauma-informed practice, such as trialling 
a youth justice response to ACEs, to improve 
our response to the needs of vulnerable 
young people who repeatedly offend

• Refreshing and delivering the jointly-
commissioned Dyfodol substance misuse 
service focused on preventing re-offending, 
aligning delivery with our local health partners

• Developing a better understanding of the 
impacts of the changing diversity within 
our local population to support cohesive, 
safe and confident communities

• Working with our criminal justice 
partners to address racial inequalities

How we are doing it:

14

Page 198



Priority 5
We will ensure that South Wales Police continues to be a high performing 
force in terms of the operational response to crime, threats, harm and the 
detection of offenders

The Strategic Policing Requirement identifies key national threats and the resources required to 
address them. South Wales Police is a key strategic force and will continue to make a significant 
contribution to national incidents (for example the 2011 London riots) and key international events.

With others, we maintain a constant  
focus on:

• Terrorism

• Serious and organised crime

• Cyber security incidents

• Civil Emergencies

• Public Order and Public Safety

• Child Sexual Exploitation & Abuse

• Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG)

Contributing to these challenges is a priority and  
we know the importance of ensuring that Wales is  
well-served through collaborative arrangements.

• Tackling radicalisation in our communities 
by building trust to promote an environment 
where people have the confidence 
to report extremist behaviour

• Collaborative working to respond efficiently to 
major incidents or events, keeping people safe

• Identifying, understanding and working 
with partners to tackle emerging 
threats such as online crime

• Working with partners to identify and  
disrupt modern slavery, Child Sexual 
Exploitation and abuse

• Ensuring that Serious and Organised 
Crime Boards respond to local issues

• Working with partners, such as the Prison & 
Probation Service in Wales to develop more 
effective offender management approaches  
to organised crime

• Implementing a Serious Violence Prevention 
Champions Network to support the 
implementation of a public health approach  
to violence prevention

How we are doing it:

15

Page 199



Priority 6
We will spend your money wisely and support our people to provide  
the best possible policing in your community

We have experienced severe cuts in the Police Grant from Central Government. That makes difficult  
decisions inevitable, but even in these tough times we are keeping our commitment to protect Neighbourhood 
Policing in South Wales and work effectively with partners to make our communities safe. This is evidenced  
by analysis highlighting that we have delivered almost £0.6 billion of social and economic benefit across  
our communities since 2011.

Resources will be locally based and strategically placed with effective and efficient services that are  
focused on need.

People 
• Developing a people strategy that is focused 

on well-being and puts the right people in the 
right place, developing the skills to deliver 
the ambitions of the Police & Crime Plan, 
recognising that they are our greatest asset

• Maintaining police numbers as far as we can 
whilst forced to make further cuts in spending

• Seeking a sustainable model for policing in 
South Wales taking account of pressures

• Promoting the recruitment, retention and 
progression of women, Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic people within our force

• Recruiting, training, developing and retaining 
more Special Constables and Police Volunteers 

• Giving our communities a voice when 
setting the level of the police precept

 
 

Estates
• Reducing costs and improving efficiency 

through an agile approach 

• Making our estate fit for purpose while 
sharing procurement and back office costs 
with other forces and public sector partners

• Collaborating with local partners and other forces 
on sustainable procurement to maximise the 
impact of our budget 

Equipment
• Making more effective use of technology 

via the collaborative Digital Services 
Division, particularly through mobile 
data, iR3 and body worn cameras

• Exploring collaborative and innovate 
commissioning opportunities with our partners 
to provide more cohesive, cost efficient 
and effective services to communities

 

How we are doing it:

16

Page 200



Enabling Delivery 
The Plan sets out not only the priorities to be taken forward by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner but also operational activity to be taken in response to 
those priorities that fall under the direction and control of the Chief Constable 

In many cases, the Plan also reflects areas which have been jointly developed and the references to 
what ‘we’ will do is a reflection of this joint work, with the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief 
Constable each performing their roles on the basis of trust, respect, confidence and transparency. 

Innovative & 
Productive
We will seek out 
opportunities to make 
the best use of our 
resources, embedding 
problem solving and
deliver change 
that benefits our 
communities and 
our organisation.

Evidence Based
We will use accurate 
and accessible 
information to inform 
how we prioritise and 
make decisions.

Digital Inclusivity
We will develop our 
digital response to 
provide a quality
service to our 
communities that 
complements
traditional channels.

Health, Safety
& Wellbeing
We will all take 
personal responsibility 
in creating a safer 
workplace and support
initiatives that improve
our wellbeing.

Equality, Diversity
& Inclusion
We will treat our 
colleagues and our 
communities with 
dignity and respect, 
eliminate inappropriate
behaviours and 
improve representation 
of our workforce.

Supportive
Leadership & 
Supervision
We will be clear about
our responsibilities as
supervisors and 
leaders, be equipped 
with the right skills,
supporting and 
developing our teams 
with confidence.

Prevent Harm  
from Serious & 
Organised Crime
We will be proactive in
targeting perpetrators 
of serious and 
organised crime that 
cause harm to our
communities 
and exploit those 
most at risk.

Protect Against
Exploitation
We will work with 
partners to protect 
those who are less
able to protect 
themselves, or 
others, from harm 
or exploitation.

Focus on Victims
We will adapt our 
services to meet the 
individual needs of
victims, we will 
keep them informed 
and supported.

Early
Intervention
& Prevention
We will work with 
partners to identify 
and help those at 
risk, through early 
intervention
and prevention.

Community
Problem Solving
We will engage with 
our communities and 
our partners to develop 
sustainable solutions 
to shared problems.

Criminal Justice,
Offender
Management
& Diversion
We will carry out high 
quality investigations 
to seek justice for 
victims, and work  
with Criminal 
Justice partners to
reduce offending.

Organisational People Operational Partnerships

17

Page 201



Each Day* South Wales Police Deals with Around… 

2

1

24 Hours in South Wales Police

Public Service Centre Calls

Sexual
OffencesMissing Persons

Domestic Related 
Incidents

Public Safety Welfare Calls

Reports Of 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour

2, 14 5

People Through 
Custody

62

238

and the On-Going Management of Around...

*For the period October 2020 to September 2021

6,460
Repeat Victims of Domestic  

Abuse Engaged with

1,444
Children Supported on the Child 

Protection Register

2,156
Offenders Managed  

Under Mappa  
(Multi-Agency Public Protection 

Arrangements)

Assaults 917 9

9153

18

Page 202



In 2020-21 South Wales had the 
second lowest precept charge 
for policing in Wales. Increases 
on the precept have been vital to 
protecting police officer numbers 
and serving our communities.

Police Force 2021/22 Band D Council Tax

North Wales £305.55

Gwent £287.86

South Wales £287.72

Dyfed Powys £275.56

190

180

170

160

150

140

G
ra

nt
 (£

m
)

Reduction in Central 
Government Funding 
for South Wales  
in Millions 
(2011 to 2020)

Police Officer 
Numbers in South 
Wales (2010-2020)

2012/13 2014/152013/14 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

3,200

3,100

3,000

2,900

2,800

2,700Po
lic

e 
O

ffi
ce

r N
um

be
rs

Mar
2010

Mar 
2012

Mar 
2011

Mar 
2013

Mar 
2014

Mar 
2015

Mar 
2017

Mar 
2018

Mar 
2020

Mar 
2021

Mar 
2019

Mar 
2016

Financial Challenge 
The combined impacts of grant cuts and inflation made it necessary to find 
reduced spending of £59m between 2010/11 and 2021/22

South Wales Police has faced massive challenges over recent years: 

Despite these challenges:

• Roughly a third has been cut 
from the money that used 
to come in the Police Grant 
from the Home Office

• Demand on police services 
continues to increase although 
nearly 90% of that demand 
has little to do with crime

• No recognition of the added 
demand for policing a 
Capital City as received for 
London and Edinburgh

WE ARE EFFECTIVE –

delivering almost £0.5 billion 
of social and economic benefit 
across our communities since 2011

WE ARE INNOVATIVE – 

leading nationally on the use 
of technology to tackle crime

WE ARE EFFICIENT – 

delivering £51m of 
transformative savings

2011/12 2020/21 2021/22Core Grant PUP Grant

19

Page 203

swp53754
Sticky Note
2021/22



*Following inspection, an updated HMIC PEEL assessment for South Wales Police will be published in 2022.

This information quickly illustrates the demands placed on us as a service but this must be viewed in the 
context of our own performance and journey as seen in the graph below which shows that there is now a 
very high degree of convergence between what the public experience and what is reported to the police:

South Wales remains one 
of the safest places to 
live, work and visit with 
the service provided to 
victims amongst the best in 
England & Wales.

Estimate of crime experienced 
in South Wales Police area

Estimate of crime reported 
to South Wales Police

South Wales Police 
recorded crime

The strategic policing requirement, set by the Home Secretary, requires that forces 
must be equipped to deal with:

Policing South Wales
Policing is complex and demanding by nature; its requirements are influenced by a vast number of  
factors from the state of the economy through to the latest technological trends, yet forces are expected  
to adapt and respond effectively to these challenges.

Their most recent assessment of South Wales Police was in 2018/19* and based upon the framework  
in place at that time was as follows:’

EFFECTIVENESS – GOOD EFFICIENCY – GOOD LEGITIMACY – GOOD

Strengths

Preventing and 
investigating crime Planning for the future

Community engagement, 
treating people fairly and 
with respect

Understanding and 
identifying vulnerability 

Prioritising use of resources 
to meet demand Strong ethical culture 

Further Develop

Ongoing support to 
vulnerable victims Future workforce planning

Management, performance 
and development of 
workforce

Ongoing support for 
victims of domestic abuse Value for money plan Understanding of use of 

police powers 

South Wales Police Recorded Crime in Context
600,000

500,000

400,000

300,000

200,000

100,000

0

Civil 
Emergencies

Cyber 
Incidents

Threats to 
Public OrderTerrorism Organised 

Crime

2021
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
2015
2014
2013
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008
2007
2006
2005
2004
2003
2002
2001
2000
1999
1998
1997
1996
1995
1994
1993
1992
1991
1990
1989
1988
1987
1986
1985
1984
1983

20

Page 204



Engaging Communities
Public engagement, involvement and empowerment are critical to cutting 
crime, delivering a police service which meets community needs and the 
development of trust & confidence

Engaging with communities across South Wales 
is an important aspect of the Commissioner’s 
role, as it helps to provide a richer picture of 
local concerns and enables the Commissioner 
to better undertake his duty to hold the force to 
account on behalf of the public. Our Engagement 

Strategy sets out our commitment to delivering 
meaningful engagement and the methods in 
which we will do this, giving the public the 
opportunity to speak directly to the Commissioner 
and his team in a number of ways including:

Race Equality
Racial inequality has been a key area of concern in policing and the wider criminal justice system 
for many years. The tragic death of Stephen Lawrence in the 1990s led to the publication of the 
Macpherson report in 1999, and it was then that policing began to really understand the changes 
that needed to be made to tackle race inequality. Even though efforts have been made, it has become 
clear that not enough has been achieved and that our communities want to see more action and 
real change. The Black Lives Matter movement in the UK is clearly reminding us of that.

We are committed to ensuring that race equality becomes a renewed priority for us. The Commissioner 
and Chief Constable will develop a Joint Race Equality Action Plan to outline what will be done, in 
conjunction with our communities, to ensure race disproportionality is reduced in South Wales 
Police. It will outline action to improve Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic communities’ confidence 
in the police and increase representation amongst our officers and staff, with the Commissioner 
holding the Chief Constable to account for the timely delivery of the plan’s commitments.

The Commissioner has an important role to play in working with criminal justice partners 
and bringing them together to work collaboratively in the interests of the public, whilst also 
commissioning services for the force area. We will work with all Chief Constables, Police & Crime 
Commissioners, and criminal justice partners in Wales, to pursue joint outcomes on race equality. 
We will push to ensure that partners take race equality seriously, are held to account for their action, 
and that commissioned services understand their race equality obligations. We will also work with 
Welsh Government to promote a ‘one public service’ approach to race equality across Wales.

Community Walkabouts

Virtual Meetings

Community Events

21

Page 205



What our Partners are Telling Us
Co-operation is core to our approach and a critical component in making  
sure the criminal justice system is a place where partners can be more  
confident and effective

Tackling Violence Against  
Women & Girls
Reducing Violence Against Women & Girls has been a key priority in the 
Police & Crime Plan since 2012. Such violence is devastating and often  
results in a lifetime of adversity for victims and their families while damaging  
the wider community

Our Joint Strategy 2019-2024 for Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls sets out our clear 
determination to work with victims and survivors, along with our partners, to prevent such violence 
in all its forms.  We are reducing repeat victimisation by challenging perpetrators and offering 
them the chance to change, while supporting victims and survivors and their families.   

During 2020-21 we won over £640,000 from Home Office funds for initiatives, with local Councils, 
to make our streets safer for women and girls, especially at night.  We are addressing vulnerability 
across our communities, recognising that the threats remain real and are constantly changing. 

Several tragic events, including the murder of Sarah Everard, have damaged the trust and confidence 
of many women in policing, and it is more important than ever to work for their safety and 
confidence. Working through our dedicated Policing in Wales Taskforce we will be relentless in our 
efforts to reduce the intimidation, harassment and violence experienced by women and girls. 

Early intervention and prompt, positive action can only be achieved through strong partnerships 
and shared outcomes. Understanding the focus of our partners ensures that these are reflected 
through our own priorities, making us all more effective and efficient in achieving our goals. 

OUR PARTNERS’ BIGGEST CONCERNS ARE:

DOMESTIC ABUSE MENTAL HEALTH ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR REDUCE RE-OFFENDING

TERRORISM VIOLENT CRIME CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION

VICTIMS ACQUISITIVE CRIME PUBLIC PERCEPTION

SUBSTANCE MISUSE SUPPORTING YOUNG PEOPLE PROTECTING VULNERABLE PEOPLE

22

Page 206



If I had a breakdown 
of where my money 
goes to each section 
[of the police] and how 
much the government 
gave to each section I 
would probably be more 
inclined to give more

What the Public are Telling Us
Understanding and responding to the needs of our communities is a key focus for 
South Wales Police. We engage and involve communities in a number of ways 
and here are just a few of the things they are telling us*:

46%
38%
38%
34%
24%

Drugs and substance misuse
Speeding and dangerous driving
Street safety (fear of walking alone locally)
Burglary and theft
Mental health related crime and anti-social behaviour

of people would be willing to 
contribute more towards police 
funding through their council tax

Current Top 5 community concerns across South Wales: 

Comments made by members of our communities: 

*Survey of 1,630 members of the community, December 2021

45%

I feel that central 
Government should 
take a more responsible 
and supportive role in 
recognising the needs 
of the people and 
there should be more 
investment ‘ring fenced’ 
for national need

As working  
professionals with 
a young family, the 
cost of living has risen 
disproportionately 
to our wages. We 
pay huge amounts of 
tax on our salaries

23

Page 207



Our Priorities 
South Wales Police, led by the Commissioner  
and the Chief Constable, will...

Reduce and prevent crime 
and anti-social behaviour 
to keep people safe and 
confident in their homes 
and communities

Work to protect the 
most vulnerable in 
our communities, 
understanding causes and 
taking prompt positive 
action as issues arise

Ensure that South Wales 
Police continues to be a high 
performing force in terms 
of the operational response 
to crime, threats, harm and 
the detection of offenders

Spend your money 
wisely and support our 
people to provide the 
best possible policing 
in your community

Involve and empower our 
communities, working 
with partners in local 
government, health, fire and 
welsh government to deliver 
services that people need 

Work to make the local 
criminal justice system 
efficient and effective to 
meet the needs of victims 
and reduce re-offending

Rt Hon Alun Michael
South Wales Police and 
Crime Commissioner

@commissionersw

This document is also 
available in Welsh

Donate and make a difference. 
Help support the South 
Wales Police Youth Trust. 

Ty Morgannwg
Police Headquarters
Bridgend, CF31 3SU

01656 869366
commissioner@south-wales.police.uk
southwalescommissioner.org.uk

We welcome correspondence 
in both Welsh and English

Page 208



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

TITLE:  Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales’ Police Public 

Survey Results  

DATE:  3rd February 2022 

PURPOSE: For Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel considers the attached Police Precept 

Consultation Public Survey results report conducted at the end of 2021 as 

required by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Police and Crime Commissioner has a responsibility under the above 

legislation to obtain the views of the public on matters relating to policing.  This 

includes consulting with residents in advance of setting the police precept level 

and allocating the police budget. 

3. SUMMARY FOR CONSIDERATION 

To ensure the communities of South Wales were provided with an opportunity 

to share their views on their policing priorities, including how much extra they 

would be willing to contribute towards policing as part of their council tax for 

2022/23, the Commissioner launched a public consultation survey in Autumn 

2021. 

The consultation commenced on Wednesday 10th November to 15th 

December 2021. To coincide with the survey we developed a police precept 

‘what you need to know’ leaflet outlining key information about the police 

precept, in order to assist residents with making informed and intelligence-led 

decisions when completing the survey. 

 

A number of channels were utilised: 

 Online consultation 

 Easy Read - An easy read version of the survey was also produced and 

shared with disability organisations to increase participation from 

individuals with learning disabilities 

 Face-to-face engagement where possible but limited due to COVID 

restrictions. 

Due to COVID it was regularly promoted the survey across our social media 

channels and used paid promotion to extend the reach of the survey beyond 

the audience who ‘follow us’ on our channels. Through paid promotion on 

Facebook, the post reached 10,088 members of our communities. 418 

people (4%) clicked on the post to read it, however, 298 (3%) clicked on the 

survey link. Through paid promotion on Twitter, the post had 27,451 

Page 209

Agenda Item 6



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

impressions (the number of people’s timelines it appeared on) and 81 people 

clicked on the link to the survey. There were 38,339 opportunities at the very 

least to participate in the survey online, which doesn’t include all the 

supplementary posts done to encourage response. 

To increase the reach of the survey, the Commissioner’s team collaborated 

with a number of stakeholders such as voluntary councils, business 

improvement districts, local authorities and third-sector organisations. 

Working in partnership to promote the survey enabled the Commissioner’s 

team to extend the reach of the survey and increase participation from 

residents who may not have engaged with us otherwise. 

Summary of the key findings: 

Despite the challenges of COVID responses were up from last year (1001) to 

1630 residents responding. The report attached is a very comprehensive 

analysis of the consultation and should also be seen in the context of wider 

consultation conducted throughout the year. 

 

The report summarised the top 5 community concerns in each area, as well 

as more general comments on policing in South Wales. There is also a 

breakdown on views on the precept contribution. 

 

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Police and Crime Panel are required to note as supportive to the wider 

financial presentation. The report will then be published on the Police and 

Crime Commissioners website.  

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

The financial implications for the delivery of the Police and Crime Plan, in the 

context of the grant settlement for South Wales Police for 2022/2023 are 

fully explained within the Commissioner’s and Treasurer’s report. The results 

of the consultation exercise plus the financial demands on South Wales 

Police, together with another real-terms cut in Government funding for South 

Wales Police, have all been considered by the Commissioner in his precept 

proposal. 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

The majority of the Policing and Crime Budget covers Police Officer and Police 

Staff salaries and employer’s contributions.  The consultation captures an over 

view of respondents views on the use a of the policing budget and priorities 

for policing. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Producing the report particularly in the light of: 

(i) any report or recommendations made by the police and crime panel; and 

(ii) any changes in the strategic policing requirement  

Page 210



  

 

  

3 

 

(iii) statutory responsibilities of the Commissioner under the Police Reform 

and Social Responsibilities Act 2011. 

 

8. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

The use of easy read was also trialled to assist those who may have difficulties 

in responding through the more traditional routes.  

9. RISK 

A timely decision will minimise the risk to the non-compliance with the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This report will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Lee Jones, Chief Executive to the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 

Wales. 

12. ANNEXES 

The Annexe to this report is a copy of the precept report for noting.  

 

 

Page 211



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 

The South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner’s  

Annual Community Survey 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Survey Results 

January 2022 

Page 213



  

 
 

 

 
2 

 

 

Contents  

 

1. Introduction………………………………………………………………………………………………3 

 

2. Methodology…………………………………………………………………………………………….3 

 

3. Analysis……………………………………………………………………………………………….…….4 

 

4. Summary of key findings……………………………………………………………………….…..5 

 

5. Findings of the survey…………………………………………………………………………….….7 

 

6. Understanding and Responding to our Communities. ………………………………..8 

 

7. Public perceptions of crime and anti-social behaviour……………..………………..13 

 

8. Public views of local policing………………………………………...………………………..…16 

 

9. Police precept contributions………………………………………………………………………21 

 

10. Conclusion………………………………………………….……………………………………………..25 

 

11. Demographics………………………………………………………………………………………..….25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 214



 
  
 

 

 

 3 

 

1. Introduction 
The Police and Crime Commissioner has a responsibility under the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act to obtain the views of the public on matters relating to policing.  This includes 

consulting with residents in advance of setting the police precept level and allocating the police 

budget.  

To ensure the communities of South Wales were provided with an opportunity to share their views 

on their policing priorities, the service provided by South Wales Police and their views on police 

funding as part of their council tax for 2022/23, the Commissioner launched a public survey in 

Autumn 2021.  

2. Methodology                                                                                                                                      
The survey ran for a five-week period, between Wednesday 10th November to 15th December 2021. 

To ensure the survey was accessible, four different versions of the survey were created and 

amalgamed using one survey link. These versions included English, Welsh, and Easy Read (English & 

Welsh). Paper copy versions were also made available upon request.  

We endeavoured to use multiple approaches to increase the reach of our survey. This included:   

Social media 

We regularly promoted the survey across our social media channels and used 

paid promotion to extend the reach of the survey beyond the audience who 

‘follow us’ on our channels. Through paid promotion on Facebook, the post 

reached 10,088 members of our communities. 418 people (4%) clicked on the 

post to read it, however, 298 (3%) clicked on the survey link.  Through paid 

promotion on Twitter, the post had 27,451 impressions (the number of 

people’s timelines it appeared on) and 81 people clicked on the link to the survey. There were 

38,339 opportunities at the very least to participate in the survey online, which doesn’t include all 

the supplementary posts done to encourage response.  

 

Stakeholder engagement  

We engaged with partner organisations and community representatives to 

assist us in encouraging members of the community to participate in the 

survey. Examples of the stakeholders we engaged with included:  
 

o Community and Town Councils  

o Local Authorities  

o Local Councillors  

o Third Sector Organisations  

o Business Improvement Districts  

o Community Safety Partnerships  

o Health Boards 

o Universities 

 

 

 

Page 215



  
 

 
 

 

 4 

Community engagement                                                                                                                

Using the profiling software ‘Experian Mosaic’, which provides an 

understanding of the demographics, lifestyles and behaviour of all 

individuals and households across the UK, we looked at variable data 

focused on ‘Internet savviness’, to identify those members of our 

population who were less comfortable with the online world. We looked at 

the distribution of these groups across South Wales by the proportion of the 

population they represented and used this as a basis to inform where we would focus our 

community engagement.  

We endeavoured to schedule community engagement events in each county, however, due to 

Covid related issues and securing venues, this wasn’t possible. Areas we were successful in holding 

community engagement events included:  

 

o Tesco’s Tonypandy, Rhondda Cynon Taf  

o Porthcawl Library, Bridgend  

o Action for Elders & Swansea Council older people group, Swansea  

o Sandfields Library, Neath Port Talbot  

o Barry Library, Vale of Glamorgan  

 

3. Analysis 

This survey is based on information collected from a sample of individuals who reside in the South 

Wales Police force area.  

Readers are requested to note that the data is unweighted. It should also be noted that not every 

respondent completed every question. Therefore, the results are based on the number of 

respondents to individual questions. Where percentages do not add up to 100% this is either down 

to rounding or multiple answers.  

Survey Sample Size and Margin of Error 

The population of the South Wales area (Census 2011) is 1,339,440.  A minimum sample size of 385 

respondents was required to ensure a 'margin of error' of 5% with 'confidence level' of 95%.  Our 

survey received 1,630 responses. 

The 'margin of error' provides RANGE within which the true result is likely to fall. The 'confidence 

level' tells us that we are 95% confident that the real result falls within a certain range. 

The 'margin of error' for the survey was 2% - that is either +2% or -2% of the survey results.   

Following this introduction, the report contains: 

• A summary of the key findings of the survey 

• More detailed commentary of the main findings 

• Demographic profile of the respondents 

 

 

Page 216



 
  
 

 

 

 5 

 

Page 217



  
 

 
 

 

 6 

 

 

Page 218



 
  
 

 

 

 7 

4. Findings of the survey 

There were 1,630 responses to the survey from people who were living in the South Wales area. 

This is an increase of 629 responses (63%) from the previous year and is the highest response 

we’ve had to date for the survey. An overview of our response rate over the last 5 years is 

illustrated below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Survey Methods                                                                                                                                    
This year, all versions of the survey were amalgamated into one link to increase the exposure of the 

various versions available. We were pleased to see an increase in responses for the Easy Read and 

Welsh versions of the survey. The below table provides the number and percentage of respondents 

for each version of the survey.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Number and percentage of respondents from each County                                                                                                                            

The below map illustrates the number and percentage of respondents that resided in each county. 

The highest number of responses with 394 were from Cardiff (24%). Merthyr Tydfil had the lowest 

number of responses with 125 (8%). However, this is an increase of 82 responses from residents in 

Merthyr, compared to the previous year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Method 

 
Number of 

Respondents 

 
% 

Respondents 

 
Increase in responses 

from 2020 – 2021 

English  1518 93.1% +565 

Welsh  29 1.8% +28 

Easy Read (English) 81 5% +36 

Easy Read (Welsh) 2 0.1% - 

Total 1,630 100%   

(178) (189) 

16% 

12

1,619

1,073

1,001

1,630

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Number of responses in last 5 years

Number of responses

Page 219



  
 

 
 

 

 8 

Consultation Sample Size – Comparison with Local Authority Population 

 

The table below is a comparison of the percentage of responses received equated to the 

population of each of South Wales’ Local Authority populations. 

 

Local Authority 
Local Authority 

Population 
Survey Sample 

Size 
L A 
% 

Survey 
% 

Variance 

Bridgend                  147,050                       251  11% 15% +4.4% 

Cardiff                  366,900                       394  27% 24% 3.2% 

Merthyr Tydfil                    60,330                       125  5% 8% +3.2% 

Neath Port Talbot                  143,320                       169  11% 10% 0.3% 

Rhondda Cynon Taf                  241,260                       196  18% 12% 6.0% 

Swansea                  246,990                       229  18% 14% 4.4% 

Vale of Glamorgan                  133,590                       266  10% 16% +6.3% 

Whole Force Area               1,339,440                  1,630       

 

It can be seen that both sample sets are proportionally very similar as illustrated in the two charts 

below: 

 

                

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Understanding and Responding to our Communities  

The Commissioner is responsible for bringing a public voice to policing in South Wales. Hearing 

directly from people in the area provides the Commissioner and his team with a broader 

understanding of the issues making people feel unsafe, as well as their experiences and 

perceptions of local policing. This assists us to consider the delivery of community safety work, in 

addition to holding South Wales Police to account on behalf of the public.  

Community Engagement                                                                                                                                
The Commissioner schedules a variety of engagement activity with the public throughout the year, 

to strengthen his understanding of the issues that need addressing, examples of good work, and 

ways in which our practices can better reflect what communities are telling us they need. Examples 

of our engagement activity range from:  

- Community Walkabouts  

- Virtual Community Conversations  

- Community Outreach Events 

- Engagement with young people via our ‘Young Voices Conversations’ initiative 

In addition to speaking to communities throughout the year about the issues concerning them where 

they live, we also utilise our annual community survey to seek wider views about the issues impacting 

communities 

Page 220



 
  
 

 

 

 9 

Community Concerns                                                                                                                                                  
We asked residents to tell us what issues concerned them, or made them feel unsafe where they 

lived, worked, or spent time in South Wales. Residents were asked to select their top 5 concerns 

from a pre-defined list of 20 options.  

Nearly half of respondents (46%) ranked alcohol, drugs, and substance misuse in the top 5 concerns 
for their area. Over a third (38%) selected ‘speeding and dangerous driving’ and ‘street safety’ as a 
concern.  

The top 5 community concerns are illustrated below. 

  

 

 

It is worth noting that we included ‘street safety’ as a new category this year. This was in response 

to the discussions we have had with young people throughout the year, where they’ve discussed 

their concerns in relation to women’s safety in public spaces. Therefore, we felt it was important to 

include this in our community survey, to seek wider views and feedback in relation to this topic.  

 

A full breakdown of responses for each community concern is listed below: 
 

 
 

 Community Concern  No. Respondents % 

1.  Alcohol, drugs and substance misuse 743 46% 
2.  Speeding and dangerous driving 626 38% 
3 Street Safety e.g. fear of walking or exercising alone 615 38% 
4 Burglary and theft 551 34% 
5 Mental health related crime and anti-social behaviour 396 24% 
6 Public disorder 287 18% 
7 Online crime e.g. fraud and scams 266 16% 
8 Harassment and Intimidation 257 16% 
9 Knife crime 244 15% 
10 Domestic violence, abuse and coercive controlling behaviour 209 13% 
11 Vandalism e.g. graffiti 200 12% 
12 Rape and serious sexual assault 191 12% 
13 Violent crime e.g. assault or murder 168 10% 
14 Hate crime 144 9% 
15 Child abuse 130 8% 
16 Crimes against businesses e.g. shoplifting 87 5% 
17 I am not concerned about anything 72 4% 
18 Human trafficking and exploitation 55 3% 
19 Stalking 43 3% 
20 Terrorism 40 2% 

Page 221



  
 

 
 

 

 10 

Community Concerns for each County 

To assist with identifying the similarities and differences in concerns raised across the force area, the 

top 5 local concerns in priority order for each county are illustrated below: 

 

 

 

 

 

To help us understand why people were concerned about the issues they had selected, we asked 

respondents to share their feedback with us via free text. This feedback has been summarised and 

grouped into the geographical areas of South Wales Police’s ‘Basic Command Units’ (BCUs).  

Cardiff & the Vale BCU  

Many respondents noted their concerns and fears in relation to walking or 

exercising alone at night and expressed they didn’t feel safe outside after dark. 

Some expressed their fears of being harassed or assaulted, which either prevented 

them from going out, or curtailed their activity. Some of these concerns were based 

on the rise in assaults against women and recent media coverage. Poorly lit streets 

and isolated areas, also contributed to people’s nervousness of walking alone in the 

dark. 

 

Many respondents expressed their concerns in relation to the number of burglary 

and thefts in their areas. Several people referenced that they’d seen an increase in 

people posting images and CCTV footage of burglaries on social media. Some felt 

there was “little being done by the police” to combat these crimes.  
 

Swansea  

1. Alcohol, drugs, and substance misuse 

2. Speeding and dangerous driving  

3. Street Safety  

4. Burglary and Theft  

5. Mental health related crime & anti-

social behaviour  

Neath Port Talbot  

1. Alcohol, drugs, and substance 

misuse 

2. Speeding and dangerous driving  

3. Burglary and Theft  

4. Street Safety  

5. Mental health related crime &        

anti-social behaviour  

Cardiff 

1. Street Safety  

2. Burglary and Theft  

3. Alcohol, drugs, and substance misuse 

4. Speeding and dangerous driving  

5. Knife Crime  

Rhondda Cynon Taf  

1. Alcohol, drugs and substance misuse 

2. Speeding and dangerous driving  

3. Street safety  

4. Mental health related crime and anti-

social behaviour  

5. Burglary and theft  

Merthyr Tydfil  

1. Alcohol, drugs, and substance misuse 

2. Speeding and dangerous driving  

3. Street Safety  

4. Burglary and Theft  

5. Mental health related crime and anti-social 

behaviour  

Bridgend 

1. Alcohol, drugs, and substance misuse 

2. Speeding and dangerous driving 

3. Street Safety  

4. Burglary and Theft  

5. Mental health related crime and anti-

social behaviour   

Vale of Glamorgan  

1. Alcohol, drugs, and substance misuse 

2. Burglary and Theft  

3. Speeding and dangerous driving  

4. Street Safety  

5. Online Crime  

Page 222



 
  
 

 

 

 11 

Many respondents noted their concerns in relation to the “widespread drug 

activity” in their local areas. Many people said that they frequently observed 

people either dealing or taking drugs and felt “more should be done” to deal with 

the open drug dealing and gangs operating in their areas. Many mentioned that 

this activity was taking place in broad daylight and made people feel “unsafe and 

intimidated”. Some people also noted their concerns about young people being 

exploited and used by drug dealers, which they felt led to “more young people 

feeling unsafe and carrying knives”.  
 

 

Several respondents noted their encounters of aggressive and dangerous drivers, 

involving cars, electric scooters, and motorbikes. Some felt there was a “lack of 

enforcement” from police officers to address these issues. Cars parking on and 

obstructing pavements was also mentioned on several occasions. 
 

A few respondents noted their “fears” in relation to knife crime and felt this was 

“on the rise” where they lived. 
 
 

Many respondents noted their concerns in relation to online/phone scams, which 

were becoming more frequent and credible. Several commented on the impact of 

scams on older and vulnerable people, particularly those isolated through the 

pandemic. People felt that there wasn’t enough information about how to identify 

scams and who to report it to.  
 

Some respondents felt there was a “serious lack of, or no support for people with 

mental health issues”. They felt that “more supportive and preventative measures” 

were needed to help people deal with mental health issues and prevent them from 

“falling into addiction, homelessness and crime”.  

 
 

Many respondents noted the lack of visible police patrols in their areas. Many felt 

there was “no protection” for communities when police officers were “nowhere to 

be seen”.   
 

•  

Some people commented on the treatment of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

(BAME) people by the police and referenced incidents in the news. Some people 

felt there was “still an issue where BAME people felt they were selected for stop & 

search” and that they didn’t feel protected.  
 

Some people were concerned in relation to increased incidents of child abuse and 

domestic violence. They felt that people had become more vulnerable during 

Covid, as they were confined in their homes with their families/partners.  
 

Many people felt that their town centres were “plagued” by anti-social behaviour 

and “rife” with substance users. It was noted that people often congregated on 

benches & public places to drink alcohol, which led to shouting, swearing, and 

fighting. This behaviour caused many people to feel intimidated and vulnerable.  
 

Some people noted their fears of “retaliation” if they reported an issue to the 

police or tried to address the issue themselves. For some, the fear of “reprisal”, 

prevented them from reporting.  

 

Page 223



  
 

 
 

 

 12 

Mid Glamorgan (Bridgend, Merthyr Tydfil & Rhondda Cynon Taf) 

Many respondents from the Mid Glamorgan area noted their concerns in relation 

to substance misuse and alcohol related incidents. Many felt that this activity had 

increased and often took place in broad daylight. This was particularly visible and 

prominent in town centres and often led to violence and disorderly behaviour, 

causing many people to feel intimidated.  
 

Several respondents noted dangerous driving and speeding near residential areas 

and schools. Many felt that lack of police resources allowed this behaviour to 

continue, as people knew there would be “minimal chance of being caught driving 

dangerously”. Some people also noted motorbikes driving on pavements and at 

high speeds on their streets. This caused many to feel nervous “in fear of being hit 

by either a speeding car, electric scooter or a motorbike”.  
 

Many respondents noted concerns in relation to the lack of police visibility in their 

communities. Many said that the lack of police officers patrolling their areas made 

them feel “more concerned” about the issues impacting the area. People felt 

strongly about the need for increased foot patrols, which they felt would help to 

deter and address local issues, as well as make people feel reassured and safe. 

Whilst some people noted that the police may be addressing issues, low visibility 

resulted in the public perceiving that nothing was being done.   
 

Many people noted their concerns in relation to rises in burglaries. Several felt that 

these incidents were regularly occurring within their communities “without 

apparent effective policing”.  

 
 

Many respondents felt nervous or worried about their safety when walking alone 

at night. Some mentioned that this was a result of gangs of people openly taking 

drugs and drinking, whilst other noted fears of being “an easy target” and a 

“potential victim” as a female walking/exercising in public spaces.  
 

Several respondents said that there were areas where they felt unsafe in their 

community. This was linked to increases in anti-social behaviour, where gangs 

openly took drugs and drank excessively. This often led to people breaking out in 

fights and harassing people. Some people said that they classed some parts of their 

community as “no go areas” because of this.  
 

A number of respondents felt that people’s mental health had got worse following 

the effects of the pandemic, and the ongoing challenges of low income, job losses 

and anticipated increases in household bills would only fuel this.  
 

Swansea & Neath Port Talbot  

Many respondents commented on the “threats to their town/city centres economy 

and culture” due to anti-social behaviour and substance users. The behaviours 

associated with drug use and alcohol were often intimidating and uncomfortable 

and many people said that they now avoided visiting town/city centres as they 

“didn’t feel safe”.  
 

Page 224



 
  
 

 

 

 13 

 

Many commented on frequent speeding and dangerous driving near their homes. 

They felt there should be more education for younger people about the impacts of 

speeding and dangerous driving.  
 

 

Several respondents said they were “anxious” or “nervous” about walking alone at 

night. Some people referred to recent coverage of serious incidents in the news, 

which had “amplified” their fears.  
 

 

Many respondents noted that vandalism and anti-social behaviour in communal 

areas and parks had increased since lockdown. Many felt “frightened” to challenge 

this behaviour in fear of the consequences.   
 

 

Several respondents commented on the absence of police officers and noted it was 

“very rare to see a police officer or PCSO on patrol” in their area. Many felt that 

criminal activity and anti-social behaviour went unchallenged because there was no 

visible police presence. A few people noted that whilst they see/read about crimes 

increasing, they didn’t see an increase in officers/PCSOs. Some people felt that 

their areas had been allowed to become “lawless” because of this. 

 

 

6. Public perceptions of crime and anti-social behaviour  
Respondents were asked to what extent did they feel that crime and anti-social behaviour had 

increased or decreased in their local area. To assist with drawing a comparison, we asked people to 

base their response on the ‘last 3 years’ and the ‘last 12 months’. 

In the last 3 years                                                                                                                                            
Over two thirds of respondents (70%) felt that crime and anti-social behaviour had increased in 

some way in the last 3 years. Over a third of respondents (40%) felt that crime had ‘increased a 

lot’. The below graph and table provide the percentage and number of respondents for each 

response.  

 

 

 

 

Response No. % 

Increased a lot 658 40.4% 

Increased a bit 487 29.9% 

Stayed the same 291 17.9% 

Decreased a bit 45 2.8% 

Decreased a lot 6 0.4% 

Don’t Know 143 8.8% 

Grand Total 1630 100% Increased a lot
40.4%

Increased a bit
29.9%

Stayed the same
17.9%

Decreased a bit
2.8%

Decreased a lot
0.4%

Don't know
8.8%

Page 225



  
 

 
 

 

 14 

Over 50% of respondents in each county felt that crime and anti-social behaviour had increased in 

some way over the last 3 years. The below graph and table illustrate the percentage and number of 

respondents for each county.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In the last 12 months                                                                                                                                   
Similarly, two thirds of respondents (69%) felt that crime and anti-social behaviour had increased in 

some way in the last 12 months, with over a third of respondents (43%) saying they felt it had 

‘increased a lot’.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Response 

Increased a 
lot 

Increased a 
bit 

Stayed the 
same Decreased bit 

Decreased a 
lot Don’t Know  

Bridgend 114 74 41 9 1 12 

Cardiff  165 103 70 14 2 40 

Merthyr Tydfil  50 38 21 1 0 15 

Neath Port Talbot  61 54 32 5 1 16 

Rhondda Cynon Taf  79 64 32 3 0 18 

Swansea  90 75 33 9 2 20 

Vale of Glamorgan  99 79 62 4 0 22 

Grand Total 658 487 291 45 6 143 

Response No. % 

Increased a lot 703 43.1% 

Increased a bit 427 26.2% 

Stayed the same 311 19.1% 

Decreased a bit 60 3.7% 

Decreased a lot 8 0.5% 

Don’t Know 121 7.4% 

Grand Total 1630 100% 
Increased a lot

43.1%

Increased a bit
26.2%

Stayed the same
19.1%

Decreased a bit
3.7%

Decreased a lot
0.5%

Don't know
7.4%

4
5

.4
2

%

4
1

.8
8

%

4
0

.0
0

%

3
6

.0
9

%

4
0

.3
1

%

3
9

.3
0

%

3
7

.2
2

%

29.48%
26.14% 30.40%

31.95%
32.65% 32.75%

29.70%

16.33%

17.77% 16.80% 18.93%
16.33% 14.41% 23.31%

3.59%
3.55% 0.80% 2.96% 1.53% 3.93%

1.50%
0.40%

0.51% 0.00% 0.59% 0.00% 0.87% 0.00%

4.78%
10.15% 12.00% 9.47% 9.18% 8.73% 8.27%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Bridgend Cardiff Merthyr Tydfil Neath Port
Talbot

Rhondda
Cynon Taf

Swansea Vale of
Glamorgan

To what extent do you feel that crime and anti-social behaviour has increased or 
decreased in your local area? (In the last 3 Years)

Increased a lot Increased a bit Stayed the same Decreased a bit Decreased a lot Don't know

Page 226



 
  
 

 

 

 15 

Over 60% of respondents in each county felt that crime and anti-social behaviour had increased in 

some way over the last 12 months.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Understanding people’s experiences and perceptions  

Respondents who said they felt crime and anti-social behaviour had increased, were asked to tell 

us why they felt this was the case. A summary of the feedback shared with is included below:  

  

 

Many people expressed that they felt the impact of Covid and restrictions had a 

“detrimental impact on social behaviour” and people had “rebelled” following the 

ease of restrictions. Some also felt that the pandemic and “ongoing austerity” had 

caused additional pressures, which “exacerbated the abuse and risk already 

present within relationships and families”.  
 

Some people felt that “youth anti-social behaviour” had increased over the last 

couple of years and felt the reduction in services for young people was a 

contributing factor for this. 
 

Some people felt that crime and anti-social behaviour had increased in their local 

area, as it had become “more noticeable” than before. Many people said that 

incidents were now taking place more frequently in “public spaces, bus stations 

and parks” rather than “behind closed doors”. 
 

 
Response 

Increased a 
lot 

Increased a 
bit 

Stayed the 
same 

Decreased 
a bit 

Decreased 
a lot Don’t Know  

Bridgend 114 70 50 9 1 7 

Cardiff  173 96 66 18 3 38 

Merthyr Tydfil  55 32 24 2 1 11 

Neath Port Talbot  64 44 40 8 0 13 

Rhondda Cynon Taf  83 53 39 5 1 15 

Swansea  105 55 42 6 2 19 

Vale of Glamorgan  109 77 50 12 0 18 

Grand Total 703 427 311 60 8 121 

3.59% 4.57% 1.60% 4.73%
2.55% 2.62%

4.51%0.40% 0.76% 0.80% 0.00% 0.51% 0.87% 0.00%

27.89% 24.37%
25.60%

26.04% 27.04% 24.02%
28.95%

45.42%
43.91% 44.00% 37.87% 42.35% 45.85%

40.98%

19.92%
16.75% 19.20% 23.67% 19.90% 18.34% 18.80%

2.79%
9.64% 8.80% 7.69% 7.65% 8.30% 6.77%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Bridgend Cardiff Merthyr Tydfil Neath Port
Talbot

Rhondda
Cynon Taf

Swansea Vale of
Glamorgan

To what extent do you feel that crime and anti-social behaviour has increased or decreased in 
your local area? (In the last 12 Months)

Decreased a bit Decreased a lot Increased a bit Increased a lot Stayed the same Don't know

Page 227



  
 

 
 

 

 16 

Several respondents said that they were hearing more about local incidents from 

their neighbours or friends and noted an increase in people posting about this on 

social media.  
 

 

Some people also said that the coverage of crime in the media had made them 

more aware of incidents taking place and this suggested to them that crime had 

increased.   
 

 

Several people felt that crimes had increased in their local area because the 

“absence of monitoring” and “enforcement” by the police had allowed people to 

think they could “get away with crime”.  
 

Some people were aware of several serious incidents that had taken place near 

where they lived and had witnessed more fighting and anti-social behaviour than 

previously before.  Some also said that more of their friends had been victims of 

crime. 

 

7. Public views of local policing. 

Engaging with and seeking feedback from the community provides the Commissioner with a richer 

picture of local concerns as well as positive feedback about the police. This enables him to better 

reflect the needs and concerns of the public and assists him with undertaking his duty to hold the 

force to account on behalf of the public. Respondents were asked to what extent they agreed with 

the below statements in relation to their local police:  

• The police treat people fairly  

• The police are friendly and approachable  

• I have respect for the police  

• I have trust in the police  

• The police are doing a job good  
 

Over 50% of respondents agreed in some way that they ‘had respect for the police’ and they were 

‘friendly and approachable’. Over a third of respondents (40%) agreed in some way that the police 

‘treated people fairly’ and they ‘trusted the police’. Under a quarter of respondents (22%) agreed 

in some way that the ‘police were doing a good job’ in their local area.  

The below table provides the number and percentage of respondents for each of these questions: 

 

 

 The police treat people 
fairly                                                 

The police are friendly 
and approachable 

I have respect for the 
police in my local area 

I have trust in the police 
in my local area 

The police are doing a 
good job in my local area 

No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % 

Strongly Agree 168 10.3% 42.2% 213 13% 51.4% 391 24% 59% 203 12.5% 40.2% 91 5.6% 22% 

Agree 520 31.9% 625 38.3% 577 35.4% 453 27.8% 269 16.5% 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

427 26.2% 366 22.5% 299 18% 384 23.6% 487 29.9% 

Don’t Know 119 7.3% 7.3% 106 6.5% 76 5% 97 6% 139 8.5% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

186 11.4%  
24.2% 

151 9.3%  
19.6% 

156 9.6%  
18% 

232 14.2%  
30.2% 

285 17.5%  
39.5% 

Disagree 210 12.9% 169 10.4% 131 8% 261 16% 359 22% 

Page 228



 
  
 

 

 

 17 

Responses by County                                                                                                                                         

• ‘The police treat people fairly’ 

Over a third of respondents in each county agreed in some way that the police treated people fairly 

in their local area. Neath Port Talbot and Rhondda Cynon Taf had the highest percentage of 

respondents (47%) who agreed with this.  The Vale of Glamorgan had the highest percentage of 

respondents (29%) who disagreed with this. The below table provides the percentages of 

respondents from each county  

County 
Strongly 

Agree Agree 
Total % 
Agree 

Neither 
agree 
nor 

disagree Disagree 
Strongly 
Disagree 

Total % 
Disagree 

Don't 
know 

Grand 
Total 

Bridgend 13.15% 30.28% 43.43% 24.30% 13.55% 9.56% 23.11% 9.16% 100.00% 

Cardiff 9.14% 30.20% 39.34% 31.22% 10.91% 10.41% 21.32% 8.12% 100.00% 

Merthyr Tydfil 8.00% 31.20% 39.20% 21.60% 12.80% 16.00% 28.80% 10.40% 100.00% 

Neath Port Talbot 14.20% 33.73% 47.93% 21.89% 11.83% 10.65% 22.49% 7.69% 100.00% 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 9.69% 37.24% 46.94% 26.02% 11.73% 10.71% 22.45% 4.59% 100.00% 

Swansea 8.73% 32.31% 41.05% 28.82% 15.28% 10.04% 25.33% 4.80% 100.00% 

Vale of Glamorgan 9.77% 30.83% 40.60% 23.31% 14.66% 14.66% 29.32% 6.77% 100.00% 

Grand Total  10.31% 31.90% 42.21% 26.20% 12.88% 11.41% 24.29% 7.30% 100.00% 

 

• ‘The police are friendly and approachable’  

Over 45% of respondents in each county agreed in some way that the police were friendly and 

approachable. Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Vale of Glamorgan had the highest percentage of 

respondents (56%) who agreed in some way.  Swansea had the highest percentage of respondents 

(24%) who disagreed with this.  

The below table provides the percentages of respondents from each county:  

County 
Strongly 

Agree Agree 
Total % 
Agree 

Neither 
agree 
nor 

disagree Disagree 
Strongly 
Disagree 

Total % 
Disagree 

Don't 
know 

Grand 
Total 

Bridgend 17.53% 34.66% 52.19% 21.91% 9.16% 9.16% 18.33% 7.57% 100.00% 

Cardiff 9.64% 40.36% 50.00% 23.60% 10.66% 8.88% 19.54% 6.85% 100.00% 

Merthyr Tydfil 9.60% 38.40% 48.00% 19.20% 11.20% 11.20% 22.40% 10.40%   100.00% 

Neath Port 
Talbot 15.98% 33.73% 49.70% 24.85% 10.06% 10.06% 20.12% 5.33% 100.00% 

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf 13.78% 42.35% 56.12% 21.94% 10.71% 5.10% 15.82% 6.12% 100.00% 

Swansea 12.66% 34.50% 47.16% 23.14% 11.35% 12.66% 24.02% 5.68% 100.00% 

Vale of 
Glamorgan 13.53% 42.11% 55.64% 21.05% 9.77% 8.65% 18.42% 4.89% 100.00% 

Grand Total  13.07% 38.34% 51.41% 22.45% 10.37% 9.26% 19.63% 6.50% 100.00% 

 

• ‘I have respect for the police in my local area’ 

Over half of respondents in each county agreed in some way that they had respect for the police in 

their local area. Bridgend and Neath Port Talbot had the highest percentage of respondents (63%) 

who agreed in some way. Merthyr Tydfil had the highest percentage of respondents (24%) who 

disagreed with this.  

Page 229



  
 

 
 

 

 18 

The below table provides the percentages of respondents from each county:  

County 
Strongly 

Agree Agree 
Total % 
Agree 

Neither 
agree 
nor 

disagree Disagree 
Strongly 
Disagree 

Total % 
Disagree 

Don't 
know 

Grand 
Total 

Bridgend 29.88% 33.07% 62.95% 18.33% 6.37% 9.16% 15.54% 3.19% 100.00% 

Cardiff 20.56% 38.58% 59.14% 18.02% 8.88% 7.87% 16.75% 6.09% 100.00% 

Merthyr Tydfil 20.00% 36.00% 56.00% 14.40% 11.20% 12.80% 24.00% 5.60% 100.00% 

Neath Port Talbot 26.63% 36.09% 62.72% 19.53% 5.92% 8.28% 14.20% 3.55% 100.00% 

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf 25.51% 35.71% 61.22% 17.35% 8.16% 8.67% 16.84% 4.59% 100.00% 

Swansea 21.83% 33.19% 55.02% 20.96% 9.17% 10.04% 19.21% 4.80% 100.00% 

Vale of 
Glamorgan 24.44% 33.83% 58.27% 18.42% 7.14% 12.03% 19.17% 4.14% 100.00% 

Grand Total  23.99% 35.40% 59.39% 18.34% 8.04% 9.57% 17.61% 4.66% 100.00% 

 

• ‘I have trust in the police in my local area’ 

Over a third of respondents in each county agreed in some way that they had trust in the police in 

their local area. Rhondda Cynon Taf had the highest percentage of respondents (47%) who agreed 

in some way. Swansea had the highest percentage of respondents (33%) who disagreed with this.  

The below table provides the percentages of respondents from each county:  

County 
Strongly 

Agree Agree 
Total % 
Agree 

Neither 
agree 
nor 

disagree Disagree 
Strongly 
Disagree 

Total % 
Disagree 

Don't 
know 

Grand 
Total 

Bridgend 15.14% 27.09% 42.23% 22.31% 15.94% 14.34% 30.28% 5.18% 100.00% 

Cardiff 10.66% 26.14% 36.80% 26.65% 15.23% 13.96% 29.19% 7.36% 100.00% 

Merthyr Tydfil 8.00% 24.80% 32.80% 27.20% 12.80% 19.20% 32.00% 8.00% 100.00% 

Neath Port Talbot 16.57% 27.22% 43.79% 21.30% 16.57% 14.79% 31.36% 3.55% 100.00% 

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf 13.27% 34.18% 47.45% 20.92% 13.27% 11.73% 25.00% 6.63% 100.00% 

Swansea 9.17% 27.07% 36.24% 26.20% 18.34% 14.85% 33.19% 4.37% 100.00% 

Vale of 
Glamorgan 14.29% 28.57% 42.86% 19.55% 18.42% 13.16% 31.58% 6.02% 100.00% 

Grand Total  12.45% 27.79% 40.25% 23.56% 16.01% 14.23% 30.25% 5.95% 100.00% 

 

• ‘The police are doing a good job in my local area’ 

Under a quarter of respondents in each county agreed in some way that the police were doing a 

good job in their local area. Bridgend and Neath Port Talbot had the highest percentage of 

respondents (24%) who agreed in some way that the police were doing a good job. Merthyr Tydfil 

had the highest percentage of respondents (46%) who disagreed that the police were doing a good 

job.  

 

 

 

 

Page 230



 
  
 

 

 

 19 

The below table provides the percentages of respondents from each county:  

County 
Strongly 

Agree Agree 
Total % 
Agree 

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree Disagree 

Strongly 
Disagree 

Total % 
Disagree 

Don't 
know 

Grand 
Total 

Bridgend 6.37% 17.53% 23.90% 28.29% 22.31% 18.33% 40.64% 7.17% 100.00% 

Cardiff 3.55% 16.50% 20.05% 29.95% 23.10% 17.01% 40.10% 9.90% 100.00% 

Merthyr Tydfil 4.00% 16.00% 20.00% 25.60% 24.80% 21.60% 46.40% 8.00% 100.00% 

Neath Port 
Talbot 8.28% 15.38% 23.67% 31.95% 21.30% 16.57% 37.87% 6.51% 100.00% 

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf 7.14% 16.33% 23.47% 33.16% 17.86% 17.86% 35.71% 7.65% 100.00% 

Swansea 4.37% 17.47% 21.83% 27.51% 26.64% 15.72% 42.36% 8.30% 100.00% 

Vale of 
Glamorgan 6.77% 15.79% 22.56% 31.58% 18.42% 17.29% 35.71% 10.15% 100.00% 

Grand total  5.58% 16.50% 22.09% 29.88% 22.02% 17.48% 39.51% 8.53% 100.00% 

 

Public Feedback about local policing  

What the public feel the police are doing well in their local area  

Residents were asked to share their feedback with us about ‘what they felt the police were doing 

well in their local area’. Over two thirds of respondents (69%) shared their feedback with us. These 

were free text comments that have been summarised into the below themes:  

 

Many respondents felt that their local police were “approachable and friendly” and 

were quick to respond to reported incidents. Residents said that when 

officers/PCSOs interacted with them, they always appeared “sensible, empathetic 

and helpful” and were “proactive in dealing with crimes”. Some also provided 

examples of the police engaging well with children and younger people in schools 

and youth settings.  
 

Many residents said that it was “good to see officers/PCSOs out on the street”. 

Several people praised their local PCSOs, especially how hard they had worked to 

build relationships with local people and businesses.  
 

A few residents provided examples where the police had been “supportive and 

understanding” in response to incidents they had reported and generally felt the 

police were helpful should an issue arise.  

 

Several residents said they felt the police were “trying their best” and were 

“managing to keep a lid on the numerous crime problems” despite being “vastly 

underfunded and under-resourced”.  

 
 

Many respondents said that they rarely saw police officers/PCSOs and as a result, 

were unable to form a judgement or provide an example for this question.  

 

 

Page 231



  
 

 
 

 

 20 

What the public feel the police could do better to support communities  

Residents were also asked to share their feedback with us about ‘what they felt the police could 

do better to support communities’. Nearly three quarters of respondents (73%) shared their 

feedback with us. These were free text comments that have been summarised into the below 

themes.  

Police Visibility and Engagement                                                                                                                 
The majority of responses focused on the need for increased visibility of neighbourhood policing:  

Several people felt that officers and PCSOs should be out spending time “talking to 

people to get to know them and the area”. Many felt that a greater “police 

presence” and “increased foot patrols” would help communities feel safer, 

regardless of whether this was “perceived or real”.  
 

 

 

 

 

Many felt that “PACT or virtual meetings should be taking place more regularly”, as 

a means of improving engagement and relations with the public.  
 

 

 

 

 

Several respondents felt that the non-emergency contact number 101 “was poor” 

and “needed to be answered a lot quicker”. Some people also said that the “public 

lost faith” when there was lack of contact or follow up from the police.  
 

 

 

 

 

Enforcement                                                                                                                                                   
Some respondents felt that there should be improved enforcement of issues such as anti-social 

behaviour, burglaries and speeding and dangerous driving:   

Many respondents said they felt there should be “better enforcement of laws 

especially road and street safety”. Several people commented on speeding 

motorbikes causing nuisance and felt the police could be more proactive in tackling 

these issues.  
 

 

Some respondents felt that the police weren’t interested in tackling “petty crimes”, 

such as thefts and vandalism and felt these issues weren’t taken seriously enough. 

Some felt that they “didn’t feel supported” when a crime had been committed and 

“nothing was done” when they reported to the police.  

Transparency                                                                                                                                                  
Some residents referred to incidents in the media relating to corruption and abuse of powers 

within police forces: 

Some respondents felt there should be “more transparency and consequences” for 

officers and staff who abused their powers. People felt it was important that the 

public “received reassurance and evidence that South Wales Police could be 

trusted within all communities”, particularly ethnic minority communities and 

young women and girls. 

 

Page 232



 
  
 

 

 

 21 

8. Police Precept Contributions 

To assist the Police and Crime Commissioner’s decision in considering the options for setting the 

2022/23 police precept, respondents were asked how much more they would be willing to pay 

each month as part of their council tax to support local policing.  

Precept Contribution Responses                                                                                                                  
Overall, more than half of respondents (55%) said they would not be willing to pay more towards 

policing as part of their council tax. Just under half of respondents (45%) said they were willing to 

pay more. Two thirds of respondents who were willing to pay more (66%), said they would pay up 

to £2 more a month. The below chart illustrates the number and percentage of respondents for 

each answer:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Responses from each County                                                                                                                           

Over 50% of respondetns from each county said they were not willing to pay more towards their 

council tax.  Merthyr Tydfil had the highest percentage of respondents (59%) who said they weren’t 

willing to pay more. The below graph and table provide a breakdown of responses by each county. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Response Cardiff Swansea 

Neath Port 
Talbot Bridgend 

Rhondda 
Cynon Taf Merthyr Tydfil 

Vale of 
Glamorgan 

Grand 
Total 

No more  228 132 90 126 110 74 143 903 

Up to £1  45  
166 

24  
97 

17  
79 

32  
125 

20  
86 

14  
51 

28  
12
3 

180 

Up to £1.50  17 4 8 19 9 1 11 69 

Up to £2  104 69 54 74 57 36 84 478 

57.87% 57.64% 53.25% 50.20%
59.20% 56.12% 53.76%

11.42% 10.48%
10.06% 12.75%

11.20%
10.20% 10.53%

4.31% 1.75%
4.73% 7.57%

0.80% 4.59% 4.14%

26.40% 30.13% 31.95% 29.48% 28.80% 29.08% 31.58%

Cardiff Swansea Neath Port
Talbot

Bridgend Merthyr
Tydfil

Rhondda
Cynon Taf

Vale of
Glamorgan

No more Up to £1 Up to £1.50 Up to £2

Page 233



  
 

 
 

 

 22 

Precept Contributions Feedback  

To help us understand the reasons why people were either willing or weren’t willing to pay more, 

respondents had the opportunity to share their feedback with us via free text. Whilst most 

respondents expressed that they weren’t supportive of paying more towards their council tax, 

nearly half of respondents (45%) said they would be willing to pay more towards policing. Reasons 

provided as to why they would be willing pay more are illustrated below:  

Page 234



 
  
 

 

 

 23 

Based on the feedback received from residents who said they weren’t willing to pay more, there 

appeared to be three main themes arising from their comments, which explains the reasons for 

their response. These are outlined below:  

Use of funding                                                                                                                                   
Several respondents felt that there was already “sufficient funding” for the police and “better 

management” of existing money was needed as opposed to increasing funds. A few respondents 

also commented on the “value” and “expense” of the Police & Crime Commissioner’s role. The 

below feedback illustrates these points further 

Service provided                                                                                                                                                 
Many respondents felt that the service provided by the police was “not currently acceptable” and 

felt it wasn’t “value for money”. The below feedback illustrates these points further: 

Page 235



  
 

 
 

 

 24 

Affordability and Cost of Living           

Several respondents expressed that they felt council tax rates were “high enough” and many were 

already “struggling financially” with increased living costs. The below feedback illustrates these 

points further: 

 

 

9. Conclusion 

We would like to thank all the participants who took part in our ‘Our Police, Our Community’ 

survey this year. The information gathered and the open and honest feedback shared with us will 

assist the Commissioner in considering the options for the 2022/23 precept level and will also help 

to inform the delivery of work and activity within the team. Feedback gathered will also be 

discussed with South Wales Police, to explore how we review the themes raised.   

The Commissioner will present his precept proposals and the results of this survey to the Police and 

Crime Panel in February 2022. The Police and Crime Panel are responsible for holding the Police 

and Crime Commissioner to account.  

 

 

Page 236



 
  
 

 

 

 25 

10. Demographics 

In order to help us understand the communities we were reaching, residents were asked to provide 

anonymous information about themselves. However, it was not mandatory for respondents to 

answer these questions.  

The demographic breakdown of respondents who shared this information with us is outlined 

below:  

   

 

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

TITLE:  Appointment of the Chief Executive to the Police and Crime 

Commissioner 

DATE:  3rd February 2022 

PURPOSE: For Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

To confirm the appointment of Lee Jones into the permanent post of Chief 

Executive. The process followed was fair and in line with South Wales Police 

guidance and procedures, following a long period as interim Chief Executive, 

previously approved by the Panel on the 8th September 2017. 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The previous Chief Executive has been on secondment from the team since 

September 2017 and has subsequently retired. This report outlines the 

process undertaken to make the appointment to the role of permanent Chief 

Executive role following this retirement and make a recommendation for 

appointment.  

 

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 Paragraph 7: A Police and 

Crime Commissioner must appoint a person to act as Chief Executive ….. if 

….. (a) That post is vacant, or (b) The holder of that post is, in the 

Commissioners opinion, unable to carry out the duties of that post It also 

states that: Paragraph 9: (1) A Police and Crime commissioner must notify the 

relevant Police and Crime panel of each proposed appointment by the 

commissioner of …… the Commissioner’s Chief Executive in line with South 

Wales Police Policy and guidance. 

3. SUMMARY FOR CONSIDERATION 

Mr Jones was interviewed by a panel consisting of, Police and Crime 

Commissioner Alun Michael, Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner Emma 

Wools, Chief Constable Jeremy Vaughan and Cardiff Council Chief Executive 

Paul Orders with the process overseen by the Assistant Director of Human 

Resources Emma Mills. This followed the submission of a comprehensive 

report outlining work and achievements to date whilst in the interim role and 

beyond, plus submission of a comprehensive CV. 

 

The conclusion of the panel was that Mr Jones exceeded the acceptable 

standard at interview and approval should be sought from the Police and 

Crime Panel to appoint Mr Jones to the post on a permanent basis following 

the retirement of Mr Cerith Thomas.  

 

Page 239

Agenda Item 7



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

In line with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 Police and 

Crime Commissioner is notifying the Panel of this appointment. 

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Police and Crime Panel  is required to note the appointment.  

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

The salary implications are accounted for within the Commissioner budget, 

noting that this post is a role required within legislation, namely the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

Due process was followed in line with policy and guidance. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Producing the report particularly in the light of: 

(i) any report or recommendations made by the police and crime panel; and 

(ii) any changes in the strategic policing requirement  

(iii) statutory responsibilities of the Commissioner under the Police Reform 

and Social Responsibilities Act 2011. 

 

8. EQUALITIES AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

9. RISK 

A timely decision will minimise the risk to the non-compliance with the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This appointment will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and 

the Police and Crime Panel. 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Emma Mills, Assistant Director Human Resources 

12. ANNEXES 

Role Profile for Chief Executive 

CV for Lee Jones 

 

Page 240



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 
THIS IS A POLITICALLY RESTRICTED POST 

 
 
Job Summary:  
 
The Chief Executive will be responsible for strategic, operational and day to the day 
office leadership and management to deliver the mission and priorities of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) as set out in the Police and Crime Plan. Act as a 
lead to deliver impacting change and continuous improvement for an exemplary 
organisation.   
 
The Chief Executive acts as the strategic advisor to the PCC working closely with the 
senior leadership team to deliver the PCCs governance, accountability and scrutiny. 
The post holder will need to be comfortable working within a complex statutory 
environment and able to work in partnership with a wide and diverse range of 
agencies and professionals. In addition, they will be expected to provide dynamic 
leadership and effective, high quality guidance, advice and support to the PCC to 
ensure they meet their statutory duties and strategic objectives; and to support and 
advise the PCC in their strategic role in holding the Chief Constable to account. 
 
The post is a statutory one, acting as: - 
 

 The Head of the Commissioner’s staff, as defined in Schedule 1, Paragraph 
6(1)(a) of the Police Reform & Social Responsibility Act 2011, and to carry out 
such duties efficiently and effectively. 

 

 The Monitoring Officer to the PCC as defined in statute. 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Role Title: Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer  
 

Salary: TBC 
 

Responsible to: Police and Crime Commissioner South Wales  
 

Responsible For: All Staff of the Commissioners Team  

Required Vetting Level: MV/SC – Management Vetting and Security 
Clearance 
 

Date Published: December 2021  
 

Page 241



Key Responsibilities:  
 
Statutory: 

 To ensure provision of appropriate advice to the Commissioner on discharging 
their statutory powers, duties, responsibilities, liabilities and procedures. 

 To discharge the duties of Monitoring Officer as defined by legislation relevant to 
the Police and Crime Commissioner so as to enable and assist the 
commissioner’s team to fulfil all its functions effectively and efficiently. 

 Produce and publish an Annual Report, setting out the delivery against the Police 
& Crime Plan. 

 To support and advise the Police and Crime Commissioner on the appointment of 
the Chief Constable and statutory duties relating to complaints against the Chief 
Constable. 

 To carry out the statutory duties and responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer 
including running an efficient and effective Independent Custody Visiting Scheme 
and managing complaints against the Chief Constable and against the Police and 
Crime Commissioner. 

 To be the data controller for the purposes of the Data Protection Act 2018 for the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and office. 

 Responsible for ensuring the Commissioners Safeguarding policy and related 
procedures are implemented, monitored and consistently reviewed. 

 In conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer, to ensure compliance with 
standing orders and propriety in the conduct of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s business including making proper arrangements for tendering 
procedures and the letting of contracts.  

 Ensure that the Commissioners team performs its duties and responsibilities on 
equality and diversity in accordance with relevant legislation, promoting 
commitment to equality and diversity in all its functions and activities. 

 To ensure through and effective engagement with key stakeholders, including but 
not exhaustively, politicians, the Police and Crime Panel, Welsh Government and 
key partners.  
 

Scrutiny, Contacts, Complaints, Panels  

 Ensure the Commissioners team contribute to the efficient and effective delivery 
of the Police & Crime Plan, together with any associated delivery plans. 

 Support the Commissioner in developing and maintaining a constructive working 
relationship with the Police & Crime Panel. 

 With the Chief Finance Officer, ensure the effective and efficient operation of both 
the internal and external audit functions and any other aspects of internal control 
or external inspection. 

 To ensure the Commissioners team have effective and efficient management of 
complaints against the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable 
and take ownership of responses as required. 

Page 242



 To ensure the Commissioner have appropriate management of contacts to the 
Commissioner and office with a focus on pragmatic customers service and 
identifying vulnerability. 

 Support the team in the effective scrutiny by Commissioner of Constabulary 
performance against the Police & Crime Plan and other delivery partner 
performance. 

 Establish and maintain effective independent scrutiny panels as agreed with the 
Commissioner e.g. Scrutiny of Police Powers, Independent Residents Panels and 
Out of Court Disposal Scrutiny panel and compliance with Victims code of 
practice. 

 Ensure the Commissioner and the team comply with organisational policies and 
procedures including Code of Conduct, Health & Safety and Equalities policies. 

 

Partnership, Communication and Engagement  

 To support the Commissioner in maintaining and develop effective working 
relationships with key stakeholders, the Police and Crime Panel, local politicians 
and key external partners. 

 To ensure effective and efficient engagement with both internal and external 
partners and stakeholders in relation to commissioning and service delivery at 
local, regional and national level. 

 To assist the Commissioner in their appropriate contribution to the national 
consideration of issues concerning policing and reducing crime. 

 To represent the Commissioner at relevant meetings with the Home Office, Her 
Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary, and other relevant bodies, Local 
Government Association and other outside bodies at regional and national level. 
 

 To ensure the Commissioners team deliver, review and improve performance 
against the Information Strategy in the areas of communication, consultation and 
engagement. 

 To undertake effective strategic needs assessments which demonstrate the 
understanding of the communities served, enabling effective budget alignment 
and prioritisation. 

 To ensure the Commissioner has an appropriate communications strategy that 
effectively communicates the Commissioners: priorities; key initiatives; values; 
investments; consultations questions; strategies; achievements; and views and 
enables effective feedback from communities. 

 To assist the Commissioner in developing and maintaining effective strategic 
partnerships with relevant public and private sector/voluntary organisations in the 
local community and at national and regional associations. 

 To assist the Commissioner in developing and implementing effective two-way 
community engagement with wide sections of the community. 

 Ensure Commissioners team operate in a transparent manner, compliant with 
legislation and best practice. 

Page 243



 
Knowledge and Skills:  
 

Education level and/or 
relevant experience(s)  

 Relevant University Degree in Law / Business or Leadership 
(masters or MBA desirable), or relevant experience with 
exceptionally broad or significant expertise. 

 Member of relevant professional body. 

 Demonstratable Continuing Professional Development. 

 A proven track record at a senior management level in a 
complex organisation of delivering financial excellence.  

 Successful creative and innovative strategy development and 
implementation. 

 Must have experience of building, leading and motivating 
teams. 

 Commitment to the Welsh Language and ability to communicate 
in Welsh or willingness to learn. 

Knowledge and skills For the area assigned demonstrates: 

 The ability to provide clear and visible leadership to OPCC staff. 

 The ability to think strategically and guide the PCC and OPCC. 

 The ability to build strong, effective working relationships 
through the development of networks inside and outside of 
policing governance. 

 The ability to analyse complex and fast changing information. 

 The ability to manage confidential matters with tact and 
diplomacy. 

 Creative thinking to provide pragmatic solutions to multi-faceted 
problems. 

 Excellent knowledge and understanding of policing governance 
and statutory responsibilities. 

 Inspire and motivate staff to deliver high performance. 

Leading Change  Must be innovative and ready to lead in response to new ideas 
and procedures, engaging people in change and encouraging 
them to contribute ideas. 

 Identifies and implements change needed to meet the PCC’s 
objectives, thinking beyond the constraints of current ways of 
working, and is prepared to make change when required. 

 Must motivate staff by giving genuine praise, celebrating 
success and recognising good performance and encouraging 
creativity and innovation. 

 Asks for and acts on feedback on own approach, continuing to 
learn and adapt to new circumstances. 

Decision Making  Assimilates complex information quickly, weighing up 
alternatives and making sound, timely decisions. 

 Gathers and considers all relevant and available information, 
seeking out and listening to advice from specialists. 

 Asks incisive questions to test facts and assumptions and gain 
a full understanding of the situation. 

 Identifies the key issues clearly, and the inter-relationship 
between different factors and stakeholders. 

 Makes clear, proportionate and justifiable decisions, reviewing 
these as necessary. 

 

Page 244



1 
 

“WAUN WEN ROAD, MAYHILL DISTURBANCE INDEPENDENT LEARNING 

REVIEW” 

REPORT OF THE PANEL  

Remit 

We have undertaken an “Independent Learning Review” as defined by the 

Terms of Reference attached. These Terms of Reference had been carefully 

scoped and agreed by the commissioning parties, namely South Wales Police 

(“the Police”), the Police and Crime Commissioner (“the Commissioner”) 

and Swansea City Council (“The Council”).  

In summary, our task was to assess the internal debriefs written 

respectively by the Police and the Council. We were asked to “scrutinise 

and challenge those debriefs”. This is what we have done. We were not 

asked to conduct an investigation or inquiry and the aims, remit and 

objectives of our terms of appointment were limited as to time, resource 

and scope. 

We were directed to “focus on the effectiveness of both the individual 

organisations and joint working arrangements between the respective 

services both prior to, during and after the events on the 20th May 2021 

and in this respect…seek to identify issues that can be considered in terms 

of future joint learning and consideration of future practice in relation to 

the following …areas: 

1 What underlying factors may have led to, or affected preparedness, for 

the incident; 

2.What was known before the incident and can intelligence gathering be 

improved; 

3. What was the response and was it appropriate and can the approach be 

improved; 

4. What was done after the incident in terms of recovery and ongoing 

support.” 

Our Terms of Reference expressly exclude ongoing criminal investigations 

and prosecutions, any civil, criminal or other liabilities and any question of 

individual misconduct. 

The views, conclusions and recommendations expressed in this report are 

unanimously held by the three members of the panel: Jack Straw (former 

Page 245

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

Chief Executive of Swansea City Council), Martin Jones (retired Chief 

Superintendent of South Wales Police) and Professor Elwen Evans QC 

(Chair). 

Our draft Report was shared with the commissioning parties in December 

2021. We have had the benefit of further engagement with the parties. This 

report reflects our finalised views based on additional submissions shared 

with us. 

Introduction  

We want to express our gratitude to the many people and organisations that 

have played such an important part in assisting us to carry out our work. We 

could not have undertaken our task without the invaluable contributions 

made by a wide range of stakeholders.  

A number of factors are likely to have contributed to the events that 

occurred on Waun Wen Road in the Mayhill Area of Swansea on the 20th May, 

2021. These include (but are not limited to) the effects of Covid lockdowns, 

social media narratives, criminal behaviours, socio-economic dynamics, and 

reactions to the tragic death of Ethan Powell. Any meaningful analysis of 

these factors and their impacts on local, national and, in some instances, 

global behaviours are extraordinarily complex matters for research, 

reflection and public debate. There can be no simple or simplistic answers. 

It is evident that the range of challenges currently faced by Local 

Authorities and Policing agencies are exceptional and pose unprecedented 

challenges.  

The adverse effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and consequent lockdowns 

have been identified throughout our engagements: these include impact 

upon the public and communities, disproportionate impact on children and 

young people, on policing and the police, on the Council’s work and 

engagements and upon partnership working between agencies. However, 

no-one has suggested to us that Covid was the sole or primary cause of the 

events on Waun Wen Road. 

Criminal Investigation 

Any assessment of events on the 20th May 2021 must start with a recognition 

that criminal responsibility sits with the adults and young people who 

committed criminal offences. As criminal responsibility was excluded from 

our remit we have not seen the evidence and/or unused material packages 

provided to the Crown Prosecution Service in the preparation of the 

Page 246



3 
 

criminal case(s). We were shown a compilation of some visual materials 

prepared for the purpose of the criminal investigation. This was relatively 

short and inevitably selective. It has become increasingly evident that there 

is a substantial body of material held by the police and/or the Crown 

Prosecution Service. Access to of all of these materials is necessary for a 

fully informed understanding of what occurred and to enable an appraisal 

not only of criminal liability but also of events and decision making in real 

time. We would suggest that consideration of this material forms part of 

the full investigation that we recommend (see below).  

Whilst outside of our Terms of Reference it is clearly in the best interests of 

all involved that criminal prosecution(s) are prioritised and progressed as 

expeditiously as possible.  

Acknowledging the culpability of criminal suspects cannot deflect from the 

need to consider and assess the responsibilities and responses of the 

relevant authorities in their dealings with this incident. It is also important 

to note that the respective roles and responsibilities of the Police and 

Council are substantially different and, inevitably, lead to different 

considerations and conclusions. 

The police took decisions on police conduct issues and referrals at an early 

stage. This observation is not by way of seeking to ascribe blame. That is 

not our function and, in any event, we could not do so on the basis of the 

limited material available to us. There is a risk that the apparent speed of 

this decision-making is seen as an indication of the limited extent of the 

initial police reflection on their responses to events on 20th May, 2021. We 

understand that the ethos of the Police Conduct Regulations introduced in 

February 2020 is intended to encourage a culture of learning and 

development for individuals and the organisation. This serves to emphasise 

the importance of effective internal learning reviews in helping to shape 

and deliver that culture of learning and development. 

Public perceptions and direct engagement with those affected 

Whilst there was no fatality or serious physical injury (there was, of course, 

psychological and emotional harm as well as damage to property) the 

criminal behaviours on that night presented a significant threat to life and 

to property. The response of the police to those behaviours is inescapably 

at the heart of any review of the events that took place. 

It will come as no surprise to note the strong feelings of many people who 

have spoken with us. It is important to repeat some of those views as they 

Page 247



4 
 

provide a context for this review and for a full investigation. There was a 

protracted period during which the residents of Waun Wen Road were in 

danger, at risk and unprotected by the police. There was evident raw 

emotion and distress in the re-living of experiences of that night and its 

aftermath.  Some of the views shared with us include the following: “the 

police let us down”, “they didn’t protect us,” “they failed to protect us”, 

“they weren’t there for us when we needed them,” and “we don’t 

understand why they didn’t do anything”.  It is clear that there is a 

significant job of work for the police to do in seeking to re-establish trust 

and confidence in the aftermath of this incident. Doing so must be 

predicated on a full, open and transparent understanding of what went 

wrong that night. 

Our Approach 

We were provided with a report by South Wales Police dated 16/8/21 

entitled “Individual Agency Learning Review”. Its first paragraph reads as 

follows: 

“This report relates to the events that occurred on the 20th May 2021 and 

specifically to the operational policing response to the same. The purpose 

of this report is therefore to provide an information briefing/interim 

position to the independent learning review. In terms of the enquiries 

undertaken to date regarding the policing response element (sic). It is 

acknowledged that this report does not address the wider partnership 

working aspects to be considered by the independent learning review”. 

The report is but 32 pages long, of which 5 pages are a Glossary of 

Abbreviations used within the report. The “Description of the Incident” 

section covers 6 pages and contains partial and selected extracts of some 

limited material. Inevitably, therefore, the factual analysis is also partial 

and several assertions raise questions rather than provide answers. Most of 

the materials supplied with the report post-date the 20th May, 2021. The 

Police Report concludes with a section described as recommendations. 

These are numbered 1 to 8. 

We have recently been told by the police that another internal police 

report had been written about the handling of the incident but that a 

decision was taken not to disclose it within this review process. There may 

be excellent reasons for this decision. We would, however, advise that a 

future investigation would benefit from having access to all potentially 

relevant materials, assessments and reports. 

Page 248



5 
 

We were provided with a report by Swansea Council dated 19/8/21. It is 

described as “A Review of the Main Findings, Recommendations and 

Learning from the incident in Mayhill on the 20th May 2021”.  The 

preparation of this report included consultation with a wide range of 

stakeholders. It runs to 141 pages including Appendices, 1 page being a 

Glossary of Terms. It contains 27 recommendations.  

We met with local residents, teachers and organisations. We received the 

views of children and young people. We are very grateful that accounts and 

views were shared with us in clear, compelling and forthright ways. As 

many people did not want their names publicised for fear of repercussions 

we consider it best not to name any of the public who chose to speak with 

us. However their accounts and experiences will come as no surprise to 

those who are familiar with the events of that night.  

We had meetings with Council employees and Councillors and received 

additional views and materials in those meetings. We felt able to scrutinise 

and challenge the Council Report so as to undertake an informed 

assessment of the approach taken to the learning review. 

We had a number of meetings with senior police officers. We used these 

engagements to receive additional views and information so as to assist in 

our task of scrutinising and challenging the contents and conclusions of the 

Police’s Individual Agency Learning Review as provided to us.  

Throughout our engagements and in the drafting of our report we have been 

mindful of and remained focused on the scope of our remit whilst 

recognising its importance to the Police, the Commissioner, the Council and 

the public.  

South Wales’ Police’s Individual Agency Learning Review 

From the Police perspective this is the core document that we were asked 

to assess so as to evaluate the learning it evidenced.  Some areas of 

concern were, of course, identified within the written Police Review e.g. in 

respect of (a) command structures and communication; and (b) tactics and 

potential interventions. However we were concerned that the identification 

of these areas was limited as to scope, depth and contextualisation. Our 

Terms of Reference required us to assess whether the Police Review was 

sufficiently rigorous so as to provide assurance that appropriate lessons had 

been identified, explored and learnt. We initially sought to test and 

challenge the rigour of the written review in a series of conversations with 

Senior Police Officers and employees. 

Page 249



6 
 

These conversations provided us with a helpful perspective and a fuller 

understanding of the concerns and issues that arose. Many of those with 

whom we spoke are highly experienced and their analyses of aspects of the 

police responses on the 20/5/21 were not fully reflected in the report of 

the 16/8/21. Their views were a significant and rich addition to the initial 

learning review. During meetings with the Police we were able to ask 

questions which helped address some of the factual concerns which arose 

out of the policing responses on the night. These sessions helped deliver a 

fuller and more informed picture and indicated that the initial written 

review was neither complete nor comprehensive. 

Whilst it was not our role to carry-out an investigation or undertake an 

internal police review, it was our role to scrutinise and challenge the 

learning review provided to us. In order to further assess this we requested 

access to some specified primary materials so as to sample and test the 

robustness of specific areas of the internal review. Below we give some 

illustrations of our methodology in undertaking this task. 

We requested and were given access to materials such as the recordings of 

phone calls made by members of the public into the Public Service Centre 

during the course of the incident. The Public Service Centre is, in effect, 

South Wales Police’s Central Communications and Control Room. During the 

incident it received calls from the public, communications from police at 

the scene, feeds from social media and footage from CCTV cameras at the 

scene. Its operation, role and interaction with command structures on the 

night must be an integral part of any assessment of what happened. A 

comprehensive evaluation of primary materials, such as these calls and 

other interactions, is crucial to a robust review of events and is a firmer 

foundation for learning than any retrospective summary. The initial learning 

review only refers to a few of the calls and, thus, fails to meaningfully 

capture the nature, extent and timeline of all the incoming information. 

The Police Learning Review refers to resource being deployed elsewhere 

by/through the Control Room. We have received conflicting emphases as to 

whether this meant that there was inadequate resource to deploy to Mayhill 

and/or inadequate focus on the needs of Mayhill. 

We requested sight of available visual recordings taken at the scene (such 

as social media posts, police bodycam recordings and CCTV footages). This 

was a further way of assessing the written review as against primary source 

materials. We were shown some relatively brief compilation visual 

recordings of events at the scene. We do not know the totality of the visual 

Page 250



7 
 

material that was assessed for the purposes of the Police Review: but we 

have recently been told that there is a very substantial body of such 

material that is now available. From the visual materials that we have 

reviewed it is clear that discussion points arise as to police deployments at 

the scene and as to how they are understood and contextualised. Here, too, 

we believe that further work is necessary so as to properly and 

proportionately understand events and decisions. 

The timeline of events and the communication between those at the scene, 

those in the Public Service Centre and those who were responsible for 

taking command decisions appears to be currently underexplored and needs 

to be fully explained. 

Our conclusion is that there are situational, structural and strategic issues 

that require a comprehensive in-depth investigation if the picture is to be 

fully understood and the necessary lessons learnt.  Whilst, of course, we 

welcome the additional training needs identified in the Police Review 

(supplemented in an additional document “CPD Update” dated 11/11/21) it 

seems to us that this is a limited response and that a deeper, broader and 

more comprehensive analysis is needed before the full range of potential 

lessons can be properly identified.  

It follows that we regard the report described by the police as “interim” as, 

indeed, that. This should be seen as a starting point rather than the final 

outcome.  

We have not expressly addressed the question of post incident recovery and 

ongoing support. Clearly a great deal of resource was expended by the 

Police in the aftermath of this incident. The need for this was, in part, 

generated by the way in which the event itself was handled by them. We 

believe that any meaningful assessment of post incident responses has to be 

predicated on a full understanding and acceptance of lessons learnt. For 

the reasons identified within this review, we do not believe that that 

position has yet been achieved. 

Areas for further work by the Police 

In order to assist in a further Review and/or Investigation we set out below 

some of the areas where additional work seems to us appropriate and 

necessary. This should include an evaluation of policing deployments at the 

scene, operation of the Public Service Centre, connectivity/communication 

between scene and Centre, connectivity/communication within the Centre 

and how and where decisions were taken and recorded that night. 

Page 251



8 
 

The accounts of police officers at command and operational levels form an 
integral part in the development of a comprehensive understanding of both 
police command decision making and operational deployment on the night. 
We feel that evidence from officers at the scene should be sought, not only 
through the lens of the criminal justice system (we assume that this will 
have been done) but also with a view to understanding the appropriateness 
of the police responses, e.g. were there points at which interventions 
should have been made, was the public (dis)order response the 
only/appropriate response? 
 
Our advice is that this should involve a review and consideration of all 
materials available to include accounts given, statements made, 
instructions given, and debriefs undertaken, together with all 
contemporaneous, visual and oral recordings captured. This would include 
social medial clips and body worn camera and CCTV footages, police 
officers’ notes (written, electronic and/or computerised) policy and 
incident logs, radio traffic etc.  
 
A full time line identifying events at the scene, cross-referring them to 
transcriptions of calls into the Public Service Centre and command decisions 
taken is essential in fully appreciating the sequence of events. It seems to 
us that a comprehensive chronology of this kind will tell its own story. 
 
The police learning review document (pages 12 to 14) summarises the 
model of police command, and also emphasises the importance of the 
National Decision Making Model as part of the command decision making 
process. This structure and process are accepted as fundamental in setting 
strategic objectives against changing information and threat assessments, in 
developing appropriate tactics and in ensuring effective implementation. It 
provides a recognised and well establish tool to ensure that identified 
priorities are resourced in an auditable and accountable way. It is relevant 
at all levels and is constantly used in allocating resources across competing 
demands. In this context we feel that it is of the utmost importance for the 
intelligence gathering, assessment and review process to be fully evaluated 
as part of the wider command decision making process. This should take 
account of visual and audio recordings (as seen and heard live time by 
officers and subsequently retrieved post event). From an examination of 
the “master incident” it appears that it was at 21:18 that the Intelligence 
unit was formally tasked to provide an assessment of the key events. It has 
been generally accepted that information was often contradictory 
throughout the events on the 20th May. Whilst we recognise the challenges 
of capturing accurate intelligence assessments during fast moving incidents, 

Page 252



9 
 

it illustrates the importance of ensuring that the processes are as “joined 
up” and as transparent as possible so as to enable a proper and effective 
review and assessment to be conducted ex post facto. Some of the key 
questions here revolve around what information was available, when it 
became available, the process by which it was assessed and its availability 
to commanders and officers involved and deployed. 
 
In particular further work should be undertaken to include all of the calls 
received from the public on the evening, comprehensively reviewing the 
detail of the information sourced, the subsequent information recorded on 
to police systems, the appropriateness of the location of its recording and 
its subsequent assessment and action (if any) in the context of the 
incident’s lifespan. One of the potential areas of concern is the apparent 
lack of understanding of the situation within the Central team well into the 
incident’s escalation and when speaking to the reporting individuals. 
Further consideration around the capture, review and revisiting of calls 
‘live time’ would be worthwhile and full debriefs of Public Service Centre 
staff involved would add value to this process. We have been made aware 
of live time visual feed into the Public Service Centre and the use and 
impact of this also needs further work. 
 
The gold, silver and bronze command structure needs further examination 
and clarification so as to identify the communication issues that appear to 
have arisen during the timeline of the incident. We have been unable to 
identify a clear command structure either properly identified or working in 
practice. On the basis of the information available to us we do not know 
why this appears to be the case. We would also consider it appropriate to 
seek a better understanding of the decision making of the Force Incident 
Manager. Whilst we have been told that there were other incidents 
occurring elsewhere in the Force area we have not been provided with 
evidence based reassurance that these other events justified the lack of 
apparent Senior Command and/or Central Police focus on Mayhill’s needs. 
We are aware that the police are examining the flex of resources to ensure 
additional capacity at times of organisational stress, but capacity and 
capability that night need to be expressly addressed if there is to be 
assurance that this could not happen again. 
 
We are aware that there is work ongoing as to connectivity between the 
police and other agencies in the form of a preprepared ‘trigger’ plan. It was 
noted that the Waun Wen Road, Mayhill incident was identified, after it 
ended, as a ‘critical incident’. There is general agreement that this was the 
appropriate categorisation. It appears to be the view that this should have 

Page 253



10 
 

been “called” sooner than it was. Doing so would have provided more focus 
and urgency to managing the incident as a priority. Importantly this would, 
at the same time, provide proportionate, necessary and justifiable grounds 
for dealing with other force wide incidents without “due regard” to 
performance measures and other generally accepted standards of response. 
 
There is also a need to address and explain specific decision making 
processes and responses taken in respect of phone calls received, the way 
in which they were recorded and handled, and how incoming information 
into the Public Service Centre was matched up with what was being seen 
and observed by Police Officers at the scene. One specific example was 
when a ‘threat to life’ was identified in respect of a particularly vulnerable 
individual which resulted in the deployment of officers with shields. The 
identification of the threat and corresponding risk to the individual were 
understood and called as a ‘threat to life’ but we have no evidence of that 
decision making process. The officers later ‘withdrew’ and the withdrawal, 
whilst maximising the safety of officers, needs further work so as to explore 
how the ongoing threat to the victim was assessed and how it could be 
minimised by further tactical deployments. Indeed this victim, along with 
other victims of the incident, appear to have been ‘lost’ for some time in 
both the decision making and response processes.  
 
This forgoing concern is, of course, at the heart of any assessment of the 
incident and needs to be expressly addressed if there is to be meaningful 
assurance that lessons have been appropriately learnt. 
 
In respect of this and other deployments at the scene further work needs to 
be undertaken so as to examine scene command and whether a more 
appropriate structure should have been identified. With a large number of 
officers allocated, many visible to the public outside Townhill Police Station 
and others standing within sight of the incident itself, their deployment 
should be assessed by direct debriefs, and by testing against the National 
Decision Making Model and the Nationally recognised command structure. 
 
We spoke to senior officers about a “mix and match” approach to the initial 
policing of incidents which might evolve into large scale public disorder 
events. We have information about the numbers of police officers deployed 
to the incident. It ranges from 20 or so early on to 60 plus by the early 
hours of the 21st May. Authorised Taser officers and dog handlers were in 
attendance, along with many other uniformed officers, but we are unsure 
as to decision making in respect of their deployment. 
 

Page 254



11 
 

We have seen some limited footage of Police deployment at the scene. This 

should be tested and measured against the narrative in the Police Report. It 

also gives rise to questions as to operational tactics at the scene. For 

example when shield officers are deployed from a police van, a number of 

other police vehicles can be seen in the area on the visual recordings we 

have seen. It is not entirely clear what happened to other deployed 

officers, such as the taser officers and police dog handlers. Furthermore, 

more shield carrying officers are later seen to deploy, following (and 

seemingly unknown to them) the withdrawal of the original officers 

deployed. The effective deployment of all the available resources is an area 

that warrants further work, along with the timeline, fed by known 

intelligence (and missed intelligence) to further inform future learning and 

the corresponding threats clearly faced by the victims. Indeed from the 

visual recordings that we have observed we strongly recommend further 

review of the crowd dynamic at different points along the time line of the 

visual recording. This would enable consideration of other tactics or 

interventions. Were there points at which other interventions should have 

been undertaken during the course of the evening? Civilian witnesses have 

identified some potential intervention points as have some of the Senior 

Police Officers with whom we have spoken. The balance between hindsight 

and foresight must be based on a robust understanding of what, where and 

when those opportunities were. 

It would also be helpful to reflect on decisions made in respect of cordons 
at the scene (e.g. the video footages show unknown vehicles driving into 
the scene of the disorder) as this again may help with a better 
understanding of the dynamic at the scene. 
 
Further work is also needed around the request for Public Order Unit 
support under the designation of “Operation Scorpion.”  When and how this 
support should be “called” and the process in the event of its refusal need 
to be made more explicit. On the evening of the 20th May it was requested 
and declined twice, the senior officer at the scene in Mayhill sought to go 
outside of the chain of command because of its repeated refusal. We also 
understand that there was input from the head of force planning (who was 
contacted out of hours and off-duty) in progressing this request. Even after 
the Scorpion “call” was eventually made, the mutual aid Public Order Unit 
available from Gwent was not authorised to proceed into the South Wales 
force area until after the incident had, in effect, ended. Further work is 
needed to understand this significant sequence of events.  
 

Page 255



12 
 

There appear to have been break downs in communications that night. 

Without being fully sighted on what happened and why they happened it is 

impossible to come to a concluded view as to their cause/s. 

We have been told of various steps that have been taken since this event 

such as additional Public Order Commanders being trained and Continuing 

Professional Development training opportunities based upon the Mayhill 

scenario. Any improvements are to be commended. However the steps 

taken in response to the original police review and those necessary in 

response to a fully informed investigation are likely to be different in 

nature, degree and extent. 

Local Authority Review and some multi-agency issues 

The Local Authority has undertaken a detailed review of issues arising from 

the Waun Wen Road, Mayhill incident and provided a report entitled ‘A 

Review of the Main Findings, Recommendations, and Learning from the 

Incident in Mayhill on 20th May 2021’.  The report’s conclusions and 

recommendations flow logically from the evidence detailed therein.  

Inevitably, given the breadth of issues examined, there will be differing 

views on some elements, but the report provides the vital underpinning for 

a positive action plan which should, over time, demonstrate that the 

learning from this event has led to positive change. 

Panel priorities and advice 

It is unnecessary for the panel to repeat the conclusions and 

recommendations set out in the written review here, or to restate all the 

detail provided in the Council report.  However, the panel has identified a 

number of areas that, whilst covered in the report, are of such importance 

that they need to be extracted for particular attention and monitored 

vigorously as the action plan is implemented.  These issues are summarised 

here.  They are not ranked in terms of importance. 

The Partnership Landscape 

We have been referred to a wide range of partnerships, forums, and groups 

which often include representatives of the Local Authority and Police. We 

have heard that the effective working of many of these were adversely 

impacted by Covid. It is not realistic to seek to comment on how well all 

these individual groups worked. Our concern is that, often, there appears to 

have been a real risk of siloed working and that their sheer multiplicity did 

not necessarily lead to synergistic, joined-up or harmonious partnership. 

Page 256



13 
 

Views differed as to the quality of the relationship between the Police and 

the Local Councillors and the Community. It is perhaps inevitable that there 

are different perspectives on these engagements and a renewed focus on 

re-energising and re-engaging in these relationships is clearly important. 

There is an urgent need to rethink and redesign the myriad partnerships 

identified as relevant in the report.  Covid has impacted, undoubtedly, but 

change is needed irrespective of this fact. 

All partners need to fully commit and actively participate.  Information 

sharing between groups needs to be reviewed and assurance provided that 

arrangements are robust.  The number and scope of the groups needs 

testing as to fitness for purpose.  The Problem Solving Group (PSG) needs a 

reboot, commitment, and regularity if it is to be effective. 

Incident Protocols 

The work to review trigger points and devise a clear serious incident 

protocol led by the emergency planning team is of vital importance.  It is 

essential that there is a clearly understood and agreed understanding when 

phrases such as ‘serious incident’, ‘critical incident’, and ‘major incident’ 

are used.  At present, there appears to be some unhelpful 

interchangeability. 

As part of this work, a formal system of recording and logging activity 

during live incidents should be developed. 

Social media/intelligence 

A multi-agency approach to social media monitoring and intelligence 

gathering via the partnership arrangements needs to be designed, 

implemented, and utilised as soon as possible. 

Infrastructure 

The need for the requested barrier work was undoubtedly raised and 

pursued with the Council in the weeks leading up to this incident. It is 

unfortunate that the work had not been carried-out. We understand that 

the work was undertaken on the day after the incident and was quickly 

completed. 

We heard different views as to whether and /or to what extent the failure 

to carry-out the requested barrier work impacted on behaviours and 

outcomes on the 20th May. On the basis of the information available to us it 

is impossible for us to assess whether it would have had a restraining 

Page 257



14 
 

influence on the criminal behaviours that night. This may become clearer 

after criminal proceedings. 

The issue of the barriers and the debate around their effectiveness raises a 

broader issue: is the barrier solution the right or the best solution and 

would it have been contemplated in other areas of the City? 

The community should be engaged in a consultation which seeks to develop 

options that meet the community safety objectives in a more ‘designed’ 

and ‘aesthetic’ way.  Safety is paramount, but this needs to be joined with 

the notion of improved environmental design. 

Community development and support 

Discussion with community members and their representatives only 

emphasised a need to think broadly on this issue.  Communities in Mayhill 

and Townhill are distinct and proud as well as independent of each other.  

A challenge for partners is to truly recognise this fact.  For example, 

developments in Townhill do not easily translate into positives for Mayhill 

and, for some, only add to perceptions of inequality. 

This is a massive challenge that could be the subject of a separate report 

and arguably, needs to be. 

The creation of safe spaces, community activity, youth engagement etc. 

requires a level of investment not just of money, but also proactive 

individuals who are supported and mentored.  Identifying, supporting, and 

nurturing community capacity to generate positive action in sport, 

community events, social activity, youth engagement, etc. is a significant 

challenge, but an essential one. 

Finally, and to be absolutely clear; the incident on 20th May 2021 took place 

on Waun Wen Road in Mayhill but was not born of Mayhill.  Highlighting the 

need to improve the physical environment and invest in the development of 

the community arises clearly from the learning review, but this need have 

no causal link to the incident. 

Was this a spontaneous incident?  

It is the view of both the Council and the Police that this was a spontaneous 

incident. It is difficult to come to a concluded view on this without being 

fully sighted on all of the available evidence and material. We were told at 

the conclusion of one of our meetings with the Police that there was 

evidence in the criminal investigation that a vehicle had been obtained in 

Page 258



15 
 

advance of the incident with a view to it being used in the incident. There 

appear to have been social media posts before hand which might have had 

the potential to alert agencies. There was a car chase involving the police 

leading up to the incident. There had been a previous car related incident 

in the same location. There were outstanding requests for an additional 

barrier on the road. Whilst the balance of the currently available 

information appears to indicate that there was no clear forewarning of an 

incident of intended public disorder, it is impossible to come to a reliable 

view on this based on the information currently available to us. 

Retrospectively, the Police have identified previous similar incidents of 
disorder coalescing around the death or the anniversary of the death of a 
young person. It seems appropriate that this awareness should lead to 
enhanced and proportionate social media monitoring by both the Police and 
Council. 
 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

Council led learning review 

The Council led learning review is comprehensive and evidence based.  

Whilst, no doubt, there are some differences in views and emphasis 

amongst stakeholders, it forms a sound basis for a positive action plan 

which will demonstrate effective learning from this event. 

The panel recommends that the following issues are prioritised within 

the action plan as detailed in this report. 

• The myriad partnership arrangements need review.  Assurance is 

required that all participants are fully committed, information 

sharing is robust, and the arrangements are cohesive. 

• Clarity on incident protocols is urgently required.  A formal system 

of logging and recording activity should be implemented. 

• A multi-agency approach to social media monitoring and 

intelligence gathering and sharing should be designed and 

implemented. 

• The community should be engaged in the design and 

implementation of infrastructure schemes to replace the barriers.  

Such scheme must meet both safety and environmental design 

needs. 

Page 259



16 
 

• A Council supported, community led community development 

programme should be developed that could provide an exemplar 

for other areas of the City.  Creating and supporting community 

capacity, safe spaces, youth activity, and much more is required. 

Police led learning review 

The Police learning review did not contain much of the information that 

was presented in the course of our discussions with the Police and does 

not reflect some of the content of those discussions and/or the primary 

source material that we assessed. Therefore we are of the view that the 

current report cannot form the basis of sound conclusions.  As currently 

drafted it does not provide the Panel or others with the required 

assurance. 

The Police learning review was not informed by an exhaustive 

investigation of all the available evidence.  Areas absent from the review 

are detailed earlier in this report. 

A full investigation of all the available evidence, information and 

material is required. This is beyond the remit of this Panel but needs to 

be undertaken if there is to be assurance that there has been a full and 

appropriate review leading to appropriate learning. Whilst much of this 

work can be undertaken internally by the Police, our advice is that any 

further or final report should be independently assessed and validated so 

as to evidence external oversight.  

Whilst not directly a matter for the Panel, it is unclear how decisions on 

issues such as disciplinary action and areas for Continuing Professional 

Development could be meaningfully determined in advance of a fuller 

investigation. 

Despite the absence of a full investigation, it is clear to the Panel that 

significant failings are evident throughout this event.  Currently 

available evidence strongly suggests failings in command structures and 

decisions, operational decisions and tactics, and communications.  The 

full extent of these failings and explanations for any failings can only be 

determined by a forensic investigation. 

All of the available evidence shows clearly that the residents of Waun 

Wen Road, Mayhill were left unprotected for a significant period of time 

on the 20th May 2021.  Further analysis will not alter this fact, but 

should address more completely the question ‘Why?’. 

Page 260



17 
 

The Panel therefore recommends; 

• That urgent consideration be given to commissioning a forensic 

investigation that will facilitate the production of a comprehensive 

learning report.  The Panel had anticipated that this would be an 

essential part of any learning review. 

• Given that much of the information regarding ‘failings’ on the night 

of the event are already in the public domain, the Police should 

consider issuing a public statement.  The Panel would respectfully 

suggest that this should include an apology and a restatement of 

the desire to learn. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Panel Members: Jack Straw, Martin Jones and Elwen Evans 

Page 261



This page is intentionally left blank



Independent Learning Review - Mayhill 

As we publish the extremely helpful report of the Independent Learning Review, led by 
Professor Elwen Evans QC, Chief Constable Jeremy Vaughan has given a clear and 
straightforward apology for shortcomings on the night of May 20. I welcome his statement. 

The most important people in this are the local residents, particularly those who were direct 
victims of criminal violence or antisocial behaviour and it is to them that the Report, the 
apology and our responses are directed today.   The scenes we saw in Mayhill on May 20 were 
truly shocking and led to detailed investigations which I sincerely hope will lead to court cases 
shortly. A full file of evidence has been submitted to the Crown Prosecution Service and is 
under active consideration.  It is with the local community that local police have sought to 
reconnect and build confidence and I pay tribute to the way in which the community itself 
rallied and united in the face of the terrible events of that night.  But none of that detracts 
from the importance of the Report and its findings.  

Our priority now is to act on the findings of the Report so with the support of the Chief 
Constable I have asked the College of Policing to provide external expertise and professional 
oversight to the on-going learning of South Wales Police, using the recommendations of the 
Independent Learning Review for that work, so that I can be satisfied that all necessary 
improvements have been made. If issues can be addressed now they will be, although some 
issues may have to wait until the court cases have been completed.    

I believe that we will all benefit from the decision taken by myself and the Chief Constable 
jointly with the Leader and Chief Executive of Swansea Council to commission the 
Independent Learning Review together rather than waiting until after the end of court 
processes.  I look forward to us working with the Leader and the Council on issues that require 
cooperation and partnership rather than being matters for a single agency.   

South Wales Police has a well-justified international reputation for handling major events as 
well as for local policing and working with partners to reduce crime and harm. Officers take 
great pride in that and rightly so.   On this occasion South Wales Police got their response 
wrong and the test of quality is to accept criticism when it is justified and to tackle the issues 
head on.  That is what is happening now.  

I know how keen people are to ask why specific events happen but from previous experience 
– I was a member of the Home Affairs Select Committee investigating the London Riots of 
2011 – I know it is often easier to frame the question than to find answers.  In this case, it 
seems evident that there was no single cause of the disorder and that there is a complex set 
of circumstances behind what happened. 

Finally I thank the Council for their partnership and Welsh Government Ministers Jane Hutt 
MS and Rebecca Evans MS for supporting the Review. 

 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

  

 

South Wales Police apologises for response to Mayhill incident 

The Chief Constable of South Wales Police is apologising to the residents of Mayhill in Swansea for 

the operational police response to an evening of disorder on 20th May 2021. 

It was clear from the incident and from footage circulated on social media that local residents were 

worried for their own safety and for the safety of their homes and property in what was a 

frightening incident for the community. 

Chief Constable Jeremy Vaughan said: “I want to apologise to all those who have been affected by 

this incident and particularly those local residents who were tormented by those responsible. We 

failed to take action quickly enough on the night and for that I am truly sorry. We have made some 

immediate improvements to our operational practices following this incident including how we 

manage information around an escalating incident and how we draw upon resource from across 

South Wales and beyond more quickly.” 

The force has from the start recognised the concerns expressed by the community regarding the 

response to the incident and undertook an internal review.  Several areas where lessons could be 

learned were identified immediately. This was followed by the Independent Learning Review 

commissioned by the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable jointly with the Leader 

and Chief Executive of Swansea Council with support from Welsh Government to examine what 

happened on the night, what may have caused it and to identify any opportunities for learning. 

While a thorough criminal investigation has continued, local police have been working with the local 

authority, community leaders, residents and other partners to support those affected and to restore 

confidence after the incident.  At the same time intensive work has gone on to identify who did what 

on the night and to bring those who participated in the disturbances to justice. The criminal 

investigations have resulted in files being submitted to the Crown Prosecution Service and charging 

decisions are expected shortly. 

The criminal acts committed on this night triggered a large police investigation which has involved 

the taking of 118 statements and officers have viewed over 600 multi-media video clips ranging in 

length from 11 seconds to 12 minutes in duration. Officers have examined every piece of this 

footage together with reviewing more than 23 hours of CCTV and body worn footage. 

This detailed and complex investigation has involved a team of experienced detectives and resulted 

in 46 arrests and South Wales Police is currently awaiting a charging decision from the Crown 

Prosecution Service on a total of 37 individuals involved in the disorder. 

Assistant Chief Constable Mark Travis, who oversaw the initial operational review following the 

incident, said: “I know the community wants to see those responsible for these terrible events 

brought to justice and I would like to personally thank those who have assisted our investigation so 

far and we are hopeful of a charging decision from the Crown Prosecution Service in the very near 

future following a comprehensive investigation into what went on. 

“A large group of individuals were involved in shocking scenes of disorder which led to vehicles being 

set alight and a number of residents feeling terrified in their own homes and in need of help and 

support. 

“Our response to that incident was reviewed internally and has now been the subject of the 

Independent Learning Review which has concluded that there were areas where our response on 

the night fell short of our usual high standards and the expectations of the community. A number of 

Page 265



  

 
 

  

 
 

areas of learning have been highlighted in relation to our response and we fully accept the findings 

of the review. 

“We are determined that our learning from this event will continue as we use the recommendations 

of the Independent Learning Review with oversight from the College of Policing so that we can fully 

understand how events unfolded on the night and take appropriate action. 

“South Wales Police has an excellent reputation for policing major sporting and other international 

events. We have well-trained officers who have the skills to deal with the most challenging of 

incidents which makes it all the more frustrating that on this occasion  we recognise that  we got our 

response wrong, something  which we fully accept. 

“The local policing team in Swansea is committed to providing the best level of service to the 

community of Mayhill and will continue to work with residents, partners and organisations to ensure 

we keep them safe.” 

Ends 

Page 266



 

 

 

REPORT TO  

THE SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 

3rd February 2022 

Panel Sub-Groups 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 

To consider whether to agree to the formation of Panel sub-groups. 
 

 

 

1.0 Report details. 

1.1 In accordance with statutory requirements set out in the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the Act), the Police & Crime 
Commissioner for South Wales (the Commissioner) must amongst other 
things present the Panel with his Police & Crime (Reduction) Plan or 
revisions to it (the Plan). The Panel’s role is to consider the same with 
the aim of contributing to the development of the Plan (on which it is a 
statutory consultee). The Commissioner must have regard to the Panel’s 
views and recommendations on the draft.  

1.2 The Act also imposes a requirement on Panels in their role as a scrutiny 
body to generally scrutinise the Commissioner in order to (1) promote 
openness in the transaction of police business and (2) to support the 
Commissioner in his effective exercise of his functions. In carry out this 
role the Panel may make reports and recommendations on matters 
relating to the Commissioner on which he is obliged to provide a 
response. The Panel may also carry out investigations into decisions 
made by the Commissioner or into topics of particular interest or public 
concern. These are not statutory functions but may be necessary to 
effectively carry out the rest of the Commissioner’s business. 

2.0 The Proposal. 

2.1 Members have considered for some time whether the Panel functions 
could be improved and in 2019 a proposal was put forward to create 
Panel Champions to further consider and scrutinise specific areas within 
the Commissioner’s Plan. Although the Panel resolved to create 
champions for several reasons no further progress was made toward to 
the appointment of the same. 

 

Page 267

Agenda Item 9



 

2.2 Following discussions undertaken by the chair, vice chair and lead office 
at the recent National Conference for Chairs, Members and Officers of 
PFCPs, with regard to how other Panels in England & Wales 
concentrate and focus both collectively and individually on policing 
issues, the following was considered to be a sensible practical and 
realistic way of dealing with this matter. 

2.3 It is proposed that the Panel moves away from the creation of 12 
member champions and instead create sub-groups to carry out the role 
originally tasked to the member champions. It will be the aim of each 
sub-group to look in greater detail at the 6 priorities and 13 partner 
concerns set out in the Commissioner’s Police & Crime Plan. The 
partner concerns are in effect the concerns of the people of South 
Wales. A link to the Executive Summary of the Current Police & Crime 
Plan where the priorities and concerns can be viewed can be found at –  

https://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1923/crp002-crime-
plan-2020-eng-p5.pdf 

2.4 It is proposed that the Panel forms 3 sub-groups with each sub-group 
comprised of 4 Panel members. Each sub-group will then look at 2 of the 
Commissioner’s 6 priorities and 4 or 5 of the 13 partner concerns. The 
sub-groups would meet for about an hour 4 times a year in the week 
before the scheduled official Panel meetings in June, September, 
December and April with the sub-group meeting taking place after the 
panel papers have been published by the host authority. This will allow 
members to both scrutinise the papers generally and to concentrate on 
their sub-group areas allowing members to focus questions and 
enquiries at the following formal Panel meeting. Sub-groups could also 
ask for specific reports from the Commissioner at subsequent Panel 
meetings. It is proposed that no sub-group meetings would take place 
before the formal Panel meeting in January/ February as this meeting is 
usually fully concerned with the Precept. Additionally, it is proposed that 
the sub-group meetings would meet remotely on TEAMS as they are not 
official meetings of the Panel. This will reduce cost and member time as 
there is no additional financial payment available for these meetings. 
Meeting in this way would allow the sub-groups to plan and put forward 
any questions and enquiries they would want the Commissioner to 
address at the following official Panel meeting. 

2.5 Members have alphabetically been allocated to sub-groups and the 
priorities and concerns have been allocated.  

2.6 Sub-group 1 

 Cllr William Evans 

 Cllr Benjamin Gray 

 Cllr Sherelle Jago 

 Sarah James (Co-opted member)  

 

Page 268

https://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1923/crp002-crime-plan-2020-eng-p5.pdf
https://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1923/crp002-crime-plan-2020-eng-p5.pdf


 

 Priority 1 

Reducing and preventing crime and anti-social behaviour to keep people 
safe and confident in their homes and communities 

 Priority 2 

Involving and empowering communities, working with partners in Local 
Government, Health, Fire and Welsh Government to deliver services that 
people need. 

 Partner concerns 1 to 4 

 Substance misuse 

 Supporting young people 

 Protecting vulnerable people 

 Domestic abuse 

 

2.7 Sub-group 2 

 Mel Jehu (Co-opted member) 

 Cllr Rhys Lewis 

 Cllr Peter Rees 

 Cllr Christine Richards 

 

 Priority 3 

Working to protect the most vulnerable in our communities, 
understanding causes and taking prompt positive action as issues are 
arise 

 Priority 4 

Working to make the local Criminal Justice System efficient and effective 
to meet the needs of victims and reduce re-offending 

 Partner concerns 5 to 8 

 Mental Health 

 Anti-social behaviour 

 Reducing re-offending 

 Terrorism 

 

Page 269



 

2.8 Sub-group 3 

 Cllr Graham Thomas 

 Cllr Bernie Bowen Thompson 

 Cllr Richard Young 

 New Cardiff representative 

 

 Priority 5 

Ensuring that SWP continues to be a high performing force in terms of 
the operational response to crime, threats, harm and the detection of 
offenders. 

 Priority 6 

Ensuring money is spent wisely and that people are supported to provide 
the best possible policing in our communities 

 Partner concerns 9 to 13 

 Violent Crime 

 Child sexual exploitation 

 Victims 

 Acquisitive crime 

 Public Perception 

 

2.9  It is envisaged that the role and remit of the sub-groups would be to: 

• liaise if necessary with the Commissioner and his office 

• keep the Panel up to date with regard to their specific areas of interest 

• generally promote the remit of the Panel 

 

3.0 Recommendation that: 

3.1 The 3 sub-groups detailed in paragraphs 2.6 to 2.8 be formed with each 
sub-group allocated the roles and responsibilities similarly detailed in 
paragraphs 2.6 to 2.8.  

3.2 The 3 sub-groups aim to meet 4 times per year on dates which will be set 
at the same time the forward work program and meeting dates are set. 

3.3  The meeting of sub-groups shall take place remotely on TEAMs and will be 
facilitated by the host authority. 

Page 270



 

 
 

Simon Jones 

Senior Solicitor,  

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Precept and Medium Term Financial Strategy
	2022 02 03 Police & Crime Panel - Precept Budget Report FINAL
	2022 02 03 Police & Crime Panel MTFS 2022-2026 FINAL

	5 Refresh of the Police and Crime Plan
	2022 01 25 CRP004-Crime Plan 2021-ENG

	6 Consultation Process
	2022 01 25  Our Police Our Community - FINAL_

	7 To Confirm Permanent Appointment of Lee Jones as Chief Executive
	Chief Executive JD Person Spec

	8 Mayhill Independent Review and Statements
	Mayhill Statement by the Police and Crime Commissioner - Final
	Mayhill review Statement by South Wales Police FINAL

	9 Sub Groups

